UC Riverside UC Riverside Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

A Genomic Characterization of Whitefly Resistance and Defense Hormone Responses in Cassava

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/90p9j27b

Author Garceau, Danielle Christine

Publication Date

Supplemental Material https://escholarship.org/uc/item/90p9j27b#supplemental

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA RIVERSIDE

A Genomic Characterization of Whitefly Resistance and Defense Hormone Responses in Cassava

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In

Plant Biology

by

Danielle Christine Garceau

September 2021

Dissertation Committee: Dr. Linda Walling, Chairperson Dr. Thomas Eulgem Dr. Jaimie Van Norman

Copyright by Danielle Christine Garceau 2021 The Dissertation of Danielle Christine Garceau is approved:

Committee Chairperson

University of California, Riverside

Acknowledgments

Foremost I thank my adviser Dr. Linda Walling for her guidance and support throughout my graduate career, and most of all for her constant positivity. I also thank Dr. Walling and my past and present committee members Dr. Jaimie van Norman, Dr. Thomas Eulgem and Dr. Carolyn Rasmussen for their mentorship and encouragement of my career goals. I am also indebted to the past and present members of the Walling lab for their support, helpful advice and for creating a welcoming atmosphere: Dr. Maria Irigoyen, Irma Ortiz, Paul Roche, Patrick Thomas, Oindrila Bhattacharya, Fran Holzer, Alex Valenzuela, and Dr. Lina Aguirre Rojas. I particularly thank my close collaborator Dr. Irigoyen for teaching me new skills, being supportive and for overall being a pleasure to work with. Dr. Irigoyen prepared whitefly infestation transcriptomes which appear in Chapters 1-3, and contributed equally to data analysis and writing which appears in Chapter 1. It has also been a joy to work with many talented, hardworking undergraduate researchers who have helped to teach me how to be a good mentor: Natalie Urrea, Liberty Onia, Katie Sihavong, and Diana Medina-Yerena. qRT-PCR results presented in Chapter 2 were performed in part by Diana Medina-Yerena.

I would also like to express thanks to our collaborators within the African Cassava Whitefly Project for helpful advice and fruitful discussions. Specifically, thanks to Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis, and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera at CIAT for conducting whitefly-infestation and hormone-treatment experiments (Chapters 1 and 2) and providing genotype data (Chapter 3), and to Dr. Paul Fraser and Dr. Laura Perez-Fons at RHUL for providing metabolite measurements of infested leaves (Chapter 2).

I would also like to thank the staff at the UCR Metabolomics and Genomics Core Facilities, specifically Dr. Manhoi Hur for enabling valuable correlation analyses which appear in Chapter 2. Thanks as well to Dr. Thomas Girke for providing guidance and introducing me to the field of bioinformatics.

Last but not least, I am forever grateful to my family and friends, my partner Jon, and my cat Jaimie for loving and supporting me throughout my graduate career.

Funding for this work as part of the African Cassava Whitefly Project was generously provided by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

Text in Chapter 1 (and in sections of the Conclusions) of this Dissertation is a reprint of a published manuscript as it appears in BMC Genomics: January 2020, Volume 21, Issue 1. Co-first-authors on this manuscript Danielle Garceau and Dr. Maria Irigoyen contributed equally to this work, preparing RNA-sequencing libraries, analyzing results, constructing figures and tables, and writing the manuscript. Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux grew the cassava, performed whitefly infestations, SA and JA time courses, and extracted RNAs. All authors (Dr. Maria Irigoyen, Danielle Garceau, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Laura Perez-Fons, Dr. Paul Fraser, and Dr. Linda Walling) helped to design the infestation time-course and hormone- treatment time-course experiments and approved the final manuscript version. Co-author Dr. Linda Walling on this manuscript directed and supervised the research which forms the basis of this Dissertation.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

A Genomic Characterization of Whitefly Resistance and Defense Hormone Responses in Cassava

by

Danielle Christine Garceau

Doctor of Philosophy, Graduate Program in Plant Biology University of California, Riverside, September 2021 Dr. Linda Walling, Chairperson

African whitefly *Bemisia tabaci* is a yield-limiting pest of the subsistence crop cassava through feeding and vectoring viral diseases. To address this issue, the African Cassava Whitefly Project is identifying whitefly resistance in South American cassava for selective breeding into African cassava. The collaborative efforts of project members at the International Center for Tropical Agriculture, UCR and the Royal Holloway University of London have focused on the genetic, transcriptomic and metabolic basis of resistance to Latin American whitefly *Aleurotrachelus socialis* in whitefly-resistant Ecuadorian cassava genotype ECU72. Here, the whitefly- and defense-hormone-responsive transcriptomes of ECU72 and its susceptible counterpart COL2246 have been defined for analysis and integration with these data sets.

To characterize the cassava-whitefly interaction, we identified a core transcriptome response of *Pathogenesis-related* (*PR*) gene families to whitefly infestation in four whitefly-

susceptible genotypes. Defense-hormone responses of COL2246 revealed that whiteflyresponsive *PR* genes were mainly co-regulated by salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA). Cell-wall-related *PR* gene families were dominant in the responses to whiteflies and biotic stressors. *PR* gene phylogenies and biotic-stress-responsive transcriptomes revealed a possible selection in cassava for expansion of certain *PR* genes responsive to whiteflies and microbes.

More global characterization of the cassava-whitefly interaction compared whitefly-, SA-, JA-, ethylene-, and abscisic acid (ABA)-responsive transcriptomes in ECU72 and COL2246. SA responses were faster and more prolonged in ECU72, and SA-responsive genes showed reciprocity between genotypes, suggesting importance of crosstalk regulators. Hormone responses during infestation revealed evidence of ABA-mediated resistance in ECU72 and SA-mediated susceptibility in COL2246. Comparisons between cassava and Arabidopsis revealed divergent transcriptome responses to SA and JA. Enrichment analyses of whitefly- and hormone-regulated genes showed that early infestation prompted cell-wall-based defenses in ECU72, while late infestation invoked SA-signaling and immunity defenses in COL2246.

To identify whitefly defense genes, eQTL analysis was performed utilizing F₁ progeny generated from crosses of ECU72 with whitefly-susceptible COL2246 or 60444. Criteria applied to eQTLs identified immunity, defense-signaling and cell-wall-related processes as possibly important in defense against whiteflies. eQTL-identified genes involved in ABA responses, monolignol biosynthesis, and chitin perception/response are proposed as possible whitefly resistance factors for evaluation in transgenic cassava.

vii

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	iv
Abstract of the Dissertation	vi
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xii
Introduction	1
Cassava - the Hardy Staple of Africa	2 9 11 12 13 16 19 21 21 23 24 26
Chapter 1	41
Abstract Introduction Results Cassava PR family composition is similar to poplar Phylogenetic analysis and physical location of cassava PR genes	41 42 45 <i>4</i> 5 <i>4</i> 6
Large PR families are downregulated after whitefly feeding Timing of the response to whitefly varies among whitefly-susceptible genotypes Cassava PR genes are predominantly co-regulated by SA and JA qRT-PCR validation of RNA-sequencing data Comparison of PR family responses to a spectrum of biotic stressors Integration of defense transcriptomes and cassava PR gene phylogenies	49 53 61 63 66
Discussion PR family composition and organization in cassava Cassava's PR gene responses to whitefly and other pathogens Hormone regulation of whitefly-responsive PR genes Cassava PR families 2, 5, 7, and 9 are most responsive to biotic stress and hormones . PR gene responses to whiteflies are more similar to CBSV than to CMV	68 68 70 71 72 73
Materials and Methods	74 74

Hormone treatments PR protein phylogenetic trees, gene nomenclature and genome location RNA extraction and quality assessment	.75 .76
PR protein phylogenetic trees, gene nomenclature and genome location RNA extraction and quality assessment	.76
RNA extraction and quality assessment	
	.77
cuiva library preparation, sequencing and bioinformatics analyses	.77
qRT-PCR	.79
Pearson correlation analyses	.80
Supplemental Material	80
Supplemental Tables	.80
Supplemental Figures	.82
References	83
Chapter 2	91
Abstract	91
Introduction	92
Results	98
ECU72 is primed for a fast, considerable transcript-level response to SA	.98
Transcriptome responses of ECU72 and COL2246 to SA are largely reciprocal1	104
Cassava's hormone responses are divergent from those of Arabidopsis1	119
Genotypic differences in the whitefly-infestation responses of ECU72 vs COL22461	138
qRT-PCR validation of RNA-seq transcript levels1	145
Hormone-pathway gene expression during whitefly infestation in ECU72 versus COL2246	; 1 10
Hormone responses in ECUT2 and COU2246 during whitefly infestation	140 152
Farly infectation prompts multiple biochemical defense responses in ECU72	152 158
Late infestation prompts multiple biochemical defense responses in EOO72	168
Discussion	174
Hormone responses of whitefly-resistant (FCI 172) and esuscentible (COI 2246) caseave 1	171
Divergent hormone responses in cassava versus Arabidonsis	176
Possible ABA-mediated whitefly-resistance and SA-mediated whitefly-susceptibility	170
mechanisms in cassava and candidate regulators1	177
Other possible mechanisms of whitefly resistance and susceptibility in cassava1	182
Materials and Methods1	85
Plant growth1	185
Whitefly rearing and infestation experiments1	186
Plant hormone treatments1	186
RNA extraction, cDNA library preparation, sequencing, and data processing1	187
Ortholog identification1	188
qRT-PCR1	189
Principal component and correlation analyses1	189
Gene expression clustering and visualization1	190
Metabolite quantification and transcript correlation1	191
GO term enrichment1	192
Supplemental Material1	93
	102

Supplemental Figures	194
References	195
Chapter 3	208
Abstract	208
Introduction	209
Results	211
eQTL analysis approach	211
eQTLs imbedded in QTL regions	222
eQTL clusters	232
eQTL hotspots	235
eQTLs that are 0-h DEGs	256
CM and GM population shared eQTLs	259
Other eQTLs of interest	264
eQTL hormone responses	267
Discussion	270
eQTL analysis for whitefly defense gene identification	270
Possible whitefly resistance and susceptibility mechanisms: immunity genes	272
Possible whitefly resistance and susceptibility mechanisms: defense-signaling genes	276
Possible whitefly resistance and susceptibility mechanisms: cell-wall-related genes	280
Hormone responses of eQTL-identified defense genes	281
Materials and Methods	283
Plant growth and crosses	283
RNA extraction	283
Gene expression analysis	284
SNP calling	284
eQ1L calling	285
eQIL gene nomenclature and visualizations	285
Supplemental Tables	286
References	287
Conclusions	298
References	306
References	309

List of Tables

Table 1.1. PR families of cassava, poplar, rice and Arabidopsis	. 46
Table 1.2. Number of differentially regulated PR genes in whitefly-susceptible genotypes.	50
Table 1.3. Hormone-regulated PR genes.	. 59
Table 1.4. <i>PR</i> gene family response (DEGs) to six biotic stresses	. 64
Table 3.1. eQTL-identified defense gene annotations	217

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Physical locations of the 435 <i>PR</i> genes along cassava chromosomes.
Figure 1.2. <i>PR</i> gene expression in whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes during whitefly infestation
Figure 1.3. Cluster 9 PR gene regulation54
Figure 1.4. Cluster 1 PR gene regulation55
Figure 1.5. Correlation of SA/JA co-regulated PR genes
Figure 1.6. <i>PR</i> gene expression in COL2446 in response to whitefly infestation, SA and JA60
Figure 1.7. qRT-PCR validation of <i>PR</i> transcript levels
Figure 1.8. Correlation of cassava responses to whiteflies with other biotic stresses
Figure 2.1. Transcriptome profiles of ECU72 and COL2246 DEGs in response to SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments
Figure 2.2. Hormone response timing in whitefly-resistant (ECU72) and - susceptible (COL2246) cassava103
Figure 2.3. Comparison of Arabidopsis and cassava hormone responses 106
Figure 2.4. Correlation of SA, JA, ET, and ABA responses in ECU72 and COL2246.
Figure 2.5. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatment
Figure 2.6. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during JA treatment
Figure 2.7. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatment
Figure 2.8. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during JA treatment118
Figure 2.9. Overlap of SA and JA temporal DEGs identified by this and external studies

Figure 2.10. PCA analyses of the timing of SA and JA responses in Arabidopsis.
Figure 2.11. Temporal DEG during SA and JA treatments of Arabidopsis 124
Figure 2.12. SA-pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and two cassava genotypes
Figure 2.13. JA-pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and in two cassava genotypes
Figure 2.14. ET pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and in two cassava genotypes
Figure 2.15. ABA-pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and in two cassava genotypes
Figure 2.16. DEG and PCA analyses of whitefly infestation DEGs in ECU72 and COL2246
Figure 2.17. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during whitefly infestation
Figure 2.18. qRT-PCR validation of RNA-seq expression values
Figure 2.19. Cassava hormone-pathway gene expression during whitefly and hormone treatments
Figure 2.20. Hormone regulation categories of whitefly-regulated DEGs and hormone levels in whitefly-infested cassava
Figure 2.21. Strong metabolite-transcript correlations in the SA and ABA pathways
Figure 2.22. Functional enrichment of cassava whitefly- and hormone-regulated DEGs involved in defense processes
Figure 2.23. Functional enrichment of cassava whitefly- and hormone-regulated DEGs
Figure 2.24. Whitefly- and hormone-regulated genotype DEG expression from selected enriched GO-term categories in ECU72 versus COL2246
Figure 2.25. Analysis of glucosinolates in cassava leaves
Figure 2.26. Cassava's lignin biosynthetic pathway

Figure 2.27. Expression of whitefly- and hormone-regulated DEGs from selected enriched GO-term categories in COL2246 versus ECU72170
Figure 2.28. Cassava's SA biosynthesis, modification and signaling pathway 173
Figure 3.1. Spectrum of whitefly resistance phenotypes in the CM and GM populations
Figure 3.2. Analysis workflow of SNP filtering and eQTL calling
Figure 3.3. Functional bins of eQTL target genes identified in the CM and GM populations
Figure 3.4. Physical locations of CM population eQTLs 224
Figure 3.5. Physical locations of GM population eQTLs 226
Figure 3.6. eQTLs within QTL regions 231
Figure 3.7. eQTLs within eQTL clusters 234
Figure 3.8. eQTL hotspots within the GM population
Figure 3.9. eQTL hotspot target genes of the SNP-containing gene MeSOAR1 239
Figure 3.10. eQTL hotspot target genes of the SNP-containing gene MeSOAR1. 241
Figure 3.11. eQTL hotspot target genes for $R \rightarrow R$ inheritance class SNPs for ABA- and ET-related processes
Figure 3.12. eQTL hotspot target genes for R→R inheritance class SNPs for defense-related processes
Figure 3.13. eQTL hotspot target genes for $R \rightarrow S$ inheritance class SNPs involved with ET- and defense-related processes
Figure 3.14. eQTL hotspot target genes for S→S inheritance class SNPs associated with defense
Figure 3.15. eQTL hotspot target genes for S→R inheritance class SNPs associated with ABA- and cell wall-related processes
Figure 3.16. eQTL hotspot target genes for S→R inheritance class SNPs associated with redox- and defense-related processes
Figure 3.17. eQTLs with target genes classified as 0-h DEGs in the CM and GM populations
Figure 3.18. Overlap in CM and GM population eQTLs

Figure 3.19. eQTLs shared in CM and GM populations.	263
Figure 3.20. eQTLs with target genes in defense processes	266
Figure 3.21. Hormone responses of eQTL target genes.	269

Introduction

The tropical root crop cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) is a subsistence crop for East and Central African farmers that has suffered large yield losses, exceeding 70% in some regions, due to recent, dramatic increases in *Bemisia tabaci* whitefly populations (Howeler et al., 2013). As phloem-feeders, whiteflies deplete photosynthates and excrete fungal-growth-promoting honeydew, slowing cassava growth and production. Most damaging to cassava, whiteflies transmit viral diseases that are increasing in severity and range within Africa due to dense, "superabundant" whitefly populations (Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Legg et al., 2011). Many previous and current approaches to address whitefly superabundance including the use of insecticides and virus-resistant cassava varieties have proven to be ineffective, resulting in ongoing cassava viral pandemics (Legg et al., 2011).

To achieve food security for affected African farmers, an international team (the African Cassava Whitefly Project, ACWP), has recently formed to address this issue, with one solution being the production of whitefly- and virus-resistant cassava varieties (Zaidi et al., 2017). A major focus on the search for resistance was placed on the whitefly-resistant Ecuadorian cassava genotype ECU72 and for comparison the Colombian whitefly-susceptible cassava genotype COL2246. ECU72 possesses robust resistance to the African (*B. tabaci*) and Latin American (*Aleurotrachelus socialis*) whitefly, causing death of developing whitefly nymphs (Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Bohorquez et al., 2013, Omongo et al., 2012). ACWP teams at CIAT (International Center for Tropical Agriculture), UCR and RHUL (The Royal Holloway University of London) have collaborated to study whitefly resistance in ECU72 through QTL mapping, transcriptomics and metabolomics, respectively. At CIAT, restriction site-associated DNA (RAD) sequencing was used to map

whitefly (*A. socialis*)-resistance loci in ECU72. Whitefly (*A. socialis*) infestation experiments performed at CIAT have also been used to define the whitefly-responsive transcriptomes and metabolomes of ECU72 and COL2246 at UCR and RHUL, respectively.

Here, I describe my contribution to the ACWP effort by defining and analyzing the whitefly- and defense-hormone-responsive transcriptomes primarily in ECU72 and COL2246 in order to identify genes and pathways, which characterize the response of these whitefly-resistant and whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes to whitefly infestation. Ultimately, such information, in addition to that provided by QTLs and metabolite markers, will be used to inform breeding/transformation efforts to introduce sources of whitefly-resistance into virus-resistant African cassava lines for eventual deployment in affected regions. In this Dissertation, a review of cassava's role in African agriculture, whitefly biology and methods of whitefly control will be provided as background information to elaborate on the cassava-whitefly issue. An overview of plant immunity will then be provided before summarizing what is currently known in the field of plant defense concerning defense against whiteflies and other Hemipteran pests. A summary of objectives of the Dissertation is lastly provided.

Cassava - the Hardy Staple of Africa:

Cassava is an incredibly important crop that feeds an ever-growing global population, providing the fourth highest source of calories in the world. While cassava appears in many South American dishes and is commonly used as raw material in Asian processed products, small shareholder farmers of sub-Saharan Africa often rely on their

cassava crop as a dietary staple to feed themselves and their families (FAO, 2018, Howeler et al., 2013). Cassava feeds over 500 million people daily in Africa, and provides not only invaluable calories but essential macro- and micro-nutrients. Cassava is mainly utilized for its starchy underground storage roots (also known as root tubers), which are a major source of starch, in addition to vitamin C, niacin and riboflavin. The leaves of cassava are also edible, providing a good source of protein, vitamin C, B vitamins, potassium, and calcium (FAO, 2018, Latif and Müller, 2015). However, cassava roots and especially leaves contain high enough levels of cyanogenic glucosides to harm humans if ingested without proper processing. Such compounds are broken down in response to wounding, such as through herbivory. The disruption of cell walls allows the release of the enzymes linamarase and hydroxynitrile lyase into intracellular spaces, where they breakdown cyanogenic glucosides to form the toxic compound hydrogen cyanide (HCN). To remove enough cyanogenic glucosides from cassava leaf/root tissue to be safe for consumption, the tissue must be ground and boiled, allowing the release and breakdown of HCN-forming enzymes resulting in reduced HCN content (Zagrobelny et al., 2004, Panghal et al., 2019).

In addition to being a good source of nutrition, cassava is a hardy crop with many characteristics that make it ideal for small shareholder African farmers. Cassava requires very few inputs, such as water or fertilizer, due to its drought tolerance and beneficial root associations with fungi, making cassava inexpensive to grow (FAO, 2018). Drought tolerance has become an increasingly necessary crop trait in the face of climate change. Average temperature increases alone in different regions of Africa by 2030 are expected to cause losses in yields of crops such as beans, maize and banana, but are not expected to negatively impact cassava yields (Ceballos et al., 2011, Jarvis et al., 2012). The growth

cycle of cassava is also amenable to flexible harvest dates. When stakes, also known as stem cuttings or "seeds", taken from mature cassava are planted, tuberous roots can be harvested anywhere between six months to two years later. In this way, cassava acts as a calorie reservoir that can be available for long periods of time (FAO, 2018). However, long-term storage of unprocessed cassava is problematic, as roots quickly become oxidized and take on a brownish color in a process known as post-harvest physiological deterioration (PDD), making the root less palatable and reducing its nutritional value (Reilly et al., 2003).

Cassava has been a dependable staple crop to African farmers since its introduction from South America in the 19th century (FAO, 2018), but in recent years its yields have been diminished from whitefly infestation and whitefly-vectored viruses. The two major viruses impacting African cassava are Cassava Mosaic Virus (CMV) and Cassava Brown Streak Virus (CBSV), the causal agents of Cassava Mosaic Disease (CMD) and Cassava Brown Streak Disease (CBSD), respectively (Legg et al., 2011). Both viral diseases present with leaf chlorosis, while CBSD additionally causes necrosis of the roots and the appearance of brown streaks along the stems (Dixon et al., 2003, Legg et al., 2011). CMV and CBSV was detected in Northern or Eastern Africa as early as the 1920s. However, by the early 1990s, the status of CMD in Uganda shifted from epidemic to pandemic, coinciding with a surge in whitefly population levels deemed "superabundant". From 2004 to 2005, CBSD outbreaks in Uganda also progressed to a pandemic status; again, associated with peak whitefly population levels. Correlations of expanded areas of disease-affected cassava with increased whitefly population levels have been noted throughout sub-Saharan Africa. By 2005, one third of cassava yield losses were attributable to whitefly-vectored diseases (Alicai et al., 2007, Legg et al.,

2011). Thus, the need for African cassava varieties resistant to both cassava viruses and whiteflies is apparent.

In the pursuit of whitefly-resistant cassava, the availability of diverse germplasm and genetic resources is required. As cassava originated and was domesticated in South America, later being brought to Africa, African cassava landraces of today have lost much of their genetic diversity (FAO, 2018). However, diversity still exists within South American germplasm and the thousands of South American cassava landraces from diverse climates that have been maintained at CIAT. Utilizing this resource, large-scale screening efforts have identified many whitefly-resistant and whitefly-susceptible South American cassava varieties (Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Bellotti et al., 1999). Cassava's genetic resources have also become more available, with the identification of genetic markers followed by the release of a sequenced reference genome of the Colombian cassava genotype AM560-2 (Bredeson et al., 2016, Prochnik et al., 2012).

Despite such resources, several factors can make performing studies in cassava difficult. Conducting replicated experiments can be challenging due to cassava's size and longevity, as it takes three months to grow two-foot-tall seedlings from stakes, with added time and space costs for experiments involving mature plants. Cassava is also a predominantly outcrossing species, making it difficult to acquire homozygous lines, requiring instead the maintenance of traits through clonal propagation (FAO, 2018). As a highly heterozygous tetraploid, cassava sequences can additionally be difficult to map in RNA-sequencing and other sequencing studies (Bredeson et al., 2016). In spite of this, numerous RNA-sequencing studies have been performed on different cassava tissues types (Wilson et al., 2017), as well as in cassava shoot tissues in response to

environmental stresses such as drought (Li et al., 2017), cold (An et al., 2012, Li et al., 2017) and shade (Ding et al., 2016) or biotic stresses such as bacteria (Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014), viruses (Allie et al., 2014a, Amuge et al., 2017, Anjanappa et al., 2017, Maruthi et al., 2014) and mealybugs (Rauwane et al., 2018). This Dissertation will now additionally define cassava's transcriptome in response to whitefly infestation (Irigoyen et al., 2020) and defense hormones, adding new genetic resources for the cassava community. Such novel resources will aid in the identification of the genetic mechanisms underlying resistance to whitefly and other agronomically important pests/pathogens in cassava.

Bemisia tabaci – A Threat to Cassava and Other Crops:

A major pest of cassava, causing up to 70% yield losses through feeding alone, are *Bemisa tabaci* species that populate Africa. Whiteflies, arthropod insects within the order Hemiptera, are able to devastate crop yields in part due to their long lifecycle, prolific reproduction and intimate and voracious feeding style. Adult whiteflies first choose a suitable plant host through a combination of visual cues like leaf "greenness", olfactory cues such as attracting or repelling plant volatiles, physical structures on the leaf surface such as trichome density, and biochemical properties of the leaf surface such as cuticle composition (Walling, 2008, Byrne and Bellows, 1991, Wang et al., 2017).

To identify a suitable feeding site, whiteflies also utilize their specialized mouthparts, known as stylets. Belonging to the sucking feeding guild of insects, whiteflies feed through extensive interaction of their stylets with various plant cell types (Freeman et al., 2001). Whitefly stylets are anchored to the epidermal surface by a gelling saliva, which also forms a sheath around the stylets as they travel between epidermal cells. These

stylets rarely puncture mesophyll cells while navigating the apoplast until reaching the phloem where photosynthates can be obtained (Kempema et al., 2007, Lei et al., 1998). In selecting a suitable feeding site, adults can use their stylets to taste the leaf surface or probe the phloem, salivating into the phloem and then tasting a saliva/phloem sap mixture (Walling, 2008, Miles, 1999). During feeding, whiteflies deplete photosynthates and also secrete honeydew, a sugar-rich substance that promotes the growth of sooty mold on lower leaves (Kamikawa et al., 2018). It is thought that effector proteins or small RNAs within the saliva, encoded by the whitefly or its endosymbionts (symbiotic bacteria), are secreted by whiteflies or present in whitefly honeydew and suppress plant defenses to allow for continued feeding (Kaloshian and Walling, 2016, van Kleeff et al., 2016, VanDoorn et al., 2015, Wang et al., 2019, Xu et al., 2019).

Adult whiteflies typically settle on the abaxial leaf surface due to a thinner cuticle, higher number of stomata, and closer proximity to the phloem. Once settled, adult females make a small incision into the leaf surface and deposit eggs equipped with pedicels, peglike structures that anchor the egg to the leaf by inserting into stomata or epidermal cells (Byrne and Bellows, 1991). The pedicle is an important conduit for eggs to take in water from the leaf (Voigt et al., 2019, Buckner et al., 2002, Byrne et al., 1990). Eggs develop to adults in about 20-30 days through nymph stages called instars (Byrne and Bellows, 1991). After emergence from the egg, 1st instars called "crawlers" walk the phylloplane in search of a suitable feeding site. The nymph feeds at this site more or less continuously throughout the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th instar stages. At the time the 4th instar ceases feeding, it is called a pseudopupa and shortly thereafter it emerges as an adult. Altogether, a single adult female can lay hundreds of eggs in her approximately one-month-long lifespan,

meaning that with a suitable host, whitefly populations can quickly expand in the absence of adequate intervention (Byrne and Bellows, 1991).

The rate of whitefly population growth is dependent on a combination of several factors including the plant host species/variety, the whitefly species, what endosymbionts the whitefly harbors, and what whitefly-vectored viruses the whitefly and/or plant harbors (Legg et al., 2011, Li et al., 2014, Moreno-Delafuente et al., 2013, Su et al., 2015, Sun et al., 2017). Certain plant species or varieties may be more or less resistant to a whitefly species. Whitefly-vectored viruses or endosymbionts that a plant encounters can also alter a plant's response to whiteflies, and can even alter the behavior of the whitefly vector itself (Moreno-Delafuente et al., 2013, Pan et al., 2021). There are over 1,550 species of whiteflies belonging to 161 genera, and while some whitefly species thrive on a single or small number plant hosts to which they have adapted (specialists), other whiteflies can be highly polyphagous (Mound and Halsey, 1978, Malka et al., 2018). For example, *B. tabaci*, a cryptic species complex of 39-40 morphologically indistinguishable species with multiple biotypes (De Barro et al., 2011, Mugerwa et al., 2018), has a host range estimated at over 1,000 plant species including many crops. Indeed, production of crops around the world such as cassava, cotton, Solanaceous plants, legumes, and brassicas are affected by B. tabaci infestation (Abd-Rabou and Simmons, 2010). Several species of whitefly infest cassava, including members of the *B. tabaci* species complex, *B. tuberculate*, *A. socialis*, Trialeurodes variabilis, Trialeurodes vaporariorum, and Aleurothrixus aepim (Njoroge et al., 2016, Bellotti and Arias, 2001). This ubiquitous and prolific nature of whiteflies in agriculture necessitates intervention in the form of methods of whitefly control.

Methods of Whitefly Control:

In response to devasting crop losses, several strategies aiming to control whitefly population levels have been developed or employed with varying levels of success. Of these, the use of insecticides and virus-resistant cassava lines have proven to be ineffective (Alicai et al., 2007, He et al., 2013). Insecticides are generally ineffective at controlling whitefly population levels, as whiteflies are able to develop resistance to most insecticides rapidly (He et al., 2007). It can be additionally difficult to target whiteflies with pesticides applied via foliar spray, as most whiteflies reside on the abaxial leaf surface (He et al., 2013, Ellsworth and Martinez-Carrillo, 2001). Operators of such sprays in under-developed countries additionally may lack necessary safety equipment and suffer harmful health effects due to direct pesticide exposure. The use of insecticides also poses the risk of suppressing beneficial insect populations for biocontrol and for selecting for pesticide resistance in whiteflies, and should thus be avoided or employed in a strategic manner to minimize such risks (Roush and Tabashnik, 2012).

An alternative method of controlling whitefly populations is the use of biological control agents such as whitefly pathogens, parasitoids or predators. Spray/dip treatment of host plants with entomopathogenic fungi (typically from the *Verticillium*, *Isaria*, and *Aschersonia* genera) has been shown to cause whitefly mortality, particularly for early-stage nymphs (Sani et al., 2020). Whitefly parasitoids, belonging to the *Encarsia* and *Eretmocerus* genera within order Hymenoptera, can be found worldwide and lay their eggs beneath or within whitefly nymphs, later emerging from and killing late-stage nymphs (Liu et al., 2015a). Release of parasitoid *Eretmocerus mundus* into greenhouses in large-scale trials has been shown to be effective in controlling *B.tabaci* population levels, as has been

seen for example in tomato and pepper (Stansly et al., 2005). Release of whitefly predators in greenhouses or fields in the US southwest such as coleopterans (ladybugs), *Drapetis nr. divergens* (a predatory fly) and *Orius tristicolor* (minute flower bug) has also been found to effectively control *B. tabaci* population levels on cotton (Kheirodin et al., 2020). While biocontrol is promising, it is not yet sufficient to control whitefly populations in the field.

The deployment of virus-resistant cassava varieties in Africa was also unsuccessful. Cassava resistant to whitefly-vectored CMV remained susceptible to whitefly infestation, and in some cases were found to more whitefly-susceptible than CMVsusceptible lines (Macfadyen et al., 2018). Together, this resulted in the emergence of CBSV and new CMV strains (Alicai et al., 2007) and today African cassava yields continue to be affected by the CMD and CBSD pandemics (Legg et al., 2011, Legg et al., 2014). Other methods of control, while still under development and perhaps difficult to deploy, have shown promising results. One such strategy is utilizing transgenic cassava that produce dsRNAs to target whitefly genes essential for growth and/or fitness. In transgenic dsRNA-producing tobacco, the silencing of whitefly gene targets including vATPase-a, an essential metabolic gene, as well as aquaporin (AQP) and alpha glucosidase (AGLU), regulators of osmotic pressure necessary for feeding, resulted in mortality of whiteflies after feeding (Thakur et al., 2014, Raza et al., 2016). Expression of an insecticidal fern protein in transgenic cotton also conferred whitefly resistance (Shukla et al., 2016). While such results are promising, the acceptance of transgenic crops widely varies among African farmers and legislators. Eight of the 47 African countries currently allow the cultivation of genetically modified crops, with only South Africa allowing cultivation of a directly edible crop, maize. As more African countries take steps to adopt genetically

engineered crops, transgenic strategies to address whitefly superabundance remain promising (Turnbull et al., 2021). However, more easily implemented strategies are required to alleviate the immediate food insecurity crisis at hand.

As opposed to previously mentioned control methods, the selective breeding of whitefly-resistance traits into locally-adapted, farmer-preferred lines holds great promise as an easily deployable strategy to control whitefly populations infesting African cassava. Unfortunately, there are few known sources of whitefly- or Hemipteran-resistance, with many uncharacterized at the genetic/molecular level (Walling and Thompson, 2012, Wang et al., 2017, Alba et al., 2011, Kant and Schuurink, 2021). Before discussing what is known from the literature concerning mechanisms of plant resistance against whiteflies, and more broadly Hemipterans, a brief review of plant immunity is provided.

Plant Immunity:

Primary and Secondary Immune Responses:

Much of our knowledge of plant immunity is based on the plant-pathogenic microbe literature, of which the basics have been found to be broadly applicable to other biotic stressors, such as insects. From this literature, plant defense has been defined as consisting of primary and secondary immune responses (Jones and Dangl, 2006). The plant primary immune response (often called basal resistance) is triggered by the perception of a pathogen based on conserved molecular signatures specific to that class of pathogen. These signatures are called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and are perceived by membrane-bound pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs). This initial perception prompts the activation of a defense response termed PAMPtriggered immunity (PTI) (Schwessinger and Zipfel, 2008).

In a secondary response, pathogens that are well-adapted to their hosts secrete small molecules called effectors to suppress the initial PTI response. However, this process is subverted if the host possesses an NLR (nucleotide-binding leucine-rich repeat proteins) receptor cognate to the effector (Cui et al., 2015, Jones and Dangl, 2006). Upon effector recognition, NLRs signal a secondary immune response termed effector-triggered immunity (ETI) that mainly involves a faster and higher amplitude induction of primary immune responses to stop the spread of the pathogen (Cui et al., 2015, Yuan et al., 2021, Eitas and Dangl, 2010, Jacob et al., 2013, Jones and Dangl, 2006).

Pathogen/Pest Elicitor Perception:

In the process of PTI responses, plants can perceive not only pathogen-derived PAMPs, which are also referred to as MAMPs (microbe-associated molecular patterns), but also several other classes of molecular signatures more generally referred to as elicitors. While some groups use the terms "elicitor" and "effector" interchangeably, here elicitors and effectors explicitly refer to those molecules which trigger PTI and ETI, respectively. PAMP/MAMPs are elicitors derived from pathogens, including for example those derived from bacterial flagellin and fungal chitin (Schwessinger and Zipfel, 2008). Elicitors derived from herbivores such as piercing/sucking or chewing insects are instead referred to as herbivore-associated molecular patterns (HAMPs) (Malik et al., 2021, Acevedo et al., 2015). HAMPs may come into contact with plant cells as components of the insect's eggs, saliva, excretions, or may even be derived from the insect's endosymbionts. Well-known HAMPs include fatty acid amino acid conjugates, glucose

oxidases, inceptins (ATP synthase fragments), and caeliferins found in insect oral secretions (Alborn et al., 1997, Halitschke et al., 2003, Schmelz et al., 2007). Many HAMPs begin as plant compounds that have been ingested and modified within the insect before then coming into contact with plant cells. For example, many HAMPs are insect-modified versions of plant-cell-wall components like pectin, oligosaccharides and oligogalacturonide fragments (Basu et al., 2018).

Elicitors can also be compounds endogenous to the plant host but in a fragmented or otherwise modified state following damage, known as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Heil et al., 2012). HAMPs that are modified from plant compounds, such as plant cell wall fragments as previously mentioned, are sometimes also considered as DAMPs. Some DAMPs serve primary functions in healthy, undamaged tissue and only function as signals of danger when damaged during wounding or attack from a biotic stressor. These include extracellular ATP, sucrose and DNA, as the presence of such molecules outside of the cell indicates damage and cell rupture. On the other hand, some DAMPs' only purpose is to act as a danger signal, such as immunomodulatory peptides which are cleaved from their originating protein after distress such as wounding is sensed (Tanaka and Heil, 2021, Heil et al., 2012). While elicitors are thought of as signaling general responses, race-specific elicitors or combinations of DAMPs from specific plant hosts and HAMPs from specific attackers can allow the plant to respond with some degree of specificity (Duran-Flores and Heil, 2016).

Plant Defense Signaling:

Both PTI and ETI responses depend on the activation of downstream defense signaling. Plants activate distinct defense-signaling programs in response to their specific

type of pathogen attacker, broadly classified by the pathogen's feeding style. Biotrophic pathogens feed without killing host cells (e.g. bacteria, viruses, certain fungi), while necrotrophs kill host cells and therefore feed on dead tissue (e.g. certain fungi) (Glazebrook, 2005). These classifications can be extended to other pathogens, as well as insect pests. For instance, piercing/sucking insects are thought to elicit biotroph-like responses, while animal herbivores, chewing insects, or wounding are thought to elicit necrotroph-like responses in a plant host (Erb and Reymond, 2019, Zogli et al., 2020).

The defense hormones salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA)/ethylene (ET) primarily signal responses to biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens, respectively (Glazebrook, 2005, Pieterse et al., 2012). These responses are additionally influenced by other hormones, such as ET and abscisic acid (ABA) with many examples of synergism or antagonism between hormone pathways (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011, Mur et al., 2006). Interactions between the SA and JA pathways, in some cases manipulated by pathogen or insect attackers, are the most well-documented, with known regulatory hubs in Arabidopsis including *WRKY70*, *NPR1* and *GRX480* (Caarls et al., 2015, Li et al., 2019a). In addition to phytohormones, many other signals, often in concert with one another, can relay the activation of plant defense genes in response to an attacker including reactive oxygen species (ROS), calcium (Ca²⁺), small peptides, and lipids (Gust et al., 2017, Noctor et al., 2018, Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011).

In the transcript-level characterization of plant defense-signaling responses, particularly in the case of non-model plants, oftentimes hormone responses of genes are inferred from known responses of orthologous genes in the model plant Arabidopsis (Teixeira et al., 2014, Tzin et al., 2015, Ziliotto et al., 2012). However, as hormone-

responsive transcriptomes become available for a wider array of plant species, it has been documented that hormone responsiveness of genes or even large gene sets does not always follow that of Arabidopsis (Irigoyen et al., 2020, Tamaoki et al., 2013, Zhu-Salzman et al., 2004). Indeed, it should be expected that plant species distinct from Arabidopsis (i.e., those with different ploidy levels, gene family expansions/contractions or monocots) may possess genes that have lost or taken on new functionalities. Genes involved in defense are particularly under the pressure of selection for altered functionality (Jones and Dangl, 2006).

Nevertheless, Arabidopsis hormone responses are still often referred to when characterizing the defense responses of other plant species. A prominent example is the use of pathogenesis-related (PR) genes as sentinels of a plant's activated hormone responses during pathogen/pest attack. PR genes are an arbitrary collection of pathogenupregulated genes, originally defined based on the accumulation of their translated protein products following pathogen attack. With this limited criteria for definition, PR genes thus sometimes have unclear importance in immunity, and conversely, many genes not defined as PR genes have been shown to be important in plant immunity. PR genes are commonly used as markers of hormone pathway activation in Arabidopsis, however, when their expression is assessed in other species, PR genes do not always act as sentinels for the hormone pathways as delineated in Arabidopsis. For example, in Arabidopsis, PR-1 and *PR-2* induction are common signatures of SA-mediated responses to viruses and bacteria, whereas PR-3 and PR-4 induction is indicative of JA- or JA/ET-mediated responses to necrotrophic fungi and chewing insects or wounding (van Loon et al., 2006). However, PR genes known to be exclusively regulated by SA or JA in Arabidopsis are primarily regulated by ET but also influenced by SA and JA in the model dicot tomato (Puthoff et

al., 2010). Together, the need for accurate identification of gene hormone response networks for each plant species under study is clear.

Whitefly Resistance:

While whitefly resistance at the genetic level is poorly understood, several studies on plant-whitefly interactions have provided some insight. In plant-insect interactions, mechanisms of resistance are broadly classified as antibiotic or antixenotic. Antibiosis either delays insect development or promotes mortality via toxins or antifeedants. Antixenosis deters insect settling and establishment or attracts insect natural enemies (i.e., predators, parasitoids) via volatiles or physical structures (Walling and Thompson, 2012). Moderate resistance to whitefly has been phenotypically characterized in the wild relatives of some crops including: tomato, melon, cotton, cowpea, soybean, zucchini, melon, lettuce, and broccoli (Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Cruz et al., 2014, Li et al., 2016b, Walling and Thompson, 2012). On the other hand, strong, fast-acting antibiotic whitefly resistance has only been described in cassava, alfalfa and Brassica species (Nebreda et al., 2005, Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Jiang et al., 2003, Teuber et al., 1996). Death of firstinstar nymphs has been reported in the Ecuadorian cassava genotype ECU72 and lines derived from a Californian alfalfa genotype (UC-256). Well-controlled screens for whitefly resistance in large germplasm collections have only been reported in these crops (Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Jiang and Walker, 2007) (Patrick Thomas, personal communication).

While several sources of plant whitefly resistance have been documented, only one whitefly-*R* gene has been cloned to date. The NLR *Mi1.2* in tomato confers broad-spectrum resistance to *B. tabaci* Middle-East Asia Minor 1 (MEAM1) and Mediterranean

1 (MED1) (formerly known as biotypes B and Q, respectively), the potato aphid, three species of nematode, and the potato psyllid (Casteel et al., 2007, Jiang et al., 2001, Kaloshian et al., 2000, Nombela et al., 2000, Nombela et al., 2001, Nombela et al., 2003, Roberts and Thomason, 1986). *Mi1.2*-mediated antibiotic resistance to *B. tabaci* is SA-mediated, localized to the apoplast of mature leaves and developmentally regulated (Jiang et al., 2001, Rodriguez-Alvarez et al., 2015, Rodriguez-Alvarez et al., 2017). Several whitefly-derived effectors have also been identified. The *B. tabaci* salivary effector protein Bt56 (later also identified as Bsp9) suppresses WRKY33, a positive regulator of immunity genes important for whitefly resistance in Arabidopsis (Wang et al., 2019) and activates SA responses in tobacco to suppress plant defenses (Xu et al., 2019). *B. tabaci* effector BtFer1, a salivary ferritin protein, suppresses ROS and JA signaling, as well as callose defenses to promote whitefly survival on tomato (Su et al., 2019). *BtPMaT1*, a plant gene acquired by *B. tabaci* through horizontal transfer, enables *B. tabaci* survival as BtPMaT1 detoxifies tomato phenolic glucosides (Xia et al., 2021).

Whitefly resistance in various plant species is also associated with plant physical characteristics or secondary metabolites. In response to whiteflies, broad spectrum plant defenses have been observed and often involve phenolic compounds, volatile terpenoids and acyl sugars (Wang et al., 2017). For example, several studies in wild tomato have found methyl ketones (Williams et al., 1980), acyl sugars (Escobar-Bravo et al., 2016, Oriani and Vendramim, 2010) and sesquiterpenoids (Bleeker et al., 2009, Bleeker et al., 2011) to be important for a broad-spectrum resistance to insects including whiteflies. Significantly, acyl-sugar-based resistance to whiteflies has been successfully transferred from wild to cultivated tomato (Escobar-Bravo et al., 2016). Leaf physical characteristics such as trichome density and type, cuticle thickness or composition and leaf coloration

have also been found to be associated with levels of basal resistance to whiteflies (Wang et al., 2017), with trichome characteristics associated with whitefly-specific resistance in tomato (Kortbeek et al., 2021). For cassava genotype ECU72, a metabolomics study conducted at RHUL found whitefly resistance involves cell wall fortification involving higher lignin levels compared to COL2246 (Perez-Fons et al., 2019).

Varying transcriptional responses to whitefly have also been described in species such as A. thaliana, lima bean, tobacco, tomato, and cotton. B. tabaci MEAM1 induces SA responses to repress effective JA responses in the whitefly-susceptible A. thaliana (Kempema et al., 2007, Zarate et al., 2007). JA responses are suppressed in B. tabaci and spider mite co-infested lima bean, likely through SA signaling independent of SA levels (Zhang et al., 2009). SA responses are induced in tobacco infested with B. tabaci MEAM1, promoting the systemic production of various phenolic compounds with roles in defense (Zhang et al., 2017). In contrast, the induction of JA/ET responses, transcription factors mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) and MAPKs, and WRKY-domain containing proteins (WRKYs) are required for resistance to B. tabaci MEAM1 in cotton (Li et al., 2016b). As a general response of susceptible tomato to B. tabaci MEAM1 and Trialeurodes vaporariorum, JA responses are similarly elicited (Puthoff et al., 2010). Recent studies in eggplant and tomato have additionally demonstrated the importance of JA and ABA responses in enhancing resistance to the whitefly T. vaporariorum (Esmaeily et al., 2020, Esmaeily et al., 2021). ROS may be another signal in whitefly responses; repression of ROS production has been associated with whitefly infestation in A. thaliana and cotton (Kempema et al., 2007, Li et al., 2016b) and in the resistant response of cassava, pepper and eggplant antioxidative enzymes show increased activity (Esmaeily et al., 2020, Mwila et al., 2017, Wu et al., 2019). Together, a variety of plant defense

signals to whitefly infestation have been reported and thus a common signature of a resistant response to whitefly remains unclear.

Hemipteran Resistance:

While whitefly resistance remains largely uncharacterized, some information can be gleaned from characterized resistance to other phloem-feeding Hemipterans (e.g. aphids, planthoppers, leafhoppers, etc.). Over 70 aphid *R*-genes have been identified in over a dozen crop species. Aphid-resistance is commonly conferred by a nucleotidebinding leucine-rich repeat protein (NLR)-mediated and resistance is usually phloemlocalized (Smith and Chuang, 2014, Walling and Thompson, 2012). Two aphid R-genes have been cloned, Mi1.2, which confers antibiotic resistance to potato aphid in tomato, and Vat, which confers antibiotic and antixenotic resistance to cotton and melon aphids in melon (Anstead et al., 2010, Dogimont et al., 2008, Milligan et al., 1998, Li et al., 2006b, Walling and Thompson, 2012). *Mi1.2*-mediated resistance to aphids is phloem-localized and requires SA responses (Li et al., 2006b, Walling and Thompson, 2012). SA responses have also been observed in wheat, barley, and maize infested with aphids (Chaman et al., 2003, Tzin et al., 2015, Zhu-Salzman et al., 2004). The cloned brown planthopper (BPH) NLR R genes Bph14 and Bph9 in rice are also associated with SA responses (Du et al., 2009, Walling and Thompson, 2012, Zhao et al., 2016), while moderate BPH resistance in another rice variety (IR42) is induced by ABA-mediated callose deposition (Liu et al., 2017). In rice, many BPH and white-backed planthopper NLR and receptor kinase type Rgenes have been identified or cloned, many with phloem-localized resistance and some providing broad spectrum resistance (Sani Haliru et al., 2020, Walling and Thompson,

2012, Yuexiong et al., 2020, Du et al., 2009, Ji et al., 2016, Liu et al., 2015b, Tamura et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2015d, Zhao et al., 2016). *Vat*-mediated resistance to aphids instead requires JA/ET responses and is localized to the mesophyll/epidermis (Anstead et al., 2010). Phloem-localized aphid resistance in *Medicago truncatula* mediated by the NLR *AKR* also requires JA responses (Klingler et al., 2005, Walling and Thompson, 2012). Similarly, soybean *Rag1/2*-mediated resistance to aphids is JA-IIe-dependent (Yates-Stewart et al., 2020).

Many effectors have also been described in Hemipterans (in addition to previously mentioned whitefly effectors). Effectors found in the saliva of various species of aphids found to be important for aphid colonization, survival, development, or reproduction include AcDCXR, ACE1, ACE2, C002, Armet, Me47, Mp10, Mp42, and Mp55 (Bos et al., 2010, Elzinga et al., 2014, Kettles and Kaloshian, 2016, MacWilliams et al., 2020, Mutti et al., 2006, Wang et al., 2015a, Wang et al., 2015b). Brown planthopper salivary effector proteins NISEF and NcSP75 have also been found to affect insect survival (Matsumoto and Hattori, 2018, Ye et al., 2017).

Of the dozens of studies that have documented plant responses to Hemipterans at the transcript level, eighteen have specifically assessed modulation of phytohormonesignaling pathways. Of these responses to Hemipterans, a mixture of SA (tomato, rice), JA (cotton, melon, soybean, and *M. truncatula*) and ABA (eggplant, tomato and rice) responses have been found to confer resistance, while mainly SA responses (*A. thaliana*, tobacco, lima bean, maize, wheat, barley) have been documented as responses of susceptible or tolerant plants (Anstead et al., 2010, Chaman et al., 2003, Du et al., 2009, Esmaeily et al., 2020, Esmaeily et al., 2021, Klingler et al., 2005, Li et al., 2016b, Li et al.,
2006b, Liu et al., 2017, Puthoff et al., 2010, Rodriguez-Alvarez et al., 2015, Tzin et al., 2015, Yates-Stewart et al., 2020, Zarate et al., 2007, Zhang et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2017, Zhao et al., 2016, Zhu-Salzman et al., 2004). Hemipteran probing is thought to resemble cell wall stress caused by fungi/bacteria; although, aphids cause significantly more cellular damage and spend less time in contact with host cells than whiteflies (Kempema et al., 2007, Martinez de Ilarduya et al., 2003). Thus, it is tempting to speculate that responses to aphids resemble responses to necrotrophs (JA/ET) and that responses to whiteflies resemble responses to biotrophs (SA) (Walling and Thompson, 2012). However, with limited examples, and likely species-specific responses, a signature of aphid, whitefly, or Hemipteran-induced transcript-level responses in plants remains unclear.

Objectives of the Dissertation:

Whitefly superabundance is an ongoing source of food insecurity for small shareholder African cassava farmers (FAO, 2018). Methods of whitefly control employed or under development such as insecticides, virus-resistant cassava and transgenic cassava are either ineffective, lengthy, or not currently accepted by African governments (Alicai et al., 2007, He et al., 2013, Turnbull et al., 2021). Instead, the development of whitefly-resistant cassava varieties for deployment in affected regions holds promise as a more immediate solution. Identification of whitefly resistance and underlying resistance traits in South American cassava for transference to African cassava lines via breeding can achieve this goal. Also required is a better understanding of the mechanisms of whitefly resistance in cassava at the genetic level through analyzing the transcriptome

response of cassava to whitefly infestation. To identify whitefly-regulated genes that may have a role in defense, the defense hormone (SA, JA, ET, ABA) responses of such genes must also be assessed. The current understanding of defense-hormone responses in Arabidopsis is often not broadly applicable to other plant species for which such resources are unavailable, such as cassava. Thus, to better understand whitefly resistance in cassava at the genetic level, this Dissertation aims to define and compare the transcriptome responses of whitefly-resistant and whitefly-susceptible cassava to whitefly infestation as well as to defense hormone treatment.

Chapter 1: Genome-wide analyses of cassava Pathogenesis-related (PR) gene families reveal core transcriptome responses to whitefly infestation, salicylic acid and jasmonic acid

As a first characterization of the cassava-whitefly interaction at the transcriptome level, the responses of *PR* genes, common markers in defining pest/pathogen responses, to whitefly infestation and defense hormones was defined (Irigoyen et al., 2020). Four whitefly-susceptible cassava lines were utilized in this study, as resistance mechanisms were not yet fully studied or ready for dissemination. The full complement of cassava *PR* gene families were annotated and phylogenetic analyses were used to identify family expansion indicative of selection in cassava. Similar *PR* gene expression programs across cassava genotypes in response to infestation were identified to define a core *PR* gene transcriptome response of susceptible cassava to whiteflies. The responses of *PR* genes to the canonical defense hormones SA and JA were also assessed to define the hormone response of whitefly-regulated cassava genes. SA and JA response data sets were only available in genotype COL2246 for this analysis. Finally, *PR* gene responses to whitefly

and a variety of other biotic stressors were compared to determine, which characterized stresses most resemble whitefly infestation. The work presented in this Chapter is published and was equally contributed to by myself and Dr. Maria Irigoyen (UCR). Infestation and whitefly time course experiments as well as sample RNA extractions were performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux (CIAT).

Chapter 2: Integrative transcriptomics reveals association of salicylic acid, abscisic acid and lignin pathways with cassava whitefly resistance

After a limited initial characterization of the cassava-whitefly interaction using sentinel *PR* genes, a broader transcriptome analysis was performed. The study reported in Chapter 2 sought to identify differences between the resistant and susceptible responses of cassava to whiteflies. In addition to SA and JA transcriptomes used in Chapter 1, ET- and ABA-responsive transcriptomes were used to allow a more comprehensive understanding of the complexity of cassava's defense hormone responses. The full transcriptomes of whitefly-resistant ECU72 and whitefly-susceptible COL2246 following whitefly infestation (Dr. Maria Irigoyen, UCR) and treatment with the defense hormones SA, JA, ET, and ABA were defined. Defense-hormone-responsive transcriptome timing, magnitude, and response directionality was compared between treatments and cassava genotypes. To place cassava's hormone responses within a broader context, hormone-responsive gene expression trends were compared between cassava and the model eudicot *Arabidopsis thaliana*; this included an in-depth analysis of hormone perception, biosynthesis, transport and response genes.

Comparative analyses of infestation-responsive genes between genotypes were additionally performed, with special attention to hormone pathway genes. Measurements

of identifiable defense hormones (SA, JA and ABA but not gaseous ET) were taken for infested samples (Dr. Laura Perez-Fons, RHUL) for comparison to transcriptome responses. Hormone and infestation transcriptome data sets were then combined in an integrative analysis to determine hormone regulatory status of whitefly-regulated genes. Up- or down-regulation by SA, JA, ET and ABA was used as an indicator of possible defense roles of whitefly-responsive gene sets. As such, these gene sets underwent enrichment analyses to identify processes possibly involved in resistance or susceptibility mechanisms. Pathways indicated as important for resistance or susceptibility to whitefly infestation from this analysis were further explored in this Chapter.

Chapter 3: Identification of whitefly defense genes via eQTL analysis

QTL mapping studies were performed at CIAT (Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis, and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera, CIAT) to define the genetic intervals critical for whitefly resistance. These studies used F₁ populations from crosses between the whitefly-resistant ECU72 with the whiteflysusceptible COL2246 or 60444 and defined several broad whitefly resistance loci. To narrow down important defense genes within such regions and to complement the QTL studies, an RNA-sequencing based approach to expression QTL (eQTL) mapping was utilized. Growth and RNA extraction of samples for sequencing was performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux at CIAT. eQTLs have the added advantage of capturing regions of interest missed by QTL mapping due to the added association of expression with sequence data. RNA-sequencing of resistant and susceptible individuals from each F₁ population was used for eQTL analysis, with genotype and expression data derived from sequence reads. Genotype data was provided by Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis at CIAT.

eQTLs identified for each population were filtered to better identify those with possible roles in defense against whiteflies using criteria such as status as an eQTL hotspot, parental differentially expressed gene (DEG), eQTL in both populations, or known defense gene as well as location within a QTL or eQTL physical cluster. eQTL-identified defense genes were assessed for strict correlation of parent and progeny expression with resistance phenotypes, or for previous evidence of roles in whitefly resistance. Genes meeting these criteria were highlighted as possible whitefly resistance factor candidates to be evaluated in transgenic cassava.

References

- Abd-Rabou, S. & Simmons, A. M. 2010. Survey of reproductive host plants of *Bemisia* tabaci (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in Egypt, including new host records. *Entomological news*, 121, 456-465.
- Acevedo, F. E., Rivera-Vega, L. J., Chung, S. H., Ray, S. & Felton, G. W. 2015. Cues from chewing insects - the intersection of DAMPs, HAMPs, MAMPs and effectors. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 26, 80-6.
- Alba, J. M., Glas, J. J., Schimmel, B. C. & Kant, M. R. 2011. Avoidance and suppression of plant defenses by herbivores and pathogens. *Journal of Plant Interactions*, 6, 221-227.
- Alborn, H., Turlings, T., Jones, T., Stenhagen, G., Loughrin, J. & Tumlinson, J. 1997. An elicitor of plant volatiles from beet armyworm oral secretion. *Science*, 276, 945-949.
- Alicai, T., Omongo, C. A., Maruthi, M. N., Hillocks, R. J., Baguma, Y., Kawuki, R., Bua, A., Otim-Nape, G. W. & Colvin, J. 2007. Re-emergence of cassava brown streak disease in Uganda. *Plant Disease*, 91, 24-29.
- Allie, F., Pierce, E. J., Okoniewski, M. J. & Rey, C. 2014a. Transcriptional analysis of South African cassava mosaic virus-infected susceptible and tolerant landraces of cassava highlights differences in resistance, basal defense and cell wall associated genes during infection. BMC Genomics, 15, 1006.
- Amuge, T., Berger, D. K., Katari, M. S., Myburg, A. A., Goldman, S. L. & Ferguson, M. E. 2017. A time series transcriptome analysis of cassava (*Manihot esculenta Crantz*) varieties challenged with Ugandan cassava brown streak virus. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 21.
- An, D., Yang, J. & Zhang, P. 2012. Transcriptome profiling of low temperature-treated cassava apical shoots showed dynamic responses of tropical plant to cold stress. *BMC Genomics*, 13, 64.
- Anjanappa, R. B., Mehta, D., Okoniewski, M. J., Szabelska-Beresewicz, A., Gruissem, W. & Vanderschuren, H. 2017. Molecular insights into *cassava brown streak virus* susceptibility and resistance by profiling of the early host response. *Mol Plant Pathol.*
- Anstead, J., Samuel, P., Song, N., Wu, C. J., Thompson, G. A. & Goggin, F. 2010. Activation of ethylene-related genes in response to aphid feeding on resistant and susceptible melon and tomato plants. *Entomologia Experimentalis Et Applicata*, 134, 170-181.

- Basu, S., Varsani, S. & Louis, J. 2018. Altering Plant Defenses: Herbivore-Associated Molecular Patterns and Effector Arsenal of Chewing Herbivores. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 31, 13-21.
- Bellotti, A. C. & Arias, B. 2001. Host plant resistance to whiteflies with emphasis on cassava as a case study. *Crop Protection*, 20, 813-823.
- Bellotti, A. C., Smith, L. & Lapointe, S. L. 1999. Recent advances in cassava pest management. *Annu Rev Entomol*, 44, 343-70.
- Bleeker, P. M., Diergaarde, P. J., Ament, K., Guerra, J., Weidner, M., Schutz, S., de Both, M. T., Haring, M. A. & Schuurink, R. C. 2009. The role of specific tomato volatiles in tomato-whitefly interaction. *Plant Physiol*, 151, 925-35.
- Bleeker, P. M., Diergaarde, P. J., Ament, K., Schutz, S., Johne, B., Dijkink, J., Hiemstra, H., de Gelder, R., de Both, M. T., Sabelis, M. W., Haring, M. A. & Schuurink, R. C. 2011. Tomato-produced 7-epizingiberene and R-curcumene act as repellents to whiteflies. *Phytochemistry*, 72, 68-73.
- Bohorquez, A., Tohme, J., Parsa, S. & Becerra López-Lavalle, L. A. 2013. Phenotyping cassava (Manihot esculenta) resistance to whitefly (Aleurotrachelus socialis).
 First International Whitefly Symposium, Kolymbari, Creta, Grecia: Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT).
- Bos, J. I., Prince, D., Pitino, M., Maffei, M. E., Win, J. & Hogenhout, S. A. 2010. A functional genomics approach identifies candidate effectors from the aphid species Myzus persicae (green peach aphid). *PLoS Genet,* 6, e1001216.
- Bredeson, J. V., Lyons, J. B., Prochnik, S. E., Wu, G. A., Ha, C. M., Edsinger-Gonzales, E., Grimwood, J., Schmutz, J., Rabbi, I. Y., Egesi, C., Nauluvula, P., Lebot, V., Ndunguru, J., Mkamilo, G., Bart, R. S., Setter, T. L., Gleadow, R. M., Kulakow, P., Ferguson, M. E., Rounsley, S. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2016. Sequencing wild and cultivated cassava and related species reveals extensive interspecific hybridization and genetic diversity. *Nat Biotechnol*, 34, 562-70.
- Buckner, J. S., Freeman, T. P., Ruud, R. L., Chu, C. c. & Henneberry, T. J. 2002. Characterization and functions of the whitefly egg pedicel. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology: Published in Collaboration with the Entomological Society of America*, 49, 22-33.
- Byrne, D. N. & Bellows, T. S. 1991. WHITEFLY BIOLOGY. Annual Review of Entomology, 36, 431-457.
- Byrne, D. N., Cohen, A. C. & Draeger, E. A. 1990. Water uptake from plant tissue by the egg pedicel of the greenhouse whitefly, *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* (Westwood)(Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Canadian journal of zoology*, 68, 1193-1195.

- Caarls, L., Pieterse, C. M. & Van Wees, S. C. 2015. How salicylic acid takes transcriptional control over jasmonic acid signaling. *Front Plant Sci*, 6, 170.
- Casteel, C. L., Walling, L. L. & Paine, T. D. 2007. Effect of *Mi-1.2* gene in Natal Host Plants on Behavior and Biology of the Tomato Psyllid *Bactericerca cockerelli* (Sulc) (Hemiptera: Psyllidae). *Journal of Entomological Science*, 42, 155-162.
- Ceballos, H., Ramirez, J., Bellotti, A. C., Jarvis, A. & Alvarez, E. 2011. Adaptation of cassava to changing climates. *In:* YADAV, S. S., REDDEN, R. J., HATFIELD, J. L., HERMANN LOTZE-CAMPEN, H. & HALL, A. E. (eds.) *Crop adaptation to climate change.* . https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/book/10.1002/9780470960929 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Chaman, M. E., Copaja, S. V. & Argandona, V. H. 2003. Relationships between salicylic acid content, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) activity, and resistance of barley to aphid infestation. *J Agric Food Chem*, 51, 2227-31.
- Cruz, P. L., Baldin, E. L. L. & de Castro, M. D. P. 2014. Characterization of antibiosis to the silverleaf whitefly *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in cowpea entries. *Journal of Pest Science*, 87, 639-645.
- Cui, H., Tsuda, K. & Parker, J. E. 2015. Effector-triggered immunity: from pathogen perception to robust defense. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 66, 487-511.
- De Barro, P. J., Liu, S. S., Boykin, L. M. & Dinsdale, A. B. 2011. *Bemisia tabaci*: a statement of species status. *Annu Rev Entomol*, 56, 1-19.
- Ding, Z., Zhang, Y., Xiao, Y., Liu, F., Wang, M., Zhu, X., Liu, P., Sun, Q., Wang, W., Peng, M., Brutnell, T. & Li, P. 2016. Transcriptome response of cassava leaves under natural shade. *Sci Rep*, 6, 31673.
- Dixon, A., Bandyopadhyay, R., Coyne, D., Ferguson, M., Ferris, R., Hanna, R., Hughes, J., Ingelbrecht, I., Legg, J., Mahungu, N., Manyong, V., Mowbray, D., Neuenschwander, P., Whyte, J., Hartmann, P. & Ortiz, R. Cassava: from poor farmers' crop to pacesetter of African rural development. 2003.
- Dogimont, C., Chovelon, V., Tual, S., Boissot, N., Rittener-Ruff, V., Giovinazzo, N. & Bendahmane, A. Molecular diversity at the Vat/Pm-W resistance locus in melon.
 9. Congrès international Eucarpia Meeting on Genentics and Breeding of Cucurbitaceae, 2008. Pitrat Michel.
- Du, B., Zhang, W., Liu, B., Hu, J., Wei, Z., Shi, Z., He, R., Zhu, L., Chen, R., Han, B. & He, G. 2009. Identification and characterization of *Bph14*, a gene conferring resistance to brown planthopper in rice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 22163-8.
- Duran-Flores, D. & Heil, M. 2016. Sources of specificity in plant damaged-self recognition. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 32, 77-87.

- Eitas, T. K. & Dangl, J. L. 2010. NB-LRR proteins: pairs, pieces, perception, partners, and pathways. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 13, 472-7.
- Ellsworth, P. C. & Martinez-Carrillo, J. L. 2001. IPM for *Bemisia tabaci*: a case study from North America. *Crop protection*, 20, 853-869.
- Elzinga, D. A., De Vos, M. & Jander, G. 2014. Suppression of plant defenses by a *Myzus persicae* (green peach aphid) salivary effector protein. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 27, 747-56.
- Erb, M. & Reymond, P. 2019. Molecular interactions between plants and insect herbivores. *Annual review of plant biology*, 70, 527-557.
- Escobar-Bravo, R., Alba, J. M., Pons, C., Granell, A., Kant, M. R., Moriones, E. & Fernandez-Munoz, R. 2016. A Jasmonate-Inducible Defense Trait Transferred from Wild into Cultivated Tomato Establishes Increased Whitefly Resistance and Reduced Viral Disease Incidence. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1732.
- Esmaeily, S., Amin Samih, M. & Izadi, H. 2020. Induced eggplant resistance against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* triggered by jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding. *Bull Entomol Res*, 110, 285-292.
- Esmaeily, S., Samih, M. A. & Izadi, H. 2021. Induced resistance by jasmonic and abscisic acids and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding on *Solanum lycopersicum* against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum*. *International Journal of Pest Management*, 67, 46-57.
- FAO 2018. Food outlook. Biannual report on global food markets. http://www.fao.org/3/ca2320en/CA2320EN.pdf.
- Freeman, T. P., Buckner, J. S., Nelson, D. R., Chu, C.-C. & Henneberry, T. J. 2001. Stylet Penetration by *Bemisia argentifolii* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) into Host Leaf Tissue. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*, 94, 761-768.
- Glazebrook, J. 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 43, 205-227.
- Gust, A. A., Pruitt, R. & Nurnberger, T. 2017. Sensing Danger: Key to Activating Plant Immunity. *Trends Plant Sci*, 22, 779-791.
- Halitschke, R., Gase, K., Hui, D., Schmidt, D. D. & Baldwin, I. T. 2003. Molecular interactions between the specialist herbivore *Manduca sexta* (Lepidoptera, Sphingidae) and its natural host *Nicotiana attenuata*. VI. Microarray analysis reveals that most herbivore-specific transcriptional changes are mediated by fatty acid-amino acid conjugates. *Plant Physiology*, 131, 1894-1902.
- He, Y., Zhao, J., Zheng, Y., Weng, Q., Biondi, A., Desneux, N. & Wu, K. 2013. Assessment of potential sublethal effects of various insecticides on key biological traits of the tobacco whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci. Int J Biol Sci*, 9, 246-55.

- He, Y. X., Weng, Q. Y., Huang, J., Liang, Z. S., Lin, G. J. & Wu, D. D. 2007. Insecticide resistance of *Bemisia tabaci* field populations. *Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao*, 18, 1578-82.
- Heil, M., Ibarra-Laclette, E., Adame-Álvarez, R. M., Martínez, O., Ramirez-Chávez, E., Molina-Torres, J. & Herrera-Estrella, L. 2012. How plants sense wounds: damaged-self recognition is based on plant-derived elicitors and induces octadecanoid signaling. *PloS one*, 7, e30537.
- Howeler, R. H., Lutaladio, N. & Thomas, G. 2013. Save and Grow: Cassava : A Guide to Sustainable Production Intensification. Save and Grow: Cassava : a Guide to Sustainable Production Intensification. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. B., Perez-Fons, L., Fraser, P. D. & Walling, L. L. 2020. Genome-wide analyses of cassava *Pathogenesis-related (PR)* gene families reveal core transcriptome responses to whitefly infestation, salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. *BMC Genomics*, 21, 93.
- Jacob, F., Vernaldi, S. & Maekawa, T. 2013. Evolution and conservation of plant NLR functions. *Front Immunol,* 4, 297.
- Jarvis, A., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Herrera Campo, B. V. & Navarro-Racines, C. 2012. Is cassava the answer to African climate change adaptation? *Tropical Plant Biology*, 5, 9-29.
- Ji, H., Kim, S.-R., Kim, Y.-H., Suh, J.-P., Park, H.-M., Sreenivasulu, N., Misra, G., Kim, S.-M., Hechanova, S. L. & Kim, H. 2016. Map-based cloning and characterization of the *BPH18* gene from wild rice conferring resistance to brown planthopper (BPH) insect pest. *Scientific reports*, 6, 1-14.
- Jiang, Y., Nombela, G. & Muñiz, M. 2001. Analysis by DC–EPG of the resistance to *Bemisia tabaci* on an Mi-tomato line. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 99, 295-302.
- Jiang, Y. X. & Walker, G. P. 2007. Identification of phloem sieve elements as the site of resistance to silverleaf whitefly in resistant alfalfa genotypes. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 125, 307-320.
- Jiang, Y. X., Zareh, N., Walker, G. P. & Teuber, L. R. 2003. Characterization of alfalfa germplasm expressing resistance to silverleaf whitefly, *Bemisia argentifolii*. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 127, 447–457.
- Jones, J. D. & Dangl, J. L. 2006. The plant immune system. Nature, 444, 323-9.
- Kaloshian, I., Kinsey, M. G., Williamson, V. M. & Ullman, D. E. 2000. Mi-mediated resistance against the potato aphid *Macrosiphum euphorbiae* (Hemiptera:

Aphididae) limits sieve element ingestion. *Environmental Entomology*, 29, 690-695.

- Kaloshian, I. & Walling, L. L. 2016. Hemipteran and dipteran pests: Effectors and plant host immune regulators. *J Integr Plant Biol*, 58, 350-61.
- Kamikawa, S., Imura, T. & Sato, H. 2018. Reduction of sooty mold damage through biocontrol of the greenhouse whitefly *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) using selective insecticides in tomato cultivation greenhouses. *Applied entomology and zoology*, 53, 395-402.
- Kant, M. R. & Schuurink, R. C. 2021. Life stage-dependent genetic traits as drivers of plant–herbivore interactions. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 70, 234-240.
- Kempema, L. A., Cui, X., Holzer, F. M. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Arabidopsis transcriptome changes in response to phloem-feeding silverleaf whitefly nymphs. Similarities and distinctions in responses to aphids. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 849-65.
- Kettles, G. J. & Kaloshian, I. 2016. The Potato Aphid Salivary Effector Me47 Is a Glutathione-S-Transferase Involved in Modifying Plant Responses to Aphid Infestation. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1142.
- Kheirodin, A., Simmons, A. M., Legaspi, J. C., Grabarczyk, E. E., Toews, M. D., Roberts, P. M., Chong, J.-H., Snyder, W. E. & Schmidt, J. M. 2020. Can generalist predators control *Bemisia tabaci*? *Insects*, 11, 823.
- Klingler, J., Creasy, R., Gao, L., Nair, R. M., Calix, A. S., Jacob, H. S., Edwards, O. R. & Singh, K. B. 2005. Aphid resistance in *Medicago truncatula* involves antixenosis and phloem-specific, inducible antibiosis, and maps to a single locus flanked by NBS-LRR resistance gene analogs. *Plant Physiol*, 137, 1445-55.
- Kortbeek, R. W., Galland, M. D., Muras, A., van der Kloet, F. M., André, B., Heilijgers, M., van Hijum, S. A., Haring, M. A., Schuurink, R. C. & Bleeker, P. M. 2021.
 Natural variation in wild tomato trichomes; selecting metabolites that contribute to insect resistance using a random forest approach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 21, 1-19.
- Latif, S. & Müller, J. 2015. Potential of cassava leaves in human nutrition: A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 44, 147-158.
- Legg, J. P., Jeremiah, S. C., Obiero, H. M., Maruthi, M. N., Ndyetabula, I., Okao-Okuja, G., Bouwmeester, H., Bigirimana, S., Tata-Hangy, W., Gashaka, G., Mkamilo, G., Alicai, T. & Lava Kumar, P. 2011. Comparing the regional epidemiology of the cassava mosaic and cassava brown streak virus pandemics in Africa. *Virus Res*, 159, 161-70.
- Legg, J. P., Sseruwagi, P., Boniface, S., Okao-Okuja, G., Shirima, R., Bigirimana, S., Gashaka, G., Herrmann, H. W., Jeremiah, S., Obiero, H., Ndyetabula, I., Tata-Hangy, W., Masembe, C. & Brown, J. K. 2014. Spatio-temporal patterns of

genetic change amongst populations of cassava *Bemisia tabaci* whiteflies driving virus pandemics in East and Central Africa. *Virus Research*, 186, 61-75.

- Lei, H., Xu, R., Tjallingii, W. F. & Lenteren, J. C. Electrical penetration graphs of greenhouse whitefly, *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* Westwood (in Chinese). 1998.
- Li, J., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Wang, Q., Chen, L., Zhang, Q., Wang, M., Mansoor, S., Zhang, X. & Jin, S. 2019a. Genome-Wide Analysis of Cotton miRNAs During Whitefly Infestation Offers New Insights into Plant-Herbivore Interaction. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- Li, J., Zhu, L., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Daniell, H., Jin, S. & Zhang, X. 2016b. Transcriptome analysis reveals a comprehensive insect resistance response mechanism in cotton to infestation by the phloem feeding insect *Bemisia tabaci* (whitefly). *Plant Biotechnol J*, 14, 1956-75.
- Li, Q., Xie, Q. G., Smith-Becker, J., Navarre, D. A. & Kaloshian, I. 2006b. *Mi-1*-Mediated aphid resistance involves salicylic acid and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascades. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 19, 655-64.
- Li, R., Weldegergis, B. T., Li, J., Jung, C., Qu, J., Sun, Y., Qian, H., Tee, C., van Loon, J. J., Dicke, M., Chua, N. H., Liu, S. S. & Ye, J. 2014. Virulence factors of geminivirus interact with MYC2 to subvert plant resistance and promote vector performance. *Plant Cell*, 26, 4991-5008.
- Li, S., Yu, X., Cheng, Z., Yu, X., Ruan, M., Li, W. & Peng, M. 2017. Global Gene Expression Analysis Reveals Crosstalk between Response Mechanisms to Cold and Drought Stresses in Cassava Seedlings. *Front Plant Sci*, 8, 1259.
- Liu, J., Du, H., Ding, X., Zhou, Y., Xie, P. & Wu, J. 2017. Mechanisms of callose deposition in rice regulated by exogenous abscisic acid and its involvement in rice resistance to *Nilaparvata lugens* Stal (Hemiptera: Delphacidae). *Pest Manag Sci*, 73, 2559-2568.
- Liu, T.-X., Stansly, P. A. & Gerling, D. 2015a. Whitefly parasitoids: distribution, life history, bionomics, and utilization. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 60, 273-292.
- Liu, Y., Wu, H., Chen, H., Liu, Y., He, J., Kang, H., Sun, Z., Pan, G., Wang, Q. & Hu, J. 2015b. A gene cluster encoding lectin receptor kinases confers broad-spectrum and durable insect resistance in rice. *Nature biotechnology*, 33, 301-305.
- Macfadyen, S., Paull, C., Boykin, L. M., De Barro, P., Maruthi, M. N., Otim, M., Kalyebi, A., Vassao, D. G., Sseruwagi, P., Tay, W. T., Delatte, H., Seguni, Z., Colvin, J. & Omongo, C. A. 2018. Cassava whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius) (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in East African farming landscapes: a review of the factors determining abundance. *Bull Entomol Res*, 108, 565-582.

- MacWilliams, J. R., Dingwall, S., Chesnais, Q., Sugio, A. & Kaloshian, I. 2020. AcDCXR is a cowpea aphid effector with putative roles in altering host immunity and physiology. *Frontiers in plant science*, 11, 605.
- Malik, G., Chaturvedi, R. & Hooda, S. 2021. Role of Herbivore-Associated Molecular Patterns (HAMPs) in Modulating Plant Defenses. *Plant-Pest Interactions: From Molecular Mechanisms to Chemical Ecology.* Springer.
- Malka, O., Santos-Garcia, D., Feldmesser, E., Sharon, E., Krause-Sakate, R., Delatte, H., van Brunschot, S., Patel, M., Visendi, P., Mugerwa, H., Seal, S., Colvin, J. & Morin, S. 2018. Species-complex diversification and host-plant associations in *Bemisia tabaci*: A plant-defence, detoxification perspective revealed by RNA-Seq analyses. *Mol Ecol*, 27, 4241-4256.
- Martinez de Ilarduya, O., Xie, Q. & Kaloshian, I. 2003. Aphid-induced defense responses in *Mi-1*-mediated compatible and incompatible tomato interactions. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact,* 16, 699-708.
- Maruthi, M. N., Bouvaine, S., Tufan, H. A., Mohammed, I. U. & Hillocks, R. J. 2014. Transcriptional response of virus-infected cassava and identification of putative sources of resistance for cassava brown streak disease. *PLoS One*, 9, e96642.
- Matsumoto, Y. & Hattori, M. 2018. The green rice leafhopper, *Nephotettix cincticeps* (Hemiptera: Cicadellidae), salivary protein NcSP75 is a key effector for successful phloem ingestion. *PloS one*, 13, e0202492.
- Miles, P. W. 1999. Aphid saliva. *Biological Reviews*, 74, 41-85.
- Milligan, S. B., Bodeau, J., Yaghoobi, J., Kaloshian, I., Zabel, P. & Williamson, V. M. 1998. The root knot nematode resistance gene *Mi* from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucine-rich repeat family of plant genes. *The Plant Cell*, 10, 1307-1319.
- Moreno-Delafuente, A., Garzo, E., Moreno, A. & Fereres, A. 2013. A plant virus manipulates the behavior of its whitefly vector to enhance its transmission efficiency and spread. *PLoS One*, 8, e61543.
- Mound, L. A. & Halsey, S. H. 1978. Whitefly of the world. A systematic catalogue of the Aleyrodidae (Homoptera) with host plant and natural enemy data. *British Natural History Museum (Natural History)*, 348.
- Mugerwa, H., Seal, S., Wang, H. L., Patel, M. V., Kabaalu, R., Omongo, C. A., Alicai, T., Tairo, F., Ndunguru, J., Sseruwagi, P. & Colvin, J. 2018. African ancestry of New World, *Bemisia tabaci*-whitefly species. *Sci Rep*, 8, 2734.
- Muñoz-Bodnar, A., Perez-Quintero, A. L., Gomez-Cano, F., Gil, J., Michelmore, R., Bernal, A., Szurek, B. & Lopez, C. 2014. RNAseq analysis of cassava reveals similar plant responses upon infection with pathogenic and non-pathogenic

strains of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis. Plant Cell Rep, 33, 1901-1912.

- Mur, L. A., Kenton, P., Atzorn, R., Miersch, O. & Wasternack, C. 2006. The outcomes of concentration-specific interactions between salicylate and jasmonate signaling include synergy, antagonism, and oxidative stress leading to cell death. *Plant Physiol*, 140, 249-62.
- Mutti, N. S., Park, Y., Reese, J. C. & Reeck, G. R. 2006. RNAi knockdown of a salivary transcript leading to lethality in the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. *J Insect Sci*, 6, 1-7.
- Mwila, N., Rubaihayo, P. R., Kyamanywa, S., ODong, T. L., Nuwamanya, E., Mwala, M., Agbahoungba, S. & Badji, A. 2017. BIOCHEMICAL FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH CASSAVA RESISTANCE TO WHITEFLY INFESTATION. *African Crop Science Journal*, 25, 365-385.
- Nebreda, M., Nombela, G. & Muñiz, M. 2005. Comparative Host Suitability of Some Brassica Cultivars for the Whitefly, *Aleyrodes proletella* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Environmental Entomology*, 34, 205-209.
- Njoroge, M. K., Kilalo, D., Miano, D. & Mutisya, D. 2016. Whiteflies species distribution and abundance on cassava crop in different agro-ecological zones of Kenya. *J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. JEZS*, 258, 258-262.
- Noctor, G., Reichheld, J. P. & Foyer, C. H. 2018. ROS-related redox regulation and signaling in plants. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, 80, 3-12.
- Nombela, G., Beitia, F. & Muniz, M. 2000. Variation in tomato host response to *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in relation to acyl sugar content and presence of the nematode and potato aphid resistance gene Mi. *Bull Entomol Res*, 90, 161-7.
- Nombela, G., Beitia, F. & Muñiz, M. 2001. A differential interaction study of *Bemisia tabaci* Q-biotype on commercial tomato varieties with or without the *Mi* resistance gene, and comparative host responses with the B-biotype. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 98, 339-344.
- Nombela, G., Williamson, V. M. & Muniz, M. 2003. The root-knot nematode resistance gene *Mi-1.2* of tomato is responsible for resistance against the whitefly *Bemisia tabaci. Mol Plant Microbe Interact,* 16, 645-9.
- Omongo, C. A., Kawuki, R., Bellotti, A. C., Alicai, T., Baguma, Y., Maruthi, M. N., Bua, A. & Colvin, J. 2012. African Cassava Whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci*, Resistance in African and South American Cassava Genotypes. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 11, 327-336.

- Oriani, M. A. & Vendramim, J. D. 2010. Influence of trichomes on attractiveness and ovipositional preference of *Bemisia tabaci* (Genn.) B biotype (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) on tomato genotypes. *Neotrop Entomol*, 39, 1002-7.
- Pan, L. L., Miao, H., Wang, Q., Walling, L. L. & Liu, S. S. 2021. Virus-induced phytohormone dynamics and their effects on plant-insect interactions. *New Phytol*, 230, 1305-1320.
- Panghal, A., Munezero, C., Sharma, P. & Chhikara, N. 2019. Cassava toxicity, detoxification and its food applications: a review. *Toxin Reviews*.
- Perez-Fons, L., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Morreel, K., Boerjan, W., Walling, L. L., Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. & Fraser, P. D. 2019. A metabolomics characterisation of natural variation in the resistance of cassava to whitefly. *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 518.
- Pieterse, C. M., Van der Does, D., Zamioudis, C., Leon-Reyes, A. & Van Wees, S. C. 2012. Hormonal modulation of plant immunity. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*, 28, 489-521.
- Prochnik, S., Marri, P. R., Desany, B., Rabinowicz, P. D., Kodira, C., Mohiuddin, M., Rodriguez, F., Fauquet, C., Tohme, J., Harkins, T., Rokhsar, D. S. & Rounsley, S. 2012. The Cassava Genome: Current Progress, Future Directions. *Trop Plant Biol*, 5, 88-94.
- Puthoff, D. P., Holzer, F. M., Perring, T. M. & Walling, L. L. 2010. Tomato pathogenesisrelated protein genes are expressed in response to *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* and *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B feeding. *J Chem Ecol*, 36, 1271-85.
- Rauwane, M. E., Odeny, D. A., Millar, I., Rey, C. & Rees, J. 2018. The early transcriptome response of cassava (*Manihot esculenta Crantz*) to mealybug (*Phenacoccus manihoti*) feeding. *PLoS One*, 13, e0202541.
- Raza, A., Malik, H. J., Shafiq, M., Amin, I., Scheffler, J. A., Scheffler, B. E. & Mansoor, S. 2016. RNA interference based approach to down regulate osmoregulators of whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*): potential technology for the control of whitefly. *PLoS One,* 11, e0153883.
- Reilly, K., Gómez-Vásquez, R., Buschmann, H., Tohme, J. & Beeching, J. R. 2003. Oxidative stress responses during cassava post-harvest physiological deterioration. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 53, 669-685.
- Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Grant, M. & Jones, J. D. 2011. Hormone crosstalk in plant disease and defense: More than just jasmonate-salicylate antagonism. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 49, 317-43.

- Roberts, P. A. & Thomason, I. J. 1986. Variability in reproduction of isolates of Meloidogyne incognita and M. javanica on resistant tomato genotypes. Plant Dis, 70, 547–551.
- Rodriguez-Alvarez, C. I., Lopez-Climent, M. F., Gomez-Cadenas, A., Kaloshian, I. & Nombela, G. 2015. Salicylic acid is required for *Mi-1*-mediated resistance of tomato to whitefly *Bemisia tabaci*, but not for basal defense to this insect pest. *Bull Entomol Res*, 105, 574-82.
- Rodriguez-Alvarez, C. I., Muniz, M. & Nombela, G. 2017. Effect of plant development (age and size) on the *Mi-1*-mediated resistance of tomato to whitefly *Bemisia tabaci. Bull Entomol Res*, 107, 768-776.
- Roush, R. & Tabashnik, B. E. 2012. *Pesticide resistance in arthropods*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- Sani Haliru, B., Rafii, M. Y., Mazlan, N., Ramlee, S. I., Muhammad, I. i., Silas Akos, I., Halidu, J., Swaray, S. & Rini Bashir, Y. 2020. Recent strategies for detection and improvement of brown planthopper resistance genes in rice: a review. *Plants*, 9, 1202.
- Sani, I., Ismail, S. I., Abdullah, S., Jalinas, J., Jamian, S. & Saad, N. 2020. A review of the biology and control of whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae), with special reference to biological control using entomopathogenic fungi. *Insects*, 11, 619.
- Schmelz, E. A., LeClere, S., Carroll, M. J., Alborn, H. T. & Teal, P. E. 2007. Cowpea chloroplastic ATP synthase is the source of multiple plant defense elicitors during insect herbivory. *Plant Physiology*, 144, 793-805.
- Schwessinger, B. & Zipfel, C. 2008. News from the frontline: recent insights into PAMPtriggered immunity in plants. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 11, 389-95.
- Shukla, A. K., Upadhyay, S. K., Mishra, M., Saurabh, S., Singh, R., Singh, H., Thakur, N., Rai, P., Pandey, P. & Hans, A. L. 2016. Expression of an insecticidal fern protein in cotton protects against whitefly. *Nature biotechnology*, 34, 1046-1051.
- Smith, C. M. & Chuang, W. P. 2014. Plant resistance to aphid feeding: behavioral, physiological, genetic and molecular cues regulate aphid host selection and feeding. *Pest Manag Sci*, 70, 528-40.
- Stansly, P. A., Calvo, J. & Urbaneja, A. 2005. Release rates for control of *Bemisia tabaci* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) biotype "Q" with Eretmocerus mundus (Hymenoptera: Aphelinidae) in greenhouse tomato and pepper. *Biological control*, 35, 124-133.
- Su, Q., Oliver, K. M., Xie, W., Wu, Q., Wang, S., Zhang, Y. & Biere, A. 2015. The whitefly-associated facultative symbiont *Hamiltonella defensa* suppresses induced plant defences in tomato. *Functional Ecology*, 29, 1007-1018.

- Su, Q., Peng, Z., Tong, H., Xie, W., Wang, S., Wu, Q., Zhang, J., Li, C. & Zhang, Y. 2019. A salivary ferritin in the whitefly suppresses plant defenses and facilitates host exploitation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 70, 3343-3355.
- Sun, Y. C., Pan, L. L., Ying, F. Z., Li, P., Wang, X. W. & Liu, S. S. 2017. Jasmonic acidrelated resistance in tomato mediates interactions between whitefly and whitefly transmitted virus. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 7.
- Tamaoki, D., Seo, S., Yamada, S., Kano, A., Miyamoto, A., Shishido, H., Miyoshi, S., Taniguchi, S., Akimitsu, K. & Gomi, K. 2013. Jasmonic acid and salicylic acid activate a common defense system in rice. *Plant Signal Behav*, 8, e24260.
- Tamura, Y., Hattori, M., Yoshioka, H., Yoshioka, M., Takahashi, A., Wu, J., Sentoku, N. & Yasui, H. 2014. Map-based cloning and characterization of a brown planthopper resistance gene *BPH26* from *Oryza sativa* L. ssp. indica cultivar ADR52. *Scientific reports*, 4, 1-8.
- Tanaka, K. & Heil, M. 2021. Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) in Plant Innate Immunity: Applying the Danger Model and Evolutionary Perspectives. *Annu Rev Phytopathol.*
- Teixeira, P. J., Thomazella, D. P., Reis, O., do Prado, P. F., do Rio, M. C., Fiorin, G. L., Jose, J., Costa, G. G., Negri, V. A., Mondego, J. M., Mieczkowski, P. & Pereira, G. A. 2014. High-resolution transcript profiling of the atypical biotrophic interaction between *Theobroma cacao* and the fungal pathogen *Moniliophthora perniciosa*. *Plant Cell*, 26, 4245-69.
- Teuber, L. R., Rupert, M. E., Gibbs, L. K. & Taggard, K. L. 1996. Breeding resistant alfalfa holds promise for silverleaf whitefly management. *California Agriculture, May-June*, 25-29.
- Thakur, N., Upadhyay, S. K., Verma, P. C., Chandrashekar, K., Tuli, R. & Singh, P. K. 2014. Enhanced whitefly resistance in transgenic tobacco plants expressing double stranded RNA of v-ATPase A gene. *PLoS One*, 9, e87235.
- Turnbull, C., Lillemo, M. & Hvoslef-Eide, T. A. 2021. Global regulation of genetically modified crops amid the gene edited crop boom–a review. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12, 258.
- Tzin, V., Fernandez-Pozo, N., Richter, A., Schmelz, E. A., Schoettner, M., Schafer, M., Ahern, K. R., Meihls, L. N., Kaur, H., Huffaker, A., Mori, N., Degenhardt, J., Mueller, L. A. & Jander, G. 2015. Dynamic Maize Responses to Aphid Feeding Are Revealed by a Time Series of Transcriptomic and Metabolomic Assays. *Plant Physiol*, 169, 1727-43.
- van Kleeff, P. J., Galland, M., Schuurink, R. C. & Bleeker, P. M. 2016. Small RNAs from *Bemisia tabaci* Are Transferred to *Solanum lycopersicum* Phloem during Feeding. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1759.

- van Loon, L. C., Rep, M. & Pieterse, C. M. 2006. Significance of inducible defenserelated proteins in infected plants. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, 44, 135-162.
- VanDoorn, A., de Vries, M., Kant, M. R. & Schuurink, R. C. 2015. Whiteflies glycosylate salicylic acid and secrete the conjugate via their honeydew. *J Chem Ecol*, 41, 52-8.
- Voigt, D., Schrameyer, K., Kiefer, J., Zebitz, C. P. W. & Gorb, S. 2019. Anchoring of greenhouse whitefly eggs on different rose cultivars. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 13, 335–348.
- Walling, L. L. 2008. Avoiding effective defenses: strategies employed by phloem-feeding insects. *Plant Physiol*, 146, 859-66.
- Walling, L. L. & Thompson, G. A. 2012. Phloem. Phloem. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Wang, N., Zhao, P., Ma, Y., Yao, X., Sun, Y., Huang, X., Jin, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, C., Fang, R. & Ye, J. 2019. A whitefly effector Bsp9 targets host immunity regulator WRKY33 to promote performance. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 374, 20180313.
- Wang, W., Dai, H., Zhang, Y., Chandrasekar, R., Luo, L., Hiromasa, Y., Sheng, C., Peng, G., Chen, S., Tomich, J. M., Reese, J., Edwards, O., Kang, L., Reeck, G. & Cui, F. 2015a. Armet is an effector protein mediating aphid-plant interactions. *FASEB J*, 29, 2032-45.
- Wang, W., Luo, L., Lu, H., Chen, S., Kang, L. & Cui, F. 2015b. Angiotensin-converting enzymes modulate aphid-plant interactions. *Sci Rep,* 5, 8885.
- Wang, X.-W., Li, P. & Shu-Sheng, L. 2017. Whitefly interactions with plants. *Current opinion in insect science*, 19, 70-75.
- Wang, Y., Cao, L., Zhang, Y., Cao, C., Liu, F., Huang, F., Qiu, Y., Li, R. & Luo, X. 2015d. Map-based cloning and characterization of *BPH29*, a B3 domain-containing recessive gene conferring brown planthopper resistance in rice. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 66, 6035-6045.
- Williams, W. G., Kennedy, G. G., Yamamoto, R. T., Thacker, J. D. & Bordner, J. 1980. 2-Tridecanone: A Naturally Occurring Insecticide from the Wild Tomato *Lycopersicon hirsutum* f.glabratum. *Science*, 207, 888-9.
- Wilson, M. C., Mutka, A. M., Hummel, A. W., Berry, J., Chauhan, R. D., Vijayaraghavan, A., Taylor, N. J., Voytas, D. F., Chitwood, D. H. & Bart, R. S. 2017. Gene expression atlas for the food security crop cassava. *New Phytologist*, 213, 1632-1641.

- Wu, X., Yan, J., Wu, Y., Zhang, H., Mo, S., Xu, X., Zhou, F. & Ding, H. 2019. Proteomic analysis by iTRAQ-PRM provides integrated insight into mechanisms of resistance in pepper to *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius). *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 270.
- Xia, J., Guo, Z., Yang, Z., Han, H., Wang, S., Xu, H., Yang, X., Yang, F., Wu, Q. & Xie,
 W. 2021. Whitefly hijacks a plant detoxification gene that neutralizes plant toxins. *Cell*, 184, 1693-1705. e17.
- Xu, H.-X., Qian, L.-X., Wang, X.-W., Shao, R.-X., Hong, Y., Liu, S.-S. & Wang, X.-W. 2019. A salivary effector enables whitefly to feed on host plants by eliciting salicylic acid-signaling pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116, 490-495.
- Yates-Stewart, A. D., Pekarcik, A., Michel, A. & Blakeslee, J. J. 2020. Jasmonic Acid-Isoleucine (JA-IIe) Is Involved in the Host-Plant Resistance Mechanism Against the Soybean Aphid (Hemiptera: Aphididae). *J Econ Entomol*, 113, 2972-2978.
- Ye, W., Yu, H., Jian, Y., Zeng, J., Ji, R., Chen, H. & Lou, Y. 2017. A salivary EF-hand calcium-binding protein of the brown planthopper *Nilaparvata lugens* functions as an effector for defense responses in rice. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1-12.
- Yuan, M., Ngou, B. P. M., Ding, P. & Xin, X.-F. 2021. PTI-ETI crosstalk: an integrative view of plant immunity. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 62, 102030.
- Yuexiong, Z., Gang, Q., Qianqian, M., Minyi, W., Xinghai, Y., Zengfeng, M., Haifu, L., Chi, L., Zhenjing, L. & Fang, L. 2020. Identification of major locus Bph35 resistance to brown planthopper in rice. *Rice Science*, 27, 237-245.
- Zagrobelny, M., Bak, S., Rasmussen, A. V., Jorgensen, B., Naumann, C. M. & Lindberg Moller, B. 2004. Cyanogenic glucosides and plant-insect interactions. *Phytochemistry*, 65, 293-306.
- Zaidi, S. S., Briddon, R. W. & Mansoor, S. 2017. Engineering Dual Begomovirus-Bemisia tabaci Resistance in Plants. *Trends Plant Sci*, 22, 6-8.
- Zarate, S. I., Kempema, L. A. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Silverleaf whitefly induces salicylic acid defenses and suppresses effectual jasmonic acid defenses. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 866-75.
- Zhang, P. J., Zheng, S. J., van Loon, J. J., Boland, W., David, A., Mumm, R. & Dicke, M. 2009. Whiteflies interfere with indirect plant defense against spider mites in Lima bean. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 21202-7.
- Zhang, X., Sun, X., Zhao, H., Xue, M. & Wang, D. 2017. Phenolic compounds induced by *Bemisia tabaci* and *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* in *Nicotiana tabacum* L. and their relationship with the salicylic acid signaling pathway. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 1-9.

- Zhao, Y., Huang, J., Wang, Z., Jing, S., Wang, Y., Ouyang, Y., Cai, B., Xin, X. F., Liu, X., Zhang, C., Pan, Y., Ma, R., Li, Q., Jiang, W., Zeng, Y., Shangguan, X., Wang, H., Du, B., Zhu, L., Xu, X., Feng, Y. Q., He, S. Y., Chen, R., Zhang, Q. & He, G.
 2016. Allelic diversity in an NLR gene *BPH9* enables rice to combat planthopper variation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*.
- Zhu-Salzman, K., Salzman, R. A., Ahn, J. E. & Koiwa, H. 2004. Transcriptional regulation of sorghum defense determinants against a phloem-feeding aphid. *Plant Physiol*, 134, 420-31.
- Ziliotto, F., Corso, M., Rizzini, F. M., Rasori, A., Botton, A. & Bonghi, C. 2012. Grape berry ripening delay induced by a pre-veraison NAA treatment is paralleled by a shift in the expression pattern of auxin- and ethylene-related genes. *BMC Plant Biol*, 12, 185.
- Zogli, P., Pingault, L., Grover, S. & Louis, J. 2020. Ento (o) mics: the intersection of 'omic'approaches to decipher plant defense against sap-sucking insect pests. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 56, 153-161.

Chapter 1

Genome-wide analyses of cassava *Pathogenesis-related (PR)* gene families reveal core transcriptome responses to

whitefly infestation, salicylic acid and jasmonic acid

Abstract

Whiteflies are a threat to cassava (*Manihot esculenta*), an important staple food in many tropical/subtropical regions. Understanding the molecular mechanisms regulating cassava's responses against this pest is crucial for developing control strategies. Pathogenesis-related (PR) protein families are an integral part of plant immunity. With the availability of whole genome sequences, the annotation and expression programs of the full complement of *PR* genes in an organism can now be achieved. An understanding of the responses of the entire complement of *PR* genes during biotic stress and to the defense hormones, salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA), is lacking. Here, we analyze the responses of cassava *PR* genes to whiteflies, SA, JA, and other biotic aggressors.

The cassava genome possesses 14 of the 17 plant *PR* families, with a total of 447 *PR* genes. A cassava *PR* gene nomenclature is proposed. Phylogenetic relatedness of cassava PR proteins to each other and to homologs in poplar, rice and Arabidopsis identified cassava-specific *PR* gene family expansions. The temporal programs of *PR* gene expression in response to the whitefly (*Aleurotrachelus socialis*) in four whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes showed that 167 of the 447 *PR* genes were regulated after whitefly infestation. While the timing of *PR* gene expression varied, over 37% of whitefly-regulated *PR* genes were downregulated in all four genotypes. Notably, whitefly-responsive *PR* genes were largely coordinately regulated by SA and JA. The analysis of

cassava *PR* gene expression in response to five other biotic stresses revealed a strong positive correlation between whitefly and *Xanthomonas axonopodis* and *Cassava Brown Streak Virus* responses and negative correlations between whitefly and *Cassava Mosaic Virus* responses. Finally, certain associations between *PR* genes in cassava expansions and response to biotic stresses were observed among *PR* families.

This study represents the first genome-wide characterization of *PR* genes in cassava. *PR* gene responses to six biotic stresses and to SA and JA are demonstrably different to other angiosperms. We propose that our approach could be applied in other species to fully understand *PR* gene regulation by pathogens, pests and the canonical defense hormones SA and JA.

Introduction

Cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) is grown by small shareholder farmers in more than 100 countries in tropical and subtropical areas, with a production close to 300 million tons (FAO, 2018). It is a tuberous crop consumed by nearly 800 million people worldwide, especially in Africa where it is a staple food for 500 million people. Cassava is well suited for meeting the challenges imposed by climate change (Ceballos et al., 2011, Jarvis et al., 2012), as cassava maintains nearly 50% of its photosynthetic rate under drought conditions (Ravi and Saravan, 2001) and is highly tolerant to acidic soils. However, cassava productivity is endangered by a variety of pests and diseases. Among these crop-damaging pests are whiteflies.

Aleurotrachelus socialis Bondar is the most damaging whitefly species in northern South America, particularly Colombia (Lundgren et al., 2013, Bellotti and Arias, 2001). Whiteflies cause direct damage to their hosts by voracious phloem feeding, honeydew production and subsequent sooty mold growth (Bellotti et al., 1999). In addition, whiteflies (*Bemisia tabaci*) are major vectors of the viruses *Cassava Mosaic Virus* and *Cassava Brown Streak Virus*, which devastate cassava in Eastern and Central Africa (Alicai et al., 2007, Colvin et al., 2004, Legg and Ogwal, 1998, Legg et al., 2014). Collectively, these attacks produce significant cassava yield losses (Fauquet and Fargette, 1990, Hillocks et al., 2001, Macfadyen et al., 2018). To reduce the impact of whiteflies on cassava, the identification of new resistance mechanisms and the use of novel transgenic strategies to improve cassava varieties has become increasingly important. A deeper understanding of the molecular basis controlling cassava's response to whitefly infestation will facilitate these strategies.

Plants have evolved a sophisticated immune system to defend themselves from pests and pathogens, as represented by the multilayered 'zig-zag' model (Jones and Dangl, 2006). In the first layer, plasma membrane-localized receptors (pattern-recognition receptors) recognize microbe- or pathogen- associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) inducing PAMP-triggered immunity (Monaghan and Zipfel, 2012). Damage-associated molecular patterns derived from the host after attack, as well as herbivory-associated molecular patterns, can also trigger PAMP-triggered immunity (Duran-Flores and Heil, 2016). The second layer involves intracellular receptors, belonging mainly to the nucleotide-binding leucine-rich-repeat (NLR) class, which recognize effectors released by the pathogen/pest to activate effector-triggered immunity (Cui et al., 2015). One of the outcomes of this initial recognition and the subsequent signaling cascades is the

expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins. First reported in *Tobacco Mosaic Virus*infected tobacco plants in the early 1970's (van Loon and van Kammen, 1970), PR proteins were later identified in many plant species after infection by a broad range of pathogens (Hou et al., 2012).

PR families are well characterized in Arabidopsis, tomato and potato (van Loon et al., 2006) and are composed of closely related homologs. Currently, there are 17 *PR* families encoding a broad spectrum of activities including glucanases, chitinases, peroxidases, thaumatin-like proteins, and proteases. With the advent of plant whole genome sequences, the complexity of *PR* gene families is beginning to emerge (Duplessis et al., 2009, Fister et al., 2016, Visser et al., 2018, Wanderley-Nogueira et al., 2012). To date, few studies have comprehensively examined expression of the entire complement of *PR* genes in response to multiple biotic stresses or defense hormones.

In this study, we defined the cassava *PR* families and propose a *PR* gene nomenclature. Using phylogenetic trees, we determined the evolutionary relatedness of cassava's PR proteins to each other and to PR proteins from a dicot (poplar, *Populus trichocarpa*) and a monocot (rice, *Oryza sativa*). To understand cassava's defense response to phloem-feeding whiteflies, we determined the expression of *PR* genes during whitefly (*Aleurotrachelus socialis*) infestation in four whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes: COL2246 and COL1468, which are grown in South America, 60444 (one of the few cassava accessions amenable gene transformation technologies), and TME3, which is grown in Africa. Since *PR* genes are often used as markers of SA- and JA-defense responses (van Loon et al., 2006), changes in *PR* gene expression after SA and JA treatments were also determined and correlated with whitefly infestation. Lastly, *PR*

gene responses to whiteflies were compared to data sets in the literature that documented responses to five other aggressors: the cassava mealybug *Phenacoccus manihoti*; the bacterial blight pathogen *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *manihotis*; the fungus causing cassava anthracnose disease *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides*, *Cassava Mosaic Virus* (CMV), and *Cassava Brown Streak Virus* (CBSV) (Allie et al., 2014a, Amuge et al., 2017, Anjanappa et al., 2017, Lopez et al., 2005, Maruthi et al., 2014, Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014, Rauwane et al., 2018, Utsumi et al., 2016). Together, our integrative analyses defined the core transcriptome response of susceptible cassava to whitefly infestation, and revealed key *PR* gene families (*PR-2*, *-5*, *-7* and *-9*) in the responses of cassava to whiteflies, SA, JA, and a variety of other biotic stresses.

Results

Cassava PR family composition is similar to poplar

Using founder PR proteins defined by van Loon et al. (2006) as queries, we identified 447 PR proteins (Table S1.1). Proteins within each cassava *PR* family were used to construct phylogenetic trees to establish *PR* gene nomenclature (see Methods). Fourteen of the 17 plant *PR* families were identified in cassava. The *PR-15* and *PR-16* (*PR-15/16* henceforth) families were consolidated because searches using PR-15 and PR-16 founder proteins identified the same set of proteins (Table 1.1). *PR* gene family annotations in cassava, rice, poplar, and Arabidopsis (Table 1.1) and visualization of *PR* gene phylogenies (Figures S1.1-S1.14) was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen.

<i>PR</i> -gene familv ^a	Function	Manihot esculenta	Populus trichocarpa	Oryza sativa	Arabidopsis thaliana 23	
PR-1	CAP/SCP superfamily	18	14	27		
PR-2	β-1,3-glucanases	50	73	55	70	
PR-3	Chitinases - Class I, II, IV, VI, VII	22	16	17	21	
PR-4	Endochitinases	5	3	6	6	
PR-5	Thaumatin-like	36	39	31	42	
PR-6	Proteinase inhibitors	3	16	4	7	
PR-7	Aspartic endoproteases	72	70	55	78	
PR-8	Chitinases - Class III	10	11	26	1	
PR-9	Lignin-forming peroxidases	110	88	113	97	
PR-10	Ribonuclease-like	21	26	8	3	
PR-11	Chitinases - Class V	5	7	2	9	
PR-12	Defensins	0	0	2	13	
PR-13	Thionins	0	0	2	4	
PR-14	Lipid transfer proteins	30	19	20	23	
PR-15/16	Oxalate oxidase/Germin-like	59	48	42	74	
PR-17	unknown	6	7	4	8	
Total		447	437	414	479	

Table 1.1. PR families of cassava, poplar, rice and Arabidopsis.

Founder proteins used as query for each family can be found in Table S1

To ground our knowledge within the context of angiosperm evolution, we identified the PR proteins from poplar (Populus trichocarpa), rice (Oryza sativa) and Arabidopsis thaliana (see Methods) (Table 1.1). The total number of PR genes ranged from 414 in rice to 479 in Arabidopsis. Similar PR family composition was observed in cassava and poplar. For example, PR-12 and PR-13 families were absent in cassava and poplar but present in Arabidopsis and rice. Additionally, the PR-10 family was larger in both cassava (21 genes) and poplar (26 genes) relative to rice (8 genes) and Arabidopsis (3 genes) (Table 1.1).

Phylogenetic analysis and physical location of cassava PR genes

To investigate the evolution of cassava's PR families, we constructed phylogenetic trees for PR proteins of cassava, poplar, rice, and the founder PR protein(s) for each PR family (van Loon et al., 2006) (Figures S1.1-S1.14). We observed that for some PR families (e.g., *PR-8* and *PR-14*), cassava PR proteins were more closely related to poplar than rice, suggesting a divergence between monocots and eudicots. In contrast, some *PR* families, like *PR-6* and *PR-17*, showed no clear monocot/eudicot divergence. Finally, cassava-specific *PR* gene family expansions were found; this involved a total of 132 *PR* genes belonging to one of ten different *PR* gene families.

In addition, physical clustering of over 50% of the genes in *PR* families *1*, *4*, *5*, *7*, *8*, *9*, *10*, and *15/16* was observed (Bredeson et al., 2016) (Figure 1.1; Table S1.2). Clustering was most prevalent in the *PR-15/16* family, where 29 of the 59 *PR-15/16* genes resided within three clusters on chromosome 8, with one cluster containing 20 genes. In contrast, all 50 *PR-2* family members were singletons, with no members belonging to a physical cluster (Figure 1.1; Table S1.2).



Figure 1.1. Physical locations of the 435 *PR* genes along cassava chromosomes.

PR families are color coded to reveal tandem arrays. Twelve *PR* genes have not been assigned to cassava chromosomes (Table S1.1).

Large PR families are downregulated after whitefly feeding

To characterize the response of *PR* genes to whitefly feeding, we analyzed the transcriptomes of four whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes (COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3) at 0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 days post-infestation (dpi) (Table S1.3-S1.6). We identified 167 *PR* genes that were differentially expressed (DEGs) during whitefly infestation in one or more genotypes at one or more time points (Table 1.2). RNA-sequencing, DEG analysis and data visualization for comparisons of the four whitefly-susceptible genotypes during infestation was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen (Figures 1.2-1.4; Table 1.2).

In the large *PR* families 2, 7 and 15/16 with 50, 72 and 59 genes, respectively (Table 1.1), DEGs were mainly downregulated in the four cassava genotypes (Table 1.2). For example, the number of downregulated *PR-2* DEGs in the four genotypes was 2.5- to 12-fold higher than upregulated DEGs; a similar trend was observed in the *PR-7* family. In contrast, fewer *PR-15/16* genes were whitefly responsive, ranging from three DEGs in TME3 to 13 DEGs in COL1468. Notably, 12 of the 13 *PR-15/16* DEGs in COL1468 were downregulated. The largest *PR* family, *PR-9* with 110 genes (Table 1.1), had variable expression profiles. For example, there were 1.6-fold more up- than downregulated *PR-9* DEGs in COL2246. While at the other end of the spectrum, 60444 had 2.3-fold more down-than up-regulated *PR-9* genes (Table 1.2). On the other hand, whitefly-upregulated DEGs were identified in most of the small *PR* families (6, 8, 11, and 17, containing ten or fewer genes) but none were downregulated (Table 1.2).

Table 1.2. Number of differentially regulated *PR* genes in whitefly-susceptible genotypes.

PR gene family	COL2246		COL1468		60444		TME3		ALL		PR gene family
	Up	Down	Up	Down	Up	Down	Up	Down	Up	Down	size (# genes)
1	3	3	1	4	2	1	3	1	0	0	18
2	4	10	2	21	2	19	1	12	1	8	50
3	5	2	4	3	6	4	2	1	2	0	22
4	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	5
5	5	4	2	12	1	6	2	5	0	4	36
6	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	3
7	5	11	3	15	1	16	3	7	0	2	72
8	3	0	0	0	2	0	1	0	0	0	10
9	10	6	6	7	3	7	6	6	2	1	110
10	7	1	4	3	5	3	4	0	2	0	21
11	1	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	5
14	1	2	1	0	1	0	2	1	0	0	30
15/16	1	4	1	12	2	7	1	2	1	1	59
17	3	0	1	0	2	0	2	0	1	0	6
Total Number of DEGs	49	43	27	77	29	63	28	36	9	16	



Figure 1.2. *PR* gene expression in whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes during whitefly infestation.

Heatmaps display DEGs in COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and/or TME3 during whitefly infestation. *PR* genes are grouped along the y-axis by expression patterns across genotypes as defined in Table S1.15. Expression values are presented as log₂FC values in comparison to 0 dpi. These analyses were performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen.

Timing of the response to whitefly varies among whitefly-susceptible genotypes

Heatmaps were used to define 16 temporal *PR* gene expression programs in response to whitefly feeding in the four genotypes (Figure 1.2); for cluster definitions, refer to Figure 1.4. Most striking, 57% of the 167 DEGs were similarly regulated among all genotypes, with 62 *PR* genes displaying negative trends (cluster 9) and 33 *PR* genes displaying positive trends (cluster 1) (Fig. 1.2; Table S1.15). Cluster 9 was dominated by four *PR* families: *PR-2* (19 DEGs), *PR-7* (14 DEGs), *PR-5* (8 DEGs), and *PR-9* (8 DEGs). Of the 62 cluster 9 genes, 31, 55, 39, and 28 were downregulated at one or more time points in COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3, respectively (Table S1.15). A subset of these genes was downregulated in all four genotypes (16 DEGs) (Figure 1.3); eight of which were *PR-2* genes (Table 1.2). Of the 33 *PR* genes in cluster 1, only nine were upregulated in all four genotypes (Figure 1.4).

Cluster 1 and 9 genes displayed three temporal expression programs in response to whitefly infestation: early (1 and/or 7 dpi), late (14 and/or 22 dpi) and sustained (early and late). Few cluster 1 and 9 genes were differentially expressed at early time points. Only one early DEG in cluster 9 was identified (COL2246). For cluster 1, one early DEG was identified in COL2246 and 60444 and two early DEGs were found in COL1468. Finally, there are no early DEGs in either cluster 1 or 9 in TME3 (Figures 1.3 and 1.4 be).



Figure 1.3. Cluster 9 PR gene regulation.

Venn diagrams comparing cluster 9 downregulated *PR* genes among four whiteflysusceptible cassava genotypes during whitefly infestation. (a) Comparison of cluster 9 DEGs in COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3 during whitefly infestation. (b) Comparison of COL2 2 46 cluster 9 DEGs at 1–2 2 dpi. (c) Comparison of COL1468 cluster 9 DEGs at 1–2 2 dpi. (d) Comparison of 60444 cluster 9 DEGs at 1–2 2 dpi. (e) Com- parison of TME3 cluster 9 DEGs at 1–22 dpi. This analysis was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen.



Figure 1.4. Cluster 1 PR gene regulation.

Venn diagrams comparing cluster 1 upregulated *PR* genes among four whiteflysusceptible cassava genotypes during whitefly infestation. (a) Comparison of cluster 1 DEGs in COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3 during whitefly infestation. (b) Comparison of COL2246 cluster 1 DEGs at 1–22 dpi. (c) Comparison of COL1468 cluster 1 DEGs at 1–22 dpi. (d) Comparison of 60444 cluster 1 DEGs at 1–22 dpi. (e) Comparison of TME3 cluster 1 DEGs at 1–22 dpi. This analysis was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen. A prominent late phase of gene expression emerged in all genotypes, which engaged most of the cluster 1 and 9 *PR* genes and corresponded to the time of 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} instar feeding (Figure 1.2). In all genotypes, most of the cluster 1 DEGs (39-78%) were first upregulated by 14 dpi (Figure 1.4). In contrast, the late phase of cluster 9 gene downregulation varied among the genotypes. For example, 42%, 82% and 86% of the cluster 9 *PR* genes were downregulated at 14 dpi in COL2446, COL1468 and TME3, respectively. In 60444, this down-regulatory phase was further delayed, beginning at 22 dpi when 64% of cluster 9 *PR* genes were repressed (Figure 1.3). The number of genes that displayed a sustained pattern of expression (DEGs at both early and late expression) varied among genotypes. While COL2246 and 60444 had 17 and 11 genes with sustained expression in cluster 1 or 9, respectively (Figures 1.2-1.4), fewer genes in COL1468 and TME3 (4 and 3 genes, respectively) were regulated at both early and late time points.

The remaining 43% of whitefly-responsive *PR* genes (72 genes) exhibited divergent temporal responses among the genotypes (clusters 2-8 and 10-16). For example, 17 *PR* genes in cluster 8 were upregulated in COL2246 and downregulated in the other cassava genotypes. Additionally cluster 12 genes were downregulated in COL2245, COL1468 and 60444. However, the timing of downregulation varied among genotypes, initiating later in COL1468 and 60444. Notably, ten of 60444's 17 DEGs were in this cluster. In contrast, TME3's cluster 12 genes had a slight positive trend (Figure 1.2, Table S1.15).
Cassava PR genes are predominantly co-regulated by SA and JA

To understand the roles of the two major plant-defense hormones (SA and JA) in regulating *PR* genes, we determined the transcriptomes of COL2246 at eight time points (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 h) after SA and JA treatments (Tables S1.7-S1.14). Hormone-responsive PR genes (103 DEGs out of the 447 PR genes) were organized into one of four hormone-expression programs: 1) SA-regulated (10 DEGs), 2) JA-regulated (42 DEGs), 3) co-regulated by SA and JA (49 DEGs), or 4) reciprocally regulated by SA and JA (2 DEGs) (Tables 1.3 and S1.17). PR families 2, 5, 7, and 9 made up 65% of hormone-responsive DEGs and were mainly SA/JA co-regulated or JAregulated. There was a very strong positive correlation (R = 0.94, $p = 2.2e^{-16}$) between SA and JA expression levels for the 49 DEGs defined as SA/JA co-regulated (Figure 1.5; Tables 1.3 and S1.17). Of the genes defined as solely SA- or JA-regulated, 81% exhibited similar expression levels in response to both treatments, but only met the statistical criteria to be designated as DEGs in one treatment (Table S1.17). Furthermore, while PR genes are useful markers to follow the activation of the SA (PR-1, -2 and -5) and JA (PR-3 and -4) pathways in Arabidopsis-pest/pathogen interactions (van Loon et al., 2006), we were unable to identify any PR gene that could distinguish activation of only the SA or JA pathway.



Figure 1.5. Correlation of SA/JA co-regulated PR genes.

Average log_2FC of DEGs in SA versus JA treatments for *PR* genes designated as SA/JA co-regulated (defined in Table S1.17). Pearson correlation value, *p*-value and a 95% confidence interval (grey) are provided.

To characterize the hormone regulation of whitefly-responsive *PR* genes in COL2246, we integrated whitefly, SA and JA transcriptome data (Figure 1.6). Among the 208 *PR* genes detected during whitefly infestation of COL2246, 152 genes were DEGs in whitefly, SA and/or JA treatments of COL2246 (Figure 1.6; Tables S1.3, S1.7 and S1.11). While plant defense typically enact a predominant SA or JA response in Arabidopsis (Mur et al., 2006, Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011), 122 (80%) of the 152 genes were co-expressed during SA and JA treatments (clusters 1, 2, 7, and 8). Notably, there were no whitefly-responsive *PR* genes that were solely detected after SA treatment (Figure 1.6).

In COL2246, these hormone-responsive *PR* genes displayed three temporal expression programs (early, late and sustained) after whitefly infestation (Figure 1.6). While only four whitefly-regulated DEGs followed an early expression program, 24

exhibited sustained regulation and 64 were late-regulated (Table S1.18). Genes with sustained regulation displayed more positive (40%) than negative (16%) expression trends in response to whiteflies, SA and JA (clusters 1 and 7, respectively) (Figure 1.6; Table S1.18). In contrast, for the late-regulated genes, negative expression trends were more frequent (31%) than positive (23%) trends in all three treatments (clusters 7 and 1, respectively) (Figure 1.6; Table S1.18).

		N				
<i>PR</i> Gene Family	SA	JA	SA/JA co-regulated ^b	SA/JA reciprocally regulated	 Number of normone responsive DEGs pe <i>PR</i> family 	
1	0	1	2	0	3	
2	1	4	10	1	16	
3	2	3	0	0	5	
4	0	2	0	0	2	
5	1	4	5	0	10	
6	1	0	1	0	2	
7	2	8	14	0	24	
8	0	0	1	0	1	
9	1	7	8	1	17	
10	1	4	2	0	7	
11	0	2	1	0	3	
14	0	0	2	0	2	
15/16	1	6	1	0	8	
17	0	1	2	0	3	
Number of hormone-						
responsive DEGs	10	42	49	2	103	
across PR families						
^a For identities for hormone	e-regulated PR ge	enes, see Table S1.1	8.			

Table 1.3. Hormone-regulated *PR* genes.

^b SA and JA co-regulated genes are defined as genes whose RNAs are either up- or down-regulated by both hormones.



Figure 1.6. *PR* gene expression in COL2446 in response to whitefly infestation, SA and JA.

Heatmaps were organized along the y-axis to group *PR* genes with positive (a) or negative (b) expression values in whitefly (WF)-infested COL2246. Expression after SA and JA treatments are shown. log_2FC values relative to 0 dpi for whitefly-infested samples and 0 h for hormone treatments. Heatmap groups 1-12 are defined in Table S1.16.

qRT-PCR validation of RNA-sequencing data

To confirm expression values obtained *in silico*, transcript levels of selected whitefly- or hormone-responsive DEGs were assessed by qRT-PCR (Figure 1.7). Upregulation of *PR-3g4* and *PR-9e* and downregulation of *PR-7/3* at both 14 and 22 dpi after whitefly infestation was confirmed (Figure 1.7a). Similarly, *PR-9e* upregulation and *PR-7/5* downregulation after 4-h SA and JA treatments was confirmed (Figure 1.7b). In many cases, transcript fold-changes determined by qRT-PCR exceeded those measured by RNA-seq (Figure 1.7a and b). Nevertheless, expression values for *PR* genes obtained by qRT-PCR versus RNA-seq exhibited a strong positive correlation (R = 0.73; *p* = 4.0E⁻⁰⁶), validating our *in silico* expression values *in vivo* (Figure 1.7c).



Figure 1.7. qRT-PCR validation of *PR* transcript levels.

(a-b) Relative transcript levels (log₂FC) of up- and down-regulated *PR* genes during whitefly infestation of COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3 (a) and after SA and JA treatments of COL2246 (b) as determined by qRT-PCR and RNAseq. (c) Pearson correlation of transcript levels in (a) and (b) by qRT-PCR versus RNAseq. qRT-PCR validation of expression levels in response to whitefly infestation (a) was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen.

Comparison of PR family responses to a spectrum of biotic stressors

To more broadly define the responses of cassava's *PR* genes in pathogen and pest interactions, we compared *PR* gene expression programs to whiteflies (*A. socialis*) with five other pathogens/pests: cassava mealybugs (*Phenacoccus manihoti*), bacteria (*X. axonopodis*), fungi (*C. gloeosporioides*), and viruses (South African CMV and CBSV) (Rauwane et al., 2018, Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014, Utsumi et al., 2016, Allie et al., 2014a, Anjanappa et al., 2017) (Tables S1.1, S1.3, S1.7, S1.11, and S1.19). Each interaction elicited a different number of DEGs; therefore, to facilitate comparisons, the percent of DEGs from each *PR* family that responded to each biotic stress was determined (Figure 1.8a; Table 1.4). We found that *PR* families with roles in pathogen cell wall degradation (*PR-2, PR-5* and *PR-7*), as well as host cell wall fortification (*PR-9*) were most responsive to biotic stress, representing 10-26% of the *PR* genes responding to any of the examined stresses.

		Percent of PR					
<i>PR</i> Gene Family	whiteflies	mealybugs	bacteria	fungi	virus (CMV)	virus (CBSV)	gene family that is responsive to one or more stresses
1	7	20	7	25	1	10	4
2	15	0	14	0	11	10	13
3	8	0	7	13	2	10	6
4	1	0	2	0	1	2	1
5	10	60	11	13	9	5	10
6	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
7	17	0	9	13	17	7	16
8	3	0	7	0	2	0	3
9	17	0	23	38	35	33	26
10	9	0	7	0	4	5	6
11	1	0	0	0	0	2	1
14	3	20	7	0	7	10	5
15/16	5	0	5	0	10	5	8
17	3	0	2	0	0	2	1
# of <i>PR</i> DEGs	92	5	44	8	135	42	326

Table 1.4. PR gene family	response	(DEGs) to	six biotic	stresses.

^a For identities *PR* genes differentially expressed during the biotic stresses, see Table S1.19. For study information, see Methods.

^b Percents are rounded to the nearest integer.



Figure 1.8. Correlation of cassava responses to whiteflies with other biotic stresses.

(a) Box-and-whisker plots overlaid with all data points displaying mean PR gene responses to treatments. Whiskers indicate the interquartile range multiplied by two. Total number of genes for each treatment is below each plot. Outliers (red) were identified and removed prior to correlation analyses in panel b. (b) Pearson correlation analyses of DEGs responding to whiteflies vs. bacteria (19 genes), CMV (25 genes) or CBSV (21 genes) were performed. Only four genes were identified in the whitefly-mealybug and whitefly-fungus interactions; therefore, these interactions were not included in these analyses.

In these interactions, 38-75% of differentially expressed *PR* genes responsive to whiteflies, bacteria or fungi were regulated by SA and/or JA (Figures S1.15-S1.28; Tables S1.20-S1.25) and a majority (57-67%) of these genes were in the *PR-5*, *PR-7* or *PR-9* families (Figures S1.19, S1.21 and S1.23; Tables S1.20, S1.22 and S1.23). In contrast, most genes (79–80%) regulated by mealybugs, CMV or CBSV were not responsive to either hormone (Figures S1.21-S1.28; Tables S1.21-S1.27).

Pearson correlation analyses were used to compare cassava's *PR* gene response to whiteflies, bacteria, CMV, and CBSV (see Methods) (Figure 1.8b). We identified a moderate positive correlation between whiteflies and bacteria (R = 0.50; $p = 2.9E^{-02}$) and a strong positive correlation between whiteflies and CBSV (R = 0.70; $p = 4.4E^{-04}$). In contrast, responses to whiteflies and CMV were dissimilar, showing a strong negative correlation (R = -0.72; $p = 5.6E^{-05}$) (Figure 1.8b). Correlations between whitefly and bacteria/CBSV and between whitefly and CMV were associated with 30 and 19 DEGs, respectively (Tables S1.26 and S1.27).

Integration of defense transcriptomes and cassava PR gene phylogenies

To visualize cassava *PR* family responses to biotic stress, SA and JA, *PR* clades identified in cassava *PR* phylogenetic trees were used to order heatmaps (Tables S1.20-S1.27). We integrated these data with the *PR* family expansions identified in the cassava, poplar and rice PR phylogenetic trees (Figures S1.1-S1.14). Of the 132 *PR* genes in cassava expansions, 43 were DEGs in response to at least one biotic interaction and/or defense hormone (Tables S1.20-S1.27).

Several expansions in *PR* families 2, 3, 9, 10, 14, and 15/16 were associated with responsiveness to whiteflies. For example, in the *PR-2* gene family, all three genes (*PR-*

2e8, PR-2e9 and *PR-2e10*) in the *PR-2e* expansion were whitefly-downregulated (Figure S1.16). *PR-2e8* was also upregulated in response to SA and JA. The *PR-3g* expansion (*PR-3g2, PR-3g3* and *PR-3g4*) (Figure S1.17) was whitefly-upregulated. Although *PR-3g3* and *PR-3g4* were located in tandem on chromosome 11, they had distinct responses to other pathogens. *PR-3g4* was upregulated by whiteflies, fungi and bacteria, while *PR-3g3* and *PR-3g2* were strongly upregulated by whiteflies and CBSV (Figures S1.1-S1.14; Table S1.1).

While all genes in the *PR-2e* and *PR-3g* expansions were whitefly-responsive, within other cassava-specific expansions in *PR* families *9*, *10*, *14*, and *15/16* whitefly responsiveness was detected in a subset of the genes in the expansion. For example, in the 20 gene *PR-15/16j5* clade on chromosome 8, *PR-15/16j5* was the only gene regulated by any biotic stress and it was strongly downregulated by whiteflies (Figure S1.27).

Genes within 13 cassava expansions from *PR* families *1, 5, 7, 8,* and *9* did not contain whitefly-responsive DEGs (Figures S1.15, S1.19 and S1.21-S1.23). Strikingly, when cassava expansions were examined collectively numerous genes (34 genes) that responded to CMV and/or CBSV were identified and 16 of these genes belonged to the *PR-9* family.

These integrative analyses also highlighted that the *PR* families 1, 14 and 15/16 had a high proportion (39-41%) of *PR-Like* genes, which were not differentially expressed in response to any stress or hormone (Table S1.1). In particular, the expansions of the *PR-1d*, *PR-14e*, *PR-15/16i*, and *PR-15/16j* clades were rich in *PR-Like* genes (Figures S1.15, S1.26 and S1.27), suggesting their recent evolution is not associated with the biotic stresses presented here. However, many of these genes are expressed in embryonic

structures, fibrous roots, or the root apical meristem (Table S1.28), suggesting they may function in different organs, during growth and development, or during biotic or abiotic interactions that were not included in our study.

Discussion

PR family composition and organization in cassava

In cassava and three other plant species, we showed that *PR* genes exist as multigene families, as previously described for cacao (*Theobroma cacao*), pine (*Pinus spp.*) and barrel medic (*Medicago truncatula*) (Fister et al., 2016, Visser et al., 2018, Wanderley-Nogueira et al., 2012). While *PR* family numbers differed from other published *PR* gene numbers due to our methods for gene identification (Fister et al., 2016), overall *PR* family sizes were similar in the four species analyzed, with a few exceptions. Similar to cacao (Fister et al., 2016), the *PR-10* family was expanded in both cassava and poplar, relative to rice and Arabidopsis. In addition, PR-12 and PR-13 proteins were not detected in the cassava or poplar genomes. PR-12 was also absent in two pine species (Visser et al., 2018) and PR-13 has been previously described only in monocots and in the Brassicaceae (Stec, 2006, Fister et al., 2016).

As described by Fister et al. (2016) for cacao, Arabidopsis, *Brachypodium distachyon*, rice, populus, and *Vitis vinifera*, many genes (51%) within each cassava *PR* family were clustered. As in cacao, *PR-10* and *PR-15/16* families had the largest gene clusters. In contrast, while *PR-2* and *PR-6* genes were clustered in the cacao genome (Fister et al., 2016), cassava's *PR-2* and *PR-6* genes occurred as singletons. Tandem

organization of *PR* genes has also been described for *PR-12* in Arabidopsis (Silverstein et al., 2005), *PR-7* in tomato (Jorda et al., 1999) and the *PR-10* family in grape (Lebel et al., 2010).

As plants and their attackers are continually coevolving, such evolutionary pressures commonly lead to the expansion and diversification of host-plant defense gene families (Jones and Dangl, 2006). This phenomenon is well-documented in resistance gene families, such as the NLRs, and can also be found in various defense gene families (Jacob et al., 2013, Yin et al., 2013). These principles also appear to apply to cassava's *PR* gene families. By integrating our transcriptomic and phylogenetic data sets, we observed multiple instances of cassava *PR* family expansions associated with responses to whiteflies and other biotic stresses that may indicate selection for new functions for these paralogs.

For example, expansions within the *PR-2e* and *PR-3g* clades were associated with whitefly downregulation and whitefly/microbe upregulation, respectively. As PR-2 (β -1,3-endoglucanases) and PR-3 (chitinases) proteins are commonly involved in responses to bacteria/fungi and have antimicrobial activities (van Loon et al., 2006, Gupta et al., 2013, Sridevi et al., 2008, Jongedijk et al., 1995), it is possible that whiteflies and microbes produce similar pressures for the evolution of paralogs in *PR* gene family expansions. Whitefly feeding produces little cellular damage similar to biotrophic bacteria/fungi, and whitefly stylet movement may be perceived as similar to bacterial spread or fungal hyphae movement through the apoplast (Walling, 2008). Alternatively, endosymbionts and/or their gene products present in whitefly saliva (Kaloshian and Walling, 2016) or chitin derived

from whitefly stylets or exoskeletons during molting may be perceived as bacteria/fungilike triggers for regulation of *PR* and other defense genes (Wang et al., 2017).

Cassava's PR gene responses to whitefly and other pathogens

To date, there is limited information about cassava's *PR* gene regulation and function. In 2006, Antony and Palaniswami (2006) showed that PR activities (β -1,3-glucanase, peroxidase and chitinase) increased after *B. tabaci* infestation. In addition, using yeast two-hybrid assays, Román et al. (2014) constructed a PR protein-interaction network that is deployed during *Xanthomonas* infection. We discovered that 37% of the differentially expressed *PRs* were downregulated (62 genes in cluster 9, Figure 1.5). This large number of downregulated genes is a surprising result as it contrasts with the definition of *PR* genes as being upregulated after pathogen or pest attack (van Loon et al., 2006). Also, this large-scale downregulation of cassava *PR* genes after whitefly infestation does not align with previous studies in cacao in response to pathogens *Phytophthora palmivora* and *Colletotrichum theobromicola* (Fister et al., 2016).

Cassava's unique *PR* gene regulatory programs may be due to one or more factors. First, some of the cassava *PR* homologs identified in this study, while sharing sequence identity with other land plant PR proteins, may have been recruited for new functions to survive stressful environments or to play a role in growth and development. Second, as the size of the *PR* families increases, the resulting paralogs are functionally redundant and some can be recruited to new roles without compromising cassava's defense. Such gene family functional evolution may have occurred in cassava. In fact, the PR network established by Román et al. (2014) showed that many of the cassava proteins interacting with PRs were associated with abiotic stress or metabolic responses and were

not implicated in defense. Additionally, PR proteins regulate cell proliferation/differentiation in tobacco (Lee et al., 2003) or can rescue somatic embryos in carrot (Kragh et al., 1996). These new functional roles for PRs are also consistent with the expression of many cassava *PR* genes during somatic embryogenesis, as well as in shoots and roots.

Finally, the downregulation of *PR* genes could be due to whitefly effectors that actively suppress plant immunity (Walling, 2008, Kaloshian and Walling, 2016). Notably, in Arabidopsis, whiteflies promote SA-regulated *PR* gene expression, rather than suppress it (Kempema et al., 2007, Zarate et al., 2007). Alternatively, cassava's regulatory circuitry of *PR* genes may be significantly different than reported in other species to date. Indeed, our analysis of published data for five other cassava-pathogen interactions indicated that *PR* gene downregulation was common in these other cassava-pathosystems (Figure 1.8) (Rauwane et al., 2018, Lopez et al., 2005, Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014, Utsumi et al., 2016, Allie et al., 2014a, Amuge et al., 2017, Maruthi et al., 2014, Anjanappa et al., 2017).

Hormone regulation of whitefly-responsive PR genes

Plant defenses are commonly associated with hormone programs specific to the attacker and often controlled by SA or JA in response to biotrophs and necrotrophs/wounding, respectively (Glazebrook, 2005). In our analysis of cassava *PR* genes, coordinate SA and JA responses characterize over 90% of the interaction between whitefly-susceptible cassava and whiteflies. In the context of plant-hemipteran interactions, there are a few instances where SA and JA responses are activated concurrently, including the pepper-whitefly interaction (Park and Ryu, 2014). However

more generally, synergistic SA and JA responses have been found to be associated with resistance to certain biotic stressors (Pieterse et al., 2009).

While studies defining the hormone response of the full complement of *PR* families in other species have not been reported, transcriptome studies in Arabidopsis, rice and sorghum assessing response to SA and JA reported that 20–50% of all genes responsive to SA and/or JA exhibited coordinate responses (Schenk et al., 2000, Tamaoki et al., 2013, Zhu-Salzman et al., 2004). This variation in global SA and JA expression programs among plant species points to the need for species-specific definitions of *PR* genes used as defense markers.

Cassava PR families 2, 5, 7, and 9 are most responsive to biotic stress and hormones

Across the many cassava-pest/pathogen/hormone interactions examined in this study, PR families with roles in pathogen cell wall degradation (PR-2, PR-5 and PR-7), as well as host cell wall fortification (PR-9) were the predominant families responding to whiteflies (A. socialis), SA, JA, and most other biotic stresses (mealybugs (P. manihoti), fungi (C. gloeosporioides), bacteria (X. axonopodis), CMV, and CBSV) (Rauwane et al., 2018, Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014, Utsumi et al., 2016, Allie et al., 2014a, Anjanappa et al., 2017). PR-2 and PR-5 proteins have been reported as β -1,3-endoglucanases and β glucan-binding proteins. respectively, with roles in pathogen membrane degradation/permeabilization (Slusarenko et al., 2000, Abad et al., 1996). PR-7 proteins are endoproteinases and have proposed roles in aiding fungal cell wall degradation (Van Loon and Van Strien, 1999). PR-9s are lignin-forming that may help reinforce the cell wall by catalyzing lignification and preventing pathogen penetration (Lagrimini et al., 1987, van Loon et al., 2006).

In other global *PR* family analyses, *PR* families 2, 5 and 9 were also wellrepresented in the response of poplar to the fungus *Melampsora larici-populina* (Duplessis et al., 2009) and in cacao interactions with the oomycete *Phytophthora palmivora* and the fungus *Colletotrichum theobromicola* (Fister et al., 2016). Previous studies of plant responses to hemipterans have followed the regulation of only well-documented *PR* sentinel genes, or have not adequately analyzed *PR* gene expression profiles within transcriptome studies (Foyer et al., 2015). Among the most responsive *PR* families identified in our study (*PR-2*, *PR-5*, *PR-7*, and *PR-9*), Arabidopsis *PR-2* and *PR-5* (Zarate et al., 2007, Kempema et al., 2007) and tomato *PR-2* (Puthoff et al., 2010, Quintana-Camargo et al., 2015, Mayer RT et al., 1996) have been shown to be induced in response to whitefly infestation. Similarly, *PR-2* is induced after aphid feeding on sorghum and Arabidopsis (Moran et al., 2002, Zhu-Salzman et al., 2004).

Among the biotic stresses examined, a large portion (38-75%) of *PR* genes responsive to whiteflies (*A. socialis*), bacteria (*X. axonopodis*) or fungi (*C. gloeosporioides*) were regulated by SA and JA, while these hormones were unlikely to play a major role in regulating cassava's response to viruses. Other signals may be responsible for their regulation.

PR gene responses to whiteflies are more similar to CBSV than to CMV

Cassava's *PR* gene responses to whiteflies were positively correlated with its response to bacteria (*X. axonopodis*) and CBSV but negatively correlated with its responses to CMV (Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014, Anjanappa et al., 2017, Allie et al., 2014).

The distinct *PR* gene responses to CMV and CBSV could be due to the different mechanisms of inoculation used in each study (Allie et al., 2014, Anjanappa et al., 2017) or the different viral replication strategies employed by these two viruses (Ng and Falk, 2006). Alternatively, *PR* gene responses to the two viruses could be reflective of the different modes of CMV and CMSV acquisition and transmission by their whitefly vector (Maruthi et al., 2002, Maruthi et al., 2017, Ng and Falk, 2006). The biological significance and molecular mechanisms that underlie the distinct *PR* gene signatures to CBSV and CMV, and their correlations with whitefly *PR* gene expression programs remain to be discovered.

Materials and Methods

Plant growth

Shoot tips from *in vitro* grown *Manihot esculenta* genotypes (COL2246, COL1468 (CMC40), 60444 (TMS60444/NGA11), and TME3) in the CIAT culture collection were excised and grown in 17N rooting medium for 30 days. Plants were then sown in 2-L pots with sterile soil with a ratio of 1:3 sand to black soil (no clay topsoil). Plants were grown in a glasshouse with temperatures ranging from 24-28°C under a long-day light cycle (16-h light/ 8-h dark). Sixty days after sowing, plants were used for hormone treatments or whitefly infestation experiments.

Mass rearing of Aleurotrachelus socialis and whitefly bioassays

The Aleurotrachelus socialis colony was raised on Manihot esculenta var. COL1468 as previously described by Bellotti and Arias (Bellotti and Arias, 2001). For the whitefly-infestation experiments, four whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes (COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3) were used (Parsa et al., 2015, Bohorquez et al., 2013). Each three-month-old plant was put into an individual mesh cage (1-m height x 30-cm diameter) in a glasshouse. Infestations were initiated by the release of 100 male and 100 female adults of *A. socialis* into each cage. When the adult whiteflies were removed at 3 dpi, the two youngest infested leaves, which are preferred by whiteflies for feeding and egg deposition, were tagged for future collection. Three biological replicates were used for each genotype. Infested plants were placed in a random design instructed by a factorial arrangement. In order to capture the effect of each life stage of the whitefly on the cassava plants, the sample collection time points were chosen to represent landmarks during the *A. socialis* life cycle (Bellotti and Arias, 2001). Samples were harvested at: 0 h post-infestation (hpi), 1 dpi (adult feeding and egg deposition), 7 dpi (eggs present), 14 dpi (1st and 2nd instar feeding), and 22 dpi (2nd and 3rd instar feeding). After collection, leaves were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until use.

Hormone treatments

One day prior to hormone treatments, three-month-old COL2246 plants were moved from the glasshouse into growth chambers with a 16-h light/ 8-h dark cycle and a 24-28°C temperature range. Salicylic acid (200 μ M SA, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20) and methyl jasmonate (7.5 mM MeJA, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20) treatments were performed in growth chambers in different rooms. The 0-h sample was collected at 9 AM. All leaves (4-6 per plant) were sprayed with SA or JA until saturation and were harvested at 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 h post treatment by excising the leaf blade. Hormone treatment concentrations were based on similar values as used in tomato due to comparable

impermeability to foliar sprays in tomato and cassava (Li et al., 2013b). Tissue was frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until use. This experiment was conducted three times (three biological replicates).

PR protein phylogenetic trees, gene nomenclature and genome location

For the 17 PR protein families defined by van Loon et al. (2006), founder PR protein sequences were used as queries to identify cassava PR proteins. Cassava, poplar, rice, and Arabidopsis PR proteins were obtained from Phytozome (JGI) and Ensembl Plants using BLASTP and Hidden Markov Model searches (Finn et al., 2011), respectively. Percent identity and E-values of the cassava PR proteins are provided (Table S1.1). The Pfam database (Finn et al., 2016) was used to identify conserved protein domains that distinguish each PR family. The PR proteins that lacked canonical PR domains (20 of 447 proteins) were removed prior to alignment with ClustalW. The resulting alignments were manually curated and neighbor-joining phylogenetic trees were constructed using Geneious version 11.1.2 (Kearse et al., 2012). Bootstrapping was performed with 1000 replications and bootstrap values are shown only for branches with 50% or higher bootstrap support. Cassava-specific *PR* gene family expansions were defined as cassava clades that contained three or more cassava paralogs.

Proteins within each cassava *PR* family were used to construct family phylogenetic trees. The *PR* genes were named according to their phylogenetic relationships in *Manihot esculenta* (Tables S1.20-S1.27). Within a family, genes were assigned a letter indicating their clade (i.e., *PR-1d*). *PR* genes that were not differentially expressed during pest/pathogen treatment were designated as *PR-Like* genes (i.e., *PR-1dL*) (Table S1.19). *PR* and *PR-L* genes within a clade were numbered sequentially (Table S1.1). *PR* genes

assigned to cassava chromosomes 1 to 18 were visualized using the program PhenoGram (Wolfe et al., 2013).

RNA extraction and quality assessment

Total RNA was extracted using the methodology described by Behnam et al. (2019). RNA was quantified using a Nanodrop® ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, Delaware, USA). RNA quality was assessed by absorbance ratios, denaturing agarose gels and an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). RIN values were above 6.00. RNAs were treated with 20 µL of RNAstable® (Biomatrica, San Diego, CA) and then dried using the Speedvac Concentrator™ (Eppendorf™) for 1 h at room temperature. RNA quantity and integrity was confirmed prior to RNA-seq library construction using the Nanodrop® ND-1000 spectrophotometer and 1% denaturing agarose gels, respectively.

cDNA library preparation, sequencing and bioinformatics analyses

Strand-specific cDNA libraries were prepared following the protocol of Wang et al. (2011) with two changes. The reverse transcriptase used was Superscript III (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and the high-fidelity DNA Polymerase was KAPA HiFi Hot start (KAPA Biosystems, Wilmington, MA). Universal and barcoded primers were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA).

cDNA libraries generated from whitefly-infestation experiments were sequenced on the Illumina HiSeq2500 platform (single-end 50-bp reads) or on the Illumina NextSeq500 platform (single-end 75-bp reads) at the UCR Institute for Integrative Genome Biology Genomics Core. Seventy-five-bp reads were trimmed to 50 bp to allow valid comparisons of all libraries. Libraries from SA and MeJA experiments were sequenced on the NextSeq500 platform (single-end 75-bp reads). For each infestation or treatment time point, the three biological replicates were used to construct libraries. Libraries were multiplexed (12-13 libraries/lane) and sequenced resulting in ~25-45 million reads per library. Using total read counts, Pearson correlation values ranging from 0.70-1.00 and from 0.89-0.99 were obtained among biological replicates for whitefly and hormone treatments, respectively, confirming their reproducibility (Figure S1.29). After trimming and filtering the fastq files, reads were aligned against the *Manihot esculenta* genome version 6.1 at Phytozome (Goodstein et al., 2012), using Bowtie2/2.2.5 and Tophat 2.0.14. The subsequent analyses of the sequences were made following the systemPipeR pipeline (Backman and Girke, 2016). Genes with an average of 20 reads or less across a treatment time course were not included in the DEG analysis. DESeq2 was used to determine DEGs, defined as having $|\log_2FC| > 1$ and FDR $\leq 5\%$.

Heatmaps for whitefly infestation studies and hormone treatment studies were organized by defined expression programs (Tables S1.18-S1.19) and hierarchical clustering along the y-axis and were constructed using the R package ComplexHeatmap (Gu et al., 2016). Venn diagrams used to visualize DEGs were generated using the online program Venny (Oliveros, 2007). Raw data are provided in Table S1.2.

Data from published transcriptome studies investigating five additional cassavapathogen/pest interactions were used for comparison to our transcriptome data sets for COL2246. In each of these interactions, we selected cassava genotypes susceptible to a pathogen/pest and time points similar to those used in the whitefly infestation studies presented here. These data included: the mealybug *P. manihoti* (P40/1; 24 and 72 hpi),

the bacteria *X. axonopodis* strain ORST4(*TALE1_{xam}*) (MCOL1522; 5 and 7 dpi), the fungus *C. gloeosporioides* (HN; 24 and 72 hpi), and the viruses CMV (T200; 12 and 32 dpi) and CBSV (60444; 28 dpi) (Rauwane et al., 2018, Lopez et al., 2005, Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014, Utsumi et al., 2016, Allie et al., 2014a, Amuge et al., 2017, Maruthi et al., 2014, Anjanappa et al., 2017). Expression values from healthy cassava organs were also used (three-month-old TME204) (Wilson et al., 2017). Time-course expression data used in these studies, as well as our whitefly- and hormone-treatment studies in COL2246, were consolidated to facilitate comparisons. For each time course, we used all treatment time points that were differentially expressed relative to 0 h ($|log_2FC| > 1$ and FDR \leq 5%) and calculated a mean log_2FC value for each *PR* gene. For the dataset from Muñoz-Bodnar et al. (2014a), log_2FC values were calculated as follows: $log_2(FPKM inoculated/FPKM mock)$. Heatmaps were constructed using the R package ComplexHeatmap (Gu et al., 2016) and organized along the y-axis according to *PR* phylogenetic clades.

qRT-PCR

For qRT-PCR, cDNA templates were synthesized using 5 ng of mRNA and the Improm II reverse transcriptase protocol (Promega, Madison, WI). We selected the control gene *UBQ* (Manes.10G122600) based on its low read count variation for all time points in each treatment. qRT-PCR was performed for selected *PR* genes and the *UBQ* control using gene-specific primers in the Bio-rad CFX Connects instrument using iQ SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA) (Table S1.29). Melting curve analyses were performed at the end of each cycle to confirm the specificity of the PCR product. Relative expression changes were calculated by the comparative Ct method; fold change was

calculated as 2^{-ΔΔCt} (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Three biological and technical replicates were used for these analyses. Fold-change values are displayed with standard error.

Pearson correlation analyses

Pearson correlation analyses were performed using the R package ggplot2 (Wickman, 2016). Correlation strength was defined according to Evans (1996) as very weak ([0.00-0.19]), weak ([0.20-0.39]), moderate ([0.40-0.59]), strong ([0.60-0.79]), or very strong ([0.80-1.00]). Prior to analyses of biotic stress, outliers were identified using the boxplot rule with a multiplicative constant of 2.0 and removed (Iglewicz and Hoaglin, 1993). Comparisons with fewer than ten DEGs in both treatments (e.g., whiteflies-fungi and whiteflies-mealybugs) did not undergo correlation analysis. No outliers were identified using the SA/JA co-regulation or qRT-PCR vs RNA-seq correlation analyses.

Supplemental Material

Supplemental Tables

Tables S1.1-1.2. Table S1.1. Cassava *PR* gene nomenclature. Founder protein(s) used to identify each PR family via BLASTP and HMM queries, a list of cassava *PR* genes and functions, and loci designations in the cassava genome are provided. E-values and % identity are also provided. **Table S1.2.** *PR* gene clusters in the cassava genome.

Tables S1.3-1.14. *PR* gene expression after whitefly, SA and JA treatments of cassava. **Table S1.3.** \log_2 FC and FDR values of DEGs identified in whitefly-susceptible genotypes (COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3) after whitefly infestation. **Table S1.4.** \log_2 FC and FDR values for *PR* genes detected in whitefly-susceptible genotypes after whitefly infestation. **Table S1.5.** Mean RPKM values of *PR* genes during whitefly infestation (0–22 dpi) of four whitefly-susceptible genotypes. **Table S1.6.** Read counts of *PR* genes during whitefly infestation (0–22 dpi) of four whitefly infestation (0–22 dpi) of four whitefly-susceptible genotypes. **Table S1.7.** \log_2 FC and FDR values of DEGs in COL2246 after SA treatment. **Table S1.8.** \log_2 FC and FDR values for *PR* genes detected in COL2246 after SA treatment. **Table S1.9**. Mean RPKM values for *PR* genes after SA treatment (0–24 h) of COL2246. **Table S1.10**. Read counts of *PR* genes after SA treatments (0–24 h) of COL2246. **Table S1.11**. \log_2 FC and FDR values of DEGs in COL2246 after JA treatment. **Table S1.12**. \log_2 FC and FDR values for *PR* genes detected in COL2246 after JA treatment. **Table S1.12**. \log_2 FC and FDR values for *PR* genes after JA treatment (0–24 h) of COL2246. **Table S1.13**. Mean RPKM values for *PR* genes after JA treatment (0–24 h) of COL2246. **Table S1.14**. Read counts for *PR* genes after JA treatment (0–24 h) of COL2246.

Tables S1.15-S.1.16. Table S1.15. Expression profile clusters for *PR* responses to whitefly feeding. **Table S1.16.** Expression profile clusters for *PR* responses to whitefly, SA and JA.

Table S1.17. Mean log₂FC of SA and/or JA DEGs.

Table S1.18. Whitefly-responsive DEGs: Temporal expression programs and hormone-response clusters.

Table S1.19. *PR* gene expression values (log₂FC) during biotic stress. This table compiles DEGs identified in response to: SA, JA and whitefly (this study); *Xanthomonas* (bacteria) (Lopez et al., 2005, Muñoz-Bodnar et al., 2014); *C. gloeosporioides* (fungi) (Utsumi et al., 2016); and the viruses South African CMV (Allie et al., 2014b) and CBSV (Amuge et al., 2017, Anjanappa et al., 2017, Maruthi et al., 2014).

Table S1.20-S1.25. Hormone regulation of stress-responsive *PR* genes. Numbers and percentages of stress-regulated genes belonging to each hormone-expression program are provided. **Table S1.20.** Hormone regulation of whitefly-responsive *PR* genes. **Table S1.21.** Hormone regulation of mealybug-responsive *PR* genes. **Table S1.22.** Hormone regulation of bacteria-responsive *PR* genes. **Table S1.23.** Hormone regulation of fungi-responsive *PR* genes. **Table S1.24.** Hormone regulation of CMV-responsive *PR* genes. **Table S1.25.** Hormone regulation of CBSV-responsive *PR* genes.

Table S1.26-S1.27. Table S1.26. *PR* genes associated with correlations between whitefly and bacteria and/or CBSV responses. **Table S1.27.** *PR* genes associated with correlation between whitefly and CMV responses.

Table S1.28. *PR* gene expression in TME2 04 shoots, roots and embryonic callus. Loci (cassava genome v6), *PR* gene names and expression values from Wilson et al. (2017a) are provided. These data are used in Tables S1.20-S1.27.

Table S1.29. qRT-PCR primers.

Supplemental Figures

Figures S1.1-S1.14. Neighbor-joining phylogenetic trees of cassava PR families. **Figure S1.1.** *PR-1.* **Figure S1.2.** *PR-2.* **Figure S1.3.** *PR-3.* **Figure S1.4.** *PR-4.* **Figure S1.5.** *PR-5.* **Figure S1.6.** *PR-6.* **Figure S1.7.** *PR-7.* **Figure S1.8.** *PR-8.* **Figure S1.9.** *PR-9.* **Figure S1.10.** *PR-10.* **Figure S1.11.** *PR-11.* **Figure S1.12.** *PR- 14.* **Figure S1.13.** *PR-15/16.* **Figure S1.14.** *PR-17.* Founder (green), cassava (pink), poplar (blue), and rice (black) PR proteins are indicated. Branches with bootstrap values of 50% or higher are shown.

Figures S1.15-S1.17. *PR-1*, *PR-2* and *PR-3* family member phylogenies and consolidated gene expression heatmaps are displayed. Genes within a clade are designated by a letter and color bars in the circular phylogenetic trees and heatmaps. Information about physical clustering and cassava-specific expansions are provided beside the heatmaps, which provide gene expression changes during biotic stresses or hormone treatments (SA and JA) and in shoots and storage roots. Recent *PR* family expansions are shown in red in the circular trees and expansion column; other genes (light grey) in the expansion column are not part of cassava-specific *PR* family expansions (see Methods). Genes belonging to the same physical cluster are denoted with the same color in the cluster column; genes that do not belong to a cluster are in light grey. Genes displayed as dark grey do not have an assigned chromosomal position in the cassava genome version 6. **Figure S1.15**. *PR-1*. **Figure S1.16**. *PR-2*. **Figure S1.17**. *PR-3*.

Figures S1.18-S1.20. *PR-4*, *PR-5* and *PR-6* family member phylogenies and consolidated gene expression heatmaps are displayed. The *PR-6* family phylogenetic tree is not displayed due to its small size. **Figure S1.28.** *PR-4*. **Figure S1.19.** *PR-5*. **Figure S1.20.** *PR-6*.

Figures S1.21-S1.22. *PR-7* and *PR-8* family member phylogenies and consolidated gene expression heatmaps are displayed. **Figure S1.21.** *PR-7*. **Figure S1.22.** *PR-8*.

Figures S1.23-S1.25. *PR-9*, *PR-10* and *PR-11* family member phylogenies and consolidated gene expression heatmaps are displayed. **Figure S1.23.** *PR-9*. **Figure S1.24.** *PR-10*. **Figure S1.25.** *PR-11*.

Figures S1.26-S1.28. *PR-14*, *PR-15/16* and *PR-17* family member phylogenies and consolidated gene expression heatmaps are displayed. Figure S1.26. *PR-14*. Figure S1.27. *PR-15/16*. Figure S1.28. *PR-17*.

Figure S1.29. Pearson correlations of count values obtained for three biological replicates for all whitefly infestation and hormone treatments. (a) Correlations for SA and JA treatments (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, 24 h). (b) Correlations for whitefly infestations (0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 d) for COL2246, COL1468, 60444, and TME3.

References

- Abad, L. R., D'Urzo, M. P., Liu, D., Narasimhan, M. L., Reuveni, M., Zhu, J. K., Niu, X., Singh, N. K., Hasegawa, P. M. & Bressan, R. A. 1996. Antifungal activity of tobacco osmotin has specificity and involves plasma membrane permeabilization. *Plant Science*, 118, 11-23.
- Alicai, T., Omongo, C. A., Maruthi, M. N., Hillocks, R. J., Baguma, Y., Kawuki, R., Bua, A., Otim-Nape, G. W. & Colvin, J. 2007. Re-emergence of cassava brown streak disease in Uganda. *Plant Disease*, 91, 24-29.
- Allie, F., Pierce, E. J., Okoniewski, M. J. & Rey, C. 2014a. Transcriptional analysis of South African cassava mosaic virus-infected susceptible and tolerant landraces of cassava highlights differences in resistance, basal defense and cell wall associated genes during infection. BMC Genomics, 15, 1006.
- Allie, F., Pierce, E. J., Okoniewski, M. J. & Rey, C. 2014b. Transcriptional analysis of South African cassava mosaic virus-infected susceptible and tolerant landraces of cassava highlights differences in resistance, basal defense and cell wall associated genes during infection. *BMC Genomics*, 15, 1006.
- Amuge, T., Berger, D. K., Katari, M. S., Myburg, A. A., Goldman, S. L. & Ferguson, M. E. 2017. A time series transcriptome analysis of cassava (*Manihot esculenta Crantz*) varieties challenged with Ugandan cassava brown streak virus. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 21.
- Anjanappa, R. B., Mehta, D., Okoniewski, M. J., Szabelska-Beresewicz, A., Gruissem, W. & Vanderschuren, H. 2017. Molecular insights into *cassava brown streak virus* susceptibility and resistance by profiling of the early host response. *Mol Plant Pathol.*
- Antony, B. & Palaniswami, M. S. 2006. Bemisia tabaci feeding induces pathogenesisrelated proteins in cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Indian journal of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 43, 182-185.
- Backman, T. W. H. & Girke, T. 2016. SystemPipeR: NGS workflow and report generation environment. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 17, 388.
- Behnam, B., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Castaneda-Mendez, O. F., Tsuji, H., Ishitani, M. & Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. 2019. An optimized isolation protocol yields highquality RNA from cassava tissues (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz). *FEBS Open Bio*, 9, 814-825.
- Bellotti, A. C. & Arias, B. 2001. Host plant resistance to whiteflies with emphasis on cassava as a case study. *Crop Protection*, 20, 813-823.

- Bellotti, A. C., Smith, L. & Lapointe, S. L. 1999. Recent advances in cassava pest management. *Annu Rev Entomol*, 44, 343-70.
- Bohorquez, A., Tohme, J., Parsa, S. & Becerra López-Lavalle, L. A. 2013. Phenotyping cassava (Manihot esculenta) resistance to whitefly (Aleurotrachelus socialis).
 First International Whitefly Symposium, Kolymbari, Creta, Grecia: Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT).
- Bredeson, J. V., Lyons, J. B., Prochnik, S. E., Wu, G. A., Ha, C. M., Edsinger-Gonzales, E., Grimwood, J., Schmutz, J., Rabbi, I. Y., Egesi, C., Nauluvula, P., Lebot, V., Ndunguru, J., Mkamilo, G., Bart, R. S., Setter, T. L., Gleadow, R. M., Kulakow, P., Ferguson, M. E., Rounsley, S. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2016. Sequencing wild and cultivated cassava and related species reveals extensive interspecific hybridization and genetic diversity. *Nat Biotechnol*, 34, 562-70.
- Ceballos, H., Ramirez, J., Bellotti, A. C., Jarvis, A. & Alvarez, E. 2011. Adaptation of cassava to changing climates. *In:* YADAV, S. S., REDDEN, R. J., HATFIELD, J. L., HERMANN LOTZE-CAMPEN, H. & HALL, A. E. (eds.) *Crop adaptation to climate change.* https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/book/10.1002/9780470960929 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Colvin, J., Omongo, C. A., Maruthi, M. N., Otim-Nape, G. W. & Thresh, J. M. 2004. Dual begomovirus infections and high *Bemisia tabaci* populations: two factors driving the spread of a cassava mosaic disease pandemic. *Plant Pathology*, 53, 577-584.
- Cui, H., Tsuda, K. & Parker, J. E. 2015. Effector-triggered immunity: from pathogen perception to robust defense. *Annu Rev Plant Biol,* 66, 487-511.
- Duplessis, S., Major, I., Martin, F. & Séguin, A. 2009. Poplar and pathogen interactions: Insights from *Populus* genome-wide analyses of resistance and defense gene families and gene expression profiling. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 28, 309-334.
- Duran-Flores, D. & Heil, M. 2016. Sources of specificity in plant damaged-self recognition. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 32, 77-87.
- Evans, J. D. 1996. *Straightforward statistics for the behavioral sciences*, Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- FAO 2018. Food outlook. Biannual report on global food markets. http://www.fao.org/3/ca2320en/CA2320EN.pdf.
- Fauquet, C. & Fargette, D. 1990. *African Cassava Mosaic Virus*: Etiology, epidemiology, and control. *Plant Disease*, 74, 404-411.
- Finn, R. D., Clements, J. & Eddy, S. R. 2011. HMMER web server: interactive sequence similarity searching. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39, W29-W37.

- Finn, R. D., Coggill, P., Eberhardt, R. Y., Eddy, S. R., Mistry, J., Mitchell, A. L., Potter, S. C., Punta, M., Qureshi, M., Sangrador-Vegas, A., Salazar, G. A., Tate, J. & Bateman, A. 2016. The Pfam protein families database: towards a more sustainable future. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44, D279-D285.
- Fister, A. S., Mejia, L. C., Zhang, Y., Herre, E. A., Maximova, S. N. & Guiltinan, M. J. 2016. *Theobroma cacao L*. pathogenesis-related gene tandem array members show diverse expression dynamics in response to pathogen colonization. *BMC Genomics*, 17, 363.
- Foyer, C. H., Verrall, S. R. & Hancock, R. D. 2015. Systematic analysis of phloemfeeding insect-induced transcriptional reprogramming in Arabidopsis highlights common features and reveals distinct responses to specialist and generalist insects. J Exp Bot, 66, 495-512.
- Glazebrook, J. 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, 43, 205-27.
- Goodstein, D. M., Shu, S., Howson, R., Neupane, R., Hayes, R. D., Fazo, J., Mitros, T., Dirks, W., Hellsten, U., Putnam, N. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2012. Phytozome: a comparative platform for green plant genomics. *Nucleic acids research*, 40, D1178-D1186.
- Gu, Z., Eils, R. & Schlesner, M. 2016. Complex heatmaps reveal patterns and correlations in multidimensional genomic data. *Bioinformatics*, 32, 2847-9.
- Gupta, P., Ravi, I. & Sharma, V. 2013. Induction of β-1,3-glucanase and chitinase activity in the defense response of *Eruca sativa* plants against the fungal pathogen *Alternaria brassicicola*. *Journal of Plant Interactions*, 8, 155-161.
- Hillocks, R. J., Raya, M. D., Mtunda, K. & Kiozia, H. 2001. Effects of brown streak virus disease on yield and quality of cassava in Tanzania. *J. Phytopathology*, 149, 389-394.
- Hou, M., Xu, W., Bai, H., Liu, Y., Li, L., Liu, L., Liu, B. & Liu, G. 2012. Characteristic expression of rice pathogenesis-related proteins in rice leaves during interactions with *Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae*. *Plant Cell Rep*, 31, 895-904.
- Iglewicz, B. & Hoaglin, D. C. 1993. *How to detect and handle outliers*, American Society for Quality Press.
- Jacob, F., Vernaldi, S. & Maekawa, T. 2013. Evolution and conservation of plant NLR functions. *Front Immunol*, 4, 297.
- Jarvis, A., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Herrera Campo, B. V. & Navarro-Racines, C. 2012. Is cassava the answer to African climate change adaptation? *Tropical Plant Biology*, 5, 9-29.

Jones, J. D. & Dangl, J. L. 2006. The plant immune system. Nature, 444, 323-9.

- Jongedijk, E., Tigelaar, H., van Roekel, J. S. C., Bres-Vloemans, S. A., Dekker, I., van den Elzen, P. J. M., Cornelissen, B. J. C. & Melchers, L. S. 1995. Synergistic activity of chitinases and β-1,3-glucanases enhances fungal resistance in transgenic tomato plants. *Euphytica* 85, 173-180.
- Jorda, L., Coego, A., Conejero, V. & Vera, P. 1999. A genomic cluster containing four differentially regulated subtilisin-like processing protease genes is in tomato plants. *The journal of biological chemistry*, 274, 2360-5.
- Kaloshian, I. & Walling, L. L. 2016. Hemipteran and dipteran pests: Effectors and plant host immune regulators. *J Integr Plant Biol*, 58, 350-61.
- Kearse, M., Moir, R., Wilson, A., Stones-Havas, S., Cheung, M., Sturrock, S., Buxton, S., Cooper, A., Markowitz, S., Duran, C., Thierer, T., Ashton, B., Meintjes, P. & Drummond, A. 2012. Geneious basic: an integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. *Bioinformatics*, 28, 1647-9.
- Kempema, L. A., Cui, X., Holzer, F. M. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Arabidopsis transcriptome changes in response to phloem-feeding silverleaf whitefly nymphs. Similarities and distinctions in responses to aphids. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 849-65.
- Kragh, K. M., Hendriks, T., de Jong, A. J., Lo Schiavo, F., Bucherna, N., Hojrup, P., Mikkelsen, J. D. & de Vries, S. C. 1996. Characterization of chitinases able to rescue somatic embryos of the temperature-sensitive carrot variant ts 11. *Plant Mol Biol*, 31, 631-45.
- Lagrimini, L. M., Burkhart, W., Moyer, M. & Rothstein, S. 1987. Molecular cloning of complementary DNA encoding the lignin-forming peroxidase from tobacco: Molecular analysis and tissue-specific expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 84, 7542-6.
- Lebel, S., Schellenbaum, P., Walter, B. & Maillot, P. 2010. Characterisation of the *Vitis vinifera PR10* multigene family. *BMC Plant Biology*, 10, 184.
- Lee, J. H., Takei, K., Sakakibara, H., Sun Cho, H., Kim, D. M., Kim, Y. S., Min, S. R., Kim, W. T., Sohn, D. Y., Lim, Y. P. & Pai, H. S. 2003. CHRK1, a chitinase-related receptor-like kinase, plays a role in plant development and cytokinin homeostasis in tobacco. *Plant Mol Biol*, 53, 877-90.
- Legg, J. P. & Ogwal, S. 1998. Changes in the incidence of African cassava mosaic virus disease and the abundance of its whitefly vector along south-north transects in Uganda. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 122, 169-178.
- Legg, J. P., Sseruwagi, P., Boniface, S., Okao-Okuja, G., Shirima, R., Bigirimana, S., Gashaka, G., Herrmann, H. W., Jeremiah, S., Obiero, H., Ndyetabula, I., Tata-

Hangy, W., Masembe, C. & Brown, J. K. 2014. Spatio-temporal patterns of genetic change amongst populations of cassava *Bemisia tabaci* whiteflies driving virus pandemics in East and Central Africa. *Virus Research*, 186, 61-75.

- Li, S.J., Xue, X., Ren, S.X., Cuthbertson, A.G.S., Dam, N.M. van Qiu, B.L. 2013. Root and shoot jasmonic acid induced plants differently affect the performance of *Bemisia tabaci* and its parasitoid *Encarsia formosa*. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 14, 670-679.
- Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2(-\Delta \Delta C(T))$ method. *Methods*, 25, 402-8.
- Lopez, C., Soto, M., Restrepo, S., Piegu, B., Cooke, R., Delseny, M., Tohme, J. & Verdier, V. 2005. Gene expression profile in response to *Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis* infection in cassava using a cDNA microarray. *Plant Mol Biol*, 57, 393-410.
- Lundgren, J. G., López-Lavalle, L. A. B., Parsa, S. & Wyckhuys, K. A. G. 2013. Molecular determination of the predator community of a cassava whitefly in Colombia: pest-specific primer development and field validation. *Journal of Pest Science*, 87, 125-131.
- Macfadyen, S., Paull, C., Boykin, L. M., De Barro, P., Maruthi, M. N., Otim, M., Kalyebi, A., Vassao, D. G., Sseruwagi, P., Tay, W. T., Delatte, H., Seguni, Z., Colvin, J. & Omongo, C. A. 2018. Cassava whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius) (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in East African farming landscapes: a review of the factors determining abundance. *Bull Entomol Res*, 108, 565-582.
- Maruthi, M. N., Bouvaine, S., Tufan, H. A., Mohammed, I. U. & Hillocks, R. J. 2014. Transcriptional response of virus-infected cassava and identification of putative sources of resistance for cassava brown streak disease. *PLoS One*, 9, e96642.
- Maruthi, M. N., Colvin, J., Seal, S. & Thresh, J. M. 2002. First report of a distinct begomovirus infecting cassava from Zanzibar. *Plant Disease*, 86, 187-187.
- Maruthi, M. N., Jeremiah, S. C., Mohammed, I. U. & Legg, J. P. 2017. The role of the whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius), and farmer practices in the spread of cassava brown streak ipomoviruses. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 165, 707-717.
- Mayer RT, McCollum TG, McDonald RE, Polston JE & Doostdar, H. 1996. *Bemisia* feeding induces pathogenesis-related proteins in tomato. *Bemisia: 1995 taxonomy, biology, damage, control and management.* Andover: Intercept Limited.
- Monaghan, J. & Zipfel, C. 2012. Plant pattern recognition receptor complexes at the plasma membrane. *Curr Opin Plant Biol,* 15, 349-57.

- Moran, P. J., Cheng, Y., Cassell, J. L. & Thompson, G. A. 2002. Gene expression profiling of *Arabidopsis thaliana* in compatible plant-aphid interactions. *Arch Insect Biochem Physiol*, 51, 182-203.
- Muñoz-Bodnar, A., Perez-Quintero, A., Gomez-Cano, F., Gil, J., Michelmore, R., Bernal, A., Szurek, B. & Lopez, C. 2014. RNAseq analysis of cassava reveals similar plant responses upon infection with pathogenic and non-pathogenic strains of *Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis. Plant Cell Rep*, 33, 1901-1912.
- Mur, L. A., Kenton, P., Atzorn, R., Miersch, O. & Wasternack, C. 2006. The outcomes of concentration-specific interactions between salicylate and jasmonate signaling include synergy, antagonism, and oxidative stress leading to cell death. *Plant Physiol*, 140, 249-62.
- Ng, J. C. K. & Falk, B. W. 2006. Virus-vector interactions mediating nonpersistent and semipersistent transmission of plant viruses. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, 44, 183-212.
- Oliveros, J. C. 2007. VENNY. An interactive tool for comparing lists with venn diagrams.
- Park, Y. S. & Ryu, C. M. 2014. Understanding cross-communication between aboveground and belowground tissues via transcriptome analysis of a sucking insect whitefly-infested pepper plants. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 443, 272-7.
- Parsa, S., Medina, C. & Rodríguez, V. 2015. Sources of pest resistance in cassava. *Crop Protection*, 68, 79-84.
- Pieterse, C. M. J., Leon-reyes, A., Van Der Ent, S. & Van Wees, S. C. M. 2009. Networking by small-molecule hormones in plant immunity. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 5, 308-316.
- Puthoff, D. P., Holzer, F. M., Perring, T. M. & Walling, L. L. 2010. Tomato pathogenesisrelated protein genes are expressed in response to *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* and *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B feeding. *J Chem Ecol*, 36, 1271-85.
- Quintana-Camargo, M., Mendez-Moran, L., Ramirez-Romero, R., Gurrola-Diaz, C. M., Carapia-Ruiz, V., Ibarra-Laclette, E., Delano-Frier, J. P. & Sanchez-Hernandez, C. 2015. Identification of genes differentially expressed in husk tomato (*Physalis philadelphica*) in response to whitefly (*Trialeurodes vaporariorum*) infestation. *Acta Physiol Plant*, 37:29.
- Rauwane, M. E., Odeny, D. A., Millar, I., Rey, C. & Rees, J. 2018. The early transcriptome response of cassava (*Manihot esculenta Crantz*) to mealybug (*Phenacoccus manihoti*) feeding. *PLoS One,* 13, e0202541.
- Ravi, V. & Saravan, R. 2001. Photosynthesis and productivity of cassava under water deficit stress and stress-free conditions. *J Root Crops* 27, 214-218.

- Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Grant, M. & Jones, J. D. 2011. Hormone crosstalk in plant disease and defense: More than just jasmonate-salicylate antagonism. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 49, 317-43.
- Román, V., Bossa-Castro, A. M., Vásquez, A., Bernal, V., Schuster, M., Bernal, N. & López, C. 2014. Construction of a cassava PR protein-interacting network during *Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis* infection. *Plant Pathology*, 63, 792-802.
- Schenk, P. M., Kazan, K., Wilson, L., Anderson, J. P., Richmond, T., Somerville, S. C. & Manners, J. M. 2000. Coordinated plant defense responses in Arabidopsis revealed by microarray analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97, 11655-11660.
- Silverstein, K. A., Graham, M. A., Paape, T. D. & VandenBosch, K. A. 2005. Genome organization of more than 300 defensin-like genes in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 138, 600-10.
- Slusarenko, A. J., Fraser, R. S. S. & Loon, L. C. v. 2000. *Mechanisms of resistance to plant diseases*, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Sridevi, G., Parameswari, C., Sabapathi, N., Raghupathy, V. & Veluthambi, K. 2008. Combined expression of chitinase and β-1,3-glucanase genes in indica rice (*Oryza sativa L.*) enhances resistance against *Rhizoctonia solani*. *Plant Science*, 175, 283-290.
- Stec, B. 2006. Plant thionins-the structural perspective. Cell Mol Life Sci, 63, 1370-85.
- Tamaoki, D., Seo, S., Yamada, S., Kano, A., Miyamoto, A., Shishido, H., Miyoshi, S., Taniguchi, S., Akimitsu, K. & Gomi, K. 2013. Jasmonic acid and salicylic acid activate a common defense system in rice. *Plant Signal Behav*, 8, e24260.
- Utsumi, Y., Tanaka, M., Kurotani, A., Yoshida, T., Mochida, K., Matsui, A., Ishitani, M., Sraphet, S., Whankaew, S., Asvarak, T., Narangajavana, J., Triwitayakorn, K., Sakurai, T. & Seki, M. 2016. Cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) transcriptome analysis in response to infection by the fungus *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* using an oligonucleotide-DNA microarray. *J Plant Res*, 129, 711-726.
- van Loon, L. C., Rep, M. & Pieterse, C. M. 2006. Significance of inducible defenserelated proteins in infected plants. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 44, 135-162.
- van Loon, L. C. & van Kammen, A. 1970. Polyacrylamide disc electrophoresis of the soluble leaf proteins from *Nicotiana tabacum* var. "Samsun" and "Samsun NN".
 II. Changes in protein constitution after infection with Tobacco Mosaic Virus. *Virology*, 40, 190-211.

- Van Loon, L. C. & Van Strien, E. A. 1999. The families of pathogenesis-related proteins, their activities, and comparative analysis of PR-1 type proteins. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 55.
- Visser, E. A., Wegrzyn, J. L., Myburg, A. A. & Naidoo, S. 2018. Defence transcriptome assembly and pathogenesis related gene family analysis in *Pinus tecunumanii* (low elevation). *BMC Genomics*, 19, 632.
- Walling, L. L. 2008. Avoiding effective defenses: strategies employed by phloem-feeding insects. *Plant Physiol*, 146, 859-66.
- Wanderley-Nogueira, A. C., Belarmino, L. C., Soares-Cavalcanti, N. d. M., Bezerra-Neto, J. o. P., Kido, E. A., Valesca Pandolfi, Abdelnoor, R. V., Binneck, E., Carazzole, M. F. & Benko-Iseppon, A. M. 2012. An overall evaluation of the Resistance (*R*) and Pathogenesis-Related (*PR*) superfamilies in soybean, as compared with *Medicago* and *Arabidopsis*. *Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 35, 260-271.
- Wang, L., Si, Y., Dedow, L., Shao, Y., Liu, P. & Brutnell, T. 2011. A low-cost library construction protocol and data analysis pipeline for Illumina-based strand-specific multiplex RNA-seq. *PLoS One*, 6, e26426.
- Wang, X.-W., Li, P. & Shu-Sheng, L. 2017. Whitefly interactions with plants. *Current opinion in insect science*, 19, 70-75.
- Wickman, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis, Springer-Verlag New York.
- Wilson, M. C., Mutka, A. M., Hummel, A. W., Berry, J., Chauhan, R. D., Vijayaraghavan, A., Taylor, N. J., Voytas, D. F., Chitwood, D. H. & Bart, R. S. 2017. Gene expression atlas for the food security crop cassava. *New Phytol*, 213, 1632-1641.
- Wolfe, D., Dudek, S., Ritchie, M. D. & Pendergrass, S. A. 2013. Visualizing genomic information across chromosomes with PhenoGram. *BioData Min*, 6, 18.
- Yin, G., Xu, H., Xiao, S., Qin, Y., Li, Y., Yan, Y. & Hu, Y. 2013. The large soybean (*Glycine max*) WRKY transcription factor family expanded by segmental duplication events and subsequent divergent selection among subgroups. *BMC Plant Biology*, 13, 148.
- Zarate, S. I., Kempema, L. A. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Silverleaf whitefly induces salicylic acid defenses and suppresses effectual jasmonic acid defenses. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 866-75.
- Zhu-Salzman, K., Salzman, R. A., Ahn, J. E. & Koiwa, H. 2004. Transcriptional regulation of sorghum defense determinants against a phloem-feeding aphid. *Plant Physiol*, 134, 420-31.

Chapter 2

Integrative transcriptomics reveals association of salicylic acid, abscisic acid and lignin pathways with cassava whitefly resistance

Abstract

Outbreaks of superabundant whitefly populations throughout Eastern and Central Africa in recent years have dramatically increased the pressures of whitefly feeding and virus transmission on their host, cassava (Manihot esculenta). Whitefly-transmitted viral diseases threaten the food security of millions of African farmers, evidencing the need for whitefly-resistant cassava lines. However, basic knowledge of the defense programs in cassava is lacking, limiting the characterization of whitefly-resistance mechanisms. Here, we define defense-hormone-responsive and whitefly-responsive transcriptomes in cassava utilizing RNA-sequencing, characterizing the whitefly infestation, salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA), ethylene (ET), and abscisic acid (ABA) responses of whiteflysusceptible (COL2246) and whitefly-resistant (ECU72) cassava genotypes. Strikingly, we found that SA responses are largely reciprocal between ECU72 and COL2246, and we suggest several known regulators of crosstalk between the SA and other hormone pathways (WRKY70, NPR1 and GRX480) as candidate regulators. An association of SA with COL2246's susceptibility and ABA with ECU72's resistance to whitefly was evidenced by expression of genes within the SA and ABA pathways and SA and ABA levels during infestation, which additionally showed evidence of SA-ABA antagonism in ECU72. Gene enrichment analyses of whitefly- and hormone-responsive genes additionally suggest the importance of fast-enacted, non-hormone regulated cell wall defenses (e.g., elicitor recognition, lignin biosynthesis) during egg deposition and early nymph stages in ECU72.

Instead, COL2246 mounted a surge in ineffective immune and SA responses in response to late-stage nymphs. Additionally, in comparison with the commonly referenced model, Arabidopsis, cassava's hormone-responsive genes showed striking divergence in expression, demonstrating that defense programs in Arabidopsis may not always mirror those in crop species. Our results shed light on possible mechanisms whitefly resistance in cassava and more broadly provide a baseline for characterizing the resistance responses of cassava to other yield-limiting pathogens and pests.

Introduction

The tropical tuber crop cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) is a starchy staple grown in over 100 countries that feeds 800 million people worldwide (FAO, 2019). Smallholder sub-Saharan African farmers grow cassava as an inexpensive source of calories that is resilient to drought, poor soils and a changing climate (Jarvis et al., 2012, Manyong, 2000). However, in the 1990's, superabundant whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*) populations devastated cassava yields in Africa (Hillocks et al., 2001, Macfadyen et al., 2018). As phloem-feeders, whiteflies deplete photosynthates thereby slowing cassava growth and root production and deposit their sugar-rich honeydew that supports sooty mold infection (Byrne, 1991). Most damaging, whiteflies transmit viral diseases that have increased in severity and range within Africa due to whitefly superabundance (Alicai et al., 2007, Legg et al., 2014, Macfadyen et al., 2018, Seal, 2006). As a practical control strategy, the development of whitefly- and virus-resistant cassava is highly promising (Ally et al., 2019). To date, whitefly resistance in cassava has primarily been studied in South American varieties identified through mass screening against the South American whitefly *Aleurotrachelus*
socialis (Bellotti and Arias, 2001). Similar to *B. tabaci, A. socialis* feeding has been shown to significantly reduce yields, by as much as 60-80%, in South American cassava fields (Bellotti, 1983, Gold et al., 1991). Among identified varieties, the Ecuadorian genotype ECU72 possesses robust resistance to five species of whitefly (*A. socialis, Bemisia tuberculata* and three species within the *B. tabaci* species complex (SSA1-SG1, SSA1-SG2 and SSA1-SG3) (Atim, 2021)), causing death of immature whiteflies before they can emerge as adults (Barilli, 2019, Omongo et al., 2012, Bellotti and Arias, 2001). To achieve food security for affected farmers, a better understanding of the genetic basis of this resistance is needed to enable breeding of the whitefly resistance traits into the cassava of sub-Saharan Africa.

At the genetic/molecular level, plant defense against biotic stressors follows a primary and secondary immune response (Jones and Dangl, 2006, Lolle et al., 2020). In the primary response, generic molecular signatures derived from pathogens (pathogenassociated molecular patterns, PAMPs), insect herbivores (herbivore-associated molecular patterns, HAMPs), or from 'debris' from damaged host cells (damageassociated molecular patterns, DAMPs) are recognized by extracellular receptors known as pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) (Duran-Flores and Heil, 2016, Kanyuka and Rudd, 2019). This recognition event, termed PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI), activates an intracellular signaling cascade, regulating defense genes and prompting a defense response. When the attacker is well-adapted to its host, it secretes small molecules known as effectors to suppress PTI responses to promote colonization. However, well-adapted hosts possess cognate resistance genes capable of recognizing their attacker's effectors to trigger a secondary immune response termed effector-triggered immunity (ETI). ETI is an amplified PTI response resulting in resistance to the attacker (Jones and Dangl, 2006,

Alhoraibi et al., 2019). Resistance involves slowing or stopping the spread of the attacker, which sometimes occurs through a form of programmed cell death (PCD), known as the hypersensitive response (HR) (Hofius et al., 2007).

The defense signals involved in such immune responses are numerous and can be associated with specific attacker types. Generally, biotrophs (e.g. bacteria, viruses, some fungi), which feed without killing host cells, elicit salicylic acid (SA)-dependent responses, that effectively control these pathogens. In contrast, necrotrophs (e.g. pathogens or fungi that inflict wounding), which kill host cells to feed on dead tissue, elicit jasmonic acid (JA)-regulated defense responses for control (Glazebrook, 2005b). While SA and JA are the two major plant defense hormones, ET and ABA have also emerged as critical defense signals (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011). Other defense signals include reactive oxygen species (ROS), Ca²⁺, extracellular ATP (eATP), small peptides, and lipids. Oftentimes interaction among multiple defense hormones and/or signals is necessary for successful orchestration of a defense response (Gust et al., 2017, Noctor et al., 2018, Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011).

Defense-signaling pathways that have been elucidated via studies of microbial pathogens and defense-hormone treatments also play an important role in plant resistance to insect herbivores (Howe and Jander, 2008). Insect resistance is broadly categorized as antibiotic or antixenotic. Antibiosis delays insect development or promotes mortality via toxins or antifeedants, while antixenosis deters insect settling via volatiles, physical structures or repellant phytochemicals (Walling, 2000, Smith and Chuang, 2014). While whiteflies affect the yields of numerous crops (Alon et al., 2012), moderate resistance has only been identified in a few crops or their wild relatives (Broekgaarden et

al., 2018, Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Cruz et al., 2014, Hondelmann et al., 2020, Khan, 2018, Li et al., 2016b, Walker and Natwick, 2006, Walling and Thompson, 2012). Strong, fastacting resistance to specific to whiteflies has only been identified in cassava, alfalfa and Brassica species (Nebreda et al., 2005, Bellotti and Arias, 2001, Jiang et al., 2003, Teuber et al., 1996). To date, molecular mechanisms underlying resistance remain largely uncharacterized (Walling and Thompson, 2012).

Previous studies characterizing whitefly responses have provided some insight on the plant-defense signals elicited during infestation (Foyer et al., 2015, Walling and Thompson, 2012). In whitefly-resistant lines of tomato, Medicago truncatula, cotton, and cabbage, SA, JA, JA/ET and ABA responses, respectively, are primarily elicited by whiteflies (Rodriguez-Alvarez et al., 2015, Gao et al., 2007, Li et al., 2016b, Broekgaarden et al., 2018). Resistance to whiteflies is enhanced in JA-overexpressing Arabidopsis (Zarate et al., 2007), JA-overexpressing tomato (Sun et al., 2017) and JA- and/or ABAtreated eggplant and tomato (Esmaeily et al., 2020, Esmaeily et al., 2021). Furthermore, whitefly infestation of whitefly-susceptible lima bean and tobacco resulted in increased SA levels (Zhang et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2015a) and increased SA and JA/ET signaling in pepper (Park and Ryu, 2014). ROS may also act as signals in plant defense against whiteflies as the resistant responses of cassava, eggplant and pepper include increased activity of antioxidative enzymes (Esmaeily et al., 2020, Mwila et al., 2017, Wu et al., 2019). Heightened activity of such enzymes during infestation has also been observed in whitefly-susceptible cabbage and cassava (Antony and Palaniswami, 2006, Zhang et al., 2013b).

Secondary metabolites, such as phenolic compounds, volatile terpenoids and acyl sugars, are commonly involved in plant responses to whiteflies (Wang et al., 2017). Phenolic compounds increase in abundance in whitefly-susceptible tobacco during infestation (Zhang et al., 2017) and are associated with JA/ABA-induced resistance in eggplant (Esmaeily et al., 2020). Phenolics vary in abundance among whitefly-resistant and -susceptible cassava lines (Mwila et al., 2018) and are associated with resistance to whitefly in cashew and tomato (Goiana et al., 2020, Yao et al., 2019). Volatile terpenoids emitted by wild tomato or tobacco have been shown to provide whitefly resistance (Bleeker et al., 2009, Luan et al., 2013), and to attract parasitoids to whitefly-infested Arabidopsis (Zhang et al., 2013a). Acyl sugars and methyl ketones found in glandular trichome exudates also provide whitefly resistance in wild tomato and backcrossed tomato lines (Escobar-Bravo et al., 2016, Muigai et al., 2002, Walling and Thompson, 2012).

Prior genome-wide studies in cassava have begun to unravel the cassava-whitefly interaction at the molecular level (Irigoyen et al., 2020, Perez-Fons et al., 2019). Our previous analysis of *Pathogenesis-related* (*PR*) genes in the whitefly-responsive transcriptomes of four susceptible cassava genotypes suggested that *PR* genes involved in cell wall processes are involved in defense against whiteflies, and that most whitefly-regulated *PR* genes were coordinately regulated by SA and JA (Irigoyen et al., 2020). The metabolic profiles of whitefly-resistant ECU72 and whitefly-susceptible COL2246 during whitefly infestation were determined by Perez-Fons et al. (2019). In this study, ECU72's whitefly resistance was suggested to be constitutive and involved cell wall reinforcement evidenced by differential abundance of cell wall-related phenolic metabolites (Perez-Fons et al., 2019).

To obtain a global understanding of cassava's responses to whiteflies, we define the transcriptomes of whitefly-resistant (ECU72) and whitefly-susceptible (COL2246) cassava genotypes in response to whitefly infestation and treatment with the plant defense hormones SA, JA, ET, and ABA. To compare hormone and infestation responses in ECU72 and COL2246, we assessed response timing and amplitude, and used clustering and enrichment analyses to identify processes associated with differential responses between genotypes. In order to place cassava's hormone responses within a broader context, we compared cassava and Arabidopsis hormone-responsive transcriptomes with a focus on defense-hormone pathway genes. Whitefly- and hormone-responsive gene sets were integrated for identification of differential responses between genotypes during whitefly and hormone treatments. Further enrichment analyses of such gene sets were used to identify processes in the resistant or susceptible response to whitefly associated with hormone regulation.

Together, our integrative transcriptomics approach identified genotype differences in global SA programming and gene responsiveness to whitefly in the SA and ABA pathways, supported by metabolomics quantification of differences in SA and ABA levels during infestation. Observed enrichment of lignin biosynthetic genes induced in whitefly-resistant ECU72 versus SA pathway genes induced in whitefly-susceptible COL2246 additionally suggests such processes may be important in the whitefly resistance and susceptibility mechanisms of these cassava genotypes, respectively.

Results

ECU72 is primed for a fast, considerable transcript-level response to SA

To define the defense hormone-responsive transcriptomes of cassava, we profiled the response of cassava genotypes ECU72 (whitefly-resistant) and COL2246 (whitefly-susceptible) to the defense hormones SA, JA, ET, and ABA at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 h post treatment (hpt) (Figure 2.1). Treatment experiments and RNA extractions were performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux at CIAT. DEGs identified by temporal comparisons within a genotype ("temporal" DEGs) were identified (Figure 2.1a). The magnitude of transcriptome responses varied substantially, ranging from 4,727 DEGs in ECU72's SA response to 8,071 DEGs in COL2246's JA response. For each treatment, the number of DEGs elicited was higher in COL2246 than in ECU72 (Figure 2.1b-c; Table S2.1), but the timing of responses was similar after JA, ET or ABA treatments (Figure 2.1; Table S2.2).

In contrast, ECU72 and COL2246 had distinct temporal responses to SA treatments (Figure 2.1b-c; Table S2.2). Similar to its response to other hormones, COL2246's response to SA was depicted by a small number of DEGs at 0.5 hpt, a steady rise in DEGs peaking at 8-12 hpt and a sharp decline in DEGs by 24 hpt. In contrast, ECU72 had a swift transcriptome response to SA at 0.5 and 1 hpt; for example, by 0.5 hpt ECU72 had 5.2 to 75.3-fold more up- and down-regulated DEGs than COL2246 (Table S2.2). ECU72's DEG count rose until a sharp drop at 8 hpt, which was followed by a robust response at 12 hpt, which continued to 24 hpt when there were 34- and 69-fold more up- and down-regulated genes in ECU72, respectively (Figure 2.1b,c; Table S2.2).

ECU72 and COL2246 transcriptomes were also compared at each time point after hormone treatments to identify "genotype" DEGs (Figure 2.1d; Table S2.2). While the overall magnitude of JA- (6,779 DEGs), ET- (4,088 DEGs) and ABA- (4,312 DEGs) responsive genotype DEGs was variable, their temporal profiles were similar; each elicited similar numbers of up- and down-regulated DEGs at each time point. Additionally, at each time the number of downregulated DEGs exceeded the number of upregulated DEGs (Figure 2.1d; Tables S2.1 and S2.2). In contrast, SA provoked a larger transcriptome response with 10,299 genotype DEGs and unique regulatory and timing trends. At all time points, similar numbers of up- and down-regulated genotype DEGs were elicited in ECU72. Unlike JA, ABA and ET, large numbers of genotype DEGs were identified at 0.5 to 1 hpt and from 4 to 12 hpt (Figure 2.1d; Table S2.2).



Figure 2.1. Transcriptome profiles of ECU72 and COL2246 DEGs in response to SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments.

(a) Visual definition of temporal and genotype DEGs. Temporal DEGs were identified by comparisons of each time point to 0 hpt. Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of ECU72 and COL2246 at each time point.

(b-c) Temporal DEG counts in ECU72 and COL 2246 during SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 hpt). Early activation and prolonged expression genes of SA-regulated genes was seen in ECU72.

(d) Genotype DEG counts in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments. The magnitude of SA-responsive genotype DEGs varied temporally, whereas other genotype response differences to other hormones remained stable over time.

Treatment experiments and RNA extractions were performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux at CIAT. DEG expression values are provided in Table S2.1. Number of up- and down-regulated genes (red and blue, respectively) are displayed and total number of DEGs at each timepoint are provided. DEGs had $|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$.

(e-h) Heatmaps displaying genotype DEGs in ECU72 and COL2246 in response to SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments. Genotypes responded similarly to JA, ET and ABA but reciprocally to SA treatments. Expression is displayed as log_2FC values comparing 0 hour post treatment (hpt) to 0.5-24 hpt. Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 during treatments and had $|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$.

To further elucidate the timing of transcriptome changes, principal component analyses (PCAs) were performed with genes detected in SA, JA, ET, and ABA time courses (Figure 2.2). Clear separation of genotype responses to SA and ET along PC2 (25-31%) was observed; a similar separation along PC2 (24%) is seen in ABA responses, although with less distinct grouping of genotypes due to replicate variability in COL2246. In contrast, genotype responses to JA were resolved along PC1 (41%). Temporally, early (0.5 - 2 hpt) and late (4 - 12 hpt) time points were clustered in both genotypes in response to JA, ET and ABA. Notably, for these treatments, 24-h samples clustered with early time points. The PCA analyses also revealed a marked shift in timing between genotypes in response to SA (Figure 2.2). In COL2246, the late SA response began at 4 h, continued until 12 h, and returned to a basal state at 24 h. In contrast, ECU72's late SA response initiated earlier and was more prolonged, beginning at 2 h and continuing to 24 h. Finally, there was a reciprocity in the ECU72 and COL2246 responses to SA. For example, the early ECU72 samples (0-1 hpt) were most similar the late SA response of COL2246 (4 – 12 hpt) and vice versa (Figure 2.2a).



Figure 2.2. Hormone response timing in whitefly-resistant (ECU72) and - susceptible (COL2246) cassava.

(a-d) PCAs of detected gene expression prior to and after SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, 24 hpt) in ECU72 and COL2246. Clustering of time points defined early and late response phases of responses to treatments. In JA, ET and ABA treatments of ECU72 and COL2246, early (0.5-2 hpt) and late (4-12 hpt) responses had similar timing. In contrast, SA responses in ECU72 and COL2246 were dissimilar. COL2246 early and late SA phases were similar to responses to JA, ET and ABA (0.5-2 hpt and 4-12 hpt, respectively). In ECU72 the early phase was shorter (0.5-1 hpt) and late phase prolonged (2-24 hpt). Detected genes were defined as having an average of 20 reads or more across a hormone-treatment time course. Read count values for three biological replicates are shown per time point. Time points and genotypes are labeled by color and shape, respectively.

Transcriptome responses of ECU72 and COL2246 to SA are largely reciprocal

The temporal patterns of genotype DEG expression in ECU72 and COL2246 following SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments were visualized using heatmaps (Figure 2.1; Table S2.1). Most strikingly, after SA treatments, most genotype DEGs were reciprocally regulated (Figure 2.1e). In contrast, most genes responding to JA, ET and ABA treatments had similar positive or negative expression trends in each genotype (Figure 2.3f-h); although some notable differences were observed (Figure 2.3f-h).



Figure 2.3. Comparison of Arabidopsis and cassava hormone responses.

(a-d) Venn diagrams and heatmaps comparing temporal DEGs in Arabidopsis and cassava (COL2246 and ECU72) identified during SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments, respectively. Less than 40% of Arabidopsis DEGs had similar hormone responses with cassava. There are substantial differences in the regulatory programs of these DEGs in Arabidopsis, ECU72 and/or COL2246.

Arabidopsis SA and JA DEGs were identified in this study. Arabidopsis ET DEGs at 0.5, 1 and 3 hpt were retrieved from Goda et al. (2008) and 24 hpt from Schenk et al. (2000). ABA DEGs at 0.5, 1 and 3 hpt were from Goda et al. (2008) and 6 and 24 hpt were reported by Huang et al. (2007). Expression is displayed as log₂FC values comparing 0 hpt to 0.5-24 hpt. Cassava temporal DEGs for all hormone treatments and Arabidopsis SA and JA treatments were identified by comparisons of 0 hpt to 0.5-24 hpt samples and had $|log_2FC|$ \geq 1 and FDR \leq 5%. To further elucidate genotypic differences among the four hormone responses, Pearson correlation analyses were used to compare early- and late-phase treatment DEG expression (Figure 2.4; Table S2.3). Notably, the late SA response of ECU72 had a moderate to very strong negative correlation with early and late phases of all other hormone responses (Figure 2.2e). The early SA response of ECU72 on the other hand displayed a moderate positive correlation with late but not early JA, ET and ABA responses. All other hormone responses of ECU72 (early and late JA, ET and ABA), as well as all hormone responses in COL2246 (early and late SA, JA, ET, and ABA), displayed weak to very strong positive correlation with one another (Figure 2.4; Table 2.S3).



Figure 2.4. Correlation of SA, JA, ET, and ABA responses in ECU72 and COL2246.

(a, b) A correlation matrix of early and late SA, JA, ET, and ABA responses in ECU72 (a) and COL2246 (b). Early and late responses to JA, ET and ABA corresponded to times 0.5-2 hpt and 4-12 hpt in ECU72 and COL2246; a similar temporal program was seen in response to SA in COL2246. In contrast, the timing of ECU72's SA response was different with the early phase spanning 0.5-1 hpt and late phase spanning 2-24 hpt. Response phases were defined in Figure 2.1. ECU72's late response to SA was negatively correlated with all other hormone treatments. In contrast, COL2246's hormone responses were positively correlated with all other hormone responses. Correlation values are based on average log₂FC values of ECU72's and COL2246's temporal DEGs and are shaded according to the scale of R-values provided in (b). Nonsignificant correlation values (p>0.05) are not shaded. R- and p-values are provided in Table S2.3. To uncover the biological processes associated with reciprocal SA responses between the genotypes, clustering and functional enrichment analyses were performed. Genotype DEGs during SA treatments were grouped into k-means clusters. RPKM means and categories of enriched GO terms are displayed in order of the significance of their enrichment. (Figures 2.5-2.8; Tables S2.1 and S2.4). Two temporal expression programs in response to SA were observed in ECU72. Cluster 1 and Cluster 2 genes peaked after 2 h, while COL2246 responses were reciprocal. These clusters were enriched for GO term categories including ion transport, response to stimulus and phenylpropanoid metabolic process. In contrast, Cluster 3, Cluster 4 and Cluster 5 genes were expressed at higher levels from 0-1 hpt in ECU72 and then declined. Again, the opposite regulatory program was observed in COL2246. Genes in Clusters 3 to 5 were involved in processes like polysaccharide, nucleic acid and glucosinolate metabolism, auxin signaling, and immune system processes. Higher overall transcript levels were associated with the smaller Clusters 1 and 3 as opposed to the larger clusters (Figure 2.5; Table S2.4).



Figure 2.5. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatment.

K-means expression clusters of genotype DEGs in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatment. Clusters display reciprocity of ECU72 and COL2246 responses, as well as the temporal trends of DEGs within clusters and their association with several GO terms related to stress/defense responses. Categories of significantly enriched ($p \le 0.05$) GO terms ranked by p-value are provided for each of the five clusters (Table S2.4). Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatments and had $|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$. Boxplot whiskers represent values within 1.5 x IQR, and box values represent the first quartile, median, and third quartile values. Outliers (points beyond whiskers) are not displayed. Lines display mean RPKM values at 0 to 24 hpt.

In contrast to the reciprocity of responses to SA in ECU72 versus COL2246, JA, ET and ABA treatments had similar temporal responses between genotypes. Gene clusters with similar trends in expression between genotypes were enriched for many defense-related terms, including JA Clusters 1 and 2 (response to JA/SA, response to wounding/fungus/insect), ET Cluster 2 (response to fungus) and ABA Cluster 4 (cell death, immune system process, response to stimulus) (Figures 2.6-2.8). Divergent genotype responses were however observed in ET Cluster 5 and ABA Cluster 3. Genes in these clusters were more highly expressed in COL2246 constitutively, but markedly declined following infestation, and were induced at 0.5 hpt before declining in ECU72. Such genes were enriched for terms such as response to mechanical stimulus and cell wall organization/modification (Figures 2.7 and 2.8).



Figure 2.6. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during JA treatment.

K-means expression clusters of genotype DEGs in ECU72 versus COL2246 during JA treatment. Clusters display trends in the timing and magnitude of JA responses and association with several GO terms related to stress/defense responses. Categories of significantly enriched GO terms ($p \le 0.05$) ranked by p-value are provided for each of the five clusters (Table S2.4). Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatments and had $|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$. Boxplot whiskers represent values within 1.5 x IQR, and box values represent the first quartile, median, and third quartile values. Outliers (points beyond whiskers) are not displayed. Lines display mean RPKM values of genes at each time point.





Figure 2.7. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatment.

K-means expression clusters of genotype DEGs in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatment. Clusters display reciprocity of ECU72 and COL2246 responses, as well as the temporal trends of DEGs within clusters and their association with several GO terms related to stress/defense responses. Categories of significantly enriched ($p \le 0.05$) GO terms ranked by p-value are provided for each of the five clusters (Table S2.4). Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatments and had $|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$. Boxplot whiskers represent values within 1.5 x IQR, and box values represent the first quartile, median, and third quartile values. Outliers (points beyond whiskers) are not displayed. Lines display mean RPKM values at 0 to 24 hpt.



Hours post treatment (hpt)

- process
- 9. ion transport
- 10. cellular component macromolecule biosynthetic process
- 11. auxin metabolic process 12. cell wall polysaccharide metabolic process
- 13. indole-containing compound metabolic process
- 14. response to stimulus
- 15. aromatic compound
- biosynthetic process 16. regulation of hormone levels

Figure 2.8. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during JA treatment.

K-means expression clusters of genotype DEGs in ECU72 versus COL2246 during JA treatment. Clusters display trends in the timing and magnitude of JA responses and association with several GO terms related to stress/defense responses. Categories of significantly enriched GO terms ($p \le 0.05$) ranked by p-value are provided for each of the five clusters (Table S2.4). Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatments and had $|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$. Boxplot whiskers represent values within 1.5 x IQR, and box values represent the first quartile, median, and third quartile values. Outliers (points beyond whiskers) are not displayed. Lines display mean RPKM values of genes at each time point.

Cassava's hormone responses are divergent from those of Arabidopsis

The unanticipated reciprocity in the SA-regulated DEGs for ECU72 and COL2246 suggested a major transcriptome reprogramming in these genotypes. To place cassava's hormone responses within the context of hormone responses from a well-characterized model plant, the SA- and JA-dependent transcriptomes of cassava were compared to those of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Previous microarray or RNA-seq studies profiling SA and JA responses in Arabidopsis utilized various hormone concentrations and plants of different ages, resulting in marked differences in DEGs identified in each study (Figure 2.9a,b; Table S2.5) (Hickman et al., 2017, Pauwels et al., 2008, Sawant et al., 2009, Singh et al., 2015, Thibaud-Nissen et al., 2006, Yang et al., 2017). Therefore, RNA-seq analyses of SA- and JA- treatment time courses (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 hpt) in Arabidopsis were performed for comparison to cassava time-course data (Table S2.6). We identified 7,654 and 6,136 SA and JA temporal DEGs in Arabidopsis, respectively, and 21% and 41% of these DEGs were identified in one or more previous Arabidopsis SA- or JA-treatment transcriptome studies (Figure 2.9c,d).



Figure 2.9. Overlap of SA and JA temporal DEGs identified by this and external studies.

(a-b) Venn diagrams comparing SA- and JA-responsive DEGs, respectively, identified by previous studies that used plants of different ages and different hormone concentrations (Hickman et al., 2017, Pauwels et al., 2008, Sawant et al., 2009, Singh et al., 2015, Thibaud-Nissen et al., 2006, Yang et al., 2017). A surprisingly small number of DEGs were identified by all SA or JA studies.

(c-d) Venn diagrams comparing Arabidopsis SA- and JA-responsive DEGs, respectively, identified by this and previous studies. DEGs identified in our study and by other studies are shaded in grey.

As we performed Arabidopsis and cassava SA and JA treatments with similar experimental designs, the timing of Arabidopsis SA- and JA-dependent transcriptome responses were compared using PCA analyses (Figures 2.2 and 2.10). In response to SA, Arabidopsis and COL2246 exhibited similar temporal phases; early (0.5 to 2 hpt), 0-hpt and 24-hpt samples grouped together and distinctly from late time point samples (4-12 hpt). In addition, similar JA expression phases were observed in Arabidopsis and both cassava genotypes. However, more variability among biological replicates was observed in Arabidopsis. In particular, much of this variation was observed 1 and 2 h after SA treatment and 1 and 4 h after JA treatment, suggesting that these may be times of active transcriptome reprogramming in Arabidopsis (Figures 2.2 and 2.10).



Figure 2.10. PCA analyses of the timing of SA and JA responses in Arabidopsis.

(a-b) PCA analyses were used to examine the temporal responses of Arabidopsis to SA (a) and JA (b) treatments. Timing of Arabidopsis's early (0.5-2 hpt) and late (4-12 hpt) SA response phases was more distinct while JA samples showed more variability and less distinct grouping. Based on the clustering of 0 and 24 hpt samples, Arabidopsis SA and JA responses returned to the basal state (0 hpt) at 24 hpt.

Detected genes were defined as having an average of 20 reads or more across a hormone treatment time course. Read count values for three biological replicates are shown per time point. Time points and genotypes are labeled by color and shape, respectively.

Comparison of number of temporal DEGs in Arabidopsis versus cassava also revealed faster SA and JA responses in Arabidopsis (Tables S2.2 and S2.6). In response to SA and JA, Arabidopsis elicited 1,610 and 2,210 DEGs by 0.5 hpt, respectively; whereas, in cassava SA and JA temporal DEGs did not increase to these levels until 1 to 2 hpt (Figures 2.1 and 2.11). Finally, the SA responses of both species and the JA response of both cassava genotypes peaked at about 1,000 to 2,000 up- and down-regulated DEGs by 8 or 12 hpt (Figures 2.1 and 2.11). This is in marked contrast with Arabidopsis' transcriptome response to JA, where the numbers of up- and down-regulated DEGs hovered around 1,000 from 0.5 to 12 hpt and then declined at 24 hpt (Figure 2.11; Table S2.2).



Figure 2.11. Temporal DEG during SA and JA treatments of Arabidopsis.

Arabidopsis temporal DEG during SA and JA treatments are shown. The magnitude and timing of DEG expression programs in response to SA and JA are distinct. The largest number of DEGs in response to SA was detected at 12 hpt, while the response to JA engages a similar number of genes at all time points, with a decline at 24 h (see Table S2.2). Number of up- and down-regulated genes are displayed in red and blue, respectively. Treatment DEGs were identified by comparisons of 0 hpt and 0.5-24 hpt and had $|\log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$.

To compare expression of temporal DEGs expressed in both species, heatmaps were used to display SA, JA, ET, and ABA-responsive DEGs in Arabidopsis and both cassava genotypes (Figure 2.3). Previous microarray studies documenting the response of Arabidopsis to ET (0.5, 1, 3, and 24 hpt) (Goda et al., 2008, Schenk et al., 2000) and ABA (0.5, 1, 3, 6, and 24 hpt) (Goda et al., 2008, Huang et al., 2007) were used to identify ET (2,352 genes) and ABA (4,439 genes) temporal DEGs (Figure 2.3 and Table S2.7). Among the four hormones, differences in the SA response between the species/genotypes were most striking. Of the 2,736 genes regulated by SA in both cassava genotypes, only

50% (1,361 genes) were also SA-regulated in Arabidopsis (Figure 2.3). For such genes, reciprocity in gene expression was clearly seen between ECU72 and COL2246. Furthermore, Arabidopsis' SA-regulatory programs did not align exclusively with one cassava genotype. For example, among Arabidopsis SA-upregulated DEGs, approximately one-third displayed similar trends in ECU72, while the other two-thirds had similarity with COL2246. Additionally, while Arabidopsis and COL2246 SA-responsive DEGs exhibited generally either positive or negative regulation, the same genes often had more complex regulation in ECU72 (Figure 2.3). For temporal DEGs identified in both ECU72 and COL2246 during JA (4,269 genes), ET (3,366 genes) or ABA (3,118 genes) treatments, 39%, 6% and 22% were also regulated by the corresponding hormone treatment in Arabidopsis (Figure 2.3). Although these genes were similarly regulated in the two cassava genotypes, similar to SA, there were substantial differences in their patterns of expression of between Arabidopsis and cassava (Figure 2.3).

Given the marked differences in the transcriptome responses of Arabidopsis and cassava to these defense hormones, we compared the numbers and expression programs of genes central to SA, JA, ET, and ABA accumulation and perception in the two species (Figures 2.12-2.15; Table S2.9). To this end, 154 Arabidopsis genes involved in defense hormone biosynthesis, modification, transport, or signaling/response were identified from the literature (Finkelstein, 2013, Seyfferth and Tsuda, 2014, Stepanova and Alonso, 2009, Wasternack and Strnad, 2016). Cassava orthologs to these genes were identified using the online program eggNOG (Huerta-Cepas et al., 2017, Huerta-Cepas et al., 2019) (Tables S2.8 and S2.10). Sixty-seven of these core Arabidopsis defense-hormone pathway genes had more than one ortholog in cassava, while only six genes had fewer orthologs in cassava (Table S2.8).

Notably among SA biosynthesis genes, cassava possessed only one ICS gene (MeICS1), which was equally related to AtICS1 and AtICS2, and five genes related to AtPAL1 and AtPAL2 (MePAL1a-e) (Figure 2.12; Tables S2.8 and S2.10). Although it remains unknown, observed gene responsiveness to SA suggests that PAL and not ICS genes are predominantly important for SA biosynthesis in the defense response of cassava. AtICS1 was strongly induced by SA within 8 hpt, whereas MeICS1 weakly responded to SA. Three of the *MePAL1* genes had different expression programs in the two cassava genotypes. While AtPAL1 and AtPAL2 and MePAL1a-c and MePAL1e were repressed in Arabidopsis and COL2246, respectively, these MePAL genes were induced in ECU72 following 2 h of SA treatment. Another notable difference between these species is that three key genes involved in regulating SA biosynthesis in Arabidopsis (AtCBP60g, AtEPS1 and AtPBS3) were not identified in cassava (Dempsey et al., 2011). Finally, 15 of the 20 Arabidopsis SA-signaling/response genes were positively regulated following SA treatment. In contrast, the cassava orthologs were not regulated in a coordinate fashion by SA (Figure 2.12). Many of these and other SA-pathway genes (i.e. MeSMTb-c, MeGRX480a, MeNPR1, MeSARD1a, MeTGA2a-c, MeTGA8a, MeWRKY70a-b, and MeEDS5a-c) displayed opposite expression trends in ECU72 versus COL2246 (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.12. SA-pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and two cassava genotypes.

Genes involved in SA biosynthesis, modification, and transport and in transducing or responding to SA (signaling) were identified from the literature and cassava orthologs identified. Expression of SA-pathway genes are presented as log₂FC values during SA treatment in Arabidopsis, ECU72 and COL2246. Cassava genes show varying expression trends in response to SA as compared to Arabidopsis. Several genes show reciprocal SA regulation between cassava genotypes. Biosynthetic genes are ordered by their approximate step in the pathway, while other pathway genes are ordered alphabetically. To enable identification of orthologous genes in Arabidopsis and cassava, orthologous genes in each category are denoted by box color.
In response to JA, the biosynthesis, modification and signaling/response genes of Arabidopsis and cassava had more similar responses (Figure 2.13). A striking distinction between these species was the regulation of *LOX2* and *VSP* orthologs. The single-copy JA biosynthetic gene *AtLOX2*, with established roles in JA biosynthesis (Wasternack, 2014), had eight orthologs with variable expression programs in cassava (Table S2.8). While *AtLOX2* and *MeLOX2a* are strongly induced by JA, *MeLOX2c-h* are repressed in one or both cassava genotypes; with *MeLOX2f-h* displaying a genotype-dependent response. Like *AtLOX2*, the JA-response genes *AtVSP1* and *AtVSP2* are strongly induced by JA, while their ortholog *MeVSP1* shows no or a minimal response to JA treatments in both cassava genotypes (Figure 2.13).



Figure 2.13. JA-pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and in two cassava genotypes.

Genes involved in JA biosynthesis, modification, and transport and in transducing or responding to JA (signaling) were identified from the literature and cassava orthologs identified. Expression of JA-pathway genes are presented as log₂FC values during JA treatment in Arabidopsis, ECU72 and COL2246. Cassava and Arabidopsis genes generally have similar expression trends in response to JA.. Biosynthetic genes are ordered by their approximate step in the pathway, while other pathway genes are ordered alphabetically. Orthologous genes are denoted by box color.

To compare the Arabidopsis and cassava ET biosynthesis, modification and signaling/response pathways, ET data sets were extracted from the literature (Goda et al., 2008) (Table S2.7). Heatmaps revealed that the expression programs of ET-pathway genes were substantially different between the two species (Figure 2.14). For example, six Arabidopsis ACS genes involved in ET biosynthesis were responsive to ET; in sharp contrast, with one exception the cassava ACS orthologs were not regulated by ET; only MeACS6b was ET responsive and it was negatively regulated similar to AtACS6 (Figure 2.14). The ET-biosynthetic ACO gene family was expanded in cassava with AtACO1, 4 and 5 having one, three and two orthologs in cassava, respectively. Of these only AtACO4 and cassava's MeACO4a-c genes had similar expression trends at early response times. Divergent expression was also observed among ET-signaling/response genes expanded in cassava. The single-copy Arabidopsis genes AtCTR1, AtERF1, AtETR1, and AtPR3 had four, four, three, and fifteen orthologs (Figure 2.14) (Irigoyen et al., 2020) in cassava, respectively, and these genes had varied ET responses between the species. Among these genes, the majority responded similarly in the cassava whitefly-resistant and susceptible genotypes, however six genes (MeCTR1d, MeERF1a, MeERF1c, MeETR1a, *MeETR1c*, and *MePR3o*) displayed more complex expression patterns in ECU72 versus predominant repression or induction in COL2246 (Figure 2.14; Table S2.8).



Figure 2.14. ET pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and in two cassava genotypes.

Genes involved in ET biosynthesis and in transducing or responding to ET (signaling) were identified from the literature and cassava orthologs identified. Expression of ET-pathway genes are presented as log₂FC values during ET treatment in Arabidopsis, ECU72 and COL2246. Cassava genes show varying expression trends in response to ET as compared to Arabidopsis. Biosynthetic genes are ordered by their approximate step in the pathway, while other pathway genes are ordered alphabetically. Orthologous genes in Arabidopsis and cassava are denoted by box color. Expression values for Arabidopsis genes were obtained from the Goda et al 2008 study.

While 56 ABA-pathway genes were identified in Arabidopsis, there were significant expansions in genes associated with ABA-signaling/response (eg., *OST1*, *PYLs*, *ANAC83*) and transport (*ABCG40* and *AIT*) in cassava (Table S2.8). For example, *AtOST1* had five cassava orthologs and was undetected in Arabidopsis but induced in cassava during ABA treatment (Figure 2.15; Table S2.8). Additionally, ABA transporters (*ABCG25*, *ABCG40* and *AIT*) had two-to-eight orthologs in cassava showing divergent expression trends between species. Expression programs of cassava and Arabidopsis orthologs after ABA treatments were revealed in heatmaps (Figure 2.15). ABA-pathway gene expression programs, established by Goda et al. (2008), showed induction of most Arabidopsis genes (excluding four *AtPYL* genes) after ABA treatments or no ABA response from 0.5 to 3 hpt. Cassava's ABA-pathway gene expression programs diverged substantially from Arabidopsis, such as *MePDS*, *MeNCED3a*, *MeNCED3b*, *CYP707A1a*, and *CYP707A1b*, which were oppositely expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 (Figure 2.15).



Figure 2.15. ABA-pathway gene expression in Arabidopsis and in two cassava genotypes.

Genes involved in ABA biosynthesis, modifications, signaling, and were identified from the literature and cassava orthologs identified. Expression of ABA-pathway genes are presented as log₂FC values during ABA treatment in Arabidopsis, ECU72 and COL2246. Cassava genes show varying expression trends in response to ABA as compared to Arabidopsis. Biosynthetic genes are ordered by their approximate step in the pathway, while other pathway genes are ordered alphabetically. Orthologous genes in Arabidopsis and cassava are denoted by box color. Expression values for Arabidopsis were obtained from the Goda et al 2008 study.

Genotypic differences in the whitefly-infestation responses of ECU72 vs COL2246

To define cassava's response to whiteflies, we analyzed the transcriptomes of whitefly-resistant ECU72 and whitefly-susceptible COL2246 in response to infestation by the Latin American whitefly *Aleurotrachelus socialis*. Infestation experiments and RNA extractions were performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux at CIAT. RNA-sequencing of whitefly-infested samples was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen at UCR. During this infestation time course (0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 days post infestation (dpi)), we identified 7,574 and 5,590 temporal DEGs in ECU72 and COL2246, respectively (Figure 2.16; Table S2.1). The temporal responses of these genotypes were distinct. At 1 dpi, when adults are feeding and eggs are being deposited, ECU72 had a limited response while COL2246 had 4- and 61-fold more genes that were up- and down-regulated, respectively (Table S2.2). By 7 dpi, when adults are absent and eggs are present, ECU72's transcriptome response ramped up and reached a similar magnitude as COL2246. However, by 14 to 22 dpi when first to third instar nymphs are feeding, the magnitude of ECU72's response exceeded that of COL2246; for example, ECU72 repressed \geq 2-fold more genes at these later times (Figure 2.16a,b; Table S2.2).

Prior to the onset of nymph feeding at 14 dpi, genotype DEGs revealed that ECU72 and COL2246 had different transcriptomes at 0-1 dpi (adult feeding) (Figure 2.16c). A clear shift from early (1-7 dpi) to late (14-22 dpi) phase infestation was also observed when comparing genotype infestation responses at each time point. The total number of genotype DEGs peaked at 14 dpi. Equivalent numbers of up- and down-regulated genotype DEGs were identified at early times (0, 1 and 7 dpi), while somewhat larger numbers of downregulated genes in ECU72 were identified at 14 and 22 dpi (Figure 2.16c;

Tables S2.1 and S2.2). PCA analyses of the infestation time course further revealed genotype differences. ECU72 displayed a distinct constitutive and early (0-1 dpi) phase and later infestation response phases (7-22 dpi). In contrast, COL2246 had no clear delineation of infestation phases, as well as more variation among replicates at each time point (Figure 2.16d).



Figure 2.16. DEG and PCA analyses of whitefly infestation DEGs in ECU72 and COL2246.

(a-b) Numbers of temporal DEGs in ECU72 and COL2246 during whitefly infestation. Temporal DEGs were identified by comparisons of 0 hpt to 0.5-24 hpt in ECU72 (a) and COL2246 (b). While the magnitude of the COL2246 transcriptome response at 1 dpi surpassed ECU72, by 14-22 dpi more DEGs were identified in ECU72. The numbers of DEGs at each time point are provided in Table S2.2.

(c) Numbers of genotype DEGs in ECU72 versus COL2246 during whitefly infestation. Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of ECU72 and COL2246 at each time point. Total genotype DEG counts peaked between 14 and 22 dpi.

Infestation experiments and RNA extractions were performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux at CIAT. RNA-sequencing of whitefly-infested samples was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen at UCR. Number of up- and down-regulated genes in ECU72 relative to COL2246 are in red and blue, respectively. DEGs had $|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$. The numbers of DEGs at each time point are provided in Table S2.

(d) PCA analyses of detected genes expressed during whitefly infestation (0, 1, 7, 14 and 22 dpi) in ECU72 and COL2246. The genotypes were well separated based on PC2. While PC1 separated ECU72 responses into early and late infestation phases, this phase distinction was not detected in COL2246. Detected genes were defined as having an average of 20 reads or more across a the infestation time course. Read count values for three biological replicates are shown per time point. Time points and genotypes are labeled by color and shape, respectively.

To associate the genotype transcriptome differences with biological processes, kmeans clustering and GO-term enrichment of genotype DEGs was performed (Figure 2.17; Table S2.1). The genes in Cluster 1 and Cluster 2 were expressed at higher levels in ECU72 at 0 and 1 dpi than in COL2246 (Figure 2.17; Table S2.10). For ECU72, the Cluster 1 and 2 gene transcript levels declined across the 22-day infestation and COL2246's Cluster 2 genes followed the same pattern of expression. While Cluster 1 had no enriched GO terms, Cluster 2 was associated with stimulus response and many cell wall- and secondary metabolism-related processes (i.e. cell wall organization or biogenesis, cell wall polysaccharide metabolism, phenylpropanoid metabolism, and flavonoid biosynthesis). Cluster 2 also included genes involved in secondary cell wall formation, cell wall loosening and the production of cell wall elicitors. Unlike genes in Cluster 1, 2, 4 and 5, genes in Cluster 3 had high basal levels of expression (0 dpi) and throughout the time course. In particular, Cluster 3 genes had higher mean RPKM levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 at 14 dpi and were enriched for terms such as ion transport, response to stimulus or hormone and regulation of signaling. In contrast, genes in Cluster 4 and Cluster 5 were more strongly induced at the time of nymph feeding (14-22 dpi) in COL2246 than in ECU72. Such genes were associated with responses to hormone, stimulus, biotic stimulus, and immune responses (Figure 2.17; Table S2.10).



Figure 2.17. Clustering and functional enrichment of genes differentially expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 during whitefly infestation.

K-means expression clusters of genotype DEGs in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatment. Clusters display differences in the timing and magnitude of responses in ECU72 and COL2246 and were associated with GO terms related to stress/defense responses. Categories of significantly enriched GO terms ($p \le 0.05$) ranked by p-value are provided for each of the five clusters (Table S2.10). Genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 during SA treatments and had $|\log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$. Boxplot whiskers represent values within 1.5 x IQR, and box values represent the first quartile, median, and third quartile values. Outliers (points beyond whiskers) are not displayed. Lines displayed mean RPKM values at 0 to 24 hpt. Infestation experiments and RNA extractions were performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux at CIAT. RNA-sequencing of whitefly-infested samples was performed by Dr. Maria Irigoyen at UCR.

qRT-PCR validation of RNA-seq transcript levels

RNA-seq expression values were confirmed using qRT-PCR for hormone-biosynthetic genes *MePAL1c*, *MeLOX3a*, *MeACS6b*, and *MeAAO1c* in cassava genotypes ECU72 and COL2246 following SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments, respectively. In addition, the hormone biosynthesis genes *AtPAL1* and *AtLOX3* were assessed in Arabidopsis following SA and JA treatments, respectively (Figure 2.18a,c). qRT-PCR was also used to confirm the whitefly induction of *MePR-9e* in ECU72 (Figure 2.18b); *MePR-9e* RNAs were previously assessed in COL2246 by Irigoyen et al. (2020). Pearson correlation analysis of the relative expression values for these genes confirmed a significant and very strong positive correlation between transcript levels determined *in silico* and *in vivo* (Figure 2.18d). qRT-PCR validation was performed by Diana Medina-Yerena and Danielle Garceau at UCR.



Figure 2.18. qRT-PCR validation of RNA-seq expression values.

All expression values are normalized to a control gene (*MeUBQ* in cassava, *AtACT7* in Arabidopsis) and are relative to the treatment's 0-h time point. qRT-PCR values are displayed as the average and SE of three biological replicates (bar graph), as well as individual biological replicate values (overlayed points). qRT-PCR validation was performed by Diana Medina-Yerena and Danielle Garceau at UCR.

(a) The *in silico* relative expression values of hormone-biosynthetic genes *MePAL1c*, *MeLOX3a*, *MeACS6b*, and *MeAAO1c* following SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments, respectively, were confirmed in ECU72 and COL2246 at 0.5, 1 and 2 hpt by qRT-PCR. For *MeAAO1c* in COL2246 at 1 hpt, only two biological replicates are provided.

(b) The *in silico* relative expression value of sentinel *PR* gene *MePR-9e* following whitefly infestation in ECU72 was confirmed at 14 and 22 dpi in vivo. Expression of *MePR-9e* in COL2246 was previously determined (Irigoyen et al 2020).

(c) The *in silico* relative expression values of *AtPAL1* and *AtLOX3* following SA and JA treatments, respectively, were confirmed in *Arabidopsis thaliana* at 0.5, 1 and 2 hpt in vivo.

(d) A scatter plot with Pearson correlations demonstrates the relative expression determined by qRT-PCR and RNA-seq show a strong and significant positive correlation for all biological replicates displayed in panels a-c.

Hormone-pathway gene expression during whitefly infestation in ECU72 versus COL2246

To identify associations between cassava's genotype-specific whitefly and hormone responses, we analyzed the expression of SA, JA, ET, and ABA hormone-pathway genes in ECU72 and COL2246 during whitefly infestation and hormone treatments (Figure 2.19). Of the 154 genes highlighted as being involved in SA, JA, ET, or ABA biosynthesis, modification, signaling/response, or transport, 77 were identified as genotype DEGs during whitefly infestation and expression programs were visualized by heatmaps. Clustering by infestation expression trends in ECU72 and COL2246 revealed several associations between whitefly and hormone responses. In Cluster 1, 32 genes were induced in both genotypes during infestation, many of which displayed stronger induction by 14 dpi in COL2246. A subset of these genes were upregulated by JA in both genotypes, but many showed no clear hormone regulation. However, Cluster 1 genes more strongly induced by infestation in COL2246 showed a more complex temporal program in ECU72 than in COL2246 in response to SA. These genes included six positive regulators of SA signaling (MeNPR1, MeSARD1a-b, MeWRKY70a-b, and MeGRX480c) and the SA response gene MePR1b, two ABA transporter genes (MeABCG40f-g), one JAbiosynthetic gene (MeOPR3), and three JA-signaling repressors (MeJAZ1a and MeJAZ3a-b). MeWRKY70a-b and MeJAZ3a were additionally downregulated by ET and ABA in both genotypes, whereas *MePR1b* and *MeABCG40f-g* were only downregulated by ET in COL2246. The JA-biosynthetic gene MeOPR3, pathogen-responsive gene MeWRKY40, JA-signaling repressor MeJAZ1a, and positive regulator of JA signaling through 12OH-JA-Ile production MeCYP94B3a had stronger whitefly induction in COL2246 and showed strong JA induction in both genotypes (Figure 2.19).

In Cluster 2, 16 genes were repressed in both cassava genotypes during infestation. This included *MePAL1e* and four JA-biosynthetic genes (*MeAOSb* and *MeLOX2b*, *g* and *h*), which were weakly induced at 1 dpi then repressed in ECU72 but repressed at all infestation times in COL2246; these genes were not clearly hormone-regulated (Figure 2.19).

Genes in Clusters 3 (23 genes) and 4 (6 genes) displayed opposite infestation expression trends in ECU72 versus COL2246, with Cluster 3 genes induced and Cluster 4 genes repressed in ECU72 (Figure 2.19). Strikingly, 18 of the 23 genes in Cluster 3 showed an association between whitefly and SA responses; these genes were induced by infestation and SA in ECU72, while being suppressed by these treatments in COL2246. In general, the Cluster 3 genes were also negatively regulated in both genotypes by JA, ABA and ET. These genes included five ABA co-receptors that act as negative regulators of ABA signaling (MeAHG1, MeAHG3b, HAI1a-b, and MeABI1a), three ABA-response genes (MeABF2a-b and MeABF3), four ET-response genes (MePR3a, c, i and n), and two SA-modification genes, which convert SA to an inactive form (UGT74F1b-c). The hormone expression pattern of Cluster 3 was also seen in several genes within Cluster 1, where ECU72 and COL2246 displayed reciprocal SA responses but similar responses to all other hormones. These Cluster 1 genes included: the ET-biosynthetic gene MeACO4c and JAbiosynthetic gene MeLOX2c-d that were induced by SA in ECU72 (similar to Cluster 3 genes) and the positive regulator of ABA signaling MeOST1a, and the positive regulators of SA signaling MeSARD1a and MeNPR1, which were repressed by SA in ECU72.

In Cluster 4, genes were mainly repressed in ECU72 and induced in COL2246 during infestation. Of the six genes in this cluster, four were upregulated at 1 dpi then strongly

repressed in ECU72 versus upregulated in COL2246 at most times when eggs and nymphs are present. Such genes included the JA-biosynthetic gene *MeLOX3c*, the JA-signaling repressor *MeJAZ10a*, and the SA-methylation gene *MeSMTa*. *MeJAZ10a* was strongly induced by JA in both genotypes, while *MeLOX3c* was strongly repressed versus induced by infestation and SA in ECU72 versus COL2246, respectively. *MeSMTa* showed strong repression by ET and ABA in COL2246 and strong JA induction in both genotypes (Figure 2.19).



FIGURE 2.19. CASSAVA HORMONE-PATHWAY GENE EXPRESSION DURING WHITEFLY AND HORMONE TREATMENTS.

Hormone-pathway genes that are genotype DEGs during whitefly infestation are displayed. Gene expression values are presented as log₂FC values during whitefly infestation (1,7,14 and 22 dpi) and SA, JA, ET and ABA treatments (0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, 24 hpt). Genes are clustered hierarchically. The number of DEGs associated with biosynthesis (B), modification (M), signaling (S), transport (T)) for each hormone is provided.

Hormone responses in ECU72 and COL2246 during whitefly infestation

To gain a more global understanding of the association of hormone-responsive genes with whitefly infestation, we classified ECU72's and COL2246's whitefly-regulated DEGs by their responsiveness to a single or multiple defense hormones (Figure 2.20.a-f; Table S2.11). A large proportion (between 32-46%) of the temporal DEGs in ECU72 and COL2246 responded to signals independent of SA, JA, ET, and/or ABA (Figure 2.20a,b,d,e). This analysis also showed that many of the remaining whitefly-regulated DEGs were responsive to SA, JA, both SA and JA, or all four hormones. Each of the other hormone-responsive classes (single hormone or in combination with others) constituted less than 6.0% of the total DEGs; collectively these smaller groups included between 19.6-25.3% of the temporal DEGs in cassava.

In ECU72 and COL2246, temporal DEGs regulated by all hormones formed the largest hormone-regulated class, ranging from 11.0 (ECU72 1 dpi) to 20.2% (COL2246 14 dpi) (Figure 2.20d,e; Table S2.11). JA-responsive genes made a more substantial contribution to ECU72's whitefly response (ranging from 13.3-21.6%) than COL2246's response (9.0-10.7%) (Figure 2.20d,e). In addition, ABA appears to be an important regulator in ECU72's response to whitefly infestation at 14 to 22 dpi (Table S2.11); this was evidenced by the fact that the number of ABA-, SA/ABA-, JA/ABA-, and JA/ET/ABA-responsive genes was 1.4 to 2.5-fold higher in ECU72 than in COL2246. In contrast, SA/JA-responsive genes were more prevalent in the infestation response of COL2246 (7.3-10.1%) compared to ECU72 (3.5-8.1%). At early infestation times (1-7 dpi), ET may regulate COL2246's response, as the number of genes regulated by ET, SA/ET, JA/ET, ET/ABA, SA/JA/ET, SA/ET/ABA, and JA/ET/ABA at these times was 1.4 to 26.5-fold higher in COL2246 than in ECU72 (Figure 2.20a,b; Table S2.11).

To determine if genotypic differences in responses to whiteflies and hormone treatments are associated, we identified the whitefly-responsive genotype DEGs that also respond to one or more hormone treatments (Figure 2.20c,f; Table S2.11). The contribution of classes of hormone-responsive genes in genotype-specific responses differed from the temporal DEGs analysis. We found that 6.1-24.0% and 25.2-49.6% of the whitefly-responsive genotype DEGs are responsive to SA or all hormones, respectively, at all infestation times (Figure 2.20c,f; Table S2.11). It is important to note that a substantial number of genotype DEGs during infestation (11.0-20.2%) were not responsive to any of the four hormones (Figure 2.20d-f; Table S2.11).

The levels of SA, JA, ABA, and their derivatives during whitefly infestation (0, 0.5, 1, 7, 14, and 22 dpi) of ECU72 and COL2246 were extracted from an untargeted metabolomics data set by Dr. Laura Perez-Fons at RHUL (Perez-Fons et al., 2019) (Figure 2.20g; Table S2.12). JA and JA-IIe were not detected and gaseous ET could not be measured by this approach (Table S2.12). Overall trends showed opposing levels of SA as compared to ABA and SAG throughout infestation, with ABA and SAG higher in ECU72 and SA higher in COL2246 (Figure 2.20g). Statistical differences were observed in the levels of SA, salicylic acid-glucoside (SAG), 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid (12-OPDA), and ABA at specific times. At 0 dpi, SAG levels were higher in ECU72. At 1 dpi, 12-OPDA levels were higher in COL2246, with similar yet non-significant trends in MeJA levels. By 0.5 dpi, ABA levels were approximately 2-fold higher in ECU72 than in COL2246, with higher ABA levels additionally seen in ECU72 7-22 dpi. Non-significant differences in the levels of PA mirror such trends in ABA. In contrast, SA levels were higher in COL2246 at 7 and 22 dpi.



Figure 2.20. Hormone regulation categories of whitefly-regulated DEGs and hormone levels in whitefly-infested cassava.

(a-b) Bar graphs displaying number of whitefly-regulated temporal DEGs in ECU72 (a) and COL2246 (b) categorized by their hormone-response class. JA-responsive DEGs make up more of the response to whitefly in ECU72 than COL2246. Number of DEGs in each class are provided in Table S2.11.

(c) Bar graphs displaying number of whitefly-regulated DEGs differentially expressed in the ECU72 versus COL2246 genotypes. These genotype DEGs were categorized by their hormone-response class. Many DEGs were differentially expressed between genotypes during SA or all hormone treatments. DEG count values are provided in Table S2.11.

(d-f) Bar graphs displaying the % of whitefly-regulated temporal DEGs in ECU72 (d) and COL2246 (e) and genotype DEGs (f) belonging to each hormone-response class. Hormone-response categories included responses to single or multiple defense hormones. Hormone categories that contributed to more than 10% of the whitefly-infestation response are shown. The hormone-response category "All" reflects the ability of a DEG to independently respond to SA, JA, ET and ABA. The "None" category indicates that DEGs responded to whitefly infestation but none of the defense hormones tested. The hormone category "Other" includes all single or multiple hormone-response categories that constitute less than 10% of whitefly-responsive genes at a time point.

(g) Levels of detected defense hormones during infestation in ECU72 and COL2246. Hormone levels were extracted from an untargeted metabolomics data set by Dr. Laura Perez-Fons at RHUL. Asterisks indicate significant difference in hormone level between genotypes as identified by Student's t-test (* = $p \le 0.05$; ** = $p \le 0.01$). Complete list of detected hormones and p-values is provided in Table S2.12. SA = salicylic acid, SAG = salicylic acid glucoside, MeJA = methyl jasmonate, 12-OPDA = 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid; ABA = abscisic acid; PA = phaseic acid.

We correlated changes in metabolite levels with their hormone-pathway transcripts during infestation (Figure 2.21). Correlations were performed using the software MOCA with the assistance of Dr. Manhoi Hur. SA, ABA, SAG, and PA were strongly correlated ($R \ge 0.70$) with 482, 591, 127, and 2,281 transcripts. In contrast, MeJA and 12-OPDA had no strong transcript correlations. Several transcripts in the SA (*MeUGT74F1c* and *MeNPR3a*) and ABA (*MeOST1e*, *MeAAO1d*, *MeABCG40d*, *MeHAI1b*, *MeABI1a*, *MeABF2a*, *MeAHG3b*, and *MeAAO1b*) pathways strongly correlated with the changes in SA or ABA levels during infestation, respectively (Figure 2.21).



Figure 2.21. Strong metabolite-transcript correlations in the SA and ABA pathways.

Correlations of SA or ABA with cassava hormone pathway transcripts expressed during whitefly infestation were identified using in-house MOCA program. Only strong correlations with R \ge 0.70 are displayed. The mean and individual biological replicate values are displayed with error bars representing SEM. Hormone levels were extracted from an untargeted metabolomics data set by Dr. Laura Perez-Fons at RHUL. Correlations were performed using the software MOCA with the assistance of Dr. Manhoi Hur.

(a) Relative abundance, measured as EIC area, of SA and ABA during whitefly infestation. Asterisks indicate significant difference in hormone level between genotypes as identified by Student's t-test (* = $p \le 0.05$; ** = $p \le 0.01$). (b) RPKM levels of hormone-pathway genes correlated with SA or ABA levels.

Early infestation prompts multiple biochemical defense responses in ECU72

To assign biological functions to the genotype DEGs identified in both whitefly and hormone treatments, GO term-enrichment analyses were performed (Figures 2.22 and 2.23; Table S2.14). Genotype DEGs were grouped by infestation time point, hormoneresponse categories and up- or down-regulation in ECU72 versus COL2246 during whitefly infestation. The number of DEGs associated with each enriched GO term and their hormone responsiveness are categorized as defense-related (Figure 2.22; Table S2.14) or associated with other processes (Figure 2.23; Table S2.14).



Figure 2.22. Functional enrichment of cassava whitefly- and hormone-regulated DEGs involved in defense processes.

The enriched GO terms associated with whitefly-infestation genotype DEGs and that were hormone responsive are shown. DEGs with GO terms linked to plant defense are shown. Several constitutive and induced defenses were associated with response to all hormones in ECU72, while many defenses induced late were associated with SA responses in COL2246. Hormone categories and DEGs are defined in Figure 2.20 and presented in Table S2.11. Genes up- and down-regulated in ECU72 relative to COL2246 at each time point are displayed on the right and left sides of the y-axis, respectively. GO term categories were ordered alphabetically as listed in Table S2.14. For complete list of enriched GO terms, see Figure 2.23 and Table S2.14.



Figure 2.23. Functional enrichment of cassava whitefly- and hormone-regulated DEGs.

Genotype DEGs after whitefly infestation (0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 dpi) were classified by their responses to single or multiple defense hormones (SA, JA, ET, and/or ABA) or as hormone-independent (as described in Figure 2.20 and Table S2.11). Enriched GO term categories were identified and numbers of genes in each category and responses to defense hormones are shown. DEGs with higher or lower expression in ECU72 versus COL2246 during infestation are displayed on the right and left sides of the y-axis, respectively. The top twelve GO term categories are presented and ordered alphabetically. The full data set can be found in Table S2.11.

Among genotype DEGs associated with defense and up-regulated in ECU72 at early infestation times (0, 1 and 7 dpi), 80-100% responded to all four hormones. These genes were associated with cell wall-related and immune system processes, glucosinolate, phenylpropanoid and lignin metabolism, and hormone/stimulus responses. Genes in the response to biotic stimulus category were down-regulated in ECU72 relative to COL2246 at these times and corresponded with mainly differential regulation by JA or all four hormones.

Visualizing the RPKM expression trends of individual genes within enriched GO categories using line graphs showcased associations between infestation and hormone regulation (Figure 2.24). Gene names were obtained from Arabidopsis orthologs available through Phytozome (JGI) (Goodstein et al., 2012) unless previously annotated (Table S2.9). Genes involved in cell wall-related processes such as cell wall remodeling (*MeXTH23*) or response to fungal cell wall elicitors (*MeCAD8*) (Trezzini et al., 1993) and lignin biosynthesis (*MeCOMTf, MeCCOAMTa, MeMYB63*, and *MeLAC4*) were more highly expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 constitutively (0 dpi) and at most times during infestation and hormone treatments. With the exceptions of *MeXTH23* and *MeMYB63*, which increased in expression throughout the infestation, the expression of the remaining genes was reduced during the periods of nymph feeding (14 and 22 dpi).

The vitamin C biosynthetic gene *MeGULLO3*, associated with the small molecule biosynthesis GO term (Table S2.14), is involved in protection against oxidative stress and was more highly expressed in ECU72 in non-infested leaves and during whitefly and hormone treatments. Similar expression trends were observed for the lipid metabolic gene *MePIP5K1*, involved in phosphoinositide signaling. *MeHNL*, involved in HCN production

(a notable trait in cassava), was more highly expressed in ECU72 at 1 dpi and during early SA treatment but expressed at lower levels during late infestation and other hormonetreatment timepoints. This gene was also more strongly induced by JA in COL2246 than in ECU72. Notably, eight genes involved in immune system processes were more highly expressed at 0 or 1 dpi in ECU72 versus COL2246. Seven of these genes were more highly expressed in control (0 h) ECU72 leaves and during whitefly and hormone treatments, including pathogenesis-related osmotin (*MeOSM34a-b*) and chitinase (*MePR3e-g*) genes, G3P-signaling gene *MePEPCK*, and ETI/PTI-signaling gene *MeRPM1*.



Figure 2.24. Whitefly- and hormone-regulated genotype DEG expression from selected enriched GO-term categories in ECU72 versus COL2246.

Expression of genotype DEGs associated with the selected GO-term categories enriched in ECU72 versus COL2246 are displayed in Figure 2.22. Five enriched GO term categories are shown including: cell wall organization or biogenesis, glucosinolate metabolism, small molecule metabolism, lipid metabolism, and immune system process. For these categories, higher levels of gene expression during infestation was associated with higher expression in response to all hormones in ECU72. Expression values are displayed as average RPKM values (lines) with individual biological replicates shown (circles). Genes are grouped by similar RPKM values and denoted in different colors.

Four genes categorized as glucosinolate metabolism genes (MeSOT16i, *MeCYP83B1b*, *h* and *s*) were additionally more highly expressed in ECU72 constitutively, during infestation and during hormone treatments. Given that Arabidopsis AtCYP83A1 and AtCYP83B1 catalyze the conversion of valine, isoleucine and phenylalanine aldoximes into their corresponding glucosinolates (Naur et al., 2003), we attempted to detect and identify the presence of glucosinolates in cassava leaves. Glucosinolate analyses were performed by Dr. Laura Perez-Fons at RHUL. Using the standard metabolomics analytical methodologies for detecting glucosinolates in plant tissue (Crocoll et al., 2016), we were unable to detect the presence of desulfonated glucosinolates (Figure 2.25a,c), the thioglucose moieties characteristic of glucosinolate structures (Figure 2.25a,c), or molecular ions corresponding to glucosinolates derived from either valine, isoleucine or phenylalanine (Figure 2.25c). Previous evidence of glucosinolate composition in cassava is scarce and only a limited number of publications report the ability of cassava genes to produce glucosinolates when expressed in yeast or Arabidopsis (Andersen et al., 2000, Mikkelsen and Halkier, 2003). Our results suggest that glucosinolates may be at undetectable levels or that cassava's MeCYP83B1 genes are acting in alterative pathways in infested leaves.


Figure 2.25. Analysis of glucosinolates in cassava leaves.

Glucosinolate detection analyses was performed by Dr. Laura Perez-Fons at RHUL.

- (a) Scheme of sulfatase reaction and its effect on glucosinolate structure
- (b) LC-MS measurements of glucosinolates standards solution treated with sulfatase

(c) Total ion chromatograms (TIC) of leaf extract before (crude) and after (desulfonated) enzyme reaction and extracted ion chromatogram (EIC) of thioglucose fragment as indicator of presence of glucosinolated structures.

As several genes involved in lignin biosynthesis (*MeCOMTf, MeCCOAMTa, MeMYB63*, and *MeLAC4*) were identified as up-regulated genotype DEGs in the whiteflyresistant ECU72, we identified cassava orthologs in these metabolic pathways using eggNOG (Huerta-Cepas et al., 2017, Huerta-Cepas et al., 2019) (Table S2.9). Among these genes, hormone- or whitefly-responsive DEGs were identified and visualized adjacent to this pathway (Figure 2.26). Of the eleven DEGs in the lignin biosynthetic pathway, nine were more highly expressed in ECU72 during infestation at one or more time points (Figure 2.26). Among these, four (*MeHCTe, MeCCoAOMTa, MeCCoAOMTb,* and *MeCAD6*) were more highly expressed in ECU72 during SA treatment, while *MePAL1e* and *MeC3H* were not differentially regulated by hormones between genotypes , and *MeCOMT1* and *MeCAD8i* showed differential responses to multiple hormones. Notably, *MeCOMTf* showed strong upregulation in ECU72 versus COL2246 at all infestation and the majority of hormone-treatment time points. Only two genes were more highly expressed in COL2246 during infestation, *MeCCoAOMTd* at 14-22 dpi and *MeCAD1* at 0 dpi (Figure 2.26).



Lignin Biosynthesis

Figure 2.26. Cassava's lignin biosynthetic pathway.

Expression values for genotype DEGs during whitefly infestation are displayed as log_2FC values during whitefly and hormone treatment in ECU72 versus COL2246. Time points from left to right during infestation are 0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 dpi and during hormone treatments are 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 hpt. Time points with genotype DEGs ($|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$) are shown and DEGs with higher transcript levels in ECU72 (red) or COL2246 (blue) are shown. Time points where gene expression was not significantly different between the genotypes are shown in white.

Late infestation invokes a surge in immune signaling in COL2246

At the time of nymph feeding (14-22 dpi), there was a major shift in the enriched GO terms associated with defense. Most noticeably, genes enriched in seven defense-related categories (cell death, immune system process, lipid metabolic process, protein modification process, response to biotic stimulus, response to hormone, and response to stimulus) were upregulated in the whitefly-susceptible COL2246 versus whitefly-resistant ECU72. Genes within these GO term categories were mainly regulated by SA, all hormones, or were defense-hormone independent (Figure 2.22). Visualization of individual gene transcript levels exemplified such expression trends.

The GO immune system process category, which was enriched in COL2246 versus ECU72 at 14-22 dpi, contained several PTI/ETI-signaling genes (Figure 2.27). Basal defense genes *MeFMO1* and *MeMOS2* were most highly expressed at 0 dpi following a decline and plateau for other infestation times. These genes were additionally more highly expressed in COL2246 during all hormone treatments. All other genes in this category peaked in expression at 14-22 dpi in COL2246 and showed lower, more stable expression in ECU72 during infestation. While more highly expressed during infestation in COL2246, four genes associated with basal immunity (*MeNDR1*, *BIR1a*, *BIR1e*, and *PEPR1*) showed more complex expression programs in response to hormone treatments in both ECU72 and COL226.

MePERK1a-c proteins detect cell wall perturbations and were more highly expressed during infestation and all hormone treatments in COL2246 versus ECU72. In addition, two genes involved in response to oxidative stress (*MePA2* and *MePDI*) and four starch catabolism genes (*MeDPE2*, *MeSBE2.2*, *MeISA3*, and *MeSEX1*) had rapid SA

responses in ECU72 (1 hpt) but were induced substantially later in COL2246 (~8 hpt). Lastly, four sesquiterpenoid biosynthetic genes (*MeTPS6* and *MeTPS21a-c*) were more highly expressed in COL2246 after whitefly infestation, particularly at 14-22 dpi (the times of nymph feeding) and these genes were regulated in a hormone-independent manner (Figure 2.27). Collectively the GO-term enrichment analyses showed that genes associated with ETI/PTI signaling, immune system process and cell death are expressed constitutively or early (1-7 dpi) in ECU72, when eggs and feeding adults reside on leaves, while in COL2246 these GO terms were enriched at the time of nymph feeding (14-22 dpi) (Figure 2.22; Table S2.13). Interestingly, for genes enriched in processes other than defense (i.e. metabolism, carbohydrate metabolism, transport), a similar shift in enriched terms from 0-7 versus 14-22 dpi was also observed (Figure 2.23; Table S2.13).



Figure 2.27. Expression of whitefly- and hormone-regulated DEGs from selected enriched GO-term categories in COL2246 versus ECU72.

Expression of genotype DEGs associated with the selected GO-term categories enriched in COL2246 versus ECU72 are displayed in Figure 2.22. Four enriched GO term categories are shown including: immune system process, oxidative stress, starch metabolism, and terpenoid metabolism. For these categories, higher levels of gene expression during infestation was associated with higher expression in response to all hormones in ECU72. Expression values are displayed as average RPKM values (lines) with individual biological replicates shown (circles). Genes are grouped by similar RPKM values and denoted in different colors. Given the reciprocal regulation of SA-responsive genes in ECU72 and COL2246 (Figure 2.3) and the presence of many SA-pathway and -response genes in the enriched GO-term categories, their expression was graphically illustrated emphasizing their roles in biosynthesis, modification and signaling (Figure 2.28; Table S2.9). With one exception (*MePAL1e*), all of the 15 genotype DEGs identified after whitefly infestation that are involved in SA biosynthesis or signaling were more highly expressed in COL2246 versus ECU72 between 14 and 22 dpi. Notably, three (*MeEDS1a*, *MeWRKY41*, and *MeNPR1*) and five (*MeSARD1a* and *b*, *MeWRKY70a* and *b* and *MeGRX480c*) were genotype DEGs in response to SA or both SA and JA, respectively. In contrast, *MePAD4b* responded to SA and ABA, *MePR1b* responded to all hormones, and six genes (*MeBIR1a*, *MeBIR1e*, *MeEDS1b*, *MeNPR3a*, *MeWRKY40*, and *MeWRKY53*) showed no potential for hormone regulation.

In contrast, SA-modification genes that were genotype DEGs after whitefly infestation had more complex temporal patterns of expression during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and COL2246. At early infestation times (0-7dpi), *MeSMTa, MeSMTb* and *MeSAMTa,* enzymes that convert SA into the mobile SAR signal MeSA, were more highly expressed in ECU72. These genes were additionally more highly expressed in ECU72 during SA treatment and, in some cases, in JA or ABA treatments. In contrast, *MeUGT74F1b* and *MeUGT74F1c*, enzymes which convert SA into its storage forms SAG or SGE, were more highly expressed in ECU72 at 14-22 dpi (Figure 2.28).



SA Biosynthesis, Modification & Signaling

Figure 2.28. Cassava's SA biosynthesis, modification and signaling pathway.

Expression values for genotype DEGs during whitefly infestation are displayed as log_2FC values during whitefly and hormone treatment in ECU72 versus COL2246. Time points from left to right during infestation are 0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 dpi and during hormone treatments are 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 hpt. Time points with genotype DEGs ($|log_2FC| \ge 1$ and FDR $\le 5\%$) are shown and DEGs with higher transcript levels in ECU72 (red) or COL2246 (blue) are shown. Time points where gene expression was not significantly different between the genotypes are shown in white.

Discussion

Hormone responses of whitefly-resistant (ECU72) and -susceptible (COL2246) cassava

Identifying active defense signals is essential to understanding and characterizing a plant's specific response to different biotic stressors. To this end, we defined the temporal transcriptome response of whitefly-resistant (ECU72) and whitefly-susceptible (COL2246) cassava genotypes to four defense hormones: SA, JA, ET, and ABA. Surprisingly, we discovered that while both genotypes displayed similar JA, ET and ABA responses, responses to SA were profoundly different. Temporal DEG counts showed that ECU72's response to SA was faster, more prolonged and more dynamic than that of COL2246. While few prior studies have examined global SA responses within a species, similar variation in SA responses has been observed in Arabidopsis ecotypes. Using microarrays to monitor SA responses in seven Arabidopsis ecotypes, van Leeuwen et al. (2007) reported that ecotypes varied in the number of DEGs, as well as the timing and directionality of regulation.

The differences in the temporal programming of SA and other hormone responses in ECU72 versus COL2246 as revealed by heatmaps were striking. In addition, Pearson's correlation analyses showed that while COL2246 responded similarly to all hormones, ECU72's late SA response was inversely related to JA, ET and ABA treatments (Figure 2.4). SA antagonism with other hormones, most commonly JA but also ET and ABA, is documented (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011). However, intraspecies variation in such hormone crosstalk is seldom assessed. In a study of over 300 Arabidopsis accessions, variation in the degree of SA antagonism/cooperation with JA was seen (Proietti et al., 2018). Another study across plant clades identified that SA-JA antagonism was not

present in all species; for example, in *Asclepias* both the presence and absence of such antagonism among species of the same genera was found (Thaler et al., 2012). While analyses of genome-scale SA-ET or SA-ABA antagonism are currently lacking, similar variation within or among species may be possible.

Genes, including many defense-related genes, regulated by SA in ECU72 and COL2246 displayed a high degree of reciprocity. Given the wide range of possible SA responses observed among Arabidopsis accessions (Proietti et al., 2018, van Leeuwen et al., 2007), such intraspecies reciprocity may be common but understudied. Another example is seen in cacao, where a fungus-resistant and -susceptible genotype display reciprocity in about one quarter of their SA-responsive DEGs (Fister et al., 2015). The observed differences in SA responses between ECU72 and COL2246 may reflect hormonal fine tuning specific to the suites of pests, pathogens or environmental conditions to which each genotype has adapted.

Among reciprocal SA-responsive DEGs in ECU72, heatmaps revealed that many displayed complex and dynamic temporal regulation that was correlated with the transition from the early to late phases of the SA response. It is tempting to speculate that a master transcriptional regulator acts as a molecular switch to facilitate this phase shift. From our analyses and what is known from the Arabidopsis literature, several possible candidates arose. In our analysis of cassava, *MeNPR1*, *MeWRKY70a*, *MeWRKY70b*, and *MeGRX480a* stood out as SA-signaling genes, which displayed shifts from up- to down-regulation or vice versa during SA treatment in ECU72 as opposed to solely induction in COL2246 (Figure 2.12). In Arabidopsis, *AtNPR1*, *AtWRKY70* and *AtGRX480* are well-known regulators that promote SA signaling, while suppressing JA and JA/ET signaling

(Caarls et al., 2015, Li et al., 2019a), and *AtWRKY70* is also known to suppress ABAinduced stomatal closure (Li et al., 2013a). Antagonism between SA as compared to JA, ET and ABA responses was also found by Pearson correlation analysis which showed a negative correlation between ECU72's late SA- and overall JA, ET and ABA-responsive transcriptomes (Figure 2.4). It may be possible that one or more of these candidate SAsignaling genes may facilitate such antagonism and transcriptome reprogramming in ECU72 as seen in Arabidopsis.

Divergent hormone responses in cassava versus Arabidopsis

In comparing the SA-, JA-, ET-, and ABA-responsive transcriptomes of cassava and Arabidopsis, several similarities and distinctions were revealed. PCA analyses revealed similar groupings of time points into early versus late phases of response to SA and JA between species, excluding ECU72's SA response. Heatmaps of SA and JA transcriptome responses revealed striking temporal differences in the mode of regulation (e.g., up- vs down-regulation) between the species. For example, of the hormone-responsive genes expressed in both Arabidopsis and the two cassava genotypes, approximately 50% displayed different expression programs between the two species. While few studies have compared Arabidopsis' hormone responses to those of other species on a global scale, such interspecies divergence in hormone responses may be more common than currently understood, as it occurs even within species (Proietti et al., 2018, Broekgaarden et al., 2010).

Ortholog identification and heatmap analyses of genes involved in the biosynthesis, modification, transport, signaling, and responses to SA, JA, ET, and ABA showed that many of these gene families were expanded in cassava relative to Arabidopsis. Notably

MePAL1 (SA-biosynthetic gene), MeLOX2 (JA-biosynthetic gene), MePR3 (ET-response gene), and MeOST1 (ABA-signaling gene) had 5, 8, 15, and 5 paralogs in cassava, respectively. Furthermore, many of these genes displayed differing hormone responses between species. As the occurrence of neofunctionalization is observed in many diploid, triploid and tetraploid species (Greenham et al., 2020), expansions of cassava hormonepathway orthologs may also suggest adapted functionalities in defense. Expansions associated with stress responsivity of the chitinase *PR3* gene family in cassava and other species relative to Arabidopsis have also been observed (Cao and Tan, 2019, Irigoyen et al., 2020, Tobias et al., 2017), suggesting a possible adaptation for response to insect/pathogen-derived chitin (van Loon et al., 2006). Absence of several PYL family ABA receptors (PYL3, 5, 6, 7, and 10) accompanied by expansion of others (PYL2, 4, 8, and 9) was also identified in cassava. As PYL receptors allow for cell type- and conditionspecific responses to ABA (Finkelstein, 2013), cassava's suite of PYLs may represent a divergence from Arabidopsis' mechanisms for specifying ABA responses. More generally, it is also important to note that some canonical markers of SA, JA, ET, or ABA signaling in Arabidopsis, such as many of the classical Arabidopsis PR genes (Irigoyen et al., 2020) as well as the JA-induced Arabidopsis marker AtVSP1, are not indicative of and should not be used as markers for such signaling in cassava.

Possible ABA-mediated whitefly-resistance and SA-mediated whitefly-

susceptibility mechanisms in cassava and candidate regulators

Integration of whitefly- and hormone-responsive DEGs and quantification of hormone levels during whitefly infestation highlighted the association of SA and ABA with whitefly susceptibility and resistance in COL2246 and ECU72, respectively. Early infestation is characterized by higher ABA and SAG levels but lower SA levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 (Figure 2.20g). Additionally, the higher SAG levels observed during early stages of whitefly infestation in ECU72 is correlated with lower free SA levels; these data suggest that vacuolar storage of SA's inactive form (SAG) may be a means of lowering active SA levels during stages of whitefly infestation in whitefly-resistant cassava (Thompson et al., 2017).

Trends of higher ABA levels and lower SA levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 also corresponded with hormone-pathway transcript levels during infestation. Heatmaps demonstrate that at the time of nymph feeding (14-22 dpi), many SA-signaling genes are SA-responsive and strongly upregulated in COL2246. Whereas, in ECU72, these genes are downregulated or display a more complex temporal pattern of expression (Figure 2.19). In contrast, the percent of whitefly-responsive DEGs expressed that were ABA responsive was higher in ECU72 versus COL2246 (Table S2.11). Heatmaps also showed that at these late infestation times five negative regulators of ABA signaling and three ABA-response genes involved in osmotic stress response are upregulated in ECU72 but downregulated in COL2246 during SA treatment and late whitefly infestation (Figure 2.19). This set of ABA-signaling genes is positively regulated by SA but repressed by ABA in ECU72. While induction of some negative regulators of ABA signaling at the time of rising ABA levels is not well-correlated, it still marks response to ABA and may indicate the presence of negative feedback to control ABA responses. While SA-induction of ABA repressors further supports the presence of SA-ABA antagonism, SA also induces some ABA-response genes, suggesting SA-ABA antagonism may apply to subsets of these pathway genes in ECU72. Together, our transcriptomics and metabolomics results suggest the presence of SA-ABA antagonism in whitefly-infested ECU72; similar trends

have been previously described in Arabidopsis in pathogen interactions (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011).

Further interaction between the SA and ABA pathways was additionally indicated during early infestation. ECU72's early responses to whitefly infestation involved a rise in ABA levels at 0.5 dpi (Figure 2.20g). Intriguingly, an increase in ABA is an early response to PAMPs and regulates stomatal closure to interfere with pathogen access to a leaf's interior spaces (Cao et al., 2011). This process is linked to SA signaling, as NPR1 (an SA receptor) positively regulates the ABA-induced OST1, which is positive regulator of ABA signaling and a key regulator of stomatal closing. Importantly, we observe co-expression of MeNPR1 and MeOST1a in response to infestation and SA treatment. Coupled with the identification of whitefly-induction of a cell wall modifying enzyme and cell wall elicitorresponse gene in ECU72 (Figure 2.24), our results may indicate that ECU72 also enacts defense against whiteflies to close stomata in response to cell wall-derived DAMPs or possibly HAMPs derived from whiteflies' chitinous stylets. Importantly, plants' successful perception of DAMPs/HAMPs has been shown to trigger fast immune responses conferring resistance to pests/pathogens (Duran-Flores and Heil, 2016). A study of the tomato-caterpillar interaction suggested that stomatal closure may be a means of preventing the emission of some herbivore-induced plant volatiles to dampen the plants defenses (Lin et al., 2021). It is also possible that this reduced transpiration through stomatal closure is a means of impairing sap ingestion by phloem-feeders, however the connection between plant transpiration rate and feeding efficiency of phloem-feeders remains understudied and unclear (Shannag, 2007). While the overall role of ABA in defense against insects remains unclear, several studies have shown either ABA or osmotic stress responses to be important for plant resistance to whiteflies (Broekgaarden

et al., 2018, Esmaeily et al., 2020, Esmaeily et al., 2021) and other pests (Nguyen et al., 2016).

Infestation expression trends of candidate genes (MeNPR1, MeWRKY70a, MeWRKY70b, MeGRX480a, and MeGRX480c) previously discussed as possible regulators of transcriptome reprogramming between hormone pathways suggest that these genes may additionally serve this function during infestation. These genes, excluding *MeGRX480a*, were whitefly-induced in both genotypes, with stronger induction by 14 dpi in COL2246 (Figure 2.19); another GRX480 gene, MeGRX480c, additionally showed these infestation trends with SA induction in COL2246 alone (Figures 2.12 and 2.19). It has been shown that AtNPR1 and AtWRKY70 generally promote SA responses important for resistance to biotrophic pathogens, while suppressing JA/ET responses important for resistance to insect herbivores (like whiteflies and caterpillars) and necrotrophic pathogens (Derksen et al., 2013, Li et al., 2006a, Onkokesung et al., 2016, Zarate et al., 2007). If the functionalities of their Arabidopsis orthologs are present in cassava, it may be possible that one or more of these candidate genes (MeNPR1, MeWRKY70a, MeWRKY70b, MeGRX480a, and MeGRX480c) act as positive regulators of the SA pathway and negative regulators of the JA, ET, and/or ABA pathways during infestation in cassava. SA-induction and stronger whitefly-induction of these genes in addition to higher SA levels in COL2246 may cause activation of an ineffective, biotrophic SA response negatively associated with whitefly resistance. In contrast, a more fine-tined regulation by SA and weaker whitefly-induction of these genes coupled with lower SA levels in ECU72 may allow for a reduction in SA's antagonistic effect on ABA, allowing for the activation of ABA responses and higher ABA levels positively associated with whitefly resistance. Additional genetic testing such as infestation studies using RNA-silencing in

cassava transformants, a lengthy process made difficult by gene expansions in a tetraploid, non-model plant, is necessary to determine a possible role of these genes in defense against whiteflies and/or other biotic stressors.

Previous studies have also shown the involvement of SA and ABA in plant-hemipteran interactions. The role of SA in such interactions has been shown to depend on the plant and pest species (Walling and Thompson, 2012). As in COL2246, SA responses mounted during whitefly infestation are ineffective in whitefly-susceptible Arabidopsis, tobacco and lima bean (Zarate et al., 2007, Zhang et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2017). However, SA responses were effective in apoplast-mediated resistance to whitefly in whitefly-resistant tomato (Rodriguez-Alvarez et al., 2015). SA is also associated with the phloem-mediated resistance responses of tomato and rice to aphids and brown planthoppers (Li et al., 2006b, Zhao et al., 2016), respectively, but are associated with response of aphidsusceptible wheat to the greenbug aphid (Zhu-Salzman et al., 2004). In contrast, ABA responses in plant-whitefly interactions have had limited assessment, but they have been shown to be associated with resistance to whitefly in cabbage and eggplant (Broekgaarden et al., 2018, Esmaeily et al., 2020). The importance of SA antagonism with other hormones has also been observed in the Arabidopsis-whitefly interaction, in which whiteflies activate ineffective SA responses in order to suppress effective JA responses (Zarate et al., 2007, Zhang et al., 2013a).

While SA and ABA appear to be important signals in cassava whitefly resistance/susceptibility, it should also be noted that a large portion of whitefly-responsive genes displayed differential regulation in response to all four hormones or were hormone-nonresponsive (Figure 2.20f). A possible explanation is that these genes are regulated by

an unidentified signal outside of the tested hormones, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS). Known to regulate defense signaling, ROS have the ability to reprogram the transcriptome through redox-regulated transcription factors and have been implicated in controlling crosstalk (Li and Loake, 2016). For example, *GRX480* has been shown to regulate crosstalk between hormone-signaling pathways during aphid-plant interactions (Foyer et al., 2015). SA-signaling components, such as GRX480 and NPR1, are known to be regulated by cellular redox status (Herrera-Vasquez et al., 2015, Noctor et al., 2018). As such, it may be possible that differences in ROS signals and redox status in subcellular compartments in ECU72 and COL2246 could underlie differential SA levels and responses. Further studies are required to identify additional unknown defense signals/hormones important for regulating cassava's response to whitefly infestation.

Other possible mechanisms of whitefly resistance and susceptibility in cassava

Several genotype-dependent biological processes in ECU72 and COL2246 during infestation were identified by GO-term enrichment and hormone-pathway gene analyses (Figure 2.22). As shown in PCA analyses and numbers of DEGs (Figure 2.16), such processes showed clear shifts from early infestation, when whitefly adults are feeding (0-3 dpi) and eggs are in intimate contact with the leaf (1-7 dpi) versus the times of voracious phloem processing by first to third instar nymphs (14-22 dpi). Similar shifts in plant transcriptome responses to hemipterans have also been reported in maize and tomato (Delano-Frier and Estrada-Hernandez, 2009, Tzin et al., 2015) and through using sentinel gene expression in tomato (Puthoff et al., 2010, van de Ven et al., 2000).

During early stages of infestation, GO-term enrichment analysis showed that while few defenses were mounted in COL2246, in ECU72, which is known to cause nymph mortality,

several possible mechanisms of resistance emerged (Figure 2.22). Cell wall processes were active at 0 to 7 dpi in ECU72 and were generally regulated by all hormones (Figure 2.22). More specifically, many lignin-biosynthetic genes were more highly expressed in ECU72 during these early times of infestation and were regulated by all hormones or SA alone (Figure 2.26). Universal hormone regulation of some of these genes may suggest regulation by ROS, as it is known to be essential for lignin formation at the cell wall (O'Brien et al., 2012). These findings are supported by discovery of higher basal and whitefly-induced leaf lignin levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 by Perez-Fons et al. (2019), as well as observed cell wall-based defenses in cotton responses to whiteflies (Ibrahim, 2016, Li et al., 2019a).

In addition to lignin formation, genes associated with cell wall remodeling (*MeXTH23*) and response to fungal cell wall elicitors (*MeCAD8i*) were more highly expressed at 0 and 1 dpi in ECU72 (Figure 2.24). These data suggest cell wall fortification against probing whitefly stylets through lignin biosynthesis and the perception of damage through cell wall elicitors such as DAMPs or possibly insect-derived HAMPs may be important components of ECU72's defense during early stages of infestation that include 3 days of adult feeding and 7 days of interactions with eggs (Bertea et al., 2020, Gouhier-Darimont et al., 2019, Oates et al., 2021).

A marked shift in the cassava transcriptome was observed at 14-22 dpi, when several defense processes emerged in whitefly-infested COL2246 (Figure 2.22). Most notably, many SA signaling genes, as well as genes involved in immune signaling and responses to hormone/stimulus, were more highly expressed in COL2246 versus ECU72 during infestation and in response to SA, all hormones, or no hormone treatments (Figures 2.22)

and 2.27). At 14-22 dpi, the susceptible plant is experiencing a heavy load of second and third-instar nymphs, while the resistant ECU72 has a lower nymph load, as most small, first-instar nymphs have ceased development or perished. This reduces the quantity of effectors/elicitors being delivered to the plant at these later times of infestation in resistant plants and may explain the burst in defensive responses in COL2246 and its absence in ECU72. Additionally, PCA analyses reveal that the 22 dpi samples have more variation in COL2246, which could reflect the higher density of nymphs and their asynchronous transition to later instars (Figure 2.16d). In addition, it is possible that the more variable defense responses are correlated with different signals provided by the more mature nymphs, as it is known that an insect's developmental stage influences plant responses at the transcriptome and metabolome level (Irigoyen et al., 2020, Perez-Fons et al., 2019, Tzin et al., 2015).

Higher expression of starch catabolism genes in COL2246 was also observed at 14-22 dpi and in response to all hormones (Figure 2.27). As observed in other plants, the breakdown of starch may be a strategy to mobilize stored energy to compensate for photosynthate depletion due to insect infestation (Zhou et al., 2015). Sesquiterpenoid biosynthetic genes were also more highly expressed in COL2246 at 14-22 dpi but were not hormone responsive (Figure 2.27). Emission of terpenoid volatiles has been previously found in response to aphids and whiteflies among other insects, but their purpose can be varied, including attracting or deterring insects or their natural predators or signaling responses in nearby plants (Kaloshian and Walling, 2005, Aljbory and Chen, 2018, Zhang et al., 2019).

Together, it appears that COL2246's late infestation response to copious quantities of large, late-stage nymphs that have developed in the absence of effective early control strategies results in symptoms of heavy infestation and ineffective, SA-mediated defenses. In contrast, ECU72's faster response to eggs and first-instar nymphs via ABA-mediated responses and lignin-based cell wall defenses may underlie it's resistance to whitefly infestation.

Materials and Methods

Plant growth

In vitro-grown cassava (Manihot esculenta) genotypes ECU72 (whitefly-resistant) and COL2246 (whitefly-susceptible) (Bohorquez et al., 2013, Parsa et al., 2015) from the CIAT collection were grown as described in Irigoyen et al. (2020). Shoot tips were placed in rooting medium for 30 days then moved to soil. Potted plants were grown in a greenhouse under long-day light conditions at 24-28°C for 60 days before use in whitefly-infestation and hormone-treatment experiments.

Arabidopsis thaliana Col-0 seeds (sterilized with chlorine gas and cold-treated for 2 days) were sown on $\frac{1}{2}$ MS 1% sucrose agar plates (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) and kept at room temperature under constant light. One week after plating, seedlings were moved to soil (autoclaved Sunshine Mix (Sun Gro Horticulture, Agawam, MA) supplemented with 2% Osmocote (w/w) (The Scotts Company, Marysville, OH) in 2.5" x 2.5" cells. Plants were grown in a Percival I-36LL growth chamber under incandescent and fluorescent lights (180 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹) under a short-day light cycle (6-h light/18-h dark) at

24°C for 27 days, then adjusted to a long-day light cycle (16-h light/8-h dark) for one day before use in hormone-treatment experiments.

Whitefly rearing and infestation experiments

The Aleurotrachelus socialis Bondar colony used for cassava infestation experiments were maintained at CIAT as described by Bellotti and Arias (2001a). Whitefly infestations of 3-month-old cassava genotypes ECU72 and COL2246 were performed in a greenhouse using mesh cages as described by Irigoyen et al. (2020). Leaf tissue was collected at 0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 days post infestation and stored at -80°C until use. Experiments were repeated to obtain a total of three biological replicates.

Plant hormone treatments

Hormone treatments of 3-month-old cassava genotypes ECU72 and COL2246 were performed in growth chambers under long-day light conditions at 24-28°C in separate rooms as described by Irigoyen et al. (2020). Cassava leaves were sprayed to saturation with salicylic acid (200 µM SA, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20), methyl jasmonate (7.5 mM MeJA, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20), 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (200 µM ACC, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20), or abscisic acid (200 µM ABA, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20). Hormone treatment concentrations were based on similar values as used in tomato or wheat due to comparable impermeability to foliar sprays in tomato, wheat and cassava (Li et al., 2013b, Chen et al., 2013). Leaf tissue was collected at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 hours post treatment and stored at -80°C until use. Experiments were repeated to obtain a total of three biological replicates.

SA and JA treatments of 5-week-old Arabidopsis plants were performed in separate rooms at 22-27°C under incandescent lights (180 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹) under a long-day

light cycle (16-h light/8-h dark). Rosettes were sprayed until saturation with SA (100 μ M SA, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20) or MeJA (100 μ M MeJA, 0.1% EtOH, 0.01% Tween 20), with treatments beginning at 6AM. Leaf tissue was collected at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 hours post treatment and stored at -80°C until use. Experiments were repeated to obtain a total of three biological replicates.

RNA extraction, cDNA library preparation, sequencing, and data processing

Cassava RNA extraction was performed as described by Behnam et al. (2019) and RNA quality was assessed as described by Irigoven et al. (2020). cDNA library preparation and RNA-sequencing for cassava and Arabidopsis samples were performed as according to Irigoven et al. (2020), with sequencing carried out at the UCR Institute for Integrative Genome Biology Genomics Core. Libraries were prepared for the three biological replicates of each time point in the whitefly-infestation and hormone-treatment experiments. For libraries from whitefly-infestation experiments, the Illumina NextSeq500 and Illumina HiSeq2500 platforms were used to sequence single-end 75-bp reads (trimmed to 50-bp) and 50-bp reads, respectively. For libraries from Arabidopsis and cassava hormone-treatment experiments, the Illumina NextSeq500 platform was used to sequence single-end 75-bp reads. Twelve to fifteen libraries were multiplexed per lane to obtain an average of ~30-50, ~13-52 and ~20-38 million reads among the three biological replicates per time point for Arabidopsis hormone treatments, cassava hormone treatments and cassava whitefly infestations, respectively. Pearson correlation values ranging from 0.85-1.00, 0.73-0.99 and 0.69-0.98 were obtained among biological replicates for Arabidopsis hormone treatments, cassava hormone treatments and cassava whitefly infestations, respectively, confirming their reproducibility (Figure S2.1).

Following read trimming and filtering, alignment using Bowtie2/2.2.5 and Tophat 2.0.14 and DEG calling using DESeq2 were performed using systemPipeR (Backman and Girke, 2016). Detected genes were defined as having an average of 20 reads or less across a treatment time course. Temporal and genotype DEGs were identified by comparisons of 0.5-24 hpt to 0 hpt and transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 during treatment, respectively, and had $|\log_2FC| > 1$ and FDR $\leq 5\%$.

Ortholog identification

Hormone-, glucosinolate- and lignin-pathway genes in Arabidopsis thaliana as annotated in TAIR version 10 (Berardini et al., 2015) were assigned orthologs in the Manihot esculenta genome version 6.1 obtained from Phytozome (JGI) (Goodstein et al., 2012) using the online program eggNOG-mapper version 4.5 (Huerta-Cepas et al., 2017, Huerta-Cepas et al., 2019). The cassava proteome was submitted as query to eggNOGmapper using a DIAMOND (Double Index Alignment of Next-generation sequencing Data)-sensitive search to match input sequences to a protein with the most similar sequence (termed a "seed ortholog", supported by an e-value and a score) within the eggNOG database. eggNOG-mapper also assigned query sequences to eggNOG orthologous groups (OGs) based on precomputed phylogenies. The locations of cassava seed orthologs relative to Arabidopsis genes within an OG phylogenetic tree was ultimately used to assign cassava orthologs and inform cassava gene nomenclature. In the case of Arabidopsis genes equally distant from one or more cassava orthologs, the lower numbered Arabidopsis gene was used for naming. For example, as AtICS1 and AtICS2 are equally distant from the cassava seed ortholog POPTR_0012s07180.1 in the virNOG group 1EKG5 phylogenetic tree, the cassava gene corresponding to this seed ortholog is named MeICS1 (Table S2.9). Plant-specific OGs (virNOGs) were used in

naming cassava orthologs over database-wide OGs (NOGs). All other cassava gene names were obtained from Arabidopsis orthologs annotated for the *Manihot esculenta* genome version 6.1 on Phytozome (JGI) (Goodstein et al., 2012).

qRT-PCR

RNA levels for selected differentially expressed genes identified using RNAseq were confirmed by qRT-PCR using iQ SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA). cDNA templates were synthesized using 5 ng of mRNA following the Improm II reverse transcriptase protocol (Promega, Madison, WI). The control genes *MeUBQ* (Manes.10G122600) and *AtACT7* (AT5G09810) were selected based on their low variation in RPKM values across experimental time points. qRT-PCR was performed for selected genes using gene-specific primers (Table S2.15) and run on the Bio-rad CFX Connects instrument. Melting curve analyses were performed to confirm PCR product specificity. Relative expression changes were calculated by the comparative Ct method; fold change was calculated as $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Three biological and technical replicates were used. Fold-change values are displayed with standard error.

Principal component and correlation analyses

Principal component analyses were performed using the R packages ggplot2 and DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014, Wickman, 2016) using count values for all detected genes. For Pearson correlation analyses comparing biological replicates following hormone or whitefly treatments in cassava or Arabidopsis, the R package ggplot2 was used. Pearson correlation for the comparison of cassava early and late phase hormone responses was performed using the R package corrplot (Wei and Simko, 2017). Average log₂FC values were calculated across time points for each treatment phase. Phases were defined using

Figure 2.2. COL2246's early and late phases for all hormone treatments were 0.5-2 and 4-12 hpt, respectively. ECU72's phases were identical to those of COL2246 for JA, ET and ABA treatments, but its SA early and late phases were 0.5-1 and 2-24 hpt, respectively. The strength of correlation R-values was defined according to Evans (1996) as very weak ([0.00–0.19]), weak ([0.20–0.39]), moderate ([0.40–0.59]), strong ([0.60–0.79]), or very strong ([0.80–1.00]). PCA time points were labeled using color scales from the R package viridis (Garnier, 2018).

Gene expression clustering and visualization

Ordering of gene expression values by k-means or hierarchical clustering was performed using the base R stats package v3.6.2 and the R package ComplexHeatmap (Gu et al., 2016), respectively. Heatmaps displaying gene expression values (mean RPKM or log₂FC) clustered by either method were constructed using the R package ComplexHeatmap. Other visualizations of gene expression data in boxplot or line graphs were constructed using the R package ggplot2, with scale colors for DEG count bar graphs from the R package RColorBrewer (Neuwirth, 2014). Boxplot whiskers represent values within 1.5 x IQR, and box values represent the first quartile, median, and third quartile values. Arabidopsis ET and ABA microarray data sets (0.5, 1, and 3 hpt) visualized in heatmaps comparing hormone responses of Arabidopsis and cassava hormone-pathway genes were acquired from Goda et al. (2008). To better represent the full spectrum of temporal responses to ET and ABA, these data sets were combined with those acquired from an ET treatment performed in Schenk et al. (2000) (24 hpt) and an ABA treatment performed in Huang et al. (2007) (6 and 24 hpt) for comparison of Arabidopsis and cassava hormone-responsive DEG counts. The R package VennDiagram was used to construct Venn diagrams. Gene expression data is available in Tables S2.1 and S2.6.

Metabolite quantification and transcript correlation

Metabolite levels of hormones were obtained from untargeted metabolomics on cassava samples prepared by Perez-Fons et al. (2019). Detection and characterization of putative glucosinolates in a pool containing equal parts of infested ECU72 and COL2246 samples was attempted using collection methods stated in Perez-Fons et al. (2019) and the standard methodology described in Crocoll et al. (2016) and Clark (2010). 30 mg of dried powder was dissolved in 1 ml of 85% methanol and shake for 4 min at room temperature, centrifuged at 20 000 g for 5 min and pellet discarded. An aliquot of 100 µl was used as crude extract and the remaining solution used for in-column sulfatase treatment. Sulfatase (Sigma-Aldrich) solution and DEAE-Sephadex A25 column (Sigma-Aldrich) were prepared as detailed in Crocoll et al. (2016). Briefly, a 200 µl column solution in potassium acetate 20 mM pH 5 was loaded into 1 ml glass pipette tip with glass wool and remaining crude extract (900 μ l) loaded in. The column was washed twice with 70% ethanol and water (100 µl each). Then 20 µl of sulfatase solution was added and reaction left overnight at room temperature. Reaction products (desulfonated glucosinolates) were collected by eluting with 200 µl of water and stored at -20° C until LC-MS analysis. The procedure was repeated using a solution of sinigrin and glucotropaeolin (0.5 mg/ml, 200 μl) as references of aliphatic and phenyl derivatives of glucosinolates as positive control, and a blank solution (70% ethanol) as negative control. A separate experiment was prepared by extracting plant material at 100° C for 4 min to inactivate any residual myrosinase activity and both experiments compared. No differences in composition were observed.

For the analysis of the crude extracts and collected fractions, an Agilent's 1290 UPLC and a 6560 Ion mobility Q-TOF mass spectrometer equipped with an Agilent Jet Stream

(AJS) electrospray source was used in negative mode. Compounds were separated in a Zorbax RRHD Eclipse Plus C18 2.1x50 mm, 1.8 µm using a two solvents gradient consisting of (A) 2.5% acetonitrile in water and (B) acetonitrile, both solvents containing 0.03% vol. formic acid. Gradient started at 2% B for 1 min, increase to 30% B over 5 min, stay isocratic for 1 min followed by an increase to 90% B in two minutes and stay isocratic for another two minutes. Initial conditions were restored and re-equilibration lasted 3 minutes. The total runtime per sample was 15 min and flowrate was set at 0.3 ml/min. Nebulizer and sheath gas temperatures were 325° and 275° C respectively; flowrate of drying and sheath gas (nitrogen) were 5 and 12 L/min respectively and nebulizer pressure 35 psi. Capillary VCap, nozzle and fragmentor voltages were set at 4000, 500 and 400 V respectively. A reference mass solution was continuously infused to ensure mass accuracy calibration at 24-25 K resolution. Injection volume was 1 µl. A mix solution of commercial standards of glucosinolates (sinigrin and glucotropaeolin) representing allyl and benzyl-derivatives were used as reference material and for methodology validation purposes (Figure 2.25b).

The UCR in-house program MOCA v0.9.6 (Hur and Kirkwood, 2019) was used to identify hormone-pathway transcripts with expression levels strongly correlated ($R \ge 0.70$) to levels of their corresponding metabolite to confirm metabolite classification.

GO term enrichment

The R package ClusterProfiler (Yu et al., 2012) was used to perform GO-term enrichment analyses of cassava whitefly- and/or hormone-responsive DEG gene sets. Results of enrichment analyses display only those terms within the "biological process" GO category. Terms were additionally grouped into categories based on shared ancestral

GO terms. Significant GO terms are defined as those with p-values ≤ 0.05 .

Supplemental Material

Supplemental Tables

 Table S2.1. Log₂FC and FDR values for whitefly- and hormone-regulated cassava DEGs.

Table S2.2. Counts of temporal and genotype DEGs identified in cassava after whitefly or hormone treatments.

Table S2.3. Pearson correlation R and p-values for cassava hormone correlations.

Table S2.4. Enriched GO term IDs, descriptions, adjusted p-values, and associated loci for cassava hormone expression clusters.

Table S2.5. Expression values for external study Arabidopsis hormone treatment DEGs.

Table S2.6. Expression values for Arabidopsis hormone treatment DEGs.

Table S2.7. log2FC and p-values or signal ratio values of DEGs in Arabidopsis after ET treatment.

Table S2.8. Hormone and lignin pathway nomenclature definitions in cassava.

Table S2.9. Hormone pathway gene counts in Arabidopsis vs cassava.

Table S2.10. Enriched GO term IDs, descriptions, adjusted p-values, and associated loci for cassava infestation expression clusters.

Table S2.11. Counts and percents of cassava hormone- and whitefly-regulated treatment and genotype DEGs.

 Table S2.12.
 Identifying information and statistical values for hormones measured via untargeted metabolomics.

Table S2.13. Enriched GO term IDs, descriptions, adjusted p-values, and associated loci

 for whitefly- and hormone-regulated cassava genotype DEGs.

Table S2.14. Counts of genes associated with enriched GO term categories in ECU72 versus COL2246 or vice versa during whitefly and hormone treatments.

Table S2.15. qRT-PCR primers.

Supplemental Figures

Figure S2.1. Correlations for cassava and Arabidopsis treatment samples.

(a,b) Pearson correlation R and p-values between biological replicates for genes detected during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and COL2246, respectively.

(c-f) Pearson correlation R and p-values between biological replicates for genes detected during SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments, respectively, in ECU72.

(g-j) Pearson correlation R and p-values between biological replicates for genes detected during SA, JA, ET, and ABA treatments, respectively, in COL2246.

(k,I) Pearson correlation R and p-values between biological replicates for genes detected during SA and JA treatments, respectively, in Arabidopsis.

Detected genes were defined as having an average of 20 reads or more across a hormone treatment time course. Read count values for three biological replicates are shown per time point. Count values for each time point are labeled by color.

References

- Alhoraibi, H., Bigeard, J., Rayapuram, N., Colcombet, J. & Hirt, H. 2019. Plant Immunity: The MTI-ETI Model and Beyond. *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*, 30, 39-58.
- Alicai, T., Omongo, C. A., Maruthi, M. N., Hillocks, R. J., Baguma, Y., Kawuki, R., Bua, A., Otim-Nape, G. W. & Colvin, J. 2007. Re-emergence of cassava brown streak disease in Uganda. *Plant Disease*, 91, 24-29.
- Aljbory, Z. & Chen, M. S. 2018. Indirect plant defense against insect herbivores: a review. *Insect Science*, 25, 2-23.
- Ally, H. M., Hamss, H. E., Simiand, C., Maruthi, M. N., Colvin, J., Omongo, C. A. & Delatte, H. 2019. What has changed in the outbreaking populations of the severe crop pest whitefly species in cassava in two decades? *Sci Rep*, 9, 14796.
- Alon, M., Elbaz, M., Ben-Zvi, M. M., Feldmesser, E., Vainstein, A. & Morin, S. 2012. Insights into the transcriptomics of polyphagy: *Bemisia tabaci* adaptability to phenylpropanoids involves coordinated expression of defense and metabolic genes. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol*, 42, 251-63.
- Andersen, M. D., Busk, P. K., Svendsen, I. & Moller, B. L. 2000. Cytochromes P-450 from cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz) catalyzing the first steps in the biosynthesis of the cyanogenic glucosides linamarin and lotaustralin. Cloning, functional expression in *Pichia pastoris*, and substrate specificity of the isolated recombinant enzymes. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 1966-75.
- Antony, B. & Palaniswami, M. S. 2006. Bemisia tabaci feeding induces pathogenesisrelated proteins in cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Indian journal of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 43, 182-185.

 Atim, J. 2021. Phenotyping and Genetics of Whitefly, Bemsia tabaci, Resistance in African and South American Cassava Genotypes. PhD, University of Greenwich.
 Backman, T. W. H. & Girke, T. 2016. SystemPipeR: NGS workflow and report

- generation environment. BMC Bioinformatics, 17, 388.
- Barilli, D. R., Wengrat, A.P.G.D., Guimarães, A.T.B., Pietrowski, V., Ringenberg, R., Garcia, M.S. 2019. Resistance of cassava genotypes to *Bemisia tuberculata*. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 13, 663–669.
- Behnam, B., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Castaneda-Mendez, O. F., Tsuji, H., Ishitani, M. & Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. 2019. An optimized isolation protocol yields highquality RNA from cassava tissues (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz). *FEBS Open Bio*, 9, 814-825.
- Bellotti, A. 1983. Descripción de las plagas que atacan la yuca (Manihot esculenta Crantz) y características de sus daños, CIAT.

- Bellotti, A. & Arias, B. 2001. Host plant resistance to whiteflies with emphasis on cassava as a case study. *Crop Protection*, 813-823.
- Berardini, T. Z., Reiser, L., Li, D., Mezheritsky, Y., Muller, R., Strait, E. & Huala, E. 2015. The Arabidopsis information resource: Making and mining the "gold standard" annotated reference plant genome. *Genesis*, 53, 474-85.
- Bertea, C. M., Casacci, L. P., Bonelli, S., Zampollo, A. & Barbero, F. 2020. Chemical, physiological and molecular responses of host plants to lepidopteran egg-laying. *Frontiers in plant science*, 10, 1768.
- Bleeker, P. M., Diergaarde, P. J., Ament, K., Guerra, J., Weidner, M., Schutz, S., de Both, M. T., Haring, M. A. & Schuurink, R. C. 2009. The role of specific tomato volatiles in tomato-whitefly interaction. *Plant Physiol*, 151, 925-35.
- Bohorquez, A., Tohme, J., Parsa, S. & Becerra López-Lavalle, L. A. 2013. Phenotyping cassava (Manihot esculenta) resistance to whitefly (Aleurotrachelus socialis).
 First International Whitefly Symposium, Kolymbari, Creta, Grecia: Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT).
- Broekgaarden, C., Pelgrom, K. T. B., Bucher, J., van Dam, N. M., Grosser, K., Pieterse, C. M. J., van Kaauwen, M., Steenhuis, G., Voorrips, R. E., de Vos, M., Vosman, B., Worrich, A. & van Wees, S. C. M. 2018. Combining QTL mapping with transcriptome and metabolome profiling reveals a possible role for ABA signaling in resistance against the cabbage whitefly in cabbage. *PLoS One*, 13, e0206103.
- Broekgaarden, C., Poelman, E. H., Voorrips, R. E., Dicke, M. & Vosman, B. 2010. Intraspecific variation in herbivore community composition and transcriptional profiles in field-grown *Brassica oleracea* cultivars. *J Exp Bot*, 61, 807-19.
- Byrne, D. N., Bellows, T. 1991. Whitefly Biology. Annual Review of Entomology, 36, 431-457.
- Caarls, L., Pieterse, C. M. & Van Wees, S. C. 2015. How salicylic acid takes transcriptional control over jasmonic acid signaling. *Front Plant Sci*, 6, 170.
- Cao, F. Y., Yoshioka, K. & Desveaux, D. 2011. The roles of ABA in plant-pathogen interactions. *J Plant Res*, 124, 489-99.
- Cao, J. & Tan, X. 2019. Comprehensive Analysis of the Chitinase Family Genes in Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). Plants (Basel), 8.
- Chen, L., Dodd, I.C., Davies, W.J., Wilkinson, S. 2013. Ethylene limits abscisic acid- or soil drying-induced stomatal closure in aged wheat leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 36, 1850–1859.
- Clark, D. B. 2010. Glucosinolates, structures and analysis in food. *Analytical Methods*, 2, 301-416.

- Crocoll, C., Halkier, B. A. & Burow, M. 2016. Analysis and Quantification of Glucosinolates. *Curr Protoc Plant Biol*, 1, 385-409.
- Cruz, P. L., Baldin, E. L. L. & de Castro, M. D. P. 2014. Characterization of antibiosis to the silverleaf whitefly *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in cowpea entries. *Journal of Pest Science*, 87, 639-645.
- Delano-Frier, J. P. & Estrada-Hernandez, M. G. 2009. *Bemisia tabaci*-infested tomato plants show a phase-specific pattern of photosynthetic gene expression indicative of disrupted electron flow leading to photo-oxidation and plant death. *Plant Signal Behav*, 4, 992-5.
- Dempsey, D. A., Vlot, A. C., Wildermuth, M. C. & Klessig, D. F. 2011. Salicylic Acid biosynthesis and metabolism. *Arabidopsis Book*, 9, e0156.
- Derksen, H., Rampitsch, C. & Daayf, F. 2013. Signaling cross-talk in plant disease resistance. *Plant Sci*, 207, 79-87.
- Duran-Flores, D. & Heil, M. 2016. Sources of specificity in plant damaged-self recognition. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 32, 77-87.
- Escobar-Bravo, R., Alba, J. M., Pons, C., Granell, A., Kant, M. R., Moriones, E. & Fernandez-Munoz, R. 2016. A Jasmonate-Inducible Defense Trait Transferred from Wild into Cultivated Tomato Establishes Increased Whitefly Resistance and Reduced Viral Disease Incidence. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1732.
- Esmaeily, S., Amin Samih, M. & Izadi, H. 2020. Induced eggplant resistance against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* triggered by jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding. *Bull Entomol Res*, 110, 285-292.
- Esmaeily, S., Samih, M. A. & Izadi, H. 2021. Induced resistance by jasmonic and abscisic acids and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding on *Solanum lycopersicum* against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum*. *International Journal of Pest Management*, 67, 46-57.
- Evans, J. D. 1996. *Straightforward statistics for the behavioral sciences*, Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- FAO 2019. Protecting cassava, a neglected crop, from pests and diseases. Rome, Italy: FAO.
- Finkelstein, R. 2013. Abscisic Acid synthesis and response. *Arabidopsis Book,* 11, e0166.
- Fister, A. S., O'Neil, S. T., Shi, Z., Zhang, Y., Tyler, B. M., Guiltinan, M. J. & Maximova, S. N. 2015. Two Theobroma cacao genotypes with contrasting pathogen tolerance show aberrant transcriptional and ROS responses after salicylic acid treatment. J Exp Bot, 66, 6245-58.

- Foyer, C. H., Verrall, S. R. & Hancock, R. D. 2015. Systematic analysis of phloemfeeding insect-induced transcriptional reprogramming in Arabidopsis highlights common features and reveals distinct responses to specialist and generalist insects. J Exp Bot, 66, 495-512.
- Gao, L. L., Anderson, J. P., Klingler, J. P., Nair, R. M., Edwards, O. R. & Singh, K. B. 2007. Involvement of the octadecanoid pathway in bluegreen aphid resistance in Medicago truncatula. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 20, 82-93.
- Garnier, S. 2018. viridis: Default Color Maps from 'matplotlib'.
- Glazebrook, J. 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, 43, 205-27.
- Goda, H., Sasaki, E., Akiyama, K., Maruyama-Nakashita, A., Nakabayashi, K., Li, W.,
 Ogawa, M., Yamauchi, Y., Preston, J., Aoki, K., Kiba, T., Takatsuto, S., Fujioka,
 S., Asami, T., Nakano, T., Kato, H., Mizuno, T., Sakakibara, H., Yamaguchi, S.,
 Nambara, E., Kamiya, Y., Takahashi, H., Hirai, M. Y., Sakurai, T., Shinozaki, K.,
 Saito, K., Yoshida, S. & Shimada, Y. 2008. The AtGenExpress hormone and
 chemical treatment data set: experimental design, data evaluation, model data
 analysis and data access. *Plant J*, 55, 526-42.
- Goiana, E. S. S., Dias-Pini, N. S., Muniz, C. R., Soares, A. A., Alves, J. C., Vidal-Netoa, F. C. & Da Silva, C. S. B. 2020. Dwarf-cashew resistance to whitefly (*Aleurodicus cocois*) linked to morphologicaland histochemical characteristics of leaves. *Pest Management Science*, 76, 464–471.
- Gold, C., Altieri, M. & Bellotti, A. 1991. Survivorship of the cassava whiteflies *Aleurotrachelus socialis* and *Trialeurodes variabilis* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) under different cropping systems in Colombia. *Crop protection*, 10, 305-309.
- Goodstein, D. M., Shu, S., Howson, R., Neupane, R., Hayes, R. D., Fazo, J., Mitros, T., Dirks, W., Hellsten, U., Putnam, N. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2012. Phytozome: a comparative platform for green plant genomics. *Nucleic acids research*, 40, D1178-D1186.
- Gouhier-Darimont, C., Stahl, E., Glauser, G. & Reymond, P. 2019. The Arabidopsis lectin receptor kinase LecRK-I. 8 is involved in insect egg perception. *Frontiers in plant science*, 10, 623.
- Greenham, K., Sartor, R. C., Zorich, S., Lou, P., Mockler, T. C. & McClung, C. R. 2020. Expansion of the circadian transcriptome in *Brassica rapa* and genome-wide diversification of paralog expression patterns. *Elife*, 9.
- Gu, Z., Eils, R. & Schlesner, M. 2016. Complex heatmaps reveal patterns and correlations in multidimensional genomic data. *Bioinformatics*, 32, 2847-9.

- Gust, A. A., Pruitt, R. & Nurnberger, T. 2017. Sensing Danger: Key to Activating Plant Immunity. *Trends Plant Sci*, 22, 779-791.
- Herrera-Vasquez, A., Salinas, P. & Holuigue, L. 2015. Salicylic acid and reactive oxygen species interplay in the transcriptional control of defense genes expression. *Front Plant Sci*, 6, 171.
- Hickman, R., Van Verk, M. C., Van Dijken, A. J. H., Mendes, M. P., Vroegop-Vos, I. A., Caarls, L., Steenbergen, M., Van der Nagel, I., Wesselink, G. J., Jironkin, A., Talbot, A., Rhodes, J., De Vries, M., Schuurink, R. C., Denby, K., Pieterse, C. M. J. & Van Wees, S. C. M. 2017. Architecture and Dynamics of the Jasmonic Acid Gene Regulatory Network. *Plant Cell*, 29, 2086-2105.
- Hillocks, R. J., Raya, M. D., Mtunda, K. & Kiozia, H. 2001. Effects of brown streak virus disease on yield and quality of cassava in Tanzania. *J. Phytopathology*, 149, 389-394.
- Hofius, D., Tsitsigiannis, D. I., Jones, J. D. & Mundy, J. 2007. Inducible cell death in plant immunity. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 17, 166-87.
- Hondelmann, P., Paul, C., Schreiner, M. & Meyhofer, R. 2020. Importance of Antixenosis and Antibiosis Resistance to the Cabbage Whitefly (Aleyrodes proletella) in Brussels Sprout Cultivars. *Insects*, 11.
- Howe, G. A. & Jander, G. 2008. Plant immunity to insect herbivores. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 59, 41-66.
- Huang, D., Jaradat, M. R., Wu, W., Ambrose, S. J., Ross, A. R., Abrams, S. R. & Cutler, A. J. 2007. Structural analogs of ABA reveal novel features of ABA perception and signaling in Arabidopsis. *Plant J*, 50, 414-28.
- Huerta-Cepas, J., Forslund, K., Coelho, L. P., Szklarczyk, D., Jensen, L. J., von Mering, C. & Bork, P. 2017. Fast Genome-Wide Functional Annotation through Orthology Assignment by eggNOG-Mapper. *Mol Biol Evol*, 34, 2115-2122.
- Huerta-Cepas, J., Szklarczyk, D., Heller, D., Hernandez-Plaza, A., Forslund, S. K., Cook, H., Mende, D. R., Letunic, I., Rattei, T., Jensen, L. J., von Mering, C. & Bork, P. 2019. eggNOG 5.0: a hierarchical, functionally and phylogenetically annotated orthology resource based on 5090 organisms and 2502 viruses. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 47, D309-D314.
- Hur, M. & Kirkwood, J. 2019. Multi-Omics CoAnalysis (MOCA): an integrative, interactive, and informative workbench for correlative analyses. 1st annual Metabolomics Association of North America (MANA). Atlanta, GA.
- Ibrahim, M., Yasmeen, S., Zaman, G., Bin, L., Al-Qurainy, F., Athar, H., Shah, K.H., Khurshid, M., Ashraf, M. 2016. Protein profiling analysis of *Gossypium hirsutum*

(Malvales: Malvaceae) leaves infested by cotton whitefly *Bemisia tabaci* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, 51, 599–607.

- Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. B., Perez-Fons, L., Fraser, P. D. & Walling, L. L. 2020. Genome-wide analyses of cassava *Pathogenesis-related (PR)* gene families reveal core transcriptome responses to whitefly infestation, salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. *BMC Genomics*, 21, 93.
- Jarvis, A., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Herrera Campo, B. V. & Navarro-Racines, C. 2012. Is cassava the answer to African climate change adaptation? *Tropical Plant Biology*, 5, 9-29.
- Jiang, Y. X., Zareh, N., Walker, G. P. & Teuber, L. R. 2003. Characterization of alfalfa germplasm expressing resistance to silverleaf whitefly, *Bemisia argentifolii*. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 127, 447–457.
- Jones, J. D. & Dangl, J. L. 2006. The plant immune system. *Nature*, 444, 323-9.
- Kaloshian, I. & Walling, L. L. 2005. Hemipterans as plant pathogens. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 43, 491-521.
- Kanyuka, K. & Rudd, J. J. 2019. Cell surface immune receptors: the guardians of the plant's extracellular spaces. *Curr Opin Plant Biol,* 50, 1-8.
- Khan, M. M., Khan, M.Y., Ullah, R.M.K., Yasir, M., Khalid, A., and Khan, M.A. 2018. Morphological and biochemical characters of eggplant (*Solanum melongena*) conferring resistance against whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*). *Journal of Entomology* and Zoology Studies, 6, 915-920.
- Legg, J. P., Sseruwagi, P., Boniface, S., Okao-Okuja, G., Shirima, R., Bigirimana, S., Gashaka, G., Herrmann, H. W., Jeremiah, S., Obiero, H., Ndyetabula, I., Tata-Hangy, W., Masembe, C. & Brown, J. K. 2014. Spatio-temporal patterns of genetic change amongst populations of cassava *Bemisia tabaci* whiteflies driving virus pandemics in East and Central Africa. *Virus Research*, 186, 61-75.
- Li, J., Besseau, S., Toronen, P., Sipari, N., Kollist, H., Holm, L. & Palva, E. T. 2013. Defense-related transcription factors WRKY70 and WRKY54 modulate osmotic stress tolerance by regulating stomatal aperture in Arabidopsis. *New Phytol*, 200, 457-72.
- Li, J., Brader, G., Kariola, T. & Palva, E. T. 2006a. WRKY70 modulates the selection of signaling pathways in plant defense. *Plant J*, 46, 477-91.
- Li, J., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Wang, Q., Chen, L., Zhang, Q., Wang, M., Mansoor, S., Zhang, X. & Jin, S. 2019a. Genome-Wide Analysis of Cotton miRNAs During Whitefly Infestation Offers New Insights into Plant-Herbivore Interaction. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- Li, J., Zhu, L., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Daniell, H., Jin, S. & Zhang, X. 2016b. Transcriptome analysis reveals a comprehensive insect resistance response mechanism in cotton to infestation by the phloem feeding insect *Bemisia tabaci* (whitefly). *Plant Biotechnol J*.
- Li, Q., Xie, Q. G., Smith-Becker, J., Navarre, D. A. & Kaloshian, I. 2006b. *Mi-1*-Mediated aphid resistance involves salicylic acid and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascades. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 19, 655-64.
- Li, Y. & Loake, G. J. 2016. Redox-Regulated Plant Transcription Factors. *In:* D. H., G. (ed.) *Plant Transcription Factors.* Academic Press.
- Lin, P. A., Chen, Y., Chaverra-Rodriguez, D., Heu, C. C., Zainuddin, N. B., Sidhu, J. S., Peiffer, M., Tan, C. W., Helms, A., Kim, D., Ali, J., Rasgon, J. L., Lynch, J., Anderson, C. T. & Felton, G. W. 2021. Silencing the alarm: an insect salivary enzyme closes plant stomata and inhibits volatile release. *New Phytol*, 230, 793-803.
- Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2(-\Delta \Delta C(T))$ method. *Methods*, 25, 402-8.
- Lolle, S., Stevens, D. & Coaker, G. 2020. Plant NLR-triggered immunity: from receptor activation to downstream signaling. *Curr Opin Immunol,* 62, 99-105.
- Love, M. I., Huber, W. & Anders, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol*, 15, 550.
- Luan, J. B., Yao, D. M., Zhang, T., Walling, L. L., Yang, M., Wang, Y. J. & Liu, S. S. 2013. Suppression of terpenoid synthesis in plants by a virus promotes its mutualism with vectors. *Ecol Lett*, 16, 390-8.
- Macfadyen, S., Paull, C., Boykin, L. M., De Barro, P., Maruthi, M. N., Otim, M., Kalyebi, A., Vassao, D. G., Sseruwagi, P., Tay, W. T., Delatte, H., Seguni, Z., Colvin, J. & Omongo, C. A. 2018. Cassava whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius) (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in East African farming landscapes: a review of the factors determining abundance. *Bull Entomol Res*, 108, 565-582.
- Manyong, V. M., Dixon, A.G.O., Makinde, K.O., Bokanga, M., Whyte, J. 2000. The Contribution of IITA-Improved Cassava to Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Impact Study. *IITA*.
- Mikkelsen, M. D. & Halkier, B. A. 2003. Metabolic engineering of valine- and isoleucinederived glucosinolates in Arabidopsis expressing CYP79D2 from Cassava. *Plant Physiol*, 131, 773-9.
- Muigai, S. G., Schuster, D. J., Snyder, J. C., Scott, J. W., Bassett, M. J. & McAuslane, A. J. 2002. Mechanisms of Resistance in Lycopersicon Germplasm to the Whitefly Bemisia argentifolii. *Phytoparasitica*, 30, 347-360.

- Murashige, T. & Skoog, F. 1962. A Revised Medium for Rapid Growth and Bio Assays with Tobacco Tissue Cultures. *Plant Physiol*, 473-497, 473-497.
- Mwila, N., Odong, T. L., Nuwamanya, E., Badji, A., Agbahoungba, S., Ibanda, P. A., Kumi, F., Mwala, M., Sohati, P., Kyamanywa, S. & Rubaihayo, P. R. 2018. Gene Action of Cassava Resistance Metabolites to Whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*). *Biotechnology Journal International*, 22, 1-16.
- Mwila, N., Rubaihayo, P. R., Kyamanywa, S., ODong, T. L., Nuwamanya, E., Mwala, M., Agbahoungba, S. & Badji, A. 2017. BIOCHEMICAL FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH CASSAVA RESISTANCE TO WHITEFLY INFESTATION. *African Crop Science Journal*, 25, 365-385.
- Naur, P., Petersen, B. L., Mikkelsen, M. D., Bak, S., Rasmussen, H., Olsen, C. E. & Halkier, B. A. 2003. CYP83A1 and CYP83B1, two nonredundant cytochrome P450 enzymes metabolizing oximes in the biosynthesis of glucosinolates in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 133, 63-72.
- Nebreda, M., Nombela, G. & Muñiz, M. 2005. Comparative Host Suitability of Some Brassica Cultivars for the Whitefly, *Aleyrodes proletella* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Environmental Entomology*, 34, 205-209.
- Neuwirth, E. 2014. RColorBrewer: ColorBrewer Palettes.
- Nguyen, D., Rieu, I., Mariani, C. & van Dam, N. M. 2016. How plants handle multiple stresses: hormonal interactions underlying responses to abiotic stress and insect herbivory. *Plant Mol Biol*, 91, 727-40.
- Noctor, G., Reichheld, J. P. & Foyer, C. H. 2018. ROS-related redox regulation and signaling in plants. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, 80, 3-12.
- O'Brien, J. A., Daudi, A., Butt, V. S. & Bolwell, G. P. 2012. Reactive oxygen species and their role in plant defence and cell wall metabolism. *Planta,* 236, 765-79.
- Oates, C. N., Denby, K. J., Myburg, A. A., Slippers, B. & Naidoo, S. 2021. Insect egginduced physiological changes and transcriptional reprogramming leading to gall formation. *Plant, Cell & Environment,* 44, 535-547.
- Omongo, C. A., Kawuki, R., Bellotti, A. C., Alicai, T., Baguma, Y., Maruthi, M. N., Bua, A. & Colvin, J. 2012. African Cassava Whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci*, Resistance in African and South American Cassava Genotypes. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 11, 327-336.
- Onkokesung, N., Reichelt, M., van Doorn, A., Schuurink, R. C. & Dicke, M. 2016. Differential Costs of Two Distinct Resistance Mechanisms Induced by Different Herbivore Species in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 170, 891-906.

- Park, Y. S. & Ryu, C. M. 2014. Understanding cross-communication between aboveground and belowground tissues via transcriptome analysis of a sucking insect whitefly-infested pepper plants. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 443, 272-7.
- Parsa, S., Medina, C. & Rodríguez, V. 2015. Sources of pest resistance in cassava. *Crop Protection*, 68, 79-84.
- Pauwels, L., Morreel, K., De Witte, E., Lammertyn, F., Van Montagu, M., Boerjan, W., Inze, D. & Goossens, A. 2008. Mapping methyl jasmonate-mediated transcriptional reprogramming of metabolism and cell cycle progression in cultured Arabidopsis cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 1380-5.
- Perez-Fons, L., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Morreel, K., Boerjan, W., Walling, L. L., Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. & Fraser, P. D. 2019. A metabolomics characterisation of natural variation in the resistance of cassava to whitefly. *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 518.
- Proietti, S., Caarls, L., Coolen, S., Van Pelt, J. A., Van Wees, S. C. M. & Pieterse, C. M. J. 2018. Genome-wide association study reveals novel players in defense hormone crosstalk in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell Environ*, 41, 2342-2356.
- Puthoff, D. P., Holzer, F. M., Perring, T. M. & Walling, L. L. 2010. Tomato pathogenesisrelated protein genes are expressed in response to *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* and *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B feeding. *J Chem Ecol*, 36, 1271-85.
- Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Grant, M. & Jones, J. D. 2011. Hormone crosstalk in plant disease and defense: More than just jasmonate-salicylate antagonism. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 49, 317-43.
- Rodriguez-Alvarez, C. I., Lopez-Climent, M. F., Gomez-Cadenas, A., Kaloshian, I. & Nombela, G. 2015. Salicylic acid is required for *Mi-1*-mediated resistance of tomato to whitefly *Bemisia tabaci*, but not for basal defense to this insect pest. *Bull Entomol Res*, 105, 574-82.
- Sawant, S. V., Tuli, R., Srivastava, R., Srivastava, M. & Nigam, D. 2009. Expression data from Arabidopsis Seedlings treated with Salicylic Acid (data available at GEO accession GSE14961).
- Schenk, P. M., Kazan, K., Wilson, I., Anderson, J. P., Richmond, T., Somerville, S. C. & Manners, J. M. 2000. Coordinated plant defense responses in Arabidopsis revealed by microarray analysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 11655-60.
- Seal, S. E., vandenBosch, F., and & Jeger, M.J. 2006. Factors Influencing Begomovirus Evolution and Their Increasing Global Significance: Implications for Sustainable Control. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 25, 23–46.

- Seyfferth, C. & Tsuda, K. 2014. Salicylic acid signal transduction: the initiation of biosynthesis, perception and transcriptional reprogramming. *Front Plant Sci*, 5, 697.
- Shannag, H. K. 2007. Effect of black bean aphid, *Aphis fabae*, on transpiration, stomatal conductance and crude protein content of faba bean. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 151, 183-188.
- Singh, M., Bag, S. K., Bhardwaj, A., Ranjan, A., Mantri, S., Nigam, D., Sharma, Y. K. & Sawant, S. V. 2015. Global nucleosome positioning regulates salicylic acid mediated transcription in Arabidopsis thaliana. *BMC Plant Biol*, 15, 13.
- Smith, C. M. & Chuang, W. P. 2014. Plant resistance to aphid feeding: behavioral, physiological, genetic and molecular cues regulate aphid host selection and feeding. *Pest Manag Sci*, 70, 528-40.
- Stepanova, A. N. & Alonso, J. M. 2009. Ethylene signaling and response: where different regulatory modules meet. *Curr Opin Plant Biol,* 12, 548-55.
- Sun, Y. C., Pan, L. L., Ying, F. Z., Li, P., Wang, X. W. & Liu, S. S. 2017. Jasmonic acidrelated resistance in tomato mediates interactions between whitefly and whitefly transmitted virus. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 7.
- Teuber, L. R., Rupert, M. E., Gibbs, L. K. & Taggard, K. L. 1996. Breeding resistant alfalfa holds promise for silverleaf whitefly management. *California Agriculture, May-June*, 25-29.
- Thaler, J. S., Humphrey, P. T. & Whiteman, N. K. 2012. Evolution of jasmonate and salicylate signal crosstalk. *Trends Plant Sci*, 17, 260-70.
- Thibaud-Nissen, F., Wu, H., Richmond, T., Redman, J. C., Johnson, C., Green, R., Arias, J. & Town, C. D. 2006. Development of Arabidopsis whole-genome microarrays and their application to the discovery of binding sites for the TGA2 transcription factor in salicylic acid-treated plants. *Plant J*, 47, 152-62.
- Thompson, A. M. G., Iancu, C. V., Neet, K. E., Dean, J. V. & Choe, J. Y. 2017. Differences in salicylic acid glucose conjugations by UGT74F1 and UGT74F2 from Arabidopsis thaliana. *Sci Rep*, 7, 46629.
- Tobias, P. A., Christie, N., Naidoo, S., Guest, D. I. & Kulheim, C. 2017. Identification of the Eucalyptus grandis chitinase gene family and expression characterization under different biotic stress challenges. *Tree Physiol*, 37, 565-582.
- Trezzini, G. F., Horrichs, A. & Somssich, I. E. 1993. Isolation of putative defense-related genes from Arabidopsis thaliana and expression in fungal elicitor-treated cells. *Plant Mol Biol,* 21, 385-9.

- Tzin, V., Fernandez-Pozo, N., Richter, A., Schmelz, E. A., Schoettner, M., Schafer, M., Ahern, K. R., Meihls, L. N., Kaur, H., Huffaker, A., Mori, N., Degenhardt, J., Mueller, L. A. & Jander, G. 2015. Dynamic Maize Responses to Aphid Feeding Are Revealed by a Time Series of Transcriptomic and Metabolomic Assays. *Plant Physiol*, 169, 1727-43.
- van de Ven, W. T., LeVesque, C. S., Perring, T. M. & Walling, L. L. 2000. Local and systemic changes in squash gene expression in response to silverleaf whitefly feeding. *Plant Cell*, 12, 1409-23.
- van Leeuwen, H., Kliebenstein, D. J., West, M. A., Kim, K., van Poecke, R., Katagiri, F., Michelmore, R. W., Doerge, R. W. & St Clair, D. A. 2007. Natural variation among Arabidopsis thaliana accessions for transcriptome response to exogenous salicylic acid. *Plant Cell*, 19, 2099-110.
- van Loon, L. C., Rep, M. & Pieterse, C. M. 2006. Significance of inducible defenserelated proteins in infected plants. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 44, 135-162.
- Walker, G. P. & Natwick, E. T. 2006. Resistance to silverleaf whitefly, *Bemisia argentifolii* (Hem., Aleyrodidae), in *Gossypium thurberi*, a wild cotton species. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 130, 429–436.
- Walling, L. L. 2000. The Myriad Plant Responses to Herbivores. *J Plant Growth Regul*, 19, 195-216.
- Walling, L. L. & Thompson, G. A. 2012. Phloem. Phloem. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Wang, X.-W., Li, P. & Shu-Sheng, L. 2017. Whitefly interactions with plants. *Current opinion in insect science*, 19, 70-75.
- Wasternack, C. 2014. Action of jasmonates in plant stress responses and development-applied aspects. *Biotechnol Adv*, 32, 31-9.
- Wasternack, C. & Strnad, M. 2016. Jasmonate signaling in plant stress responses and development active and inactive compounds. *N Biotechnol*, 33, 604-613.
- Wei, T. & Simko, V. 2017. R package "corrplot": Visualization of a Correlation Matrix.
- Wickman, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis, Springer-Verlag New York.
- Wu, X., Yan, J., Wu, Y., Zhang, H., Mo, S., Xu, X., Zhou, F. & Ding, H. 2019. Proteomic analysis by iTRAQ-PRM provides integrated insight into mechanisms of resistance in pepper to Bemisia tabaci (Gennadius). *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 270.
- Yang, L., Teixeira, P. J., Biswas, S., Finkel, O. M., He, Y., Salas-Gonzalez, I., English,
 M. E., Epple, P., Mieczkowski, P. & Dangl, J. L. 2017. *Pseudomonas syringae* Type III Effector HopBB1 Promotes Host Transcriptional Repressor Degradation

to Regulate Phytohormone Responses and Virulence. *Cell Host Microbe*, 21, 156-168.

- Yao, Q., Peng, Z., Tong, H., Yang, F., Xing, G., Wang, L., Zheng, J., Zhang, Y. & Su, Q.
 2019. Tomato Plant Flavonoids Increase Whitefly Resistance and Reduce
 Spread of Tomato yellow leaf curl virus. *J Econ Entomol*, 112, 2790-2796.
- Yu, G., Wang, L. G., Han, Y. & He, Q. Y. 2012. clusterProfiler: an R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. *OMICS*, 16, 284-7.
- Zarate, S. I., Kempema, L. A. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Silverleaf whitefly induces salicylic acid defenses and suppresses effectual jasmonic acid defenses. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 866-75.
- Zhang, P., Xu, C., Zhang, J., Lu, Y., Wei, J., Liu, Y., David, A., Boland, W. & Turlings, T. C. J. 2013a. Phloem-feeding whiteflies can fool their host plants, but not their parasitoids. *Functional Ecology*, 27, 1304–1312.
- Zhang, P.-J., Wei, J.-N., Zhao, C., Zhang, Y.-F., Li, C.-Y., Liu, S.-S., Dicke, M., Yu, X.-P. & Turlings, T. C. 2019. Airborne host–plant manipulation by whiteflies via an inducible blend of plant volatiles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116, 7387-7396.
- Zhang, P. J., Zheng, S. J., van Loon, J. J., Boland, W., David, A., Mumm, R. & Dicke, M. 2009. Whiteflies interfere with indirect plant defense against spider mites in Lima bean. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 21202-7.
- Zhang, S., Huang, H., Shan, H., Zhang, F., Wan, F. & Liu, T. 2013b. Defense against Pieris rapae in cabbage plants induced by *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 147, 293–300.
- Zhang, X., Sun, X., Zhao, H., Xue, M. & Wang, D. 2017. Phenolic compounds induced by *Bemisia tabaci* and *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* in *Nicotiana tabacum* L. and their relationship with the salicylic acid signaling pathway. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 1-9.
- Zhang, X., Xue, M. & Zhao, H. 2015a. Species-specific effects on salicylic acid content and subsequent *Myzus persicae* (Sulzer) performance by three phloem-sucking insects infesting *Nicotiana tabacum* L. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 9, 383–391.
- Zhao, Y., Huang, J., Wang, Z., Jing, S., Wang, Y., Ouyang, Y., Cai, B., Xin, X. F., Liu, X., Zhang, C., Pan, Y., Ma, R., Li, Q., Jiang, W., Zeng, Y., Shangguan, X., Wang, H., Du, B., Zhu, L., Xu, X., Feng, Y. Q., He, S. Y., Chen, R., Zhang, Q. & He, G. 2016. Allelic diversity in an NLR gene *BPH9* enables rice to combat planthopper variation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113, 12850-12855.
- Zhou, S., Lou, Y. R., Tzin, V. & Jander, G. 2015. Alteration of Plant Primary Metabolism in Response to Insect Herbivory. *Plant Physiol*, 169, 1488-98.

Zhu-Salzman, K., Salzman, R. A., Ahn, J. E. & Koiwa, H. 2004. Transcriptional regulation of sorghum defense determinants against a phloem-feeding aphid. *Plant Physiol*, 134, 420-31.

Chapter 3

Identification of whitefly defense genes via eQTL analysis

Abstract

Cassava, an important staple crop for small-shareholder African farmers, has suffered devastating yield losses due whitefly feeding and whitefly-vectored viral diseases. In an effort to better understand the genetic basis of resistance found in South American sources, whitefly-resistance loci were identified by Quantitative Trait Loci (QTL) mapping at CIAT. Two mapping populations were generated through crosses of whitefly-resistant South American genotype ECU72 with whitefly-susceptible South American genotype COL2246 (generating the CM population), or between ECU72 and whitefly-susceptible African genotype 60444 (generating the GM population). As an additional means of identifying genes important for defenses against whiteflies, here we utilize RNA sequencing on a selection of resistant and susceptible progeny from each population to identify eQTLs (expression QTLs). Several criteria to better identify eQTL-identified genes important for defense against whiteflies were applied including: location within a known whitefly-resistance QTL, location within a cluster of eQTLs, status as an eQTL hotspot, status as a differentially expressed gene (DEG) at 0 d post infestation (dpi) between parental lines, known role in plant defense, or status as an eQTL in both CM and GM populations. We identified more eQTLs and eQTL-associated genes, including those with known roles in defense, in the GM as compared to the CM population. In both populations, among defense-associated eQTL-identified genes, many were involved in immunity, defense signaling and cell wall processes. While no eQTL hotspots were identified in the CM population, a GM population hotspot identified MeSOAR1, a master negative regulator

of ABA signaling, which likely suppresses effective ABA responses in 60444 but not in ECU72. Such ABA responses included stomatal regulation or callose deposition. A set of eQTL-identified genes that are proposed whitefly-resistance factors are suggested as possible candidates for further testing in transgenic cassava.

Introduction

Crucial for the subsistence of small farmers in Africa, the staple crop cassava has faced and continues to suffer from substantial yield losses due to whiteflies, specifically the *Bemisia tabaci* species of sub-Saharan Africa (FAO, 2018). However, breeding efforts to improve whitefly resistance to combat such losses are stifled by a lack of genetic diversity within the African cassava germplasm (Bredeson et al., 2016). A more diverse spectrum of traits, including whitefly resistance, is instead found closer to cassava's center of origin (the Amazon) in South American cassava genotypes (Bellotti et al., 1999). With this resource, the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT, Cali, Colombia) has utilized whitefly-resistant South American, as well as whitefly-susceptible South American and African cassava genotypes, to better understand resistance. These efforts include quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and conducting infestations using the Latin American whitefly *Aleurotrachelus socialis* for transcriptomic and metabolomic analyses as previously reported (Chapter 2) (Irigoyen et al., 2020, Perez-Fons et al., 2019). Such work has resulted in the delineation of several QTL regions and a better understanding of cassava's transcriptome response to whitefly.

Expression QTLs (eQTLs) are defined as genomic markers (such as single nucleotide polymorphisms, SNPs) associated with changes in the expression of one or

more local (cis-eQTLs) or distal (trans-eQTLs) target genes. When an eQTL has many target genes, it is called a "hotspot", and suggests that the hotspot eQTL may act as major transcriptional regulator. As they can affect the expression of genes anywhere in the genome, trans-eQTLs have the possibility of affecting the expression of more genes and are thus more likely than *cis*-eQTLs to be major eQTL hotspots (Breitling et al., 2008). Together, the valuable associative information provided by eQTLs, especially when used in conjunction with other data sets (QTLs, transcriptomes, epigenomes, etc.), can aid in identifying genes or processes underlying desired traits (Gilad et al., 2008). In this study, we utilized eQTLs to identify genes with known roles in plant defense. Plant defense can be distinguished by two phases (Jones and Dangl, 2006). First, plants recognize conserved molecular signatures (also called elicitors), which can be divided into pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs), herbivore-associated molecular patterns (HAMPs) or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). This recognition triggers an initial immune response called PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) (Schwessinger and Zipfel, 2008). If the attacker is well-adapted to its plant host, it will then secrete effectors to suppress PTI. However, plant hosts that possess cognate resistance (R) genes (such as nucleotide-binding leucine-rich repeat proteins, NLRs) are able to recognize specific effectors and then activate defenses similar to but stronger than PTI called effectortriggered immunity (ETI). ETI results in resistance and the activation of downstream defense signals and defense-response genes (Cui et al., 2015).

Here, we identify eQTLs in the parents and F_1 progeny of two mapping populations to expedite the identification of cassava genes associated with whitefly resistance. These F_1 mapping populations were generated to map genes associated with whitefly resistance using QTLs. An Ecuadorian genotype (ECU72) showing pronounced and fast-acting

whitefly resistance (Omongo et al., 2012, Bellotti and Arias, 2001) was selected as the resistant parent in crosses with the South American whitefly-susceptible genotype COL2246 (the CM population) and the whitefly-susceptible African transformation line 60444 (the GM population). We sequenced the transcriptomes of selected resistant and susceptible F₁ progeny of CM and GM populations to identify single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and transcript levels for eQTL analysis. For mapping purposes, traditionally, F₂ populations are used, however, as cassava is a highly heterozygous tetraploid, sufficient genetic diversity among offspring can be generated in F₁ progeny for mapping. Several criteria were used to identify eQTLs that may play an important role in whitefly resistance or susceptibility: location within a known whitefly-resistance QTL, location within a cluster of eQTLs, status as an eQTL hotspot, status as a differentially expressed gene (DEG) at 0 dpi between parental lines, known role in plant defense, or status as an eQTL in both CM and GM populations. Using these criteria, genes involved in ABA-, redox-, cell-wall-, and other defense-related processes were identified as possible regulators or signatures of whitefly resistance in ECU72.

Results

eQTL analysis approach

In an effort to delineate the location of whitefly resistance genes, QTL regions were mapped using F₁ progeny of crosses between the whitefly-resistant ECU72 and the whitefly-susceptible COL2246 or 60444 (Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis, and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera, CIAT) (Bohorquez et al., 2013). The cross between ECU72 and COL2246 resulted in 238

 F_1 progeny (the CM population) and the ECU72 and 60444 cross generated 196 F_1 progeny (the GM population) (Figure 3.1). The resistance/susceptibility phenotypes of these plants were assessed by counting the number of nymphs three weeks after A. socialis infestation (Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, CIAT). A spectrum of whiteflysusceptible to whitefly-resistant phenotypes was observed in the progeny, showing that whitefly resistance is a quantitative trait (Young, 1996). Many progeny exceeded the resistance level of parent ECU72 in both populations. While several F₁ progeny were more susceptible than the susceptible parent 60444 in the GM population, this was not seen in the CM population. These phenomena indicate the presence of transgressive segregation (de Los Reyes, 2019). One example was seen with the resistance traits present in the susceptible parent (60444 or COL2246) that are passed to F_1 progeny to enhance the resistance mechanisms inherited from the resistant parent (ECU72) (Figure 3.1). The second example is the loci associated with susceptibility to whiteflies in the ECU72 genome that enhanced 60444's susceptibility. We additionally acknowledge that although the resistance/susceptibility levels of the selected progeny exist on a continuum, for the purposes of simplifying this study, progeny are referred to strictly as resistant or susceptible.

QTL mapping performed at CIAT identified seven and two QTL regions in the CM and GM populations, respectively (Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis, and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera, CIAT). Currently, the QTL regions are large with over 1,000 genes; refinement of these regions will be made after QTL mapping of F₂ populations, which are now being prepared for analysis (Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle and Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, personal communication). To expedite the identification of cassava genes associated with

whitefly resistance, RNA sequencing of RNA samples provided by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux was performed on selected resistant and susceptible individuals of the F_1 CM (11 resistant and 13 susceptible progeny) and GM (16 resistant and 17 susceptible progeny) populations for the purpose of eQTL identification (Figure 3.1). In addition to eQTLs that reside within the F_1 population QTL regions, additional eQTLs located in other genomic regions may capture a distinct set of genes associated with whitefly resistance that would be otherwise missed by QTL mapping alone.



Figure 3.1. Spectrum of whitefly resistance phenotypes in the CM and GM populations.

Numbers of nymphs following *A. socialis* infestation of ECU72 (red), COL2246 (blue), 60444 (blue), and F_1 progeny of the CM population and GM populations are shown. The whitefly-resistance F1 progeny (light red) and whitefly-susceptible F_1 progeny (light blue) selected for eQTL analyses are shown. Progeny not included in the eQTL analyses are shown in black. Plant growth and phenotype analysis was performed by Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux at CIAT.

For use in eQTL mapping, SNPs were first identified in comparisons of the cassava reference genome (Colombian cassava genotype AM560-2) (Bredeson et al., 2016) with the parental genotypes (ECU72, COL2246 and 60444) and the CM and GM population F₁ progeny. Filtering was performed to obtain 121,778 high-quality SNPs (see Methods). SNP calling and initial filtering was performed by Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis at CIAT. Further filtering was performed to remove SNPs with differing genotype calls across a parent's 15 samples (5 infestation time points, 3 replicates), as well as SNPs with no genotype calls among the progeny (Figure 3.2). To analyze only eQTLs representing genotypically distinct loci between the parents, SNP calls identical in both parental lines (ECU72 and COL2246 or ECU72 and 60444) were removed; in addition, if a SNP was called in one parent but the genotype at that position could not be determined in the other parent, it was removed (Figure 3.2).

Next, SNPs were separated based on the type of inheritance they displayed before further filtering. Four inheritance classes are defined and abbreviated henceforth as follows: (1) $R \rightarrow R$: SNPs in the resistant parent inherited by the resistant progeny; (2) $R \rightarrow S$: SNPs in the resistant parent inherited by the susceptible progeny; (3) $S \rightarrow S$: SNPs in the susceptible parent inherited by the susceptible progeny; and (4) $S \rightarrow R$: SNPs in the susceptible parent inherited by the resistant progeny. We next sought to reduce the complexity of the dataset. As whitefly resistance was shown to be quantitative (Figure 3.1), it was not expected that all resistant progeny should have all alleles required for resistance. To account for this, for each inheritance class, a SNP was retained if most F_1 progeny ($\geq 2/3$ of the individuals) matching each parental allele displayed the same ($R \rightarrow R$ or $S \rightarrow S$ classes) or opposite ($R \rightarrow S$ or $S \rightarrow R$ classes) phenotype as the parent. In these

cases, at least three individuals of the F_1 progeny must display the parental phenotypes (Figure 3.2).

After SNP filtering, eQTL analysis was performed, with eQTLs meeting $p \le 0.05$ and FDR ≤ 0.05 criteria considered to be significant (Figure 3.2). eQTLs were then filtered to examine only those eQTLs that were dominantly inherited, as such traits may be more easily introduced through future breeding efforts for whitefly resistance in cassava. As we are using F₁ progeny in these eQTL analyses, separation of F₁ phenotypes resulting from dominant traits can only be observed when at a locus the resistant parental genotype is heterozygous and the susceptible parent is homozygous (or vice versa) (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. Analysis workflow of SNP filtering and eQTL calling.

SNPs identified for ECU72, COL2246, and the F₁ progeny of the CM and GM populations were filtered as follows: (1) SNPs with differing genotype calls across a parent's 15 samples were removed; (2) SNPs with no genotype calls among the progeny or parents, or SNPs identical for both parents were removed; (3) for SNPs shared by one parent and several progeny, at least 2/3 of progeny must *match* the parental phenotype (R \rightarrow R and S \rightarrow S inheritance classes) or must *not match* the parental phenotype (R \rightarrow S and S \rightarrow R inheritance classes); (4) for SNPs shared by one parent and several progeny matching the parental phenotype must be at least three; (5) after SNP filtering, an eQTL analysis was performed, with significant eQTLs ($p \le 0.05 \&$ FDR ≤ 0.05) retained; (6) resulting eQTLs were separated by inheritance class (R \rightarrow R, S \rightarrow S, R \rightarrow S, or S \rightarrow R). The number of SNPs or eQTL for the CM and GM populations are shown following each aforementioned step. SNP calling and initial filtering to obtain good quality SNPs was performed by Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis at CIAT.

Expression data was also filtered prior to eQTL analysis to remove genes that did not meet our criteria for detection. Beginning with 33,033 genes in the cassava genome, genes with an average RPKM < 1 in both parental genotypes or in all F₁ progeny were removed. Finally, eQTLs of each inheritance class ($R \rightarrow R$, $R \rightarrow S$, $S \rightarrow S$, and $S \rightarrow R$) were categorized as *cis*- or *trans*-eQTLs. A total of 4,662 (3,582 *cis* and 1,080 *trans*) and 5,671 (4,122 *cis* and 1,549 *trans*) eQTLs were identified in the CM and GM populations, respectively (Figure 3.2; Table S3.1). A total of 309 and 768 gene targets of eQTLs in the CM and GM populations were identified, respectively (Table S3.2).

Criteria Met ^a	Population	Cassava Locus	Cassava Gene Name⁵	Defense Role in Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis Ortholog	Arabidopsis Full Name	# of <i>cis</i> - eQTLs ^c	# of <i>trans</i> - eQTLs ^c	Reference
	CM	Manes.03G127100	MeMOS2a	PTI/ETI responses	AT1G33520	MODIFIER OF SNC1, 2	38	0	Wu et al 2013
	GM	Manes.03G127200 Manes.18G111800	MeDRP2B	Response to bacterial PAMP flg22	AT1G59610	DYNAMIN RELATED PROTEIN 2B	3	0	Ekanayake et al 2021
OTI	GM	Manes.18G124300	MeEFR	EF-TU bacterial PAMP receptor	AT5G20480	EF-TU RECEPTOR	0	1	Zipfel et al 2006
QIL	GM	Manes.18G125500	MeHAK1	Probable HAMP/DAMP-perceiving polysaccharide receptor	AT1G06840	HDS-ASSOCIATED RLK1	1	0	Uemura et al 2020
	GM	Manes.18G112100	TNL R gene	ETI, specific role unknown	AT5G17680	TIR-type nucleotide- binding leucine-rich repeat protein	2	0	TAIR
	СМ	Manes.10G023200	MeCAR1	ETI receptor of bacterial effectors	AT1G50180	CEL-ACTIVATED RESISTANCE 1	21	0	Laflamme et al 2020
Cluster	СМ	Manes.14G097400	MeSOG1	Positive regulator of chitin response genes; DNA damage/immune response crosstalk	AT1G25580	SUPPRESSOR OF GAMMA RADIATION 1	29	0	Yoshiyama et al 2020
	СМ	Manes.04G115600	MeSUT1	Mutant shows resistance to root knot nematode	AT1G22710	SUCROSE TRANSPORTER 1	39	0	Zhao et al 2018
	СМ	Manes.04G016700	MeTCP9	Positive regulator of SA biosynthetic gene <i>ICS1</i>	AT2G45680	TCP DOMAIN PROTEIN 9	42	24	Wang et al 2015
	GM	Manes.13G094300	LRR Kinase	LRR kinase of unknown function	AT5G10290	leucin-rich repeat kinase	13	0	TAIR
	GM	Manes.03G092300	MeLIK1	RLK involved in chitin perception	AT3G14840	LYSM RLK1 INTERACTING KINASE 1	13	0	Le et al 2014

Table 3.1. eQTL-identified defense gene annotations.

	GM	Manes.11G133300	MeADF4	Positive regulator of callose-mediated ETI to bacteria Pseudomonas svringae	AT5G59890	ACTIN DEPOLYMERIZING FACTOR 4	0	1	Tian et al 2009
	GM	Manes.02G108700	MeASK2	Raises ABA sensitivity	AT5G42190	ARABIDOPSIS SKP-LIKE 2	5	50	Li et al 2012
	GM	Manes.14G027300	MeATI-2	Negative regulator of ABA signaling	AT5G52200	INHIBITOR-2	1	0	Hou et al 2016
	GM	Manes.14G031900	MeATS3B	Confers resistance to tobacco cutworm	AT5G62200	EMBRYO-SPECIFIC PROTEIN 3B	2	0	Savadogo et al 2021
	GM	Manes.18G020500	MeBBD1	Positive regulator of ABA-mediated callose deposition resulting in resistance to fungus <i>Botrytis cinerea</i>	AT1G75380	BIFUNCTIONAL NUCLEASE IN BASAL DEFENSE RESPONSE 1	4	1	You et al 2010
	GM	Manes.03G116500	MeCcdA	Regulator of chloroplast redox state	AT5G54290	Cytochrome c-type biogenesis CCDA-like chloroplastic protein	0	1	Motohashi and Hisabori 2010
	GM	Manes.03G006000	MeCOL4	Lowers ABA sensitivity	AT5G24930	CONSTANS-LIKE 4	6	0	Min et al 2015
	GM	Manes.09G103400	MeEAP3	Confers resistance to fungus Fusarium oxysporum via PEN3 trafficking	AT3G09030	ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM- ARRESTED PEN3	3	0	Mao et al 2017
	GM	Manes.08G055000	MeERD15	Negative regulator of ABA signaling; regulator of stomatal pore adjustment	AT2G41430	EARLY RESPONSIVE TO DEHYDRATION 15	0	1	Aalto et al 2012
	GM	Manes.06G106400	MeGRXC1	Redox sensor	AT5G63030	GLUTAREDOXIN C1	15	1	Riondet et al 2012
	GM	Manes.09G063500	MeHD2C	Lowers ABA sensitivity	AT5G03740	HISTONE DEACETYLASE 2C	7	0	Luo et al 2012
	GM	Manes.03G026700	MeHXK1	Positive regulator of cell death	AT4G29130	HEXOKINASE 1	19	1	Bruggeman
	GM	Manes.07G012100	MeLRRAC1	Confers resistance to the fungus Golovinomyces orontii and the bacteria Pseudomonas syringae	AT3G14460	LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT (LRR) PROTEIN 1	4	0	Bianchet et al 2019
	GM	Manes.11G118000	MeMIK2a				29	0	
	GM	Manes.11G118800	MeMIK2b	Cell wall damage sensing and		MDIS1-INTERACTING	35	0	Coleman et al 2021
	CM	Manag 11C 110100	MoMIK2a	Fusarium spp. fungal elicitor perception	AT4G08850	RECEPTOR LIKE	15	0	
	Givi	Maries. ITG 119100	MeMIK2C	·		KINASE2	10	0	
	GM	Manes.11G119000	MeMIK2d				8	0	
Hotspot -	GM	Manes.14G026800	MeMSBP2	Regulator of monolignol biosynthesis as a scaffold for monolignol P450 monoxygenases	AT3G48890	MEMBRANE STEROID BINDING PROTEIN 2	1	0	Gou et al 2018
Target Gene	GM	Manes.03G016800	MeOCP3	Negative regulator of JA/ABA-mediated callose deposition required for defense against fungi <i>Botrytis cinerea</i> and <i>Plectosphaerella cucumerina</i>	AT5G11270	OVEREXPRESSOR OF CATIONIC PEROXIDASE 3	10	1	Garcia-Andrade et al 2011
	GM	Manes.09G105200	MePDX1	Confers Vitamin B6-mediated resistance to bacteria <i>Pseudomonas syringae</i> and fungus <i>Botrytis cinerea</i>	AT5G01410	PYRIDOXINE BIOSYNTHESIS 1	4	0	Zhang et al 2015
	GM	Manes.S053100	MePERK14a			PROLINE-RICH	0	45	
	GM	Manes.S103400	MePERK14b	Receptor kinase of unknown function	AT4G32710	EXTENSIN-LIKE RECEPTOR KINASE 14	0	41	TAIR
	GM	Manes.14G034600	MePMEI	Cell wall modification via inhibition of pectin methyl esterases	AT5G62350	Plant invertase/pectin methylesterase inhibitor superfamily protein	2	0	Jolie et al 2010
	GM	Manes.02G105400	MePR-5b	Pathogen and SA responsive gene	AT4G38660	Pathogenesis-related thaumatin superfamily protein	0	1	Irigoyen et al 2020
	GM	Manes.18G018400	MeRD19	Confers RRI -mediated resistance to bacteria Ralstonia solanacearum	AT4G39090	RESPONSIVE TO DEHYDRATION 19	22	0	Bernoux et al 2008
	GM	Manes.06G102200	MeROP10	Negative regulator of ABA signaling	AT3G48040	RHO-RELATED PROTEIN FROM PLANTS 10	4	0	Li et al 2012
	GM	Manes.15G135000	MeRR2	Positive regulator of ROS-mediated stomatal closure	AT4G16110	RESPONSE REGULATOR 2	0	1	Wang et al 2020
	GM	Manes.03G015400	MeSHN3	ET-responsive transcription factor	AT5G25390	SHINE3	51	0	Dejemal et al 2015
	GM	Manes.03G041400	MeSSL4	Susceptibility factor against bacteria Ralstonia solanacearum at elevated temperature	AT3G51420	STRICTOSIDINE SYNTHASE-LIKE 4	4	0	Aoun et al 2017
	GM	Manes.03G123800	MeTHI	Positive regulator of ABA-mediated stomatal closure	AT5G54770	THIAMINE4	0	1	Li et al 2016
	GM	Manes.02G005400	MeTRE1	Positive regulator of ABA-mediated stomatal closure	AT4G24040	TREHALASE 1	0	1	Van Houtte et al 2013
	GM	Manes.06G111400	MeWR3	Wounding-responsive gene	AT5G50200	WOUND- RESPONSIVE 3	14	0	Leon et al 1998
	GM	M Manes.07G008700 NLR	NLR	1		NB-ARC domain-	6	0	
1	GM	Manes.07G044300	NLR	ETL specific role unknown	AT3C14470	containing	3 0	0	TAID
1	GM	Manes.07G044700	NLR	ETT, Specific role unknown	A13014470	disease resistance	2	0	I AIK
	GM	Manes.07G045400	NLR	1		protein	3	0	

	÷								
Hotspot - Target Gene & SNP	GM	Manes.03G065400	MeSOAR1	Master negative regulator of ABA signaling	AT5G11310	SUPPRESSOR OF THE ABAR OVEREXPRESSOR 1	2	0	Ma et al 2020
	GM	Manes.11G119900	MeVEP1a	Wounding-responsive gene	AT4G24220	VEIN PATTERNING 1	21	0	Vang et al 1997
	GM	Manes.11G120000	MeVEP1b	woulding responsive gene	7114024220		30	6	Tang et al 1997
Hotspot - SNP	GM	Manes.09G069000	MeAIRP3	Negative regulator of ABA signaling	AT3G09770	ABA INSENSITIVE RING PROTEIN 3	NA	NA	Pan et al 2020
	GM	Manes.03G015100	MeEBF1	Negative regulator of ET signaling	AT2G25490	EIN3-BINDING F BOX PROTEIN 1	NA	NA	An et al 2010
	GM	Manes.09G063600	MeEIN2	Positive regulator of ET signaling	AT5G03280	ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE 2	NA	NA	Ju et al 2012
	GM	Manes.06G106000	MeEX2	Positive regulator of singlet oxygen- mediated cell death in response to fungal toxin; Involved in retrograde signaling	AT1G27510	EXECUTER 2	NA	NA	Chen et al 2015
	GM	Manes.11G117500	MeGPX2	Redox sensor	AT2G31570	GLUTATHIONE PEROXIDASE 2	NA	NA	Passaia and Margis-Pinheiro 2015
	GM	Manes.03G011800	MeKNAT3	Positive regulator of monolignol biosynthesis	AT5G25220	KNOTTED1-LIKE HOMEOBOX GENE 3	NA	NA	Qin et al 2020
	СМ	Manes.17G080400	Cell wall modification gene	Mutant contributes to cell-wall-based resistance to oomycete Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis	AT1G23170	NA	1	0	TAIR
	СМ	Manes.11G049900	MeABCG40	ABA importer	AT1G15520	ATP-BINDING CASSETTE G40	1	0	Finkelstein 2013
DEG*	GM	Manes.13G068600	MeCSLB5	Cellulose biosynthetic gene	AT4G15290	CELLULOSE SYNTHASE LIKE 5	11	0	Richmond and Somerville 2000
	GM	Manes.03G007700	MeGPX1	Redox sensor	AT2G25080	GLUTATHIONE PEROXIDASE 1	1	0	Passaia and Margis-Pinheiro 2015
	GM	Manes.09G071300	MeMOS11	mRNA exporter involved in ETI	AT5G02770	MODIFIER OF SNC1, 11	2	0	Dong et al 2016
	GM	Manes.11G104100	MeWAK2	Receptor that senses pathogen/wounding- derived pectin fragments	AT1G21270	WALL-ASSOCIATED KINASE 2	1	0	Kohorn et al 2014
Shared	CM & GM	Manes.02G108700	MeASK2	Raises ABA sensitivity	AT5G42190	ARABIDOPSIS SKP-LIKE 2	5	50	Liu et al 2011
	CM & GM	Manes.11G097800	MeEEN	Epigenetic regulator of EIN2	AT4G38495	ENHANCER OF ETHYLENE INSENSITIVITY	40	0	Zander et al 2019
	CM & GM	Manes.04G047000	MeLRK10L1.2	Confers resistance to leaf rust fungus	AT1G18390	LEAF RUST 10 DISEASE-RESISTANCE LOCUS RECEPTOR- LIKE PROTEIN KINASE- LIKE 1.2	3	0	Shin et al 2015
	CM & GM	Manes.07G038300	MeSPF2	Activates whitefly defense gene WRKY33 via sumolyation	AT4G33620	SUMO PROTEASE RELATED TO FERTILITY2	5	1	Verma et al 2021
Defense	CM	Manes.14G033200	MeENO2	Positive regulator of ABA responses	AT2G36530	ENOLASE 2	1	0	Kang et al 2013
	GM	Manes.14G155900	MeNPR4	SA receptor and negative regulator of SA signaling	AT4G19660	NPR1-LIKE PROTEIN 4	2	0	Liu et al 2020
	GM	Manes.17G094700	MeOST1	Positive regulator of ABA-mediated and ABA-indepdent stomatal closure	AT4G33950	OPEN STOMATA 1	1	0	Yoshida et al 2006
	GM	Manes.11G106100	MePR-3d	ET-inducible gene	AT3G12500	PATHOGENESIS- RELATED 3	10	0	Irigoyen et al 2020

^a Criteria abbreviations are as follows: QTL - eQTL-associated genes residing within a whitefly-resistance QTL; Cluster - eQTL-associated genes residing within a cluster of eQTLs; Hotspot - eQTLs defined as a hotspot (SNP: cassava gene listed contains a SNP associated with a hotspot, Target Gene: cassava gene listed both contains a SNP associated with a hotspot, and is affected by a hotspot; SNP& Target Gene: cassava gene listed both contains a SNP associated with a hotspot, and is affected by a hotspot; SNP& Target Gene: cassava gene listed both contains a SNP associated with a hotspot and is affected by a hotspot; DEG - eQTL-associated gene that is differentially expressed between parental lines at 0 dpi; Defense: eQTL with known role in defense not meeting other criteria; Shared: eQTL identified in both CM and GM populations. Note that Hotspot SNPs or target genes with no known roles in defense are not listed here. The following eQTL-identified genes met multiple criteria: MeASK2: Hotspot - Target Gene, CM DEG and Shared; MeSPF2: Hotspot - Target Gene and Shared; and MeSOAR1: GM DEG and Hotspot - Target Gene, SNP.

^b Cassava genes are named based on the gene name of their ortholog in Arabidopsis, if Arabidopsis gene name is unavailable, the cassava name is based on the available description for its ortholog in TAIR (Berardini et al 2015). Multiple cassava orthologs of the same gene in Arabidopsis are named with additional letters in order of genomic locus. *MeASK2* appears twice as it was identified as a hotspot and as a shared eQTL.

° eQTLs are listed in Table S3.1.

To summarize the processes eQTL target genes were involved in, target genes of each population were assigned to Mercator functional bins (Schwacke et al., 2019) (Figure 3.3; Table S3.2). While most genes were not assigned a bin, many genes in both populations fell into bin categories for RNA biosynthesis and processing, as well as protein biosynthesis, modification and homeostasis and enzyme classification. However, a striking difference was observed in the number of genes associated with external stimuli response bin, with 112 genes in the GM population but only 11 genes in the CM population (Figure 3.3). Annotations or functions assigned to cassava genes were based primarily on functions present in Arabidopsis orthologs. This approach has limitations, as sequence similarities used to identify orthologs do not always accurately predict conserved functions, especially in comparisons of two species with different ploidy levels (Arabidopsis is diploid, whereas cassava is tetraploid) where gene expansions/contractions can be found.



Figure 3.3. Functional bins of eQTL target genes identified in the CM and GM populations.

Functional bins were identified using the online program Mercator for the CM and GM populations. Bins appear in order of primary bin number. Bin assignments are provided in Table S3.2.

eQTLs imbedded in QTL regions

To determine which eQTLs correlated with QTLs, we identified eQTL SNPs or their target genes that were located within QTLs of the CM and GM populations (Figures 3.4-3.5; Table S3.3). QTLs were identified at CIAT by Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis, and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera. For the CM population, two QTLs were identified on chromosome 3, one on chromosome 5, one on chromosome 7, one on chromosome 10, and two on chromosome 18 (Figure 3.4). For the GM population, one QTL was identified on chromosome 1 and two QTLs were found on chromosome 18 (Figure 3.5). A total of 24 and 16 eQTL target genes were found to reside within QTL regions in the CM and GM populations, respectively (Table S3.3), of which, two and four genes had defense-related functions, respectively (Table 3.1).



Figure 3.4. Physical locations of CM population eQTLs.

Chromosome map displays locations of eQTL SNPs (blue lines) and their target genes (red lines) as well as previously identified whitefly-resistance QTLs (green-shaded regions). Locations of clusters of eQTLs are additionally annotated, with two or more clusters in very close proximity denoted with a single line. Twelve SNPs and four genes that have not been assigned to cassava chromosomes are not displayed (Table S3.1). QTLs were identified at CIAT by Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis, and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera



Figure 3.5. Physical locations of GM population eQTLs.

Chromosome map displays locations of eQTL SNPs (blue lines) and their target genes (red lines) as well as previously identified whitefly-resistance QTLs (green-shaded regions). Locations of clusters of eQTLs are additionally annotated, with two or more clusters in very close proximity denoted with a single line. The locations of 12 SNPs and seven genes that have not been assigned to cassava chromosomes are not displayed (Table S3.1). QTLs were identified at CIAT by Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez-Chaux, Dr. Anestis Gkanogiannis, and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera

To better understand the effect of eQTL SNPs on the expression of these defense genes in resistant and susceptible parents and their F₁ progeny, we visualized transcript levels in non-infested leaves according to the genotype of the parents and their progeny (violin plots), as well as expression throughout a 22-d whitefly infestation of parental lines (bar graphs) (Figure 3.6). Bar graphs do not indicate significant expression differences unless specifically stated in the text. Only 0-dpi genotype DEGs are explicitly called out in this Chapter, as the 0-htimepoint is comparable among parental lines and F₁ progeny. However, some eQTLs and target genes were identified as genotype and/or temporal DEGs during the whitefly infestation time course experiments with ECU72 and COL2246 as described in Chapter 2; these data can be found in Chapter 2's Table S2.1. Plants were binned into three genotype classes: Bin 0 (homozygous for the reference genome allele), Bin 1 (heterozygous), and Bin 2 (homozygous for the alternate allele). While only the most significant *cis*- or *trans*-eQTLs were visualized, all significant eQTLs are provided in Table S3.1 and numbers of significant eQTLs identifying defense-related genes are provided in

In these visualizations, we identify eQTLs that are strictly correlated with resistance or susceptibility to whitefly, as well as others, which instead provide insights into general defenses against whiteflies. We define eQTLs showing strict correlation with resistance/susceptibility as those of $R \rightarrow R$ or $S \rightarrow S$ inheritance classes in which the expression level of the progeny and parent of the same genotype is similar, and in which the expression level of the resistant progeny and parent is distinct from that of the susceptible progeny and parent. This contrasts with the eQTLs of the $R \rightarrow S$ or $S \rightarrow R$ inheritance classes. In these cases, while the progeny and parent of the same genotype

may show comparable expression levels, we cannot determine whether the trait is important for resistance or susceptibility. Additionally, variability at the expression level is expected, as F₁ population phenotypes indicated whitefly resistance is quantitative in both populations (Figure 3.1). Thus, target gene expression may vary based on the genetic background of each parent or progeny member, or, due to slight differences in environmental conditions, as tissue collection occurred at different times for parents and progeny.

For the CM population, only $R \rightarrow R$ type eQTLs were found in the chromosome 5 and 18 QTLs, while $R \rightarrow R$, $R \rightarrow S$ and $S \rightarrow R$ type eQTLs were found in the chromosome 10 QTL (Figures 3.4 and 3.6a; Tables 3.1 and S3.3). Three CM population *cis*-eQTLs were located in the lower QTL on chromosome 3 and were transmitted from COL2246 to susceptible ($S \rightarrow S$) or resistant ($S \rightarrow R$) F_1 progeny. These SNPs affected the expression of two *MeMOS2* genes, which encode for RNA-binding proteins important for innate immunity and *R*-gene-mediated resistance (Wu et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2005) (Figure 3.6a;Table 3.1). During whitefly infestation, *MOS2a* and *MOS2b* RNAs were present at all time points and accumulated to higher levels in COL2246 than in ECU72. However, visualization of F_1 progeny alongside parent transcript levels revealed that resistant progeny displayed higher expression than susceptible progeny. In cases such as these, while progeny and parental genotypes match, expression levels did not strictly correlate with resistance or susceptibility, making the role of the affected target genes *MOS2a* and *MOS2b* in whitefly resistance/susceptibility unclear (Figure 3.6a). Other QTL regions on chromosomes 3 and 7 did not contained eQTL-identified defense genes.

GM population eQTLs of the R \rightarrow S, S \rightarrow S and S \rightarrow R classes were identified within chromosome 1 and 18 QTL regions (Figures 3.5 and 3.6b; Tables 3.1 and S3.3). Among these 16 eQTLs, four defense genes were identified including three immune receptors (*MeHAK1*, *MeEFR* and a TIR-type NLR, TNL) and a dynamin-related protein (*MeDRP2b*) with an established role in immunity (Table 3.1). All four of these genes were located on chromosome 18, and were found in QTL regions identified in both the GM and CM populations (Figures 3.4 and 3.5). During whitefly infestations, all four transcripts displayed a similar trend of having higher levels in 60444 versus ECU72. A S \rightarrow R *cis*-eQTL identified *MeHAK1*, a probable HAMP/DAMP-perceiving polysaccharide receptor important for ET-dependent herbivory resistance (Uemura et al., 2020). At 0-7 dpi, *MeHAK1* was more highly expressed in 60444 than in ECU72. By 22 dpi, *MeHAK1* reached higher expression in ECU72 (Figure 3.6b).

A *trans*-eQTL in this Chr 18 region additionally implicated PAMP perception as a potential important trait donated from 60444 to whitefly resistant F₁ progeny (S \rightarrow R) (Figure 3.6b). *MeEFR*, a receptor that recognizes the EF-TU bacterial PAMP (Zipfel et al., 2006) to trigger PAMP-triggered immunity was not expressed in ECU72 and was detected at all times after WF infestation in 60444. Similar to *MeEFR*, the TNL *R* gene Manes.18G112100, which was identified by a S \rightarrow R *cis*-eQTL, had markedly higher transcript levels in 60444 versus ECU72 throughout the entire whitefly infestation (0-22 dpi). To date the ligand for this TNL has not been identified, so its exact role in defense is unknown. For these three genes (*MeHAK1*, *MeEFR* and TNL Manes.18G112100), 60444 and resistant progeny showed higher transcript levels than ECU72 and susceptible progeny. Therefore, it is difficult to determine the role of these genes in resistance or susceptibility to whitefly infestation. It is to be noted however that for *MeEFR*, a high

percentage of the resistant and susceptible F_1 progeny shared the parental resistant and susceptible alleles, respectively (Figure 3.6b).

In contrast, one (Chromosome18_9868040) of the two *cis*-eQTLs identifying *MeDRP2B* was strictly correlated with susceptibility. *MeDRP2B* is a dynamin-related protein important for response to the bacterial PAMP flg22 via endocytosis of the flg22 receptor FLS2 (Ekanayake et al., 2021). This gene was more highly expressed in 60444 versus ECU72 at 0-1 dpi and at equivalent levels at all later timepoints (Figure 3.6b).



Figure 3.6. eQTLs within QTL regions.

Violin plots displaying the effect of eQTL SNPs within QTL regions on the expression of their target genes in the F_1 progeny and parents are shown. Bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in parental genotypes for the CM (**a**) and GM (**b**) populations are displayed. Genotype classes are denoted as follows: 0 - homozygous for the reference genome; 1 - heterozygous; 2 - homozygous for the alternative allele. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (COL2246 or 60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as mean RPKM values at 0-22 dpi are colored in black for ECU72 and grey for COL2246 or 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are provided in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. Trends in expression are shown here. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

eQTL clusters

eQTLs and target genes for CM and GM populations were mapped to cassava's 18 chromosomes. This identified eQTLs that were co-located within the genome; importantly, these eQTL clusters were often associated with specific inheritance classes (Figures 3.4-3.5; Table S3.4). From this observation, we sought to investigate the function of eQTLs located in clusters (Table 3.1). To this end, eQTL clusters were defined as regions with at least eight eQTL SNPs or target genes within a 10-kb. While 23 clusters were found in the CM population, only 10 were identified in the GM population (Table S3.4). Among eQTL-identified genes within such clusters, we focus only on those with known roles in defense for further analysis.

CM population clusters spanned chromosomes 1, 4, 6, 7, 10, 11, and 14 and contained 43 eQTL gene targets, of which four have known roles in defense (Figures 3.4 and 3.7a; Tables 3.1 and S3.4). The *cis*- and *trans*-eQTL target *MeTCP9*, a positive regulator of SA biosynthetic gene *ICS1* (Wang et al., 2015c), and the *cis*-eQTL target *MeSUT1*, a sucrose transporter that facilitates root-knot nematode development (Zhao et al., 2018), were both more highly expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246 constitutively and during infestation. In contrast, a *cis*-eQTL identified the ETI-involved immune receptor *MeCAR1*, which recognizes bacterial effectors (Laflamme et al., 2020); *MeCAR1* showed higher expression in COL2246 versus ECU72 at 0-22 dpi. For these three genes however, the 0 dpi expression levels and genotypes of the F₁ progeny and parents were not always well correlated. For example, *MeSUT1* expression at 0 dpi is higher in ECU72 versus COL2246, but is lower in resistant progeny as compared to susceptible progeny. Such expression trends make the role of these genes in whitefly resistance/susceptibility unclear (Figure 3.7a).

cis-eQTL target *MeSOG1* expression levels were well correlated between parents and progeny as ECU72 and resistant progeny had higher expression, while COL2246 and susceptible progeny had lower expression at 0 dpi. In Arabidopsis, *SOG1* is a regulator of between DNA damage and immune response and positive regulator of chitin-responsive genes (Yoshiyama et al., 2020). ECU72 had elevated transcript levels compared to COL2246 at 0-7 dpi and higher transcript levels were detected in the F₁ resistant progeny at 0 dpi. However, by 14-22 dpi, *MeSOG1* expression was higher in COL2246 versus ECU72 suggesting a constitutive/early activation of *MeSOG1* may be important for whitefly resistance (Figure 3.7a).

In the GM population, 10 eQTL clusters were identified residing on chromosomes 2, 3, 11, and 13 with a total of 65 genes associated with these clusters (Figures 3.5 and 3.7b; Tables 3.1 and S3.4). Within these clusters, two defense genes were identified are highlighted here. *MeLIK1*, a LRR receptor-like kinase regulated by CERK1 in the perception of chitin (Le et al., 2014), was identified by a *cis*-eQTL and resides in the eQTL cluster on chromosome 3. *MeLIK1* was more highly expressed in ECU72 and resistant F_1 progeny than in COL2246 and susceptible progeny. *MeLIK1* was inherited from ECU72 to the resistant progeny, and had very elevated transcript levels in ECU72 compared to COL2246 throughout infestation. These data suggest that *MeLIK1* may be important for recognition of whiteflies and subsequent activation of whitefly-resistance responses. In contrast, the *cis*-eQTL target LRR kinase Manes.13G094300 in Cluster GM7 on chromosome 13 was more highly expressed in COL2246 at all times in the infestation time-course (0-22 d) and in susceptible F_1 progeny, suggesting that it may act as a whitefly susceptibility factor (Figure 3.7b). To date, the function of this LRR kinase remains unknown.



Figure 3.7. eQTLs within eQTL clusters.

Violin plots displaying the effect of eQTL SNPs within eQTL clusters on the expression of their target genes in the F₁ progeny and parents are shown. Bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in parental genotypes for (a) CM and (b) GM populations. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny bulk) versus blue (COL2246 or 60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny bulk) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for COL2246 or 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

eQTL hotspots

Another important criterion often used to identify possible functional significance of eQTLs is identifying eQTL hotspots among a set of eQTLs. An eQTL hotspot SNP affecting the expression of numerous genes can indicate the presence of a master regulator (Breitling et al., 2008). Here, we define eQTL hotspots as *cis*- or *trans*-eQTLs affecting the expression of ten or more target genes. All target genes are of the same inheritance class as the eQTL-associated hotspot SNP that targets them. No hotspots were identified within the CM population. In contrast, 109 hotspots were identified in the GM population including 45 R \rightarrow R, 43 R \rightarrow S, two S \rightarrow S, and 19 S \rightarrow R eQTL hotspots (Table S3.5). To visualize the physical locations of eQTL hotspots, SNPs and target genes for each hotspot were mapped onto a two-genome plot displaying SNP versus target gene locations (Figure 3.8).

While most hotspots targeted 23 genes or less, two R \rightarrow S inheritance class SNPs in *MeSOAR1* together affected the expression of 119 target genes (Figure 3.8; Table S3.5). *MeSOAR1* is an RNA-binding protein and known master negative regulator of ABA responses in Arabidopsis (Ma et al., 2020). The expression of *MeSOAR1* itself was affected by both *MeSOAR1 cis*-QTL SNPs (Chromosome03_7177401 and Chromosome03_7177022). SNP Chromosome03_7177022 caused a nonconservative amino acid change from the positively charged lysine to the negatively charged glutamic acid in 60444 (Lys303Glu), which was homozygous for the alternate allele, and one allele of ECU72 (heterozygous). In contrast, the Chromosome03_7177401 SNP was a silent mutation in *MeSOAR1*. These SNPs fell within the second exon of *MeSOAR1* is not within any known functional domain of the protein, so their effect on *MeSOAR1*'s function remains unclear.



Figure 3.8. eQTL hotspots within the GM population.

Chromosome positions of eQTL hotspots, displaying the SNP position along the x-axis and the positions of target genes along the y-axis. Hotspots are colored according to inheritance class ($R \rightarrow R$: red; $R \rightarrow S$: orange; $S \rightarrow S$: blue, $S \rightarrow R$: purple) with shape denoting *cis*- (circle) versus *trans*- (triangle) eQTLs. The locations of five target genes that have not been assigned to cassava chromosomes are not shown. eQTL hotspot SNP and target gene identities and functional bins are provided in Table S3.5.

Among *MeSOAR1*'s 119 targets, 20 genes with known roles in defense were identified (Figures 3.9 and 3.10; Table 3.1) and the effect of the two SNPs within *MeSOAR1* on the expression of such target genes was further examined. Target genes were divided into those with known roles in ABA-, redox-, cell-death-, or other defense-related processes. At 0 dpi, *MeSOAR1* was a genotype DEG, with significantly lower expression in ECU72 versus 60444 (a 0-dpi DEG) (Table 3.1), while all *MeSOAR1 trans*-eQTL targets (excluding *MeERD15*, *MeBBD1*, *MeFITNESS*, and *MePR-5b*) had higher expression in ECU72 versus 60444 at 0 dpi (Figures 3.9 and 3.10). Additionally, such
targets (excluding *MeCcdA* and *MeHXK1*) had higher transcript levels in ECU72 at one or more infestation time points (Figures 3.9 and 3.10). Collectively, these results support that *MeSOAR1* may similarly act as a negative regulator of not only ABA but redox, cell death, and other processes in cassava.

This premise is further supported by the facts that six MeSOAR1 targets (MeTRE1, MeTHI, MeRR2, MeGI, MeROC3, and MeERD15) are known to be involved in ABAmediated or -independent stomatal regulation or closure (Aalto et al., 2012, Li et al., 2016a, Van Houtte et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2020). These genes are more highly expressed by 0 or 1 dpi in ECU72 versus 60444, suggesting that ABA-mediated (via MeROC3, MeGI, MeTRE1, and/or MeTHI) or ABA-independent (via MeRR2) mechanisms of stomatal closure during early infestation regulated by MeSOAR1 may be important for resistance to whitefly (Figures 3.9-3.10). Two other MeSOAR1 targets, MeADF4 and MeBBD1, which promote callose deposition (Mondal et al., 2018, You et al., 2010), were more highly expressed at 7 dpi in ECU72, suggesting that this process may be stimulated by contact with eggs or egg secretions for the purpose of priming defenses for future feeding of early-stage nymphs. As all MeSOAR1 eQTLs were of the $R \rightarrow S$ inheritance class, phenotypes of the resistant and susceptible parents were opposite to those of the resistant and susceptible progeny, making a correlation of MeSOAR1 with resistance or susceptibility less clear (Figures 3.9-3.10). However, as previous work has implicated ABA-mediated processes are important for whitefly resistance in ECU72 (Chapter 2), we believe these findings still suggest dampened expression of ABA response negative regulator *MeSOAR1* is important for whitefly resistance in ECU72.



Figure 3.9. eQTL hotspot target genes of the SNP-containing gene *MeSOAR1*.

Two separate SNPs within MeSOAR1 (Chromosome03_7177401 and Chromosome03_7177022) affect the expression of 119 target genes in the GM population, of which nine genes involved in ABA processes are visualized as violin and bar plots. Genotypes are denoted as described in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny). ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (cis or trans), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest p-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the $R \rightarrow S$ inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).



Figure 3.10. eQTL hotspot target genes of the SNP-containing gene MeSOAR1.

Two separate SNPs within MeSOAR1 (Chromosome03_7177401 and Chromosome03_7177022) affect the expression of 119 target genes in the GM population, of which those involved in (a) redox (four genes), (b) cell death (three genes) and (c) defense (four genes) processes are visualized as violin and bar plots here. Genotypes are denoted as described in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny). ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (cis or trans), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest p-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the $R \rightarrow S$ inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

Other eQTLs with known roles in defense were also identified within the $R \rightarrow R$, $R \rightarrow S$, $S \rightarrow S$, and $S \rightarrow R$ type eQTL hotspots, fitting into ABA-, ET-, SA-, cell-wall-, redox-, cell-death-, or other defense-related processes (Figures 3.11-3.16; Tables 3.1 and S3.5). In several cases, eQTL-hotspot-SNPs affected the expression of multiple target genes and conversely, eQTL-hotspot-identified target genes were affected by multiple SNPs belonging to one or more inheritance classes (Figures 3.11-3.16).

R→R type eQTLs had SNPs within genes or gene targets involved in ABA-, ET- or defense-related processes (Figures 3.11 and 3.12). Two *cis*-eQTL target genes, which regulate ABA sensitivity, *MeCOL4* and *MeHD2C* (Luo et al., 2012, Min et al., 2015), were associated with SNPs in *MeKNAT3* (Qin et al., 2020), a positive regulator of monolignol biosynthesis, and *MeEIN2*, a positive regulator of ET signaling (Ju et al., 2012), respectively (Figure 3.11). *MeCOL4* transcript levels were higher in 60444 and susceptible progeny at 0 dpi, while *MeHD2C* was more highly expressed in ECU72 and resistant progeny 0-7 dpi, suggesting that control of ABA sensitivity may be important in conferring resistance or susceptibility. Identities of the SNPs affecting these genes also suggest that lignin and ET pathways may have some function in regulating ABA sensitivity (Figure 3.11).

Several genes involved in immunity were also targeted by $R \rightarrow R$ hotspot SNPs. The *cis*-eQTL target genes *MePDX1* and *MeSSL4*, involved in bacterial resistance (Aoun et al., 2017, Zhang et al., 2015b), were expressed at lower levels in ECU72 and many resistant progeny versus 60444 and many susceptible progeny; these data suggest that the bacterial resistance responses activated in 60444 may be involved in whitefly susceptibility. Three NLRs (Manes.07G044700, Manes.07G044300 and

Manes.07G045400) were also targeted; one (Manes.07G045400) had higher expression in 60444 vs ECU72, although similar trends were not seen in the phenotypes of the progeny (Figure 3.12; Table 3.1).

In other cases, $R \rightarrow R$ type eQTL hotspots did not show well-correlated target gene expression between parental lines and progeny of the same phenotype, making the role of such eQTLs in resistance or susceptibility unclear (Figures 3.11 and 3.12). Examples include an $R \rightarrow R$ type trans-eQTL SNP within MeAIRP3, a negative regulator of ABA signaling (Pan et al., 2020). MeAIRP3 targeted two MePERK14 genes resulting in higher MePERK14a expression in ECU72 at 0-22 dpi and higher MePERK14b expression in ECU72 constitutively and during early infestation (Figures 3.11a). A second example is the *cis*-eQTL SNP in *MeKNAT3* that was associated with higher expression of *MeSHN3* at 0-14 dpi in ECU72; SHN3 is involved in ET responses (Djemal and Khoudi, 2015) (Figures 3.11c). The third *cis*-eQTL target gene in this category is *MeRD19*. *RD19* is important for resistance mediated by the R gene RRI and was more highly expressed in ECU72 at 0 dpi (Bernoux et al., 2008). Lastly, cis-eQTL target gene MeEAP3, involved in glucosinolate trafficking, was more highly expressed in ECU72 at 0-1 dpi (Mao et al., 2017) (Figure 3.12). Although a role in resistance or susceptibly of the genes above cannot be inferred, such eQTL hotspots still provide additional evidence for the possible involvement of ABA, ET, immune, and glucosinolate pathways in cassava's response to whitefly.



Figure 3.11. eQTL hotspot target genes for $R \rightarrow R$ inheritance class SNPs for ABA- and ET-related processes.

Violin plots displaying the effect of R \rightarrow R inheritance class SNPs on the expression of their target genes accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and 60444. Target genes shown are categorized as **(a)** ABA-related and **(b)** ET-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the R \rightarrow R inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).



Figure 3.12. eQTL hotspot target genes for $R \rightarrow R$ inheritance class SNPs for defense-related processes.

Violin plots displaying the effect of R \rightarrow R inheritance class SNPs on the expression of their target genes accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and 60444. Target genes shown are categorized in defense-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the R \rightarrow R inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

 $R \rightarrow S$ type eQTL hotspots also had SNPs within genes or gene targets involved in ET- or defense-related processes (Figure 3.13). A cis-eQTL SNP within MeEBF1, a negative regulator of ET signaling (An et al., 2010), resulted in higher 0-14 dpi expression in ECU72 of ET-response gene MeSHN3 (an ET-responsive transcription factor) and MeOCP3 (a regulator of callose deposition in response to fungal pathogens) (Garcia-Andrade et al., 2011). MeHD2C, a regulator of ABA sensitivity (Luo et al., 2012), was also more highly expressed in ECU72 0-7 dpi due to a *cis*-eQTL SNP in *MeEIN2* (Figure 3.13a). MeSHN3 and MeHD2C are both examples of target genes affected by multiple eQTLassociated SNPs. For the MeSHN3 eQTL, a high percentage of progeny shared the parental alleles with distinct expression differences seen between genotypes, however as an $R \rightarrow S$ eQTL it is unclear if this trait is important for resistance or susceptibility. Two NLRs were also *cis*-eQTL targets of an $R \rightarrow S$ type SNP in heat shock protein *MeHSC70*-5, one with higher (Manes.07G044300) and one with lower (Manes.07G045400) expression in ECU72 at 0 dpi (Figure 3.13b). As $R \rightarrow S$ type eQTLs do not show correlated target gene expression between parental lines and progeny of the same phenotype, the roles of these target genes (MeSHN3, MeHD2C and NLRs Manes.07G044300 and Manes.07G045400) in ABA sensitivity, ET response, immunity, and callose deposition in relation to whitefly resistance or susceptibility remains unclear.



Figure 3.13. eQTL hotspot target genes for $R \rightarrow S$ inheritance class SNPs involved with ET- and defense-related processes.

Violin plots displaying the effect of R \rightarrow S inheritance class SNPs on the expression of their target genes accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and 60444. Target genes shown are categorized in (a) ET-related and (b) defense-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the R \rightarrow S inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1). Note that hotspot SNPs or target genes with no known roles in defense are not listed in Table 3.1.

Among S \rightarrow S type eQTLs hotspots, *trans*-eQTL target *MeASK2*, involved in ABA sensitivity (Li et al., 2012a), and an NLR (Manes.07G008700) *cis*-eQTL target were identified (Figure 3.14). Higher expression of *MeASK2* was clearly correlated with susceptibility in 60444 and susceptible progeny, with higher expression in 60444 versus ECU72 maintained throughout infestation. Thus, *MeASK2* regulation of ABA sensitivity may be important in whitefly susceptibility. The role of NLR Manes.07G008700 in resistance or susceptibility was however unclear; ECU72 and 60444 had similar 0 dpi expression levels higher than all F₁ progeny, but resistant progeny had lower expression levels than susceptible progeny at 0 dpi (Figure 3.14).



Figure 3.14. eQTL hotspot target genes for $S \rightarrow S$ inheritance class SNPs associated with defense.

Violin plots displaying the effect of S \rightarrow S inheritance class SNPs on the expression of their target genes accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and 60444. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the S \rightarrow S inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1). Note that hotspot SNPs or target genes with no known roles in defense are not listed in Table 3.1.

Target genes or SNP-containing genes involved in ABA-, cell-wall-, redox-, and defense-related processes were identified among S→R type eQTL hotspots (Figure 3.15 and 3.16). Negative regulators of ABA signaling, cis-eQTL targets MeROP10 and MeATI-2 (Hou et al., 2016, Li et al., 2012b), showed similar expression trends, with MeROP10 more highly expressed at 0-22 dpi and MeATI-2 more highly expressed 0-14 dpi in ECU72 versus 60444 (Figures 3.15a). A SNP in MeEX2, a positive regulator of singlet-oxygen signaling, also regulates MeROP10, as well as two other cis-eQTL targets in the redox class: a glutaredoxin MeGRXC1 (Riondet et al., 2012) and wound-responsive gene MeWR3 (Leon et al., 1998). MeGRXC1 was more highly expressed, while MeWR3 was expressed at lower levels in ECU72 at 0-22 dpi (Figure 3.16a). ECU72 expression of *MeGRXC1* was notable higher than all F₁ progeny and 60444. A SNP in the redox sensor glutathione peroxidase MeGPX2 (Passaia and Margis-Pinheiro, 2015) regulated the expression of two cis-eQTL MeVEP1 target genes, involved in the wounding response (Yang et al., 1997). The MeVEP1a and MeVEP1b genes were expressed at approximately 9- to 20-fold higher levels in 60444 versus ECU72 throughout the entire infestation time course (Figures 3.16a). All F_1 progeny matching ECU72's genotype displayed very low to undetectable transcript levels. Four MeMIK2 genes (MeMIK2a,b and d), all cis-eQTL targets, involved in cell wall damage sensing and fungal elicitor perception (Coleman et al., 2021) were also affected by SNPs in MeGPX2 and MeVEP1. All four genes had higher transcript levels in 60444 versus ECU72 at 0-14 dpi. Two other cell-wall-related cis-eQTL target genes, MePMEI and MeMSBP2 (Gou et al., 2018, Jolie et al., 2010), instead were more highly expressed in ECU72 versus 60444 at 0-22 dpi (Figure 3.15b). Three cis-eQTL target genes were involved in immunity, an NLR with similar expression in parental lines (Manes.07G008700), as well as a pathogen (MeLRRAC1) and insect resistance gene

(*MeATS3B*) more highly expressed in 60444 versus ECU72 at 0-22 dpi (Bianchet et al., 2019, Savadogo et al., 2021) (Figure 3.16b). For eQTL-identified genes *MeVEP1a*, *MeVEP1b* and *MeROP10*, resistant progeny had similar 0 dpi transcript levels as 60444, similar to susceptible progeny and ECU72 (Figures 3.15a and 3.16a). However, in S \rightarrow R type eQTLs, expression of target genes cannot be strictly correlated with resistance or susceptibility. Still, these results suggest redox regulation of ABA, wounding, and cell-wall damage sensing responses may be important during cassava whitefly responses.



Figure 3.15. eQTL hotspot target genes for $S \rightarrow R$ inheritance class SNPs associated with ABA- and cell wall-related processes.

Violin plots displaying the effect of S \rightarrow R inheritance class SNPs on the expression of their target genes accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and 60444. Target genes are categorized in (a) ABA- and (b) cell wall-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plots. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the S \rightarrow R inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1). Note that hotspot SNPs or target genes with no known roles in defense are not listed in Table 3.1.



Figure 3.16. eQTL hotspot target genes for $S \rightarrow R$ inheritance class SNPs associated with redox- and defense-related processes.

Violin plots displaying the effect of S \rightarrow R inheritance class SNPs on the expression of their target genes accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in ECU72 and 60444. Target genes are categorized in (a) redox- and (b) defense-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plots. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. All eQTL-associated SNPs and target genes presented here are of the S \rightarrow R inheritance class. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1). Note that hotspot SNPs or target genes with no known roles in defense are not listed in Table 3.1.

eQTLs that are 0-h DEGs

Another criteria used to identify eQTLs possibly involved in defense against whiteflies was status as a differentially expressed gene (DEG) at 0 dpi between parental lines (genotype DEGs) (Chapter 2). We identified 47 and 51 eQTL target genes that were genotype DEGs between ECU72 and COL2246 or 60444 at 0 dpi, respectively (Table S3.6). Among these genes, two and five *cis*-eQTL target genes in the CM and GM population eQTLs, respectively, had a known role in defense and were further examined (Figure 3.17; Table 3.1). Target genes *MeABCG40*, an ABA importer (Finkelstein, 2013), and Manes.17G080400, involved in cell-wall-based oomycete susceptibility, were identified in the CM population (Figure 3.17). *MeABCG40* had elevated transcript levels in ECU72 versus COL2246 0-22 dpi and in resistant versus susceptible progeny at 0 dpi; therefore as a $R \rightarrow R$ eQTL, these data suggest that ABA transport may be important for whitefly resistance. In contrast, the expression of Manes.17G080400, which is an $S \rightarrow R$ eQTL, did not correlate strictly with resistance or susceptibility in the F₁ progeny, although its transcripts were at higher levels in COL2246 than ECU72 0-22 dpi.

In the GM population, eQTL target genes differentially expressed between parents at 0 dpi involved in cell-wall-, redox-, and defense-related processes were identified (Figure 3.17b-d). Target genes *MeCSLB5*, a cellulose synthase (Richmond and Somerville, 2000), and the glutathione peroxidase *MeGPX1* gene (Passaia and Margis-Pinheiro, 2015) showed clear correlation with susceptibility, with higher expression in COL2246 versus ECU72 at all infestation timepoints and in susceptible versus resistant F₁ progeny at 0 dpi. *MeWAK2*, a receptor that senses pathogen/wounding created pectin fragments (Kohorn et al., 2014), and *MeMOS11*, an mRNA exporter involved in NLR-mediated immunity (Dong et al., 2016), instead did not show clear expression correlation

with resistance/susceptibility, but were more highly expressed in COL2246 versus ECU72 0-22 dpi (Figure 3.17b-c). Together, these results suggest that higher expression of *MeCSLB5* and *MeGPX1* may be indicative of whitefly susceptibility.



Figure 3.17. eQTLs with target genes classified as 0-h DEGs in the CM and GM populations.

Violin plots displaying the effect of eQTL SNPs on the expression of target genes that are differentially expressed between parents at 0 dpi accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in parental genotypes for (a) CM and (b-d) GM populations. GM population eQTLs are categorized in (b) cell-wall-, (c) redox-, and (d) defense-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny bulk) versus blue (COL2246 or 60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny bulk) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for COL2246 or 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

CM and GM population shared eQTLs

To determine if any eQTLs may have an important role in ECU72's whitely resistance in comparison to both whitefly-susceptible genotypes (COL2246 and 60444), eQTLs identified in both CM and GM populations were identified (Figure 3.18; Table 3.1). Of the 309 and 768 eQTL target genes identified in CM and GM population eQTLs (Table S3.2), respectively, only 43 were shared target genes of both populations. While the majority of these genes were unable to be classified into functional bins, bin categories of protein biosynthesis, modification and translocation as well as chromatin organization were most prevalent (Figure 3.18).



Figure 3.18. Overlap in CM and GM population eQTLs.

Venn diagram displaying numbers of eQTLs shared by or unique to the CM and GM populations. A bar graph depicts the number of eQTL target genes shared between the two populations within each Mercator functional bin. Mercator bins are ordered by the number of genes in each category.

The 43 shared target gene functionalities were additionally examined, identifying four genes involved in either ABA-, ET-, or other defense-related processes (Figure 3.19; Table 3.1). Most striking, *MeASK2*, a regulator of ABA sensitivity, was more highly expressed in COL2246 and 60444 versus ECU72 at 0-22 dpi (Figure 3.19a); in addition, *MeASK2* was a 0-dpi genotype DEG in the comparison of ECU72 to COL2246 (Table 3.1). *MeASK2* was a *cis*-eQTL target in the CM population but was affected by both *cis*- and *trans*-eQTLs in the GM population. For two SNPs affecting *MeASK2* expression in the GM population (Chromosome02_7964174 and Chromosome02_9052239), 60444 0 dpi

transcript levels were much higher than those of any F₁ progeny of the same genotype (Figure 3.19a). Epigenetic regulator of *MeEIN2*, *cis*-eQTL target *MeEEN* (Zander et al., 2019), also had slightly higher transcript levels at 0-1 dpi in both susceptible genotypes (Figure 3.19b). In some cases resistant whereas in other cases susceptible progeny showed higher expression among the different eQTLs identifying *MeEIN2* in the two populations.

cis-eQTL target *MeLRK10L1.2*, a leaf rust resistance gene (Shin et al., 2015), was identified by three SNPs and was more highly expressed in ECU72 compared to COL2246 but not 60444 at 0 dpi. In 60444, *MeLRK10L1.2* shows little temporal response to infestation unlike ECU72 and COL2246. At 1, 14 and 22 dpi, this gene was expressed at lower levels in ECU72 compared to COL2246 (Figure 3.19c). *MeSPF2* was a *cis*-eQTL target in the CM population but affected by both *cis*- and *trans*-eQTLs in the GM population. Strict correlation of *MeSPF2*, which activates whitefly defense protein WRKY33 (Verma et al., 2021, Wang et al., 2019), with resistance was observed in the GM population. Higher expression of *MeSPF2* in ECU72 and resistant progeny versus 60444 and susceptible progeny at 0-22 dpi was observed. Such correlation was not observed for the CM population of target gene expression between parents and progeny of the same phenotype was not observed (Figure 3.19).



Figure 3.19. eQTLs shared in CM and GM populations.

Violin plots displaying eQTLs identified in both CM and GM populations accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in parental genotypes. eQTLs are categorized in (a) ABA-related, (b) ET-related and (c) defense-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (COL2246 or 60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for COL2246 or 60444 in bar graphs. Population, ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

Other eQTLs of interest

Lastly, among all eQTL targets in both populations, an additional four cis-eQTL target genes not fitting aforementioned criteria but with known roles in defense were identified within the CM or GM populations (Figure 3.20; Table 3.1). In the CM population, higher expression of MeENO2 was strictly correlated with susceptibility in COL2246 at 0-22 dpi and in susceptible progeny at 0 dpi (Figure 3.20a). An alternative translation product of AtENO2 positively regulates ABA responses (Kang et al., 2013); for this reason, additional information is required to understand the role of this gene in whitefly susceptibility. In the GM population, eQTL target genes involved in ABA-, ET-, and SArelated processes were identified (Figure 3.20b-d). Expression of MeOST1, positive regulator of ABA-mediated stomatal closure (Yoshida et al., 2006), was higher in ECU72 versus COL2246 at 0,1 and 22 dpi. In contrast, expression of MePR-3d, ET-induced in Arabidopsis (van Loon et al., 2006), and the SA receptor MeNPR4 (Liu et al., 2020) was lower in ECU72 versus COL2246 at 0-1 dpi, with *MePR-3d* more highly induced in ECU72 7-22 dpi and MeNPR4 maintaining higher COL2246 expression throughout infestation. There was not strict correlation of these three gene's expression in resistant or susceptible F₁ progeny, so their role in whitefly response remains unclear (Figure 3.20b-d).



CM Population defense eQTLs

Figure 3.20. eQTLs with target genes in defense processes.

Violin plots displaying the effect of eQTL SNPs on the expression of target genes involved in defense that were not captured by other eQTL categories are accompanied by bar graphs displaying the expression of target genes during whitefly infestation in parental genotypes for (a) CM and (b-d) GM populations. GM population eQTLs are categorized in (a) ABA-, (b) ET- and (c) SA-related processes. Genotypes are denoted as in Figure 3.6. Whitefly-resistant genotypes are colored red (ECU72) and light red (resistant progeny) versus blue (COL2246 or 60444) and light blue (susceptible progeny) in violin plots. Expression is displayed as average RPKM values and colored in black for ECU72 and grey for COL2246 or 60444 in bar graphs. ID of SNP affecting ("versus") target gene, eQTL type (*cis* or *trans*), inheritance class, and *p*-value are labeled in each violin plot. Violin plots in each panel are ordered from lowest to highest *p*-value. The statistical relevance of the expression data for the eQTL-identified genes can be found in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

eQTL hormone responses

In Chapter 2, we established the temporal response of genes in ECU72 and COL2246 to SA, JA, ET, and/or ABA treatments. Here, we leverage these defense hormone data to determine if the eQTL SNP-containing genes or eQTL target genes with roles in defense (Table 3.1) were hormone responsive (Figure 3.21; Table S3.7). As we only have hormone treatment data for the South American cassava (ECU72 and COL2246) and African cassava genotype 60444 is genetically distinct (Bredeson et al., 2016), this analysis cannot performed with confidence on GM population eQTL targets.

The 13 CM population eQTL target genes with roles in defense (Table 3.1) were classified by their ability to respond to SA, JA, ET, and/or ABA 0.5 to 24 h after hormone treatment (Figure 3.21a; Table S3.7). In ECU72 and COL2246, most of the defense genes were hormone non-responsive. Notably, nine of these target genes were not responsive to any hormone in either genotype (Figure 3.21a), suggesting that if these genes have roles in defense against whiteflies, they are likely be regulated by other defense signals not examined here. Three of the four remaining target genes with roles in defense were hormone-responsive DEGs in both genotypes, with cell wall modification gene Manes.17G080400 only responsive in COL2246 (Figure 3.21a; Table S3.7). Three of the four hormone-responsive DEGs in COL2246 responded only to SA (*MeSOG1*, *MeLRK10L1.2* and Manes.17G080400), all of which are involved in responsive DEGs in ECU72 responded to either ET, SA and JA, or JA and ET.

The complete set of CM and GM population eQTL-identified defense genes (Table 3.1) was also examined for hormone responses; however, as such data is lacking for line

60444, hormone responses are based solely on the responses identified in ECU72's hormone treatment (SA, JA, ET and/or ABA) time-courses (Figure 3.21b). Out of a total of 78 eQTL-associated genes examined, 40 were hormone insensitive in ECU72, including 19 immunity genes: *MeCAR1*, *MeDRP2B*, *MeEAP3*, *MeMOS2a*, *MeMOS2b*, *MeMOS11*, *MePERK14a*, *MePERK14b*, *MeSPF2*, *MeSUT1*, *MeEFR*, *MeLRRAC1*, *MeVEP1a*, *MeVEP1b*, four NB-ARC domain-containing proteins, LRR Kinase Manes.13G094300, and the cell wall modification gene Manes.17G080400. Five immunity genes specifically involved in PTI triggered by cell-wall derived DAMPs/HAMPs (*MeMIK2a*, *MeMIK2c*, *MeMIK2d*, *MeWAK2*, and *MeHAK1*) were also hormone non-responsive.

Of the remaining 38 genes showing a hormone response, 18 were responsive to all four hormones (Figure 21b; Table S7). Of these 18 genes, several were involved in immunity (e.g., *MeADF4*, *MeBBD1*, *MeLIK1*, *MeOCP3*, *MeWR3*, and *MeRD19*). Furthermore, many genes involved in ABA response (*MeABA2*, *MeSOAR1*, *MeABCG40*, *MeUBC32*, *MeAIRP3*, *MeATI-2*, *MeENO2*, *MeHD2C*, and *MeROP10*), ABA-mediated stomatal regulation (*MeERD15*, *MeTHI*, *MeGI*, and *MeOST1*) or ABA-mediated callose deposition (*MeBBD1* and *MeOCP3*) were regulated by all or none of the hormones examined (Figure 3.21b; Table S3.7). These data strongly suggest that an unknown signal(s) may regulate the expression of immunity, ABA response, stomatal regulation, and callose deposition genes important for whitefly response in ECU72.



Figure 3.21. Hormone responses of eQTL target genes.

Bar graph displaying the number of defense-related eQTL-associated genes in the CM population differentially expressed following hormone treatment (SA, JA, ET or ABA) of ECU72 or COL2246 (a). Bar graph of all eQTLs in the CM and/or GM populations differentially expressed following hormone treatment in ECU72 (b). Hormone response categories are labeled to reflect responses to single or multiple hormones. Some eQTL target genes responded to all four hormones (All) or were hormone-nonresponsive (None).

Discussion

eQTL analysis for whitefly defense gene identification

In this study, the F_1 populations generated by crosses of whitefly-resistant cassava genotype ECU72 with whitefly-susceptible cassava genotypes COL2246 (resulting in the CM population) and 60444 (resulting in the GM population) proved to be valuable resources beyond QTL mapping in the facilitation of RNA-sequencing-based eQTL analyses. In addition to whitefly resistance loci mapped in ECU72, eQTL analysis results were utilized to identify genes with possible roles in cassava's defense against whitefly infestation. In the selection of resistant and susceptible progeny members to use in these analyses, two insights into the nature of whitefly resistance in ECU72 were revealed. Visualization of nymph counts for all progeny in both populations revealed a broad spectrum of phenotypes, demonstrating that whitefly resistance in ECU72 is a quantitative trait (Young, 1996). Additionally, within this spectrum, some progeny displayed higher or lower nymph counts than their respective resistant or susceptible parent. This observation suggests that transgressive segregation for resistance or susceptibility traits has occurred, resulting in resistance factors being inherited by susceptible progeny and susceptibility factors being inherited by resistant progeny. In such cases, the genetic background of the susceptible parent caused resistance factors to be insufficient for resistance, and vice versa (de Los Reyes, 2019). From this observation, it was thus important to examine eQTL-associated SNPs inherited from the resistant parent by susceptible progeny, and from the susceptible parent by the resistant progeny. However, in such cases the association of eQTL-identified genes with resistance or susceptibility to whitefly could not be firmly established.

The numbers of eQTLs identified in the CM and GM populations additionally revealed differences in the relationship of ECU72 to the susceptible parents, COL2246 or 60444. In the GM population (ECU72 x 60444), the total number of eQTLs exceeded that identified in the CM population (ECU72 x COL2246) by over 1,000 eQTLs, with more than twice as many eQTL target genes identified in the GM population. Additionally, while over 100 eQTL hotspots were identified in the GM population, none were found in the CM population. Furthermore, very little overlap (four genes) occurred between eQTL-identified defense genes located in whitefly-resistance QTL regions in the two populations. Two factors may explain these differences. The resistance level of ECU72 and COL2246 is more comparable, as COL2246 is considered more tolerant of whitefly infestation (Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle and Dr. Adriana Bohorquez, personal communication), whereas 60444 is extremely susceptible to whitefly. Additionally, ECU72 and COL2246, both South American genotypes, are more closely related to each other than ECU72 and the African genotype 60444. Together, the different genetic backgrounds and whitefly susceptibility levels of COL2246 and 60444 may affect gene expression and the detection of SNPs, causing a difference in identified eQTLs or QTL regions. A greater difference in whitefly resistance levels between ECU72 and 60444 may also have enabled the identification of more eQTLs, particularly those with known roles in defense.

Beginning with several hundred eQTL-identified genes in the CM and/or GM populations, several criteria were applied to better identify those genes that may be important for defense against whiteflies (Table 3.1). eQTL-associated genes that may contribute to resistance were identified within QTL regions, as well as eQTL-associated genes appearing in physical clusters throughout the genome. Other criteria included status as a 0-dpi DEG in parent genotypes, as a shared eQTL in both populations or as a known

plant defense gene. As potential transcriptional regulators, eQTL hotspots affecting the expression of many target genes were additionally discovered within the GM but not CM population. The general lower number of eQTLs identified in the CM population may account for this.

Overall, the eQTL-associated defense genes identified using these criteria suggest that immune, defense-signaling and cell-wall-related processes may be important for the response of cassava to whitefly infestation. As relatively few defense-related eQTLidentified genes were identified in the CM population, it is difficult to assess whether certain processes are enriched in either population. Therefore, eQTL-identified genes identified in either population are largely discussed together.

Possible whitefly resistance and susceptibility mechanisms: immunity genes

Criteria used to better identify whitefly defense genes identified many immunity genes including those involved in PTI/ETI responses (*MeMOS2a* and *b*, *MeRD19*, *MeDRP2B*, *MeEFR*, *MeHAK1*, *MeCAR1*, *MeLIK1*, *MeADF4*, *MeMIK1a-d*, *MeRD19*, *MeMOS11*, *MeWAK2*, four NLRs, and one TNL), wounding response (*MeVEP1*, *MeWR3* and *MeWAK2*), chitin response (*MeSOG1* and *MeLIK1*), cell death (*MeHXK1* (Bruggeman et al., 2015), *MeCATHB2*, *MeLCB2*, and *MeEX2*), pathogen/pest resistance (*MeSSL4*, *MeSUT1*, *MeATS3B*, *MeBBD1*, *MeEAP3*, *MeLRRAC1*, *MeOCP3*, *MePDX1*, *MeLRK10L1.2*, *MeSPF2*) and cell wall-modification gene (Manes.17G080400), or uncharacterized defenses (*MePERK14a*, *MePERK14b* and one LRR kinase) (Table 3.1). Additionally, of those eQTL-associated defense genes identified within QTL regions (*MeMOS2a*, *MeMOS2b*, *MeDRP2B*, *MeEFR*, and a TNL), all had known roles in immunity, suggesting that the QTL regions in which they reside (CM population: Chromosome 3, GM
population: Chromosome 18) may be important for immune responses active during infestation.

Among immunity-related eQTL-identified genes, many were PTI receptors involved in the recognition of bacterial PAMPs (*MeEFR*), fungal chitin elicitors (*MeLIK1*), polysaccharide HAMPs (MeHAK1), and cell wall DAMPs (MeWAK2 and likely MeMIK1ad). No studies to date have definitively identified whitefly-derived elicitors, however, alteration of defense signaling in Arabidopsis has been shown to result from whitefly feeding (Zarate et al., 2007), in one case dependent on the presence of the whitefly endosymbiont Hamiltonella defensa (Su et al., 2015). Alteration of plant defenses by Hemipterans is well-documented, with some instances of elicitors identified within Hemipteran saliva (Kaloshian and Walling, 2016). It has been speculated that Hemipteran elicitors may be derived from chitinous stylets, cell wall damage resulting from probing or small RNAs or endosymbiont derived molecules within saliva (van Bel and Will, 2016, van Kleeff et al., 2016, Wang et al., 2017). Thus, the identification of these PTI receptors suggests that early perception of unknown whitefly-derived elicitors may be important for defense. It is also interesting to note that four MIK1 genes were identified in cassava as opposed to the single copy gene in Arabidopsis, which may suggest that an expansion of this gene in cassava could possibly allow for the detection of multiple types of cell wall DAMPs or perhaps detection in specific cell types.

Several ETI receptors (*MeCAR1*, four NLRs and one TNL) or genes involved in ETI (*MeMOS2a* and *b*, *MeADF4*, *MeRD19*, and *MeMOS11*) were additionally found among eQTL-identified genes. While *MOS2* and *MOS11* have broad roles in ETI (Dong et al., 2016, Wu et al., 2013) and the identified NLRs have unknown roles, *CAR1*, *ADF4*

and *RD19* are known to be involved in resistance to various bacterial pathogens (Bernoux et al., 2008, Laflamme et al., 2020, Tian et al., 2009). Many ETI receptors are known to be important for resistance to pests, including many that confer resistance to Hemipterans and one known cloned whitefly *R* gene *Mi1.2* (Walling and Thompson, 2012, Rodriguez-Alvarez et al., 2015). With the identification of three genes involved in ETI against bacteria, it may be possible that effectors derived from whitefly or its endosymbionts trigger an ETI response. Additionally, one or more of the five NLRs identified (*MeCAR1* and NLRs Manes.18G112100, Manes.07G008700, Manes.07G044300, Manes.07G044700, and Manes.07G045400) may potentially be candidate whitefly *R* genes or *R* gene coregulators (Jacob et al., 2013). Further experiments in transgenic cassava are required to determine this functionality.

While all eQTL-identified immunity genes support the idea that immune responses are important for whitefly responses, only those eQTL-identified genes, which strictly correlate with resistance (resistance factors *MeSOG1*, *MeLIK1* and *MeSPF2*) or susceptibility (susceptibility factors *MeDRP2B*, *MePDX1*, *MeSSL4* and LRR kinase Manes.13G094300) to whiteflies can provide insights into possible resistance or susceptibility mechanisms. In Arabidopsis, LIK1, an interaction partner of the chitin receptor CERK1, acts as a negative regulator of innate immune responses prompted by chitin elicitors (Le et al., 2014). Conversely, the Arabidopsis gene *SOG1* positively regulates chitin-responsive genes in response to DNA damage that occurs during pathogen attack (Yoshiyama et al., 2020). Both *MeLIK1* and *MeSOG1* expression is strictly correlated with resistance, showing higher transcript levels in resistant versus susceptible progeny and in ECU72 versus COL2246 0-22 and 0-7 dpi, respectively. While both genes suggest response to chitin during early infestation is important for resistance,

the needed mechanism of chitin perception, via PTI in the case of *MeLIK1* or via DNA damage response in the case of *MeSOG1*, remains unclear.

The eQTL-identified immunity gene *MeSPF2* was strictly correlated with resistance in the GM but not CM population, with higher expression in ECU72 versus 60444 0-22 dpi. In Arabidopsis, SPF2 activates WRKY33 via sumolyation (Verma et al., 2021). *WRKY33* is a known positive regulator of whitefly resistance that is targeted by whitefly *B. tabaci* effector Bsp9, which is produced by whiteflies harboring *Tomato Yellow Leaf Curl Virus* for the purpose of further viral spread (Wang et al., 2019). Our results suggest that *MeSPF2* may also be important for activating *WRKY33* responses prior to and throughout infestation needed for ECU72's resistance to whitefly.

MeDRP2B, *MePDX1* and *MeSSL4* were identified as whitefly susceptibility factors, with higher expression in susceptible versus resistant progeny and in 60444 versus ECU72 0-14, 0-22 and 0-1 dpi, respectively. In Arabidopsis, while *PDX1* is important for vitamin B6-mediated bacteria and fungi resistance (Zhang et al., 2015b), *SSL4* is a susceptibility factor against bacteria *Ralstonia solanacearum* (Aoun et al., 2017). *MeDRP2B* is instead involved in response to bacterial PAMPs, and was located within a whitefly resistance QTL region found in both CM and GM populations (Ekanayake et al., 2021). It may be possible that in cassava, one or more of these three genes activate ineffective defense mechanisms, contributing to whitefly susceptibility. The LRR kinase Manes.13G094300 was also identified as a susceptibility factor, however its function is unknown.

Possible whitefly resistance and susceptibility mechanisms: defense-signaling genes

Defense signaling genes involved in SA (MeTCP9, MePR-5b and MeNPR4), ET (MeSHN3, MeEBF1, MeEIN2, MePR-3d, and MeEEN), ABA (MeABA2, MeASK2, MeATI-2, MeBBD1, MeCOL4, MeERD15, MeGI, MeHD2C, MeOCP3, MeROP10, MeTHI, MeTRE1, MeSOAR1, MeAIRP3, MeABCG40, MeUBC32, MeENO2, MeROC3, and MeOST1), and ROS (MeCcdA (Motohashi and Hisabori, 2010), MeGRXC1, MePDX1, MeRR2, MeROC3, MeFITNESS, MeKEA2, MeEX2, MeGPX1, and MeGPX2) responses were also found among eQTL-identified genes (Table 3.1). While the roles of TCP9 or NPR4 in plant whitefly responses have not been specifically investigated, SA responses have been shown to be active in several plant-whitefly interactions. Plants susceptible to whiteflies such as Arabidopsis, tobacco, and lima bean deploy SA responses during whitefly infestation (Zarate et al., 2007, Zhang et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2017). In response to whitefly infestation, JA/ET responses have also been documented in the responses of whitefly-resistant cotton (Li et al., 2016b). eQTL-identified genes involved in SA, JA and ET responses were not strictly correlated with resistance or susceptibility to whitefly, but nevertheless suggest an importance of these pathways in cassava's response to whitefly infestation.

Of the 38 eQTL-identified defense-signaling genes, 23 were involved in ABA responses. Twenty of these genes were identified by GM population eQTL hotspots, 17 of which were specifically target genes of SNPs residing within *MeSOAR1*. In Arabidopsis, *SOAR1*, a pentatricopeptide repeat (PPR) RNA-binding protein, is a known master negative regulator of ABA signaling. SOAR1 acts downstream of putative ABA receptor ABAR, interacting with exoribonuclease USB1 to regulate spliceosome assembly and

alternative splicing of ABA signaling genes (Ma et al., 2020). SOAR1 is also known to negatively regulate ABA signaling gene ABI5 at the translational level, via its role in repressing assembly of the cap-binding complex (Bi et al., 2019). Our results support this role for MeSOAR1 as a negative regulator of ABA signaling in cassava, as its expression is inversely related to the expression of its target genes involved in ABA responses. MeSOAR1 expression is significantly lower at 0 dpi in ECU72 versus 60444, and expression levels of MeSOAR1 targets, involved in ABA, redox, cell death, and other defense processes, are mainly higher in ECU72 versus 60444. Thus, it appears that dampened expression of the negative regulator MeSOAR1 results in activation of ABA responses in ECU72, which may contribute to whitefly resistance. While expression of MeSOAR1 or its targets is not strictly correlated with resistance, these results together with previous evidence of induced ABA-pathway genes and higher ABA levels in whiteflyinfested ECU72 compared to COL2246 (Chapter 2) imply that whitefly resistance in ECU72 is (at least in part) ABA-mediated. Additional targets in redox, cell death, and other defense processes also suggest these MeSOAR1-regulated processes may be important for resistance. Supporting this theory, involvement of ABA in whitefly resistance has also been documented in tomato, cabbage and eggplant (Broekgaarden et al., 2018, Esmaeily et al., 2020, Esmaeily et al., 2021).

Among *MeSOAR1* targets, several were found to be involved in stomatal regulation (*MeTRE1*, *MeTHI*, *MeRR2*, *MeGI*, *MeROC3*, and *MeERD15*) or callose defenses (*MeADF4* and *MeBBD1*), in most cases mediated by ABA (excluding *MeRR2*, *MeGI* and *MeADF4*). Positive regulators of stomatal closure *MeTRE1*, *MeGI*, *MeROC3*, *MeTHI*, and *MeRR2* (Li et al., 2016a, Van Houtte et al., 2013, Wang et al., 2020) were more highly expressed in ECU72 versus 60444 at 0 dpi, with higher expression in ECU72

continued at multiple time points during infestation. In plant-pathogen interactions, earlyonset closing of stomata, triggered by PAMP perception can confers stomatal immunity blocking pathogen entrance via stomata (Sawinski et al., 2013). Similar mechanisms of stomatal immunity have yet to be identified in plant-insect interactions, however alteration of stomatal aperture has been documented in such interactions. In tomato and soybean, caterpillar feeding has been shown to cause stomatal closure within 48 hours, and is speculated to impede the release of certain herbivore-induced plant volatiles involved in plant defenses (Lin et al., 2021); this may be attributed to the wounding incurred after larval feeding and the transient water deficit that occurs prior to wound healing. As female whitefly ovipositors cut into the epidermal surface to insert eggs via their pedicels (Byrne and Bellows, 1991), a transient and very mild water-deficit response could be occurring. An alternative theory is that stomatal closure alters turgor pressure, which may affect survival of whitefly eggs that are heavily dependent on water from the leaf (Voigt et al., 2019, Buckner et al., 2002, Byrne and Bellows, 1991), or perhaps interfere with transport of phloem photosynthates to be ingested through the stylet (Walker, 2000). Together our results suggest that stomatal regulation may be important for defense against whiteflies; however, the mechanism by which stomatal regulation may affect whitefly survival/feeding is unknown.

Our results also suggest callose defenses may be important for defense against whiteflies. ETI regulator *ADF4* and nuclease *BBD1* are both positive regulators of callosemediated bacterial or fungal resistance (Tian et al., 2009, You et al., 2010). In addition to pathogens, callose defenses can be effective against insects. Plants can obstruct the feeding of phloem-feeding insects by occluding phloem sieve elements via callose deposition (Will et al., 2013). In Arabidopsis, *ADF4* has been shown to confer callose-

based resistance to green peach aphid (Mondal et al., 2018), and has even been shown to respond to a microbial elicitor and regulate a *R* gene, suggesting a role for *ADF4* in PTI/ETI signaling (Porter et al., 2012). Additionally, callose defenses have been previously suggested as important for plant defense against whiteflies, as *B. tabaci* effector BtFer1 dampens callose-based defenses in tomato, resulting in higher whitefly survival rates (Su et al., 2019). Thus, *MeADF4* or *MeBBD1* may be important for callose-based defenses against whiteflies.

Aside from *MeSOAR1* targets, other ABA-response genes included whitefly resistance factors *MeHD2C* and *MeABCG40* and whitefly susceptibility factors *MeCOL4*, *MeASK2* and *MeENO2*, which showed clear correlation with resistance and susceptibility, respectively. *ABCG40* is an ABA importer (Finkelstein, 2013), whereas Arabidopsis T-DNA insertion lines for histone deacetylase *HD2C* showed increased sensitivity to ABA (Luo et al., 2012). Similarly, whitefly susceptibility factors *MeCOL4* and *MeASK2* have been shown to lower and raise ABA sensitivity in Arabidopsis, respectively (Li et al., 2012a, Min et al., 2015). In Arabidopsis, the alternative translation product of *ENO2* is a positive regulator of ABA responses, making while its role in ABA responses at the transcript level is unclear. The eQTL identification of these genes suggests that level of sensitivity to ABA perception and transport of ABA may be important for whitefly resistance in ECU72.

In addition to defense hormones, several eQTL-identified genes were involved in ROS-associated processes (*MeCcdA*, *MeGRXC1*, *MePDX1*, *MeRR2*, *MeEX2*, *MeGPX1*, and *MeGPX2*). Expression of the redox sensor glutathione peroxidase *MeGPX1* (Passaia and Margis-Pinheiro, 2015) was strictly correlated with susceptibility, with higher

expression in COL2246 than ECU72 0-22 dpi. Additionally, a SNP within *MeEX2*, known in Arabidopsis to regulate singlet-oxygen retrograde signaling (Chen et al., 2015), was identified as an eQTL hotspot. Though a particular role is unclear, the identification of this gene suggests that perception of cell redox state and perhaps ROS signaling may be important in the response of COL2246 to whitefly infestation. Redox genes, antioxidant enzymes, and ROS responses during plant-whitefly interactions has also been previously suggested in cassava, Arabidopsis, cotton, pepper, and eggplant (Esmaeily et al., 2020, Kempema et al., 2007, Li et al., 2016b, Mwila et al., 2017, Wu et al., 2019).

Lastly, two *PR* genes (*PR-3d* and *PR-5b*) (Irigoyen et al. (2020), that are common markers of plant defense to various pests/pathogens, were identified by eQTLs (van Loon et al., 2006). *PR-5* is SA-responsive in Arabidopsis (van Loon et al., 2006), however, *PR-5* orthologs in other plants are regulated differently. For example, in tobacco, *PR-5* is regulated by SA in addition to ET and JA (Niki et al., 1998). Supporting their role in cassava whitefly responses as suggested here, many *MePR-3* (including *Me-PR3d*) and *MePR-5* genes are induced or repressed in response to *A. socialis* infestation of whitefly-susceptible genotypes COL2246, COL1468, TME3, and 60444 (Irigoyen et al., 2020).

Possible whitefly resistance and susceptibility mechanisms: cell-wall-related genes

Genes involved in cell wall-related processes (*MeHAK1*, *MeMSBP2*, *MePMEI*, *MeKNAT3*, *MeWAK2*, *MeCSLB5*, and cell wall modification gene Manes.17G080400) were additionally found among eQTL-identified genes (Table 3.1). Three of these six genes (*MeWAK2*, *MeCSLB5*, and Manes.17G080400) were DEGs between parental genotypes at 0 dpi, suggesting that their constitutive expression levels may be important

for whitefly defense. Cellulose biosynthetic gene MeCSLB5 showed strict correlation with susceptibility, with higher expression in 60444 versus ECU72 0-22 dpi. In Arabidopsis, reduction in cellulose synthase activity has been found to be important for lignification or secondary cell wall biosynthesis, as well as initiating defense signaling as a resistance mechanism against pathogens (Caño-Delgado et al., 2003, Hernández-Blanco et al., 2007). Thus, lower expression of MeCSLB5 in ECU72 versus 60444 may be important for resistance in ECU72, perhaps as a means of being primed for responding to changes in cell wall integrity. It is also important to note, that while not strictly correlated with resistance, two genes involved in regulation of lignin biosynthesis were identified. MSBP2 regulates lignin biosynthesis by acting as a scaffold to cytochrome P450 enzymes involved in monolignol biosynthesis (Gou et al., 2018), while the transcription factor KNAT3 is a positive regulator of monolignol biosynthesis (Qin et al., 2020). Additionally, MeMSPB2 was more highly expressed in ECU72 versus 60444 at 0-22 dpi, suggesting it may be important for resistance. In a metabolomics study comparing whitefly-infested leaves of ECU72 and COL2246, higher lignin levels prior to and during infestation in ECU72 were associated with resistance (Perez-Fons et al., 2019). Cell wall fortification has also been previously suggested as important for plant defense against whiteflies in cassava (Chapter 2, (Irigoven et al., 2020)) and cotton (Ibrahim, 2016, Li et al., 2019a, Li et al., 2016b). Together, these results suggest that cell-wall-based defenses, including fortification of cell walls with lignin, may be important for whitefly resistance in ECU72.

Hormone responses of eQTL-identified defense genes

Among all eQTL-identified genes in ECU72 and genes identified by eQTLs in the CM population in ECU72 and COL2246 (Table 3.1), most genes were nonresponsive to SA, JA, ET and/or ABA or responded to all four hormones. The observation that most

eQTLs responded to all or none of these hormones suggests that another defense signal or signals may be active. For example, ROS are involved the regulation of many defensehormone responses and are a more general initial response to stress than activation of particular defense hormone pathways (Li and Loake, 2016). Another possibility is that unknown PAMPs/DAMPs/HAMPs generated in the plant-whitefly interaction may also act as a defense signal. Further studies examining cassava responses to possible whiteflyor damage-derived elicitors, ROS, calcium (Ca²⁺), small peptides, and lipids are required to better understand which unknown signals are required for the regulation of eQTLidentified genes. Additionally, eQTL-identified genes responsive to all or no hormones were predominantly involved in immunity or ABA responses, including ABA-mediated stomatal regulation and callose deposition, suggesting that these processes may be regulated by an unknown signal.

Together, our eQTL analysis of cassava mapping populations identified genes involved in immunity, defense-signaling (particularly ABA responses), and cell-wall-related processes as possibly involved in cassava's defense against whiteflies. In particular, strict correlation of gene expression in parental lines and progeny identified potential whitefly resistance factors involved in chitin perception/response (*MeSOG1* and *MeLIK1*) (Le et al., 2014, Yoshiyama et al., 2020) and ABA responses (*MeHD2C* and *MeABCG40*) (Finkelstein, 2013, Luo et al., 2012). Although not strictly correlated with resistance, eQTL-identified genes involved in regulation of monolignol biosynthesis (*MeKNAT3* and *MeMSBP2*), regulation of ABA signaling (*MeSOAR1*) and whitefly/aphid resistance (*MeSPF2* and *MeADF4*) are also likely involved in whitefly resistance due to previous evidence of such a role presented by Perez-Fons et al. (2019), in Chapter 2 and from the Arabidopsis literature, respectively (Mondal et al., 2018, Verma et al., 2021, Wang et al.,

2019). These nine genes are promising candidates for testing in transgenic cassava to confirm their possible roles in resistance to whiteflies.

Materials and Methods

Plant growth and crosses

Crosses between cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) genotypes ECU72 (Ecuadorian, whitefly-resistant) and COL2246 (Colombian, whitefly-susceptible), as well as ECU72 and 60444 (African, whitefly-susceptible), were performed at CIAT (Cali, Colombia) for the purpose of mapping whitefly resistance QTLs. Parent and F_1 progeny plants were grown at CIAT under greenhouse conditions with leaves collected from non-infested three-month-old plants according to Irigoyen et al. (2020). For F_1 plants, leaves were collected from three independent infestation time-course experiments with the whitefly *Aleurotrachelus socialis* Bondar (0, 1, 7, 14, and 22 days). Leaves from three plants were pooled for each timepoint.

RNA extraction

Sample identities for the top eleven to seventeen most resistant and susceptible F_1 progeny from the ECU72 x COL2246 and ECU72 x 60444 crosses selected for eQTL analysis are available in Table S3.8. RNA extraction and quality assessment RNAs from the F_1 progeny samples and the parental samples from the infestation time courses was performed at CIAT as described by Behnam et al. (2019) and Irigoyen et al. (2020).

Gene expression analysis

RNAs were shipped to UCR for the construction of cDNA libraries for RNA sequencing. Methods for library construction, sequencing, read pre-processing, and alignment are described in Irigoyen et al. (2020). The fifteen RNA samples for each parental genotype, initially assessed for gene expression only, were sequenced using single-end 50- to 75-bp reads; in contrast, F₁ progeny samples were sequenced using paired-end 150-bp reads for improved SNP detection during genotyping. A single, non-infested sample was sequenced for each progeny member. Sequenced libraries for parental genotypes and progeny resulted in 15-56 million and 5-17 million aligned reads, respectively. Gene expression values were calculated as RPKM using the R package systemPipeR (Backman and Girke, 2016). The three non-infested biological replicates for each parental genotype were used to calculate an average RPKM value; one RPKM value for each parental genotype and each progeny member was thus used for eQTL analysis. Trends in expression are displayed for these analyses, however, status of eQTL-identified genes as temporal or genotype DEGs is not shown but is available in Chapter 2 (Table S2.1).

SNP calling

The open source software STAR (Dobin et al., 2013), optimized for variant detection, was used to align RNAseq reads. The R package GATK (Poplin et al., 2018) was then used to perform SNP calling of parental genotype samples (15 per genotype) and progeny samples using RNAseq reads. SNPs were filtered by mapping quality (MQ = 40) and having at least three reads supporting genotype calls (DP = 3), resulting in the identification of 760,143 SNPs. Further filtering retained only those SNPs with variant

missing call rates of < 0.2 and minor allele frequency (MAF) of > 0.05, resulting in 121,778 good quality SNPs.

eQTL calling

For the CM population and its parents (ECU72 and COL2246) and the GM population and its parents (ECU72 and 60444), eQTLs were identified using the R package MatrixeQTL (Shabalin, 2012). Prior to the analysis, genes expressed at low levels and with insufficient support for genotype calls were removed. Genes with RPKM <1 in one or both parental genotypes and RPKM <1 in all progeny members were removed. In addition, SNPs with differing genotype calls across a parent's 15 samples were removed, as well as SNPs with no genotype calls among the progeny. Additionally, to better identify eQTLs underlying parental differences, SNPs with identical genotypes in both parents were removed. To identify eQTLs with sufficient phenotypic support in the progeny, SNPs with less than 2/3 of progeny genotypes matching either the resistant or susceptible parent were removed. Resulting eQTLs were deemed significant if they met p-value ≤ 0.05 and FDR ≤ 0.05 criteria.

eQTL gene nomenclature and visualizations

For all cassava genes shown, gene names were obtained from available Phytozome orthologs in Arabidopsis (Goodstein et al., 2012). For cassava genes without identified gene names (in TAIR version 10 (Berardini et al., 2015)) or orthologs in Arabidopsis, manual annotation was performed using Protein BLAST (Altschul et al., 1990) or PFAM domain (El-Gebali et al., 2019) searches as indicated (Table S3.2). Cassava gene functional bins were annotated using the online program Mercator4 version 2.0 (Schwacke et al., 2019). Two-genome plots, which display the chromosomal positions

of each eQTL SNP (x-axis) and their target gene(s) (y-axis), were created using the R/Shiny application shinyChromosome (Yu et al., 2019). Chromosome physical maps of eQTL positions were created using the online program Phenogram (Wolfe et al., 2013). Bar graphs visualizing eQTL gene expression levels and GO terms, as well as violin plots visualizing eQTLs, were created with the R package ggplot2 (Wickman, 2016). A Venn diagram displaying eQTL overlap between the two populations was constructed using the online program VENNY (Oliveros, 2007). Whitefly-resistance QTL regions for the CM and GM populations were provided by CIAT (Dr. Luis Augusto Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, Dr. Adriana Bohorquez and Dr. Vianey Paola Barrera, unpublished data).

Supplemental Tables

Table S3.1. CM and GM population significant eQTLs.

Table S3.2. CM and GM population eQTL associated gene annotation.

 Table S3.3. CM and GM population eQTL genes within QTL regions.

Table S3.4. eQTL cluster SNP and gene annotations and Mapman bins for the CM andGM populations.

 Table S3.5. GM population eQTL hotspot SNPs and their target genes.

 Table S3.6. eQTL genes differentially expressed between parental genotypes at 0 dpi.

 Table S3.7. Hormone-responsive eQTL-associated genes.

Table S3.8. Lists of CM and GM population resistant and susceptible progeny.

References

- Aalto, M. K., Helenius, E., Kariola, T., Pennanen, V., Heino, P., Horak, H., Puzorjova, I., Kollist, H. & Palva, E. T. 2012. ERD15--an attenuator of plant ABA responses and stomatal aperture. *Plant Sci*, 182, 19-28.
- Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W. & Lipman, D. J. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. *J Mol Biol*, 215, 403-10.
- An, F., Zhao, Q., Ji, Y., Li, W., Jiang, Z., Yu, X., Zhang, C., Han, Y., He, W., Liu, Y., Zhang, S., Ecker, J. R. & Guo, H. 2010. Ethylene-induced stabilization of ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE3 and EIN3-LIKE1 is mediated by proteasomal degradation of EIN3 binding F-box 1 and 2 that requires EIN2 in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell*, 22, 2384-401.
- Aoun, N., Tauleigne, L., Lonjon, F., Deslandes, L., Vailleau, F., Roux, F. & Berthome, R.
 2017. Quantitative Disease Resistance under Elevated Temperature: Genetic
 Basis of New Resistance Mechanisms to *Ralstonia solanacearum*. *Front Plant Sci,* 8, 1387.
- Backman, T. W. H. & Girke, T. 2016. SystemPipeR: NGS workflow and report generation environment. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 17, 388.
- Behnam, B., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Castaneda-Mendez, O. F., Tsuji, H., Ishitani, M. & Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. 2019. An optimized isolation protocol yields highquality RNA from cassava tissues (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz). *FEBS Open Bio*, 9, 814-825.
- Bellotti, A. C. & Arias, B. 2001. Host plant resistance to whiteflies with emphasis on cassava as a case study. *Crop Protection*, 20, 813-823.
- Bellotti, A. C., Smith, L. & Lapointe, S. L. 1999. Recent advances in cassava pest management. *Annu Rev Entomol*, 44, 343-70.
- Berardini, T. Z., Reiser, L., Li, D., Mezheritsky, Y., Muller, R., Strait, E. & Huala, E. 2015. The Arabidopsis information resource: Making and mining the "gold standard" annotated reference plant genome. *Genesis*, 53, 474-85.
- Bernoux, M., Timmers, T., Jauneau, A., Briere, C., de Wit, P. J., Marco, Y. & Deslandes, L. 2008. RD19, an Arabidopsis cysteine protease required for RRS1-R-mediated resistance, is relocalized to the nucleus by the *Ralstonia solanacearum* PopP2 effector. *Plant Cell*, 20, 2252-64.
- Bi, C., Ma, Y., Jiang, S. C., Mei, C., Wang, X. F. & Zhang, D. P. 2019. Arabidopsis translation initiation factors eIF iso4G1/2 link repression of mRNA cap-binding complex eIF iso4F assembly with RNA-binding protein SOAR 1-mediated ABA signaling. *New Phytologist*, 223, 1388-1406.

- Bianchet, C., Wong, A., Quaglia, M., Alqurashi, M., Gehring, C., Ntoukakis, V. & Pasqualini, S. 2019. An Arabidopsis thaliana leucine-rich repeat protein harbors an adenylyl cyclase catalytic center and affects responses to pathogens. *J Plant Physiol*, 232, 12-22.
- Bohorquez, A., Tohme, J., Parsa, S. & Becerra López-Lavalle, L. A. 2013. Phenotyping cassava (Manihot esculenta) resistance to whitefly (Aleurotrachelus socialis).
 First International Whitefly Symposium, Kolymbari, Creta, Grecia: Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT).
- Bredeson, J. V., Lyons, J. B., Prochnik, S. E., Wu, G. A., Ha, C. M., Edsinger-Gonzales, E., Grimwood, J., Schmutz, J., Rabbi, I. Y., Egesi, C., Nauluvula, P., Lebot, V., Ndunguru, J., Mkamilo, G., Bart, R. S., Setter, T. L., Gleadow, R. M., Kulakow, P., Ferguson, M. E., Rounsley, S. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2016. Sequencing wild and cultivated cassava and related species reveals extensive interspecific hybridization and genetic diversity. *Nat Biotechnol*, 34, 562-70.
- Breitling, R., Li, Y., Tesson, B. M., Fu, J., Wu, C., Wiltshire, T., Gerrits, A., Bystrykh, L. V., De Haan, G. & Su, A. I. 2008. Genetical genomics: spotlight on QTL hotspots. *PLoS Genet,* 4, e1000232.
- Broekgaarden, C., Pelgrom, K. T. B., Bucher, J., van Dam, N. M., Grosser, K., Pieterse, C. M. J., van Kaauwen, M., Steenhuis, G., Voorrips, R. E., de Vos, M., Vosman, B., Worrich, A. & van Wees, S. C. M. 2018. Combining QTL mapping with transcriptome and metabolome profiling reveals a possible role for ABA signaling in resistance against the cabbage whitefly in cabbage. *PLoS One,* 13, e0206103.
- Bruggeman, Q., Prunier, F., Mazubert, C., de Bont, L., Garmier, M., Lugan, R., Benhamed, M., Bergounioux, C., Raynaud, C. & Delarue, M. 2015. Involvement of Arabidopsis hexokinase1 in cell death mediated by myo-inositol accumulation. *The Plant Cell*, 27, 1801-1814.
- Buckner, J. S., Freeman, T. P., Ruud, R. L., Chu, C. c. & Henneberry, T. J. 2002. Characterization and functions of the whitefly egg pedicel. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology: Published in Collaboration with the Entomological Society of America, 49, 22-33.
- Byrne, D. N. & Bellows, T. S. 1991. WHITEFLY BIOLOGY. Annual Review of Entomology, 36, 431-457.
- Caño-Delgado, A., Penfield, S., Smith, C., Catley, M. & Bevan, M. 2003. Reduced cellulose synthesis invokes lignification and defense responses in Arabidopsis thaliana. *The Plant Journal*, 34, 351-362.
- Chen, S., Kim, C., Lee, J. M., Lee, H. A., Fei, Z., Wang, L. & Apel, K. 2015. Blocking the QB-binding site of photosystem II by tenuazonic acid, a non-host-specific toxin of Alternaria alternata, activates singlet oxygen-mediated and EXECUTER-dependent signalling in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell Environ*, 38, 1069-80.

- Coleman, A. D., Maroschek, J., Raasch, L., Takken, F. L. W., Ranf, S. & Huckelhoven, R. 2021. The Arabidopsis leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinase MIK2 is a crucial component of early immune responses to a fungal-derived elicitor. *New Phytol*, 229, 3453-3466.
- Cui, H., Tsuda, K. & Parker, J. E. 2015. Effector-triggered immunity: from pathogen perception to robust defense. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 66, 487-511.
- de Los Reyes, B. G. 2019. Genomic and epigenomic bases of transgressive segregation - New breeding paradigm for novel plant phenotypes. *Plant Sci*, 288, 110213.
- Djemal, R. & Khoudi, H. 2015. Isolation and molecular characterization of a novel WIN1/SHN1 ethylene-responsive transcription factor TdSHN1 from durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum. L. subsp. durum*). *Protoplasma*, 252, 1461-73.
- Dobin, A., Davis, C. A., Schlesinger, F., Drenkow, J., Zaleski, C., Jha, S., Batut, P., Chaisson, M. & Gingeras, T. R. 2013. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*, 29, 15-21.
- Dong, O. X., Meteignier, L. V., Plourde, M. B., Ahmed, B., Wang, M., Jensen, C., Jin, H., Moffett, P., Li, X. & Germain, H. 2016. Arabidopsis TAF15b Localizes to RNA Processing Bodies and Contributes to *snc1*-Mediated Autoimmunity. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 29, 247-57.
- Ekanayake, G., Smith, J. M., Jones, K. B., Stiers, H. M., Robinson, S. J., LaMontagne,
 E. D., Kostos, P. H., Cornish, P. V., Bednarek, S. Y. & Heese, A. 2021.
 DYNAMIN-RELATED PROTEIN DRP1A functions with DRP2B in plant growth, *flg22*-immune responses, and endocytosis. *Plant Physiol*, 185, 1986-2002.
- El-Gebali, S., Mistry, J., Bateman, A., Eddy, S. R., Luciani, A., Potter, S. C., Qureshi, M., Richardson, L. J., Salazar, G. A., Smart, A., Sonnhammer, E. L. L., Hirsh, L., Paladin, L., Piovesan, D., Tosatto, S. C. E. & Finn, R. D. 2019. The Pfam protein families database in 2019. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 47, D427-D432.
- Esmaeily, S., Amin Samih, M. & Izadi, H. 2020. Induced eggplant resistance against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* triggered by jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding. *Bull Entomol Res*, 110, 285-292.
- Esmaeily, S., Samih, M. A. & Izadi, H. 2021. Induced resistance by jasmonic and abscisic acids and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding on *Solanum lycopersicum* against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum*. *International Journal of Pest Management*, 67, 46-57.
- FAO 2018. Food outlook. Biannual report on global food markets. http://www.fao.org/3/ca2320en/CA2320EN.pdf.
- Finkelstein, R. 2013. Abscisic Acid synthesis and response. *Arabidopsis Book,* 11, e0166.

- Garcia-Andrade, J., Ramirez, V., Flors, V. & Vera, P. 2011. Arabidopsis *ocp3* mutant reveals a mechanism linking ABA and JA to pathogen-induced callose deposition. *Plant J*, 67, 783-94.
- Gilad, Y., Rifkin, S. A. & Pritchard, J. K. 2008. Revealing the architecture of gene regulation: the promise of eQTL studies. *Trends Genet,* 24, 408-15.
- Goodstein, D. M., Shu, S., Howson, R., Neupane, R., Hayes, R. D., Fazo, J., Mitros, T., Dirks, W., Hellsten, U., Putnam, N. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2012. Phytozome: a comparative platform for green plant genomics. *Nucleic acids research*, 40, D1178-D1186.
- Gou, M., Ran, X., Martin, D. W. & Liu, C. J. 2018. The scaffold proteins of lignin biosynthetic cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Nat Plants*, 4, 299-310.
- Hernández-Blanco, C., Feng, D. X., Hu, J., Sánchez-Vallet, A., Deslandes, L., Llorente, F., Berrocal-Lobo, M., Keller, H., Barlet, X. & Sánchez-Rodríguez, C. 2007.
 Impairment of cellulose synthases required for Arabidopsis secondary cell wall formation enhances disease resistance. *The Plant Cell*, 19, 890-903.
- Hou, Y. J., Zhu, Y., Wang, P., Zhao, Y., Xie, S., Batelli, G., Wang, B., Duan, C. G., Wang, X., Xing, L., Lei, M., Yan, J., Zhu, X. & Zhu, J. K. 2016. Type One Protein Phosphatase 1 and Its Regulatory Protein Inhibitor 2 Negatively Regulate ABA Signaling. *PLoS Genet*, 12, e1005835.
- Ibrahim, M., Yasmeen, S., Zaman, G., Bin, L., Al-Qurainy, F., Athar, H., Shah, K.H., Khurshid, M., Ashraf, M. 2016. Protein profiling analysis of *Gossypium hirsutum* (Malvales: Malvaceae) leaves infested by cotton whitefly *Bemisia tabaci* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, 51, 599–607.
- Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. B., Perez-Fons, L., Fraser, P. D. & Walling, L. L. 2020. Genome-wide analyses of cassava *Pathogenesis-related (PR)* gene families reveal core transcriptome responses to whitefly infestation, salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. *BMC Genomics*, 21, 93.
- Jacob, F., Vernaldi, S. & Maekawa, T. 2013. Evolution and conservation of plant NLR functions. *Front Immunol*, 4, 297.
- Jolie, R. P., Duvetter, T., Van Loey, A. M. & Hendrickx, M. E. 2010. Pectin methylesterase and its proteinaceous inhibitor: a review. *Carbohydr Res*, 345, 2583-95.
- Jones, J. D. & Dangl, J. L. 2006. The plant immune system. *Nature*, 444, 323-9.
- Ju, C., Yoon, G. M., Shemansky, J. M., Lin, D. Y., Ying, Z. I., Chang, J., Garrett, W. M., Kessenbrock, M., Groth, G., Tucker, M. L., Cooper, B., Kieber, J. J. & Chang, C. 2012. CTR1 phosphorylates the central regulator EIN2 to control ethylene

hormone signaling from the ER membrane to the nucleus in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 19486-91.

- Kaloshian, I. & Walling, L. L. 2016. Hemipteran and dipteran pests: Effectors and plant host immune regulators. *J Integr Plant Biol*, 58, 350-61.
- Kang, M., Abdelmageed, H., Lee, S., Reichert, A., Mysore, K. S. & Allen, R. D. 2013. AtMBP-1, an alternative translation product of LOS2, affects abscisic acid responses and is modulated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase AtSAP5. *Plant J*, 76, 481-93.
- Kempema, L. A., Cui, X., Holzer, F. M. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Arabidopsis transcriptome changes in response to phloem-feeding silverleaf whitefly nymphs. Similarities and distinctions in responses to aphids. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 849-65.
- Kohorn, B. D., Kohorn, S. L., Saba, N. J. & Martinez, V. M. 2014. Requirement for pectin methyl esterase and preference for fragmented over native pectins for wallassociated kinase-activated, EDS1/PAD4-dependent stress response in Arabidopsis. J Biol Chem, 289, 18978-86.
- Laflamme, B., Dillon, M. M., Martel, A., Almeida, R. N. D., Desveaux, D. & Guttman, D. S. 2020. The pan-genome effector-triggered immunity landscape of a host-pathogen interaction. *Science*, 367, 763-768.
- Le, M. H., Cao, Y., Zhang, X. C. & Stacey, G. 2014. LIK1, a CERK1-interacting kinase, regulates plant immune responses in Arabidopsis. *PLoS One,* 9, e102245.
- Leon, J., Rojo, E., Titarenko, E. & Sanchez-Serrano, J. J. 1998. Jasmonic aciddependent and -independent wound signal transduction pathways are differentially regulated by Ca2+/calmodulin in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol Gen Genet*, 258, 412-9.
- Li, C., Liu, Z., Zhang, Q., Wang, R., Xiao, L., Ma, H., Chong, K. & Xu, Y. 2012a. SKP1 is involved in abscisic acid signalling to regulate seed germination, stomatal opening and root growth in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell Environ*, 35, 952-65.
- Li, C. L., Wang, M., Wu, X. M., Chen, D. H., Lv, H. J., Shen, J. L., Qiao, Z. & Zhang, W. 2016a. THI1, a Thiamine Thiazole Synthase, Interacts with Ca2+-Dependent Protein Kinase CPK33 and Modulates the S-Type Anion Channels and Stomatal Closure in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 170, 1090-104.
- Li, J., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Wang, Q., Chen, L., Zhang, Q., Wang, M., Mansoor, S., Zhang, X. & Jin, S. 2019a. Genome-Wide Analysis of Cotton miRNAs During Whitefly Infestation Offers New Insights into Plant-Herbivore Interaction. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- Li, J., Zhu, L., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Daniell, H., Jin, S. & Zhang, X. 2016b. Transcriptome analysis reveals a comprehensive insect resistance response mechanism in

cotton to infestation by the phloem feeding insect *Bemisia tabaci* (whitefly). *Plant Biotechnol J.*

- Li, Y. & Loake, G. J. 2016. Redox-Regulated Plant Transcription Factors. *In:* D. H., G. (ed.) *Plant Transcription Factors.* Academic Press.
- Li, Z., Kang, J., Sui, N. & Liu, D. 2012b. ROP11 GTPase is a negative regulator of multiple ABA responses in Arabidopsis. *J Integr Plant Biol*, 54, 169-79.
- Lin, P. A., Chen, Y., Chaverra-Rodriguez, D., Heu, C. C., Zainuddin, N. B., Sidhu, J. S., Peiffer, M., Tan, C. W., Helms, A., Kim, D., Ali, J., Rasgon, J. L., Lynch, J., Anderson, C. T. & Felton, G. W. 2021. Silencing the alarm: an insect salivary enzyme closes plant stomata and inhibits volatile release. *New Phytol*, 230, 793-803.
- Liu, Y., Sun, T., Sun, Y., Zhang, Y., Radojicic, A., Ding, Y., Tian, H., Huang, X., Lan, J., Chen, S., Orduna, A. R., Zhang, K., Jetter, R., Li, X. & Zhang, Y. 2020. Diverse Roles of the Salicylic Acid Receptors NPR1 and NPR3/NPR4 in Plant Immunity. *Plant Cell*, 32, 4002-4016.
- Luo, M., Wang, Y. Y., Liu, X., Yang, S., Lu, Q., Cui, Y. & Wu, K. 2012. HD2C interacts with HDA6 and is involved in ABA and salt stress response in Arabidopsis. *J Exp Bot*, 63, 3297-306.
- Ma, Y., Zhang, S., Bi, C., Mei, C., Jiang, S. C., Wang, X. F., Lu, Z. J. & Zhang, D. P.
 2020. Arabidopsis exoribonuclease USB1 interacts with the PPR-domain protein SOAR1 to negatively regulate abscisic acid signaling. *J Exp Bot*, 71, 5837-5851.
- Mao, H., Aryal, B., Langenecker, T., Hagmann, J., Geisler, M. & Grebe, M. 2017. Arabidopsis BTB/POZ protein-dependent PENETRATION3 trafficking and disease susceptibility. *Nat Plants*, 3, 854-858.
- Min, J. H., Chung, J. S., Lee, K. H. & Kim, C. S. 2015. The CONSTANS-like 4 transcription factor, AtCOL4, positively regulates abiotic stress tolerance through an abscisic acid-dependent manner in Arabidopsis. J Integr Plant Biol, 57, 313-24.
- Mondal, H. A., Louis, J., Archer, L., Patel, M., Nalam, V. J., Sarowar, S., Sivapalan, V., Root, D. D. & Shah, J. 2018. Arabidopsis ACTIN-DEPOLYMERIZING FACTOR3 Is Required for Controlling Aphid Feeding from the Phloem. *Plant Physiol*, 176, 879-890.
- Motohashi, K. & Hisabori, T. 2010. CcdA is a thylakoid membrane protein required for the transfer of reducing equivalents from stroma to thylakoid lumen in the higher plant chloroplast. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*, 13, 1169-1176.
- Mwila, N., Rubaihayo, P. R., Kyamanywa, S., ODong, T. L., Nuwamanya, E., Mwala, M., Agbahoungba, S. & Badji, A. 2017. BIOCHEMICAL FACTORS ASSOCIATED

WITH CASSAVA RESISTANCE TO WHITEFLY INFESTATION. *African Crop Science Journal*, 25, 365-385.

- Niki, T., Mitsuhara, I., Seo, S., Ohtsubo, N. & Ohashi, Y. 1998. Antagonistic effect of salicylic acid and jasmonic acid on the expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) protein genes in wounded mature tobacco leaves. *Plant and cell physiology*, 39, 500-507.
- Oliveros, J. C. 2007. VENNY. An interactive tool for comparing lists with venn diagrams.
- Omongo, C. A., Kawuki, R., Bellotti, A. C., Alicai, T., Baguma, Y., Maruthi, M. N., Bua, A. & Colvin, J. 2012. African Cassava Whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci*, Resistance in African and South American Cassava Genotypes. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 11, 327-336.
- Pan, W., Lin, B., Yang, X., Liu, L., Xia, R., Li, J., Wu, Y. & Xie, Q. 2020. The UBC27-AIRP3 ubiquitination complex modulates ABA signaling by promoting the degradation of ABI1 in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117, 27694-27702.
- Passaia, G. & Margis-Pinheiro, M. 2015. Glutathione peroxidases as redox sensor proteins in plant cells. *Plant Sci*, 234, 22-6.
- Perez-Fons, L., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Morreel, K., Boerjan, W., Walling, L. L., Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. & Fraser, P. D. 2019. A metabolomics characterisation of natural variation in the resistance of cassava to whitefly. *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 518.
- Poplin, R., Ruano-Rubio, V., DePristo, M. A., Fennell, T. J., Carneiro, M. O., Van der Auwera, G. A., Kling, D. E., Gauthier, L. D., Levy-Moonshine, A., Roazen, D., Shakir, K., Thibault, J., Chandran, S., Whelan, C., Lek, M., Gabriel, S., Daly, M. J., Neale, B., MacArthur, D. G. & Banks, E. 2018. Scaling accurate genetic variant discovery to tens of thousands of samples. *bioRxiv*, 201178.
- Porter, K., Shimono, M., Tian, M. & Day, B. 2012. Arabidopsis Actin-Depolymerizing Factor-4 links pathogen perception, defense activation and transcription to cytoskeletal dynamics. *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1003006.
- Qin, W., Yin, Q., Chen, J., Zhao, X., Yue, F., He, J., Yang, L., Liu, L., Zeng, Q., Lu, F., Mitsuda, N., Ohme-Takagi, M. & Wu, A. M. 2020. The class II KNOX transcription factors KNAT3 and KNAT7 synergistically regulate monolignol biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. *J Exp Bot*, 71, 5469-5483.
- Richmond, T. A. & Somerville, C. R. 2000. The cellulose synthase superfamily. *Plant Physiol*, 124, 495-8.
- Riondet, C., Desouris, J. P., Montoya, J. G., Chartier, Y., Meyer, Y. & Reichheld, J. P. 2012. A dicotyledon-specific glutaredoxin GRXC1 family with dimer-dependent

redox regulation is functionally redundant with GRXC2. *Plant Cell Environ*, 35, 360-73.

- Rodriguez-Alvarez, C. I., Lopez-Climent, M. F., Gomez-Cadenas, A., Kaloshian, I. & Nombela, G. 2015. Salicylic acid is required for *Mi-1*-mediated resistance of tomato to whitefly *Bemisia tabaci*, but not for basal defense to this insect pest. *Bull Entomol Res*, 105, 574-82.
- Savadogo, E. H., Shiomi, Y., Yasuda, J., Akino, T., Yamaguchi, M., Yoshida, H., Umegawachi, T., Tanaka, R., Suong, D. N. A., Miura, K., Yazaki, K. & Kitajima, S. 2021. Gene expression of PLAT and ATS3 proteins increases plant resistance to insects. *Planta*, 253, 37.
- Sawinski, K., Mersmann, S., Robatzek, S. & Bohmer, M. 2013. Guarding the green: pathways to stomatal immunity. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 26, 626-32.
- Schwacke, R., Ponce-Soto, G. Y., Krause, K., Bolger, A. M., Arsova, B., Hallab, A., Gruden, K., Stitt, M., Bolger, M. E. & Usadel, B. 2019. MapMan4: A Refined Protein Classification and Annotation Framework Applicable to Multi-Omics Data Analysis. *Mol Plant*, 12, 879-892.
- Schwessinger, B. & Zipfel, C. 2008. News from the frontline: recent insights into PAMPtriggered immunity in plants. *Curr Opin Plant Biol,* 11, 389-95.
- Shabalin, A. A. 2012. Matrix eQTL: ultra fast eQTL analysis via large matrix operations. *Bioinformatics*, 28, 1353-8.
- Shin, K. H., Yang, S. H., Lee, J. Y., Lim, C. W., Lee, S. C., Brown, J. W. & Kim, S. H. 2015. Alternative splicing of mini-exons in the Arabidopsis leaf rust receptor-like kinase *LRK10* genes affects subcellular localisation. *Plant Cell Rep*, 34, 495-505.
- Su, Q., Oliver, K. M., Xie, W., Wu, Q., Wang, S. & Zhang, Y. 2015. The whiteflyassociated facultative symbiont *Hamiltonella defensa* suppresses induced plant defences in tomato. *Functional Ecology*, 29, 1007-1018.
- Su, Q., Peng, Z., Tong, H., Xie, W., Wang, S., Wu, Q., Zhang, J., Li, C. & Zhang, Y. 2019. A salivary ferritin in the whitefly suppresses plant defenses and facilitates host exploitation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 70, 3343-3355.
- Tian, M., Chaudhry, F., Ruzicka, D. R., Meagher, R. B., Staiger, C. J. & Day, B. 2009. Arabidopsis actin-depolymerizing factor AtADF4 mediates defense signal transduction triggered by the *Pseudomonas syringae* effector AvrPphB. *Plant Physiol*, 150, 815-24.
- Uemura, T., Hachisu, M., Desaki, Y., Ito, A., Hoshino, R., Sano, Y., Nozawa, A., Mujiono, K., Galis, I., Yoshida, A., Nemoto, K., Miura, S., Nishiyama, M., Nishiyama, C., Horito, S., Sawasaki, T. & Arimura, G. I. 2020. Soy and

Arabidopsis receptor-like kinases respond to polysaccharide signals from Spodoptera species and mediate herbivore resistance. *Commun Biol*, 3, 224.

- van Bel, A. J. E. & Will, T. 2016. Functional Evaluation of Proteins in Watery and Gel Saliva of Aphids. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7.
- Van Houtte, H., Vandesteene, L., Lopez-Galvis, L., Lemmens, L., Kissel, E., Carpentier, S., Feil, R., Avonce, N., Beeckman, T., Lunn, J. E. & Van Dijck, P. 2013.
 Overexpression of the trehalase gene *AtTRE1* leads to increased drought stress tolerance in Arabidopsis and is involved in abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure. *Plant Physiol*, 161, 1158-71.
- van Kleeff, P. J., Galland, M., Schuurink, R. C. & Bleeker, P. M. 2016. Small RNAs from *Bemisia tabaci* Are Transferred to *Solanum lycopersicum* Phloem during Feeding. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1759.
- van Loon, L. C., Rep, M. & Pieterse, C. M. 2006. Significance of inducible defenserelated proteins in infected plants. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 44, 135-162.
- Verma, V., Srivastava, A. K., Gough, C., Campanaro, A., Srivastava, M., Morrell, R., Joyce, J., Bailey, M., Zhang, C., Krysan, P. J. & Sadanandom, A. 2021. SUMO enables substrate selectivity by mitogen-activated protein kinases to regulate immunity in plants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 118.
- Voigt, D., Schrameyer, K., Kiefer, J., Zebitz, C. P. W. & Gorb, S. 2019. Anchoring of greenhouse whitefly eggs on different rose cultivars. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 13, 335–348.
- Walker, G. 2000. A beginner's guide to electronic monitoring of homopteran probing behavior. Principles and applications of electronic monitoring and other techniques in the study of homopteran feeding behavior. Thomas Say Publications in Entomology, Entomological Society of America, Lanham, MD, 14-40.
- Walling, L. L. & Thompson, G. A. 2012. Phloem. Phloem. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Wang, H. Q., Sun, L. P., Wang, L. X., Fang, X. W., Li, Z. Q., Zhang, F. F., Hu, X., Qi, C. & He, J. M. 2020. Ethylene mediates salicylic-acid-induced stomatal closure by controlling reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide production in Arabidopsis. *Plant Sci*, 294, 110464.
- Wang, N., Zhao, P., Ma, Y., Yao, X., Sun, Y., Huang, X., Jin, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, C., Fang, R. & Ye, J. 2019. A whitefly effector Bsp9 targets host immunity regulator WRKY33 to promote performance. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 374, 20180313.

- Wang, X., Gao, J., Zhu, Z., Dong, X., Wang, X., Ren, G., Zhou, X. & Kuai, B. 2015c. TCP transcription factors are critical for the coordinated regulation of isochorismate synthase 1 expression in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J, 82, 151-62.
- Wang, X.-W., Li, P. & Shu-Sheng, L. 2017. Whitefly interactions with plants. *Current opinion in insect science*, 19, 70-75.
- Wickman, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis, Springer-Verlag New York.
- Will, T., Furch, A. & Zimmermann, M. 2013. How phloem-feeding insects face the challenge of phloem-located defenses. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4.
- Wolfe, D., Dudek, S., Ritchie, M. D. & Pendergrass, S. A. 2013. Visualizing genomic information across chromosomes with PhenoGram. *BioData Min*, 6, 18.
- Wu, X., Shi, Y., Li, J., Xu, L., Fang, Y., Li, X. & Qi, Y. 2013. A role for the RNA-binding protein MOS2 in microRNA maturation in Arabidopsis. *Cell Res*, 23, 645-57.
- Wu, X., Yan, J., Wu, Y., Zhang, H., Mo, S., Xu, X., Zhou, F. & Ding, H. 2019. Proteomic analysis by iTRAQ-PRM provides integrated insight into mechanisms of resistance in pepper to *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius). *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 270.
- Yang, K. Y., Moon, Y. H., Choi, K. H., Kim, Y. H., Eun, M. Y., Guh, J. O., Kim, K. C. & Cho, B. H. 1997. Structure and expression of the AWI 31 gene specifically induced by wounding in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol Cells, 7, 131-5.
- Yoshida, R., Umezawa, T., Mizoguchi, T., Takahashi, S., Takahashi, F. & Shinozaki, K. 2006. The regulatory domain of SRK2E/OST1/SnRK2.6 interacts with ABI1 and integrates abscisic acid (ABA) and osmotic stress signals controlling stomatal closure in Arabidopsis. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 5310-8.
- Yoshiyama, K. O., Aoshima, N., Takahashi, N., Sakamoto, T., Hiruma, K., Saijo, Y., Hidema, J., Umeda, M. & Kimura, S. 2020. SUPPRESSOR OF GAMMA RESPONSE 1 acts as a regulator coordinating crosstalk between DNA damage response and immune response in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Mol Biol*, 103, 321-340.
- You, M. K., Shin, H. Y., Kim, Y. J., Ok, S. H., Cho, S. K., Jeung, J. U., Yoo, S. D., Kim, J. K. & Shin, J. S. 2010. Novel bifunctional nucleases, OmBBD and AtBBD1, are involved in abscisic acid-mediated callose deposition in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 152, 1015-29.
- Young, N. 1996. QTL mapping and quantitative disease resistance in plants. *Annual review of phytopathology*, 34, 479-501.

- Yu, Y., Yao, W., Wang, Y. & Huang, F. 2019. shinyChromosome: An R/Shiny Application for Interactive Creation of Non-circular Plots of Whole Genomes. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics*, 17, 535-539.
- Zander, M., Willige, B. C., He, Y., Nguyen, T. A., Langford, A. E., Nehring, R., Howell,
 E., McGrath, R., Bartlett, A., Castanon, R., Nery, J. R., Chen, H., Zhang, Z.,
 Jupe, F., Stepanova, A., Schmitz, R. J., Lewsey, M. G., Chory, J. & Ecker, J. R.
 2019. Epigenetic silencing of a multifunctional plant stress regulator. *Elife*, 8.
- Zarate, S. I., Kempema, L. A. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Silverleaf whitefly induces salicylic acid defenses and suppresses effectual jasmonic acid defenses. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 866-75.
- Zhang, P. J., Zheng, S. J., van Loon, J. J., Boland, W., David, A., Mumm, R. & Dicke, M. 2009. Whiteflies interfere with indirect plant defense against spider mites in Lima bean. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 21202-7.
- Zhang, X., Sun, X., Zhao, H., Xue, M. & Wang, D. 2017. Phenolic compounds induced by *Bemisia tabaci* and *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* in *Nicotiana tabacum* L. and their relationship with the salicylic acid signaling pathway. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 1-9.
- Zhang, Y., Cheng, Y. T., Bi, D., Palma, K. & Li, X. 2005. MOS2, a protein containing Gpatch and KOW motifs, is essential for innate immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Curr Biol*, 15, 1936-42.
- Zhang, Y., Jin, X., Ouyang, Z., Li, X., Liu, B., Huang, L., Hong, Y., Zhang, H., Song, F. & Li, D. 2015b. Vitamin B6 contributes to disease resistance against *Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato* DC3000 and Botrytis cinerea in Arabidopsis thaliana. *J Plant Physiol*, 175, 21-5.
- Zhao, D., You, Y., Fan, H., Zhu, X., Wang, Y., Duan, Y., Xuan, Y. & Chen, L. 2018. The Role of Sugar Transporter Genes during Early Infection by Root-Knot Nematodes. *Int J Mol Sci*, 19.
- Zipfel, C., Kunze, G., Chinchilla, D., Caniard, A., Jones, J. D., Boller, T. & Felix, G. 2006. Perception of the bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the receptor EFR restricts Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. *Cell*, 125, 749-60.

Conclusions

Whiteflies are a food security and economic threat to global agriculture, as whitefly infestation and vectoring of plant viral diseases reduces the yields of many of its 1,000+ crop and ornamental plant hosts (EFSA, 2013). Yield losses of the subsistence crop cassava due to superabundant whitefly populations in sub-Saharan Africa in recent decades have been particularly devastating for small-shareholder farmers (FAO, 2018). Previous strategies to mitigate whitefly-inflicted cassava yield losses using insecticides or virus-resistant cassava varieties have been ineffective, as whiteflies are generally able to develop insecticide resistance and virus-resistant cassava varieties remained susceptible to whiteflies. The African Cassava Whitefly Project (ACWP) was formed to identify strategies for whitefly control for African cassava. The ACWP focuses on identifying sources of whitefly resistance in cassava to be introduced in African cassava lines through breeding. A promising source of resistance to whitefly has been found in Ecuadorian cassava genotype ECU72. Together, teams at CIAT, UCR and RHUL have been researching whitefly resistance in ECU72 at the genetic, transcriptomic and metabolic levels, respectively.

As a part of the ACWP, the main goal of my Dissertation has been to identify processes/genes important for whitefly resistance in ECU72 as compared to whitefly-susceptible Colombian genotype COL2246. To this end, I have defined, analyzed and integrated with other data sets the transcriptome response of ECU72 and COL2246 to whitefly infestation and defense hormone treatment. In the three chapters of my Dissertation, my goals were to (1) present an initial characterization of the transcriptomic response of *Pathogenesis-related (PR)* genes to whitefly infestation, SA, JA, and biotic

stressors in whitefly-susceptible cassava; (2) define the global transcriptomic responses of ECU72 and COL2246 to whitefly infestation, SA, JA, ET, and ABA; and (3) identify possible whitefly defense genes in ECU72 through eQTL analyses.

In Chapter 1, we provided the first genome-wide identification of *PR* gene families in cassava and characterized cassava's *PR* gene transcript-level response to whiteflies, SA, JA, and other biotic stressors. Utilizing four susceptible cassava genotypes (COL2246, COL1468, TM3, and 60444) with diverse genetic backgrounds, we identified core transcriptome responses to whitefly infestation. *PR* genes were originally identified as being induced by pathogen and pest attack (van Loon et al., 2006). In contrast, and quite surprisingly, cassava breaks with this dogma. In cassava, many *PR* genes were downregulated in response to whitefly and other biotic stressors, suggesting novel biological functions of such *PR* genes or evolution of unique *PR* gene regulation programs specific to cassava. Gene expression programs identified for *PR* families 2, 5, 7, and 9 predominated the response to whiteflies, SA, JA, and most other biotic stresses. This suggests that their functionalities (pathogen cell wall degradation and host cell wall reinforcement) (Abad et al., 1996, Lagrimini et al., 1987, Slusarenko et al., 2000, Van Loon and Van Strien, 1999) may play an important role in cassava defense responses.

Correlation and phylogenetic analyses uncovered additional similarities in whitefly/microbe responses with positive correlations in differentially expressed *PR* genes when whitefly responses were compared to bacteria and *Cassava Brown Streak Virus* responses. Comparison of *PR* family composition among plant species revealed cassava-specific expansions within selected *PR* clades. Notably, clades *PR-2e* and *PR-3g* contained genes with cassava-specific expansions that were associated with

whitefly/microbe responses. Our results suggested that *PR* gene responses may be comparable among whiteflies and certain microbes due to similar perception of the whitefly stylet (chitin, apoplast movement) or of whitefly saliva components (elicitors, effectors or endosymbionts) (Kaloshian and Walling, 2016, Schwessinger and Zipfel, 2008).

Definition of the SA- and JA-dependent transcriptomes of cassava revealed that whitefly, bacteria and fungi *PR* gene responses are largely coordinately regulated by both SA and JA. These results show that *PR* genes typically used to report activation of the SA and JA pathways in Arabidopsis cannot be used in cassava. Our genome-wide analysis of cassava's *PR* gene families also emphasizes the need for evaluating the *PR* gene regulatory programs in other crops to develop an understanding of the utility of *PR* genes as defense sentinels.

In Chapter 2, we conducted a more global and comparative analysis, defining the transcriptomes of ECU72 and COL2246 to whitefly infestation. This was combined with the analysis of the ECU72 and COL2246 transcriptome responses to treatments with four defense hormones (SA, JA, ET, and ABA) to characterize their mechanisms of resistance or susceptibility to whiteflies. Comparison of defense-hormone-responsive transcriptomes revealed that while responses to JA, ET and ABA were similar in both genotypes, SA treatment elicited a faster, more prolonged response in ECU72 than in COL2246. These genotypes additionally displayed a striking reciprocal regulation of most SA-responsive genes. SA responses were additionally largely antagonistic with responses to JA, ET and ABA in ECU72 but not COL2246. While the mechanisms that mediate the major reprogramming of SA responses in ECU72 and COL2246 are currently unknown, such

on their pivotal regulatory roles in the model plant Arabidopsis (Caarls et al., 2015, Li et al., 2013a, Li et al., 2019b) and their dynamic expression programs in ECU72 versus COL2246 in response to whitefly infestation and/or SA treatment, *MeWRKY70*, *MeNPR1* and *MeGRX480* were identified as possible hubs to mediate the crosstalk between SA and other defense-hormone pathways. The marked differences in SA responses discovered in the cassava genotypes ECU72 and COL2246 has not been reported frequently, but was seen in a pairwise comparisons SA responses in seven Arabidopsis ecotypes (van Leeuwen et al., 2007). Similarly in cacao, partial reciprocity of gene expression was observed in SA-treated oomycete-resistant versus oomycete-susceptible genotypes (Fister et al., 2015). Therefore, the variation in hormone networks may also exist in other plant species as well. Such hormonal fine tuning among varieties may reflect adaptations to specific suites of pests, pathogens or environmental conditions.

To place cassava's hormone responses in a broader context, we sought to compare cassava responses to the SA- and JA-responsive transcriptomes of Arabidopsis. A survey of the Arabidopsis literature indicated that existing transcriptomes of SA- or JA-treated Arabidopsis were highly variable, likely due to differences in treatment concentrations or plant age (Hickman et al., 2017, Pauwels et al., 2008, Sawant et al., 2009, Singh et al., 2015, Thibaud-Nissen et al., 2006, Yang et al., 2017). As existing studies were also not aligned with time points used in our cassava time courses and for better comparisons, we generated transcriptomes to follow the response of Arabidopsis to SA and JA treatment over a 24 h time course. Comparison of the two species revealed that many SA- and JA-responsive genes in cassava were unresponsive to these hormones in Arabidopsis. Furthermore, of SA- or JA-responsive DEGs detected in both cassava and Arabidopsis, many genes showed divergent temporal and directional

responses in the two species. Together, our observations provide evidence of intra- and inter-species variation in hormone responses, an understudied phenomenon also observed in Arabidopsis and cacao (Fister et al., 2015, Proietti et al., 2018, van Leeuwen et al., 2007). Visualization of SA, JA, ET, and ABA pathway gene expression in the two species additionally found, as in Chapter 1, that several sentinel genes defined in Arabidopsis used to indicate hormone pathway activation are not indicators of similar responses in cassava. We hope our findings will dissuade the inference of hormone responses using Arabidopsis sentinels in studies of other plant species.

Whitefly-responsive transcriptomes revealed a clear shift in responses from early (0-7 dpi, adult feeding, oviposition, and egg residency) to late (14-22 dpi, nymph feeding) phases of infestation. Integrative analyses of whitefly and hormone responses also suggested whitefly resistance to be ABA-mediated in ECU72 and whitefly susceptibility to be SA-mediated in COL2246. Higher ABA levels (peaking at 0.5 dpi) and late-infestation induction of ABA signaling genes in ECU72 versus higher SA levels and late-infestation induction of SA-signaling genes in COL2246 support this hypothesis. The importance of SA responses during infestation additionally suggests that the previously mentioned hormone-crosstalk regulatory genes may be important for whitefly resistance. A large proportion of whitefly-regulated genes were also found to be hormone insensitive or responsive to all hormones, suggesting that unknown signals, such as whitefly elicitors, effectors or other defense signals, may also regulate cassava's response to whitefly infestation (Kaloshian and Walling, 2016, Wang et al., 2019, Xu et al., 2019).

Enrichment and clustering analyses of whitefly- and hormone-responsive genotype DEGs was utilized to further characterize cassava's response to whiteflies. At

0-7 dpi, several defense processes were enriched among genes more highly expressed in ECU72 versus COL2246, revealing cell wall processes like lignin biosynthesis, cell wall remodeling and cell wall-elicitor response to be important for ECU72's early defenses against whitefly adults and/or eggs. A role for lignin-based defenses in ECU72 is supported by the metabolomics data reported by Perez-Fons et al. (2019).

In contrast, few processes were enriched among genes more highly expressed in COL2246 versus ECU72 until 14-22 dpi. At these times, we observed a surge in enriched processes including SA signaling, immune signaling, carbohydrate metabolism, and sesquiterpenoid biosynthesis as COL2246's response to feeding by 1st-, 2nd-and 3rd-instar nymphs. We hypothesize that while ECU72 is able to deter the development of eggs and early-stage nymphs during early phases of whitefly infestation using ABA- and cell-wall-based defenses, COL2246's defenses are activated more slowly. This results in a much higher nymph load by late infestation timepoints (14-22 dpi) and a surge of ineffective SA and immune responses to these feeding nymphs.

In Chapter 3, RNA-sequencing-based eQTL analyses were performed to identify genes important for cassava's defense against whiteflies utilizing non-infested F_1 quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping populations resulting from crosses of ECU72 with COL2246 (the CM population) or with the African genotype 60444 (the GM population). A spectrum of resistance/susceptibility phenotypes observed in these populations demonstrated that whitefly resistance is quantitative. The identification of F_1 progeny that were more resistant or susceptible than the resistant and susceptible parents demonstrated the occurrence of transgressive segregation. This prompted the analysis of progeny resistance traits dominantly inherited from the susceptible parent and vice versa.

eQTL analysis revealed the presence of more eQTLs, eQTL-identified genes, and eQTL hotspots in the GM population than the CM population. While the reason for these differences is not known, they may result from differences in the genetic backgrounds or susceptibility levels of COL2246 and 60444. To better identify genes important for defense against whiteflies, eQTL-identified genes meeting various criteria that imply a role in defense were selected for further analysis. Such criteria included eQTLs shared in both populations, location within an eQTL cluster or whitefly-resistance QTL, or status as a known defense gene, hotspot, or genotype DEG at 0 dpi.

eQTL-identified genes identified several processes as being potentially involved in cassava's defense against whiteflies, including immunity, defense-signaling and cell-wall-related processes. Standing out was a GM population eQTL hotspot at *MeSOAR1*, a master negative regulator of ABA responses (Ma et al., 2020). *MeSOAR1* targeted 119 genes, including many genes involved in ABA, redox, cell death, and other defense-related processes. Lower expression of *MeSOAR1* in ECU72 versus 60444 allowed for higher expression of ABA-response genes in the resistant genotype, including many genes involved in ABA-response genes in the resistant genotype, including many genes involved in ABA-mediated stomatal closure or callose deposition. Other eQTL-identified genes included regulators of monolignol biosynthesis and genes known to be involved in resistance to whiteflies or aphids. Several genes showed strict correlation of parent and progeny 0-dpi expression with resistance, suggesting they may act as whitefly resistance factors. Such genes include chitin perception/response genes and ABA response genes. Together these genes are suggested as possible candidates for evaluation in transgenic cassava to confirm their possible roles as whitefly resistance factors.

Collectively, this Dissertation contributes to our understanding of the genetic basis of cassava's response to whiteflies. These data will better inform the introduction of resistance traits from ECU72 to locally-adapted, high-yielding African cassava lines in whitefly-affected regions of sub-Saharan Africa. Whitefly- and defense-hormone-responsive transcriptomes first defined here and by Irigoyen et al. (2020) will additionally serve as a useful tool for the cassava-defense community to better characterize cassava's response to various yield-threatening pests/pathogens. Themes emerging among the three Chapters of this Dissertation as factors that may be important for whitefly resistance in ECU72 include perception of unknown whitefly elicitors, cell-wall-based defenses and ABA-based defenses. Evaluation of genes proposed by this Dissertation to be involved in such processes is necessary to confirm that these processes are important for the whitefly resistance mechanism of ECU72. Such evaluations may be performed in transgenic cassava or through utilizing T-DNA lines corresponding to orthologous genes in Arabidopsis.

References

- Abad, L. R., D'Urzo, M. P., Liu, D., Narasimhan, M. L., Reuveni, M., Zhu, J. K., Niu, X., Singh, N. K., Hasegawa, P. M. & Bressan, R. A. 1996. Antifungal activity of tobacco osmotin has specificity and involves plasma membrane permeabilization. *Plant Science*, 118, 11-23.
- Caarls, L., Pieterse, C. M. & Van Wees, S. C. 2015. How salicylic acid takes transcriptional control over jasmonic acid signaling. *Front Plant Sci*, 6, 170.
- EFSA 2013. Scientific opinion on the risks to plant health posed by *Bemisia tabaci* species complex and viruses it transmits for the EU territory. *EFSA Journal*, 11, 3162.
- FAO 2018. Food outlook. Biannual report on global food markets. http://www.fao.org/3/ca2320en/CA2320EN.pdf.
- Fister, A. S., O'Neil, S. T., Shi, Z., Zhang, Y., Tyler, B. M., Guiltinan, M. J. & Maximova, S. N. 2015. Two *Theobroma cacao* genotypes with contrasting pathogen tolerance show aberrant transcriptional and ROS responses after salicylic acid treatment. *J Exp Bot*, 66, 6245-58.
- Hickman, R., Van Verk, M. C., Van Dijken, A. J. H., Mendes, M. P., Vroegop-Vos, I. A., Caarls, L., Steenbergen, M., Van der Nagel, I., Wesselink, G. J., Jironkin, A., Talbot, A., Rhodes, J., De Vries, M., Schuurink, R. C., Denby, K., Pieterse, C. M. J. & Van Wees, S. C. M. 2017. Architecture and Dynamics of the Jasmonic Acid Gene Regulatory Network. *Plant Cell*, 29, 2086-2105.
- Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. B., Perez-Fons, L., Fraser, P. D. & Walling, L. L. 2020. Genome-wide analyses of cassava *Pathogenesis-related (PR)* gene families reveal core transcriptome responses to whitefly infestation, salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. *BMC Genomics*, 21, 93.
- Kaloshian, I. & Walling, L. L. 2016. Hemipteran and dipteran pests: Effectors and plant host immune regulators. *J Integr Plant Biol*, 58, 350-61.
- Lagrimini, L. M., Burkhart, W., Moyer, M. & Rothstein, S. 1987. Molecular cloning of complementary DNA encoding the lignin-forming peroxidase from tobacco: Molecular analysis and tissue-specific expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 84, 7542-6.
- Li, J., Besseau, S., Toronen, P., Sipari, N., Kollist, H., Holm, L. & Palva, E. T. 2013. Defense-related transcription factors WRKY70 and WRKY54 modulate osmotic stress tolerance by regulating stomatal aperture in Arabidopsis. *New Phytol*, 200, 457-72.

- Li, N., Han, X., Feng, D., Yuan, D. & Huang, L. J. 2019b. Signaling Crosstalk between Salicylic Acid and Ethylene/Jasmonate in Plant Defense: Do We Understand What They Are Whispering? *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- Ma, Y., Zhang, S., Bi, C., Mei, C., Jiang, S. C., Wang, X. F., Lu, Z. J. & Zhang, D. P.
 2020. Arabidopsis exoribonuclease USB1 interacts with the PPR-domain protein SOAR1 to negatively regulate abscisic acid signaling. *J Exp Bot*, 71, 5837-5851.
- Pauwels, L., Morreel, K., De Witte, E., Lammertyn, F., Van Montagu, M., Boerjan, W., Inze, D. & Goossens, A. 2008. Mapping methyl jasmonate-mediated transcriptional reprogramming of metabolism and cell cycle progression in cultured Arabidopsis cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 1380-5.
- Perez-Fons, L., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Morreel, K., Boerjan, W., Walling, L. L., Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. & Fraser, P. D. 2019. A metabolomics characterisation of natural variation in the resistance of cassava to whitefly. *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 518.
- Proietti, S., Caarls, L., Coolen, S., Van Pelt, J. A., Van Wees, S. C. M. & Pieterse, C. M. J. 2018. Genome-wide association study reveals novel players in defense hormone crosstalk in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell Environ*, 41, 2342-2356.
- Sawant, S. V., Tuli, R., Srivastava, R., Srivastava, M. & Nigam, D. 2009. Expression data from Arabidopsis Seedlings treated with Salicylic Acid (data available at GEO accession GSE14961).
- Schwessinger, B. & Zipfel, C. 2008. News from the frontline: recent insights into PAMPtriggered immunity in plants. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 11, 389-95.
- Singh, M., Bag, S. K., Bhardwaj, A., Ranjan, A., Mantri, S., Nigam, D., Sharma, Y. K. & Sawant, S. V. 2015. Global nucleosome positioning regulates salicylic acid mediated transcription in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *BMC Plant Biol*, 15, 13.
- Slusarenko, A. J., Fraser, R. S. S. & van Loon, L. C. 2000. *Mechanisms of resistance to plant diseases,* Dordrecht, Springer.
- Thibaud-Nissen, F., Wu, H., Richmond, T., Redman, J. C., Johnson, C., Green, R., Arias, J. & Town, C. D. 2006. Development of Arabidopsis whole-genome microarrays and their application to the discovery of binding sites for the TGA2 transcription factor in salicylic acid-treated plants. *Plant J*, 47, 152-62.
- van Leeuwen, H., Kliebenstein, D. J., West, M. A., Kim, K., van Poecke, R., Katagiri, F., Michelmore, R. W., Doerge, R. W. & St Clair, D. A. 2007. Natural variation among Arabidopsis thaliana accessions for transcriptome response to exogenous salicylic acid. *Plant Cell*, 19, 2099-110.
- van Loon, L. C., Rep, M. & Pieterse, C. M. 2006. Significance of inducible defenserelated proteins in infected plants. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 44, 135-162.

- Van Loon, L. C. & Van Strien, E. A. 1999. The families of pathogenesis-related proteins, their activities, and comparative analysis of PR-1 type proteins. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 55.
- Wang, N., Zhao, P., Ma, Y., Yao, X., Sun, Y., Huang, X., Jin, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, C., Fang, R. & Ye, J. 2019. A whitefly effector Bsp9 targets host immunity regulator WRKY33 to promote performance. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 374, 20180313.
- Xu, H.-X., Qian, L.-X., Wang, X.-W., Shao, R.-X., Hong, Y., Liu, S.-S. & Wang, X.-W. 2019. A salivary effector enables whitefly to feed on host plants by eliciting salicylic acid-signaling pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116, 490-495.
- Yang, L., Teixeira, P. J., Biswas, S., Finkel, O. M., He, Y., Salas-Gonzalez, I., English, M. E., Epple, P., Mieczkowski, P. & Dangl, J. L. 2017. *Pseudomonas syringae* Type III Effector HopBB1 Promotes Host Transcriptional Repressor Degradation to Regulate Phytohormone Responses and Virulence. *Cell Host Microbe*, 21, 156-168.
References

- Aalto, M. K., Helenius, E., Kariola, T., Pennanen, V., Heino, P., Horak, H., Puzorjova, I., Kollist, H. & Palva, E. T. 2012. ERD15--an attenuator of plant ABA responses and stomatal aperture. *Plant Sci*, 182, 19-28.
- Abad, L. R., D'Urzo, M. P., Liu, D., Narasimhan, M. L., Reuveni, M., Zhu, J. K., Niu, X., Singh, N. K., Hasegawa, P. M. & Bressan, R. A. 1996. Antifungal activity of tobacco osmotin has specificity and involves plasma membrane permeabilization. *Plant Science*, 118, 11-23.
- Abd-Rabou, S. & Simmons, A. M. 2010. Survey of reproductive host plants of *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in Egypt, including new host records. *Entomological news*, 121, 456-465.
- Acevedo, F. E., Rivera-Vega, L. J., Chung, S. H., Ray, S. & Felton, G. W. 2015. Cues from chewing insects - the intersection of DAMPs, HAMPs, MAMPs and effectors. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 26, 80-6.
- Alba, J. M., Glas, J. J., Schimmel, B. C. & Kant, M. R. 2011. Avoidance and suppression of plant defenses by herbivores and pathogens. *Journal of Plant Interactions*, 6, 221-227.
- Alborn, H., Turlings, T., Jones, T., Stenhagen, G., Loughrin, J. & Tumlinson, J. 1997. An elicitor of plant volatiles from beet armyworm oral secretion. *Science*, 276, 945-949.
- Alhoraibi, H., Bigeard, J., Rayapuram, N., Colcombet, J. & Hirt, H. 2019. Plant Immunity: The MTI-ETI Model and Beyond. *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*, 30, 39-58.
- Alicai, T., Omongo, C. A., Maruthi, M. N., Hillocks, R. J., Baguma, Y., Kawuki, R., Bua, A., Otim-Nape, G. W. & Colvin, J. 2007. Re-emergence of cassava brown streak disease in Uganda. *Plant Disease*, 91, 24-29.
- Aljbory, Z. & Chen, M. S. 2018. Indirect plant defense against insect herbivores: a review. *Insect Science*, 25, 2-23.
- Allie, F., Pierce, E. J., Okoniewski, M. J. & Rey, C. 2014a. Transcriptional analysis of South African cassava mosaic virus-infected susceptible and tolerant landraces of cassava highlights differences in resistance, basal defense and cell wall associated genes during infection. BMC Genomics, 15, 1006.
- Allie, F., Pierce, E. J., Okoniewski, M. J. & Rey, C. 2014b. Transcriptional analysis of South African cassava mosaic virus-infected susceptible and tolerant landraces of cassava highlights differences in resistance, basal defense and cell wall associated genes during infection. *BMC Genomics*, 15, 1006.

- Ally, H. M., Hamss, H. E., Simiand, C., Maruthi, M. N., Colvin, J., Omongo, C. A. & Delatte, H. 2019. What has changed in the outbreaking populations of the severe crop pest whitefly species in cassava in two decades? *Sci Rep*, 9, 14796.
- Alon, M., Elbaz, M., Ben-Zvi, M. M., Feldmesser, E., Vainstein, A. & Morin, S. 2012. Insights into the transcriptomics of polyphagy: *Bemisia tabaci* adaptability to phenylpropanoids involves coordinated expression of defense and metabolic genes. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol*, 42, 251-63.
- Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W. & Lipman, D. J. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. *J Mol Biol*, 215, 403-10.
- Amuge, T., Berger, D. K., Katari, M. S., Myburg, A. A., Goldman, S. L. & Ferguson, M. E. 2017. A time series transcriptome analysis of cassava (*Manihot esculenta Crantz*) varieties challenged with Ugandan cassava brown streak virus. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 21.
- An, D., Yang, J. & Zhang, P. 2012. Transcriptome profiling of low temperature-treated cassava apical shoots showed dynamic responses of tropical plant to cold stress. *BMC Genomics*, 13, 64.
- An, F., Zhao, Q., Ji, Y., Li, W., Jiang, Z., Yu, X., Zhang, C., Han, Y., He, W., Liu, Y., Zhang, S., Ecker, J. R. & Guo, H. 2010. Ethylene-induced stabilization of ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE3 and EIN3-LIKE1 is mediated by proteasomal degradation of EIN3 binding F-box 1 and 2 that requires EIN2 in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell*, 22, 2384-401.
- Andersen, M. D., Busk, P. K., Svendsen, I. & Moller, B. L. 2000. Cytochromes P-450 from cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) catalyzing the first steps in the biosynthesis of the cyanogenic glucosides linamarin and lotaustralin. Cloning, functional expression in *Pichia pastoris*, and substrate specificity of the isolated recombinant enzymes. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 1966-75.
- Anjanappa, R. B., Mehta, D., Okoniewski, M. J., Szabelska-Beresewicz, A., Gruissem, W. & Vanderschuren, H. 2017. Molecular insights into *cassava brown streak virus* susceptibility and resistance by profiling of the early host response. *Mol Plant Pathol.*
- Anstead, J., Samuel, P., Song, N., Wu, C. J., Thompson, G. A. & Goggin, F. 2010. Activation of ethylene-related genes in response to aphid feeding on resistant and susceptible melon and tomato plants. *Entomologia Experimentalis Et Applicata*, 134, 170-181.
- Antony, B. & Palaniswami, M. S. 2006. Bemisia tabaci feeding induces pathogenesisrelated proteins in cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Indian journal of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 43, 182-185.

- Aoun, N., Tauleigne, L., Lonjon, F., Deslandes, L., Vailleau, F., Roux, F. & Berthome, R. 2017. Quantitative Disease Resistance under Elevated Temperature: Genetic Basis of New Resistance Mechanisms to *Ralstonia solanacearum*. *Front Plant Sci*, 8, 1387.
- Atim, J. 2021. *Phenotyping and Genetics of Whitefly, Bemsia tabaci, Resistance in African and South American Cassava Genotypes.* PhD, University of Greenwich.
- Backman, T. W. H. & Girke, T. 2016. SystemPipeR: NGS workflow and report generation environment. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 17, 388.
- Barilli, D. R., Wengrat, A.P.G.D., Guimarães, A.T.B., Pietrowski, V., Ringenberg, R., Garcia, M.S. 2019. Resistance of cassava genotypes to *Bemisia tuberculata*. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 13, 663–669.
- Basu, S., Varsani, S. & Louis, J. 2018. Altering Plant Defenses: Herbivore-Associated Molecular Patterns and Effector Arsenal of Chewing Herbivores. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact,* 31, 13-21.
- Behnam, B., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Castaneda-Mendez, O. F., Tsuji, H., Ishitani, M. & Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. 2019. An optimized isolation protocol yields highquality RNA from cassava tissues (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz). *FEBS Open Bio*, 9, 814-825.
- Bellotti, A. 1983. Descripción de las plagas que atacan la yuca (Manihot esculenta Crantz) y características de sus daños, CIAT.
- Bellotti, A. C. & Arias, B. 2001. Host plant resistance to whiteflies with emphasis on cassava as a case study. *Crop Protection*, 20, 813-823.
- Bellotti, A. C., Smith, L. & Lapointe, S. L. 1999. Recent advances in cassava pest management. *Annu Rev Entomol*, 44, 343-70.
- Berardini, T. Z., Reiser, L., Li, D., Mezheritsky, Y., Muller, R., Strait, E. & Huala, E. 2015. The Arabidopsis information resource: Making and mining the "gold standard" annotated reference plant genome. *Genesis*, 53, 474-85.
- Bernoux, M., Timmers, T., Jauneau, A., Briere, C., de Wit, P. J., Marco, Y. & Deslandes, L. 2008. RD19, an Arabidopsis cysteine protease required for RRS1-R-mediated resistance, is relocalized to the nucleus by the *Ralstonia solanacearum* PopP2 effector. *Plant Cell*, 20, 2252-64.
- Bertea, C. M., Casacci, L. P., Bonelli, S., Zampollo, A. & Barbero, F. 2020. Chemical, physiological and molecular responses of host plants to lepidopteran egg-laying. *Frontiers in plant science*, 10, 1768.
- Bi, C., Ma, Y., Jiang, S. C., Mei, C., Wang, X. F. & Zhang, D. P. 2019. Arabidopsis translation initiation factors eIF iso4G1/2 link repression of mRNA cap-binding

complex eIF iso4F assembly with RNA-binding protein SOAR 1-mediated ABA signaling. *New Phytologist*, 223, 1388-1406.

- Bianchet, C., Wong, A., Quaglia, M., Alqurashi, M., Gehring, C., Ntoukakis, V. & Pasqualini, S. 2019. An Arabidopsis thaliana leucine-rich repeat protein harbors an adenylyl cyclase catalytic center and affects responses to pathogens. *J Plant Physiol*, 232, 12-22.
- Bleeker, P. M., Diergaarde, P. J., Ament, K., Guerra, J., Weidner, M., Schutz, S., de Both, M. T., Haring, M. A. & Schuurink, R. C. 2009. The role of specific tomato volatiles in tomato-whitefly interaction. *Plant Physiol*, 151, 925-35.
- Bleeker, P. M., Diergaarde, P. J., Ament, K., Schutz, S., Johne, B., Dijkink, J., Hiemstra, H., de Gelder, R., de Both, M. T., Sabelis, M. W., Haring, M. A. & Schuurink, R. C. 2011. Tomato-produced 7-epizingiberene and R-curcumene act as repellents to whiteflies. *Phytochemistry*, 72, 68-73.
- Bohorquez, A., Tohme, J., Parsa, S. & Becerra López-Lavalle, L. A. 2013. Phenotyping cassava (Manihot esculenta) resistance to whitefly (Aleurotrachelus socialis).
 First International Whitefly Symposium, Kolymbari, Creta, Grecia: Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT).
- Bos, J. I., Prince, D., Pitino, M., Maffei, M. E., Win, J. & Hogenhout, S. A. 2010. A functional genomics approach identifies candidate effectors from the aphid species *Myzus persicae* (green peach aphid). *PLoS Genet,* 6, e1001216.
- Bredeson, J. V., Lyons, J. B., Prochnik, S. E., Wu, G. A., Ha, C. M., Edsinger-Gonzales, E., Grimwood, J., Schmutz, J., Rabbi, I. Y., Egesi, C., Nauluvula, P., Lebot, V., Ndunguru, J., Mkamilo, G., Bart, R. S., Setter, T. L., Gleadow, R. M., Kulakow, P., Ferguson, M. E., Rounsley, S. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2016. Sequencing wild and cultivated cassava and related species reveals extensive interspecific hybridization and genetic diversity. *Nat Biotechnol,* 34, 562-70.
- Breitling, R., Li, Y., Tesson, B. M., Fu, J., Wu, C., Wiltshire, T., Gerrits, A., Bystrykh, L. V., De Haan, G. & Su, A. I. 2008. Genetical genomics: spotlight on QTL hotspots. *PLoS Genet*, 4, e1000232.
- Broekgaarden, C., Pelgrom, K. T. B., Bucher, J., van Dam, N. M., Grosser, K., Pieterse, C. M. J., van Kaauwen, M., Steenhuis, G., Voorrips, R. E., de Vos, M., Vosman, B., Worrich, A. & van Wees, S. C. M. 2018. Combining QTL mapping with transcriptome and metabolome profiling reveals a possible role for ABA signaling in resistance against the cabbage whitefly in cabbage. *PLoS One*, 13, e0206103.
- Broekgaarden, C., Poelman, E. H., Voorrips, R. E., Dicke, M. & Vosman, B. 2010. Intraspecific variation in herbivore community composition and transcriptional profiles in field-grown *Brassica oleracea* cultivars. *J Exp Bot*, 61, 807-19.

- Bruggeman, Q., Prunier, F., Mazubert, C., de Bont, L., Garmier, M., Lugan, R., Benhamed, M., Bergounioux, C., Raynaud, C. & Delarue, M. 2015. Involvement of Arabidopsis hexokinase1 in cell death mediated by myo-inositol accumulation. *The Plant Cell*, 27, 1801-1814.
- Buckner, J. S., Freeman, T. P., Ruud, R. L., Chu, C. c. & Henneberry, T. J. 2002. Characterization and functions of the whitefly egg pedicel. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology: Published in Collaboration with the Entomological Society of America, 49, 22-33.
- Byrne, D. N. & Bellows, T. S. 1991. WHITEFLY BIOLOGY. Annual Review of Entomology, 36, 431-457.
- Byrne, D. N., Bellows, T. 1991. Whitefly Biology. Annual Review of Entomology, 36, 431-457.
- Byrne, D. N., Cohen, A. C. & Draeger, E. A. 1990. Water uptake from plant tissue by the egg pedicel of the greenhouse whitefly, *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* (Westwood)(Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Canadian journal of zoology*, 68, 1193-1195.
- Caarls, L., Pieterse, C. M. & Van Wees, S. C. 2015. How salicylic acid takes transcriptional control over jasmonic acid signaling. *Front Plant Sci*, 6, 170.
- Caño-Delgado, A., Penfield, S., Smith, C., Catley, M. & Bevan, M. 2003. Reduced cellulose synthesis invokes lignification and defense responses in Arabidopsis thaliana. *The Plant Journal*, 34, 351-362.
- Cao, F. Y., Yoshioka, K. & Desveaux, D. 2011. The roles of ABA in plant-pathogen interactions. *J Plant Res*, 124, 489-99.
- Cao, J. & Tan, X. 2019. Comprehensive Analysis of the Chitinase Family Genes in Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). Plants (Basel), 8.
- Casteel, C. L., Walling, L. L. & Paine, T. D. 2007. Effect of *Mi-1.2* gene in Natal Host Plants on Behavior and Biology of the Tomato Psyllid *Bactericerca cockerelli* (Sulc) (Hemiptera: Psyllidae). *Journal of Entomological Science*, 42, 155-162.
- Ceballos, H., Ramirez, J., Bellotti, A. C., Jarvis, A. & Alvarez, E. 2011. Adaptation of cassava to changing climates. *In:* YADAV, S. S., REDDEN, R. J., HATFIELD, J. L., HERMANN LOTZE-CAMPEN, H. & HALL, A. E. (eds.) *Crop adaptation to climate change.* https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/book/10.1002/9780470960929 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Chaman, M. E., Copaja, S. V. & Argandona, V. H. 2003. Relationships between salicylic acid content, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) activity, and resistance of barley to aphid infestation. *J Agric Food Chem*, 51, 2227-31.

- Chen, L., Dodd, I.C., Davies, W.J., Wilkinson, S. 2013. Ethylene limits abscisic acid- or soil drying-induced stomatal closure in aged wheat leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 36, 1850–1859.
- Chen, S., Kim, C., Lee, J. M., Lee, H. A., Fei, Z., Wang, L. & Apel, K. 2015. Blocking the QB-binding site of photosystem II by tenuazonic acid, a non-host-specific toxin of *Alternaria alternata*, activates singlet oxygen-mediated and EXECUTER-dependent signalling in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell Environ*, 38, 1069-80.
- Clark, D. B. 2010. Glucosinolates, structures and analysis in food. *Analytical Methods*, 2, 301-416.
- Coleman, A. D., Maroschek, J., Raasch, L., Takken, F. L. W., Ranf, S. & Huckelhoven, R. 2021. The Arabidopsis leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinase MIK2 is a crucial component of early immune responses to a fungal-derived elicitor. *New Phytol*, 229, 3453-3466.
- Colvin, J., Omongo, C. A., Maruthi, M. N., Otim-Nape, G. W. & Thresh, J. M. 2004. Dual begomovirus infections and high *Bemisia tabaci* populations: two factors driving the spread of a cassava mosaic disease pandemic. *Plant Pathology*, 53, 577-584.
- Crocoll, C., Halkier, B. A. & Burow, M. 2016. Analysis and Quantification of Glucosinolates. *Curr Protoc Plant Biol*, 1, 385-409.
- Cruz, P. L., Baldin, E. L. L. & de Castro, M. D. P. 2014. Characterization of antibiosis to the silverleaf whitefly *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in cowpea entries. *Journal of Pest Science*, 87, 639-645.
- Cui, H., Tsuda, K. & Parker, J. E. 2015. Effector-triggered immunity: from pathogen perception to robust defense. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 66, 487-511.
- De Barro, P. J., Liu, S. S., Boykin, L. M. & Dinsdale, A. B. 2011. Bemisia tabaci: a statement of species status. *Annu Rev Entomol*, 56, 1-19.
- de Los Reyes, B. G. 2019. Genomic and epigenomic bases of transgressive segregation - New breeding paradigm for novel plant phenotypes. *Plant Sci,* 288, 110213.
- Delano-Frier, J. P. & Estrada-Hernandez, M. G. 2009. *Bemisia tabaci*-infested tomato plants show a phase-specific pattern of photosynthetic gene expression indicative of disrupted electron flow leading to photo-oxidation and plant death. *Plant Signal Behav*, 4, 992-5.
- Dempsey, D. A., Vlot, A. C., Wildermuth, M. C. & Klessig, D. F. 2011. Salicylic Acid biosynthesis and metabolism. *Arabidopsis Book*, 9, e0156.
- Derksen, H., Rampitsch, C. & Daayf, F. 2013. Signaling cross-talk in plant disease resistance. *Plant Sci,* 207, 79-87.

- Ding, Z., Zhang, Y., Xiao, Y., Liu, F., Wang, M., Zhu, X., Liu, P., Sun, Q., Wang, W., Peng, M., Brutnell, T. & Li, P. 2016. Transcriptome response of cassava leaves under natural shade. *Sci Rep*, 6, 31673.
- Dixon, A., Bandyopadhyay, R., Coyne, D., Ferguson, M., Ferris, R., Hanna, R., Hughes, J., Ingelbrecht, I., Legg, J., Mahungu, N., Manyong, V., Mowbray, D., Neuenschwander, P., Whyte, J., Hartmann, P. & Ortiz, R. Cassava: from poor farmers' crop to pacesetter of African rural development. 2003.
- Djemal, R. & Khoudi, H. 2015. Isolation and molecular characterization of a novel WIN1/SHN1 ethylene-responsive transcription factor TdSHN1 from durum wheat (Triticum turgidum. L. subsp. durum). *Protoplasma*, 252, 1461-73.
- Dobin, A., Davis, C. A., Schlesinger, F., Drenkow, J., Zaleski, C., Jha, S., Batut, P., Chaisson, M. & Gingeras, T. R. 2013. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*, 29, 15-21.
- Dogimont, C., Chovelon, V., Tual, S., Boissot, N., Rittener-Ruff, V., Giovinazzo, N. & Bendahmane, A. Molecular diversity at the Vat/Pm-W resistance locus in melon.
 9. Congrès international Eucarpia Meeting on Genentics and Breeding of Cucurbitaceae, 2008. Pitrat Michel.
- Dong, O. X., Meteignier, L. V., Plourde, M. B., Ahmed, B., Wang, M., Jensen, C., Jin, H., Moffett, P., Li, X. & Germain, H. 2016. Arabidopsis TAF15b Localizes to RNA Processing Bodies and Contributes to *snc1*-Mediated Autoimmunity. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 29, 247-57.
- Du, B., Zhang, W., Liu, B., Hu, J., Wei, Z., Shi, Z., He, R., Zhu, L., Chen, R., Han, B. & He, G. 2009. Identification and characterization of *Bph14*, a gene conferring resistance to brown planthopper in rice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 22163-8.
- Duplessis, S., Major, I., Martin, F. & Séguin, A. 2009. Poplar and pathogen interactions: Insights from *Populus* genome-wide analyses of resistance and defense gene families and gene expression profiling. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 28, 309-334.
- Duran-Flores, D. & Heil, M. 2016. Sources of specificity in plant damaged-self recognition. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 32, 77-87.
- EFSA 2013. Scientific opinion on the risks to plant health posed by *Bemisia tabaci* species complex and viruses it transmits for the EU territory. *EFSA Journal*, 11, 3162.
- Eitas, T. K. & Dangl, J. L. 2010. NB-LRR proteins: pairs, pieces, perception, partners, and pathways. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 13, 472-7.

- Ekanayake, G., Smith, J. M., Jones, K. B., Stiers, H. M., Robinson, S. J., LaMontagne,
 E. D., Kostos, P. H., Cornish, P. V., Bednarek, S. Y. & Heese, A. 2021.
 DYNAMIN-RELATED PROTEIN DRP1A functions with DRP2B in plant growth, *flg22*-immune responses, and endocytosis. *Plant Physiol*, 185, 1986-2002.
- El-Gebali, S., Mistry, J., Bateman, A., Eddy, S. R., Luciani, A., Potter, S. C., Qureshi, M., Richardson, L. J., Salazar, G. A., Smart, A., Sonnhammer, E. L. L., Hirsh, L., Paladin, L., Piovesan, D., Tosatto, S. C. E. & Finn, R. D. 2019. The Pfam protein families database in 2019. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 47, D427-D432.
- Ellsworth, P. C. & Martinez-Carrillo, J. L. 2001. IPM for *Bemisia tabaci*: a case study from North America. *Crop protection*, 20, 853-869.
- Elzinga, D. A., De Vos, M. & Jander, G. 2014. Suppression of plant defenses by a *Myzus persicae* (green peach aphid) salivary effector protein. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact,* 27, 747-56.
- Erb, M. & Reymond, P. 2019. Molecular interactions between plants and insect herbivores. *Annual review of plant biology*, 70, 527-557.
- Escobar-Bravo, R., Alba, J. M., Pons, C., Granell, A., Kant, M. R., Moriones, E. & Fernandez-Munoz, R. 2016. A Jasmonate-Inducible Defense Trait Transferred from Wild into Cultivated Tomato Establishes Increased Whitefly Resistance and Reduced Viral Disease Incidence. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1732.
- Esmaeily, S., Amin Samih, M. & Izadi, H. 2020. Induced eggplant resistance against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* triggered by jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding. *Bull Entomol Res,* 110, 285-292.
- Esmaeily, S., Samih, M. A. & Izadi, H. 2021. Induced resistance by jasmonic and abscisic acids and *Nesidiocoris tenuis* feeding on *Solanum lycopersicum* against *Trialeurodes vaporariorum*. *International Journal of Pest Management*, 67, 46-57.
- Evans, J. D. 1996. *Straightforward statistics for the behavioral sciences*, Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- FAO 2018. Food outlook. Biannual report on global food markets. http://www.fao.org/3/ca2320en/CA2320EN.pdf.
- FAO 2019. Protecting cassava, a neglected crop, from pests and diseases. Rome, Italy: FAO.
- Fauquet, C. & Fargette, D. 1990. *African Cassava Mosaic Virus*: Etiology, epidemiology, and control. *Plant Disease*, 74, 404-411.
- Finkelstein, R. 2013. Abscisic Acid synthesis and response. *Arabidopsis Book,* 11, e0166.

- Finn, R. D., Clements, J. & Eddy, S. R. 2011. HMMER web server: interactive sequence similarity searching. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39, W29-W37.
- Finn, R. D., Coggill, P., Eberhardt, R. Y., Eddy, S. R., Mistry, J., Mitchell, A. L., Potter, S. C., Punta, M., Qureshi, M., Sangrador-Vegas, A., Salazar, G. A., Tate, J. & Bateman, A. 2016. The Pfam protein families database: towards a more sustainable future. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44, D279-D285.
- Fister, A. S., Mejia, L. C., Zhang, Y., Herre, E. A., Maximova, S. N. & Guiltinan, M. J. 2016. *Theobroma cacao L*. pathogenesis-related gene tandem array members show diverse expression dynamics in response to pathogen colonization. *BMC Genomics*, 17, 363.
- Fister, A. S., O'Neil, S. T., Shi, Z., Zhang, Y., Tyler, B. M., Guiltinan, M. J. & Maximova, S. N. 2015. Two *Theobroma cacao* genotypes with contrasting pathogen tolerance show aberrant transcriptional and ROS responses after salicylic acid treatment. *J Exp Bot*, 66, 6245-58.
- Foyer, C. H., Verrall, S. R. & Hancock, R. D. 2015. Systematic analysis of phloemfeeding insect-induced transcriptional reprogramming in Arabidopsis highlights common features and reveals distinct responses to specialist and generalist insects. J Exp Bot, 66, 495-512.
- Freeman, T. P., Buckner, J. S., Nelson, D. R., Chu, C.-C. & Henneberry, T. J. 2001. Stylet Penetration by *Bemisia argentifolii* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) into Host Leaf Tissue. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*, 94, 761-768.
- Gao, L. L., Anderson, J. P., Klingler, J. P., Nair, R. M., Edwards, O. R. & Singh, K. B. 2007. Involvement of the octadecanoid pathway in bluegreen aphid resistance in *Medicago truncatula. Mol Plant Microbe Interact,* 20, 82-93.
- Garcia-Andrade, J., Ramirez, V., Flors, V. & Vera, P. 2011. Arabidopsis *ocp3* mutant reveals a mechanism linking ABA and JA to pathogen-induced callose deposition. *Plant J*, 67, 783-94.
- Garnier, S. 2018. viridis: Default Color Maps from 'matplotlib'.
- Gilad, Y., Rifkin, S. A. & Pritchard, J. K. 2008. Revealing the architecture of gene regulation: the promise of eQTL studies. *Trends Genet*, 24, 408-15.
- Glazebrook, J. 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 43, 205-227.
- Goda, H., Sasaki, E., Akiyama, K., Maruyama-Nakashita, A., Nakabayashi, K., Li, W.,
 Ogawa, M., Yamauchi, Y., Preston, J., Aoki, K., Kiba, T., Takatsuto, S., Fujioka,
 S., Asami, T., Nakano, T., Kato, H., Mizuno, T., Sakakibara, H., Yamaguchi, S.,
 Nambara, E., Kamiya, Y., Takahashi, H., Hirai, M. Y., Sakurai, T., Shinozaki, K.,
 Saito, K., Yoshida, S. & Shimada, Y. 2008. The AtGenExpress hormone and

chemical treatment data set: experimental design, data evaluation, model data analysis and data access. *Plant J*, 55, 526-42.

- Goiana, E. S. S., Dias-Pini, N. S., Muniz, C. R., Soares, A. A., Alves, J. C., Vidal-Netoa, F. C. & Da Silva, C. S. B. 2020. Dwarf-cashew resistance to whitefly(*Aleurodicus cocois*) linked to morphologicaland histochemical characteristics of leaves. *Pest Management Science*, 76, 464–471.
- Gold, C., Altieri, M. & Bellotti, A. 1991. Survivorship of the cassava whiteflies *Aleurotrachelus socialis* and *Trialeurodes variabilis* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) under different cropping systems in Colombia. *Crop protection*, 10, 305-309.
- Goodstein, D. M., Shu, S., Howson, R., Neupane, R., Hayes, R. D., Fazo, J., Mitros, T., Dirks, W., Hellsten, U., Putnam, N. & Rokhsar, D. S. 2012. Phytozome: a comparative platform for green plant genomics. *Nucleic acids research*, 40, D1178-D1186.
- Gou, M., Ran, X., Martin, D. W. & Liu, C. J. 2018. The scaffold proteins of lignin biosynthetic cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Nat Plants*, 4, 299-310.
- Gouhier-Darimont, C., Stahl, E., Glauser, G. & Reymond, P. 2019. The Arabidopsis lectin receptor kinase LecRK-I. 8 is involved in insect egg perception. *Frontiers in plant science*, 10, 623.
- Greenham, K., Sartor, R. C., Zorich, S., Lou, P., Mockler, T. C. & McClung, C. R. 2020. Expansion of the circadian transcriptome in *Brassica rapa* and genome-wide diversification of paralog expression patterns. *Elife*, 9.
- Gu, Z., Eils, R. & Schlesner, M. 2016. Complex heatmaps reveal patterns and correlations in multidimensional genomic data. *Bioinformatics*, 32, 2847-9.
- Gupta, P., Ravi, I. & Sharma, V. 2013. Induction of β-1,3-glucanase and chitinase activity in the defense response of *Eruca sativa* plants against the fungal pathogen *Alternaria brassicicola*. *Journal of Plant Interactions*, 8, 155-161.
- Gust, A. A., Pruitt, R. & Nurnberger, T. 2017. Sensing Danger: Key to Activating Plant Immunity. *Trends Plant Sci*, 22, 779-791.
- Halitschke, R., Gase, K., Hui, D., Schmidt, D. D. & Baldwin, I. T. 2003. Molecular interactions between the specialist herbivore Manduca sexta (Lepidoptera, Sphingidae) and its natural host *Nicotiana attenuata*. VI. Microarray analysis reveals that most herbivore-specific transcriptional changes are mediated by fatty acid-amino acid conjugates. *Plant Physiology*, 131, 1894-1902.
- He, Y., Zhao, J., Zheng, Y., Weng, Q., Biondi, A., Desneux, N. & Wu, K. 2013. Assessment of potential sublethal effects of various insecticides on key biological traits of the tobacco whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci. Int J Biol Sci*, 9, 246-55.

- He, Y. X., Weng, Q. Y., Huang, J., Liang, Z. S., Lin, G. J. & Wu, D. D. 2007. Insecticide resistance of *Bemisia tabaci* field populations. *Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao*, 18, 1578-82.
- Heil, M., Ibarra-Laclette, E., Adame-Álvarez, R. M., Martínez, O., Ramirez-Chávez, E., Molina-Torres, J. & Herrera-Estrella, L. 2012. How plants sense wounds: damaged-self recognition is based on plant-derived elicitors and induces octadecanoid signaling. *PloS one*, 7, e30537.
- Hernández-Blanco, C., Feng, D. X., Hu, J., Sánchez-Vallet, A., Deslandes, L., Llorente, F., Berrocal-Lobo, M., Keller, H., Barlet, X. & Sánchez-Rodríguez, C. 2007.
 Impairment of cellulose synthases required for Arabidopsis secondary cell wall formation enhances disease resistance. *The Plant Cell*, 19, 890-903.
- Herrera-Vasquez, A., Salinas, P. & Holuigue, L. 2015. Salicylic acid and reactive oxygen species interplay in the transcriptional control of defense genes expression. *Front Plant Sci*, 6, 171.
- Hickman, R., Van Verk, M. C., Van Dijken, A. J. H., Mendes, M. P., Vroegop-Vos, I. A., Caarls, L., Steenbergen, M., Van der Nagel, I., Wesselink, G. J., Jironkin, A., Talbot, A., Rhodes, J., De Vries, M., Schuurink, R. C., Denby, K., Pieterse, C. M. J. & Van Wees, S. C. M. 2017. Architecture and Dynamics of the Jasmonic Acid Gene Regulatory Network. *Plant Cell*, 29, 2086-2105.
- Hillocks, R. J., Raya, M. D., Mtunda, K. & Kiozia, H. 2001. Effects of brown streak virus disease on yield and quality of cassava in Tanzania. *J. Phytopathology*, 149, 389-394.
- Hofius, D., Tsitsigiannis, D. I., Jones, J. D. & Mundy, J. 2007. Inducible cell death in plant immunity. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 17, 166-87.
- Hondelmann, P., Paul, C., Schreiner, M. & Meyhofer, R. 2020. Importance of Antixenosis and Antibiosis Resistance to the Cabbage Whitefly (*Aleyrodes proletella*) in Brussels Sprout Cultivars. *Insects*, 11.
- Hou, M., Xu, W., Bai, H., Liu, Y., Li, L., Liu, L., Liu, B. & Liu, G. 2012. Characteristic expression of rice pathogenesis-related proteins in rice leaves during interactions with *Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae*. *Plant Cell Rep*, 31, 895-904.
- Hou, Y. J., Zhu, Y., Wang, P., Zhao, Y., Xie, S., Batelli, G., Wang, B., Duan, C. G., Wang, X., Xing, L., Lei, M., Yan, J., Zhu, X. & Zhu, J. K. 2016. Type One Protein Phosphatase 1 and Its Regulatory Protein Inhibitor 2 Negatively Regulate ABA Signaling. *PLoS Genet*, 12, e1005835.
- Howe, G. A. & Jander, G. 2008. Plant immunity to insect herbivores. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 59, 41-66.

- Howeler, R. H., Lutaladio, N. & Thomas, G. 2013. Save and Grow: Cassava : A Guide to Sustainable Production Intensification. Save and Grow: Cassava : a Guide to Sustainable Production Intensification. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Huang, D., Jaradat, M. R., Wu, W., Ambrose, S. J., Ross, A. R., Abrams, S. R. & Cutler, A. J. 2007. Structural analogs of ABA reveal novel features of ABA perception and signaling in Arabidopsis. *Plant J*, 50, 414-28.
- Huerta-Cepas, J., Forslund, K., Coelho, L. P., Szklarczyk, D., Jensen, L. J., von Mering,
 C. & Bork, P. 2017. Fast Genome-Wide Functional Annotation through Orthology
 Assignment by eggNOG-Mapper. *Mol Biol Evol*, 34, 2115-2122.
- Huerta-Cepas, J., Szklarczyk, D., Heller, D., Hernandez-Plaza, A., Forslund, S. K., Cook, H., Mende, D. R., Letunic, I., Rattei, T., Jensen, L. J., von Mering, C. & Bork, P. 2019. eggNOG 5.0: a hierarchical, functionally and phylogenetically annotated orthology resource based on 5090 organisms and 2502 viruses. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 47, D309-D314.
- Hur, M. & Kirkwood, J. 2019. Multi-Omics CoAnalysis (MOCA): an integrative, interactive, and informative workbench for correlative analyses. *1st annual Metabolomics Association of North America (MANA)*. Atlanta, GA.
- Ibrahim, M., Yasmeen, S., Zaman, G., Bin, L., Al-Qurainy, F., Athar, H., Shah, K.H., Khurshid, M., Ashraf, M. 2016. Protein profiling analysis of *Gossypium hirsutum* (Malvales: Malvaceae) leaves infested by cotton whitefly *Bemisia tabaci* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, 51, 599–607.
- Iglewicz, B. & Hoaglin, D. C. 1993. *How to detect and handle outliers*, American Society for Quality Press.
- Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. B., Perez-Fons, L., Fraser, P. D. & Walling, L. L. 2020. Genome-wide analyses of cassava *Pathogenesis-related (PR)* gene families reveal core transcriptome responses to whitefly infestation, salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. *BMC Genomics*, 21, 93.
- Jacob, F., Vernaldi, S. & Maekawa, T. 2013. Evolution and conservation of plant NLR functions. *Front Immunol*, 4, 297.
- Jarvis, A., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Herrera Campo, B. V. & Navarro-Racines, C. 2012. Is cassava the answer to African climate change adaptation? *Tropical Plant Biology*, 5, 9-29.
- Ji, H., Kim, S.-R., Kim, Y.-H., Suh, J.-P., Park, H.-M., Sreenivasulu, N., Misra, G., Kim, S.-M., Hechanova, S. L. & Kim, H. 2016. Map-based cloning and characterization of the *BPH18* gene from wild rice conferring resistance to brown planthopper (BPH) insect pest. *Scientific reports*, 6, 1-14.

- Jiang, Y., Nombela, G. & Muñiz, M. 2001. Analysis by DC–EPG of the resistance to Bemisia tabaci on an Mi-tomato line. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 99, 295-302.
- Jiang, Y. X. & Walker, G. P. 2007. Identification of phloem sieve elements as the site of resistance to silverleaf whitefly in resistant alfalfa genotypes. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 125, 307-320.
- Jiang, Y. X., Zareh, N., Walker, G. P. & Teuber, L. R. 2003. Characterization of alfalfa germplasm expressing resistance to silverleaf whitefly, Bemisia argentifolii. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 127, 447–457.
- Jolie, R. P., Duvetter, T., Van Loey, A. M. & Hendrickx, M. E. 2010. Pectin methylesterase and its proteinaceous inhibitor: a review. *Carbohydr Res*, 345, 2583-95.
- Jones, J. D. & Dangl, J. L. 2006. The plant immune system. *Nature*, 444, 323-9.
- Jongedijk, E., Tigelaar, H., van Roekel, J. S. C., Bres-Vloemans, S. A., Dekker, I., van den Elzen, P. J. M., Cornelissen, B. J. C. & Melchers, L. S. 1995. Synergistic activity of chitinases and β-1,3-glucanases enhances fungal resistance in transgenic tomato plants. *Euphytica* 85, 173-180.
- Jorda, L., Coego, A., Conejero, V. & Vera, P. 1999. A genomic cluster containing four differentially regulated subtilisin-like processing protease genes is in tomato plants. *The journal of biological chemistry*, 274, 2360-5.
- Ju, C., Yoon, G. M., Shemansky, J. M., Lin, D. Y., Ying, Z. I., Chang, J., Garrett, W. M., Kessenbrock, M., Groth, G., Tucker, M. L., Cooper, B., Kieber, J. J. & Chang, C. 2012. CTR1 phosphorylates the central regulator EIN2 to control ethylene hormone signaling from the ER membrane to the nucleus in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 19486-91.
- Kaloshian, I., Kinsey, M. G., Williamson, V. M. & Ullman, D. E. 2000. *Mi*-mediated resistance against the potato aphid *Macrosiphum euphorbiae* (Hemiptera: Aphididae) limits sieve element ingestion. *Environmental Entomology*, 29, 690-695.
- Kaloshian, I. & Walling, L. L. 2005. Hemipterans as plant pathogens. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 43, 491-521.
- Kaloshian, I. & Walling, L. L. 2016. Hemipteran and dipteran pests: Effectors and plant host immune regulators. *J Integr Plant Biol*, 58, 350-61.
- Kamikawa, S., Imura, T. & Sato, H. 2018. Reduction of sooty mold damage through biocontrol of the greenhouse whitefly *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) using selective insecticides in tomato cultivation greenhouses. *Applied entomology and zoology*, 53, 395-402.

- Kang, M., Abdelmageed, H., Lee, S., Reichert, A., Mysore, K. S. & Allen, R. D. 2013. AtMBP-1, an alternative translation product of LOS2, affects abscisic acid responses and is modulated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase AtSAP5. *Plant J*, 76, 481-93.
- Kant, M. R. & Schuurink, R. C. 2021. Life stage-dependent genetic traits as drivers of plant–herbivore interactions. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 70, 234-240.
- Kanyuka, K. & Rudd, J. J. 2019. Cell surface immune receptors: the guardians of the plant's extracellular spaces. *Curr Opin Plant Biol,* 50, 1-8.
- Kearse, M., Moir, R., Wilson, A., Stones-Havas, S., Cheung, M., Sturrock, S., Buxton, S., Cooper, A., Markowitz, S., Duran, C., Thierer, T., Ashton, B., Meintjes, P. & Drummond, A. 2012. Geneious basic: an integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. *Bioinformatics*, 28, 1647-9.
- Kempema, L. A., Cui, X., Holzer, F. M. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Arabidopsis transcriptome changes in response to phloem-feeding silverleaf whitefly nymphs. Similarities and distinctions in responses to aphids. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 849-65.
- Kettles, G. J. & Kaloshian, I. 2016. The Potato Aphid Salivary Effector Me47 Is a Glutathione-S-Transferase Involved in Modifying Plant Responses to Aphid Infestation. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1142.
- Khan, M. M., Khan, M.Y., Ullah, R.M.K., Yasir, M., Khalid, A., and Khan, M.A. 2018. Morphological and biochemical characters of eggplant (*Solanum melongena*) conferring resistance against whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*). *Journal of Entomology* and Zoology Studies, 6, 915-920.
- Kheirodin, A., Simmons, A. M., Legaspi, J. C., Grabarczyk, E. E., Toews, M. D., Roberts, P. M., Chong, J.-H., Snyder, W. E. & Schmidt, J. M. 2020. Can generalist predators control *Bemisia tabaci*? *Insects*, 11, 823.
- Klingler, J., Creasy, R., Gao, L., Nair, R. M., Calix, A. S., Jacob, H. S., Edwards, O. R. & Singh, K. B. 2005. Aphid resistance in *Medicago truncatula* involves antixenosis and phloem-specific, inducible antibiosis, and maps to a single locus flanked by NBS-LRR resistance gene analogs. *Plant Physiol*, 137, 1445-55.
- Kohorn, B. D., Kohorn, S. L., Saba, N. J. & Martinez, V. M. 2014. Requirement for pectin methyl esterase and preference for fragmented over native pectins for wallassociated kinase-activated, EDS1/PAD4-dependent stress response in Arabidopsis. J Biol Chem, 289, 18978-86.
- Kortbeek, R. W., Galland, M. D., Muras, A., van der Kloet, F. M., André, B., Heilijgers, M., van Hijum, S. A., Haring, M. A., Schuurink, R. C. & Bleeker, P. M. 2021.

Natural variation in wild tomato trichomes; selecting metabolites that contribute to insect resistance using a random forest approach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 21, 1-19.

- Kragh, K. M., Hendriks, T., de Jong, A. J., Lo Schiavo, F., Bucherna, N., Hojrup, P., Mikkelsen, J. D. & de Vries, S. C. 1996. Characterization of chitinases able to rescue somatic embryos of the temperature-sensitive carrot variant ts 11. *Plant Mol Biol*, 31, 631-45.
- Laflamme, B., Dillon, M. M., Martel, A., Almeida, R. N. D., Desveaux, D. & Guttman, D. S. 2020. The pan-genome effector-triggered immunity landscape of a host-pathogen interaction. *Science*, 367, 763-768.
- Lagrimini, L. M., Burkhart, W., Moyer, M. & Rothstein, S. 1987. Molecular cloning of complementary DNA encoding the lignin-forming peroxidase from tobacco: Molecular analysis and tissue-specific expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 84, 7542-6.
- Latif, S. & Müller, J. 2015. Potential of cassava leaves in human nutrition: A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology,* 44, 147-158.
- Le, M. H., Cao, Y., Zhang, X. C. & Stacey, G. 2014. LIK1, a CERK1-interacting kinase, regulates plant immune responses in Arabidopsis. *PLoS One*, 9, e102245.
- Lebel, S., Schellenbaum, P., Walter, B. & Maillot, P. 2010. Characterisation of the *Vitis vinifera PR10* multigene family. *BMC Plant Biology*, 10, 184.
- Lee, J. H., Takei, K., Sakakibara, H., Sun Cho, H., Kim, D. M., Kim, Y. S., Min, S. R., Kim, W. T., Sohn, D. Y., Lim, Y. P. & Pai, H. S. 2003. CHRK1, a chitinase-related receptor-like kinase, plays a role in plant development and cytokinin homeostasis in tobacco. *Plant Mol Biol*, 53, 877-90.
- Legg, J. P., Jeremiah, S. C., Obiero, H. M., Maruthi, M. N., Ndyetabula, I., Okao-Okuja, G., Bouwmeester, H., Bigirimana, S., Tata-Hangy, W., Gashaka, G., Mkamilo, G., Alicai, T. & Lava Kumar, P. 2011. Comparing the regional epidemiology of the cassava mosaic and cassava brown streak virus pandemics in Africa. *Virus Res*, 159, 161-70.
- Legg, J. P. & Ogwal, S. 1998. Changes in the incidence of African cassava mosaic virus disease and the abundance of its whitefly vector along south-north transects in Uganda. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 122, 169-178.
- Legg, J. P., Sseruwagi, P., Boniface, S., Okao-Okuja, G., Shirima, R., Bigirimana, S., Gashaka, G., Herrmann, H. W., Jeremiah, S., Obiero, H., Ndyetabula, I., Tata-Hangy, W., Masembe, C. & Brown, J. K. 2014. Spatio-temporal patterns of genetic change amongst populations of cassava *Bemisia tabaci* whiteflies driving virus pandemics in East and Central Africa. *Virus Research*, 186, 61-75.

- Lei, H., Xu, R., Tjallingii, W. F. & Lenteren, J. C. Electrical penetration graphs of greenhouse whitefly, *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* Westwood (in Chinese). 1998.
- Leon, J., Rojo, E., Titarenko, E. & Sanchez-Serrano, J. J. 1998. Jasmonic aciddependent and -independent wound signal transduction pathways are differentially regulated by Ca2+/calmodulin in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol Gen Genet*, 258, 412-9.
- Li, C., Liu, Z., Zhang, Q., Wang, R., Xiao, L., Ma, H., Chong, K. & Xu, Y. 2012a. SKP1 is involved in abscisic acid signalling to regulate seed germination, stomatal opening and root growth in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Cell Environ*, 35, 952-65.
- Li, C. L., Wang, M., Wu, X. M., Chen, D. H., Lv, H. J., Shen, J. L., Qiao, Z. & Zhang, W. 2016a. THI1, a Thiamine Thiazole Synthase, Interacts with Ca2+-Dependent Protein Kinase CPK33 and Modulates the S-Type Anion Channels and Stomatal Closure in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 170, 1090-104.
- Li, J., Besseau, S., Toronen, P., Sipari, N., Kollist, H., Holm, L. & Palva, E. T. 2013a. Defense-related transcription factors WRKY70 and WRKY54 modulate osmotic stress tolerance by regulating stomatal aperture in Arabidopsis. *New Phytol*, 200, 457-72.
- Li, J., Brader, G., Kariola, T. & Palva, E. T. 2006a. WRKY70 modulates the selection of signaling pathways in plant defense. *Plant J*, 46, 477-91.
- Li, J., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Wang, Q., Chen, L., Zhang, Q., Wang, M., Mansoor, S., Zhang, X. & Jin, S. 2019a. Genome-Wide Analysis of Cotton miRNAs During Whitefly Infestation Offers New Insights into Plant-Herbivore Interaction. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- Li, J., Zhu, L., Hull, J. J., Liang, S., Daniell, H., Jin, S. & Zhang, X. 2016b. Transcriptome analysis reveals a comprehensive insect resistance response mechanism in cotton to infestation by the phloem feeding insect *Bemisia tabaci* (whitefly). *Plant Biotechnol J*.
- Li, N., Han, X., Feng, D., Yuan, D. & Huang, L. J. 2019b. Signaling Crosstalk between Salicylic Acid and Ethylene/Jasmonate in Plant Defense: Do We Understand What They Are Whispering? *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- Li, Q., Xie, Q. G., Smith-Becker, J., Navarre, D. A. & Kaloshian, I. 2006b. *Mi-1*-Mediated aphid resistance involves salicylic acid and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascades. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 19, 655-64.
- Li, R., Weldegergis, B. T., Li, J., Jung, C., Qu, J., Sun, Y., Qian, H., Tee, C., van Loon, J. J., Dicke, M., Chua, N. H., Liu, S. S. & Ye, J. 2014. Virulence factors of geminivirus interact with MYC2 to subvert plant resistance and promote vector performance. *Plant Cell*, 26, 4991-5008.

- Li, S., Yu, X., Cheng, Z., Yu, X., Ruan, M., Li, W. & Peng, M. 2017. Global Gene Expression Analysis Reveals Crosstalk between Response Mechanisms to Cold and Drought Stresses in Cassava Seedlings. *Front Plant Sci*, 8, 1259.
- Li, S.J., Xue, X., Ren, S.X., Cuthbertson, A.G.S., Dam, N.M. van Qiu, B.L. 2013b. Root and shoot jasmonic acid induced plants differently affect the performance of *Bemisia tabaci* and its parasitoid *Encarsia formosa*. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 14, 670-679.
- Li, Y. & Loake, G. J. 2016. Redox-Regulated Plant Transcription Factors. *In:* D. H., G. (ed.) *Plant Transcription Factors.* Academic Press.
- Li, Z., Kang, J., Sui, N. & Liu, D. 2012b. ROP11 GTPase is a negative regulator of multiple ABA responses in Arabidopsis. *J Integr Plant Biol*, 54, 169-79.
- Lin, P. A., Chen, Y., Chaverra-Rodriguez, D., Heu, C. C., Zainuddin, N. B., Sidhu, J. S., Peiffer, M., Tan, C. W., Helms, A., Kim, D., Ali, J., Rasgon, J. L., Lynch, J., Anderson, C. T. & Felton, G. W. 2021. Silencing the alarm: an insect salivary enzyme closes plant stomata and inhibits volatile release. *New Phytol*, 230, 793-803.
- Liu, J., Du, H., Ding, X., Zhou, Y., Xie, P. & Wu, J. 2017. Mechanisms of callose deposition in rice regulated by exogenous abscisic acid and its involvement in rice resistance to *Nilaparvata lugens* Stal (Hemiptera: Delphacidae). *Pest Manag Sci*, 73, 2559-2568.
- Liu, T.-X., Stansly, P. A. & Gerling, D. 2015a. Whitefly parasitoids: distribution, life history, bionomics, and utilization. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 60, 273-292.
- Liu, Y., Sun, T., Sun, Y., Zhang, Y., Radojicic, A., Ding, Y., Tian, H., Huang, X., Lan, J., Chen, S., Orduna, A. R., Zhang, K., Jetter, R., Li, X. & Zhang, Y. 2020. Diverse Roles of the Salicylic Acid Receptors NPR1 and NPR3/NPR4 in Plant Immunity. *Plant Cell*, 32, 4002-4016.
- Liu, Y., Wu, H., Chen, H., Liu, Y., He, J., Kang, H., Sun, Z., Pan, G., Wang, Q. & Hu, J. 2015b. A gene cluster encoding lectin receptor kinases confers broad-spectrum and durable insect resistance in rice. *Nature biotechnology*, 33, 301-305.
- Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2(-\Delta \Delta C(T))$ method. *Methods*, 25, 402-8.
- Lolle, S., Stevens, D. & Coaker, G. 2020. Plant NLR-triggered immunity: from receptor activation to downstream signaling. *Curr Opin Immunol,* 62, 99-105.
- Lopez, C., Soto, M., Restrepo, S., Piegu, B., Cooke, R., Delseny, M., Tohme, J. & Verdier, V. 2005. Gene expression profile in response to *Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis* infection in cassava using a cDNA microarray. *Plant Mol Biol*, 57, 393-410.

- Love, M. I., Huber, W. & Anders, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol*, 15, 550.
- Luan, J. B., Yao, D. M., Zhang, T., Walling, L. L., Yang, M., Wang, Y. J. & Liu, S. S. 2013. Suppression of terpenoid synthesis in plants by a virus promotes its mutualism with vectors. *Ecol Lett*, 16, 390-8.
- Lundgren, J. G., López-Lavalle, L. A. B., Parsa, S. & Wyckhuys, K. A. G. 2013. Molecular determination of the predator community of a cassava whitefly in Colombia: pest-specific primer development and field validation. *Journal of Pest Science*, 87, 125-131.
- Luo, M., Wang, Y. Y., Liu, X., Yang, S., Lu, Q., Cui, Y. & Wu, K. 2012. HD2C interacts with HDA6 and is involved in ABA and salt stress response in Arabidopsis. *J Exp Bot*, 63, 3297-306.
- Ma, Y., Zhang, S., Bi, C., Mei, C., Jiang, S. C., Wang, X. F., Lu, Z. J. & Zhang, D. P.
 2020. Arabidopsis exoribonuclease USB1 interacts with the PPR-domain protein SOAR1 to negatively regulate abscisic acid signaling. *J Exp Bot*, 71, 5837-5851.
- Macfadyen, S., Paull, C., Boykin, L. M., De Barro, P., Maruthi, M. N., Otim, M., Kalyebi, A., Vassao, D. G., Sseruwagi, P., Tay, W. T., Delatte, H., Seguni, Z., Colvin, J. & Omongo, C. A. 2018. Cassava whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius) (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in East African farming landscapes: a review of the factors determining abundance. *Bull Entomol Res*, 108, 565-582.
- MacWilliams, J. R., Dingwall, S., Chesnais, Q., Sugio, A. & Kaloshian, I. 2020. AcDCXR is a cowpea aphid effector with putative roles in altering host immunity and physiology. *Frontiers in plant science*, 11, 605.
- Malik, G., Chaturvedi, R. & Hooda, S. 2021. Role of Herbivore-Associated Molecular Patterns (HAMPs) in Modulating Plant Defenses. *Plant-Pest Interactions: From Molecular Mechanisms to Chemical Ecology.* Springer.
- Malka, O., Santos-Garcia, D., Feldmesser, E., Sharon, E., Krause-Sakate, R., Delatte, H., van Brunschot, S., Patel, M., Visendi, P., Mugerwa, H., Seal, S., Colvin, J. & Morin, S. 2018. Species-complex diversification and host-plant associations in Bemisia tabaci: A plant-defence, detoxification perspective revealed by RNA-Seq analyses. *Mol Ecol*, 27, 4241-4256.
- Manyong, V. M., Dixon, A.G.O., Makinde, K.O., Bokanga, M., Whyte, J. 2000. The Contribution of IITA-Improved Cassava to Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Impact Study. *IITA*.
- Mao, H., Aryal, B., Langenecker, T., Hagmann, J., Geisler, M. & Grebe, M. 2017. Arabidopsis BTB/POZ protein-dependent PENETRATION3 trafficking and disease susceptibility. *Nat Plants*, 3, 854-858.

- Martinez de Ilarduya, O., Xie, Q. & Kaloshian, I. 2003. Aphid-induced defense responses in Mi-1-mediated compatible and incompatible tomato interactions. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact,* 16, 699-708.
- Maruthi, M. N., Bouvaine, S., Tufan, H. A., Mohammed, I. U. & Hillocks, R. J. 2014. Transcriptional response of virus-infected cassava and identification of putative sources of resistance for cassava brown streak disease. *PLoS One*, 9, e96642.
- Maruthi, M. N., Colvin, J., Seal, S. & Thresh, J. M. 2002. First report of a distinct begomovirus infecting cassava from Zanzibar. *Plant Disease*, 86, 187-187.
- Maruthi, M. N., Jeremiah, S. C., Mohammed, I. U. & Legg, J. P. 2017. The role of the whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius), and farmer practices in the spread of cassava brown streak ipomoviruses. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 165, 707-717.
- Matsumoto, Y. & Hattori, M. 2018. The green rice leafhopper, *Nephotettix cincticeps* (Hemiptera: Cicadellidae), salivary protein NcSP75 is a key effector for successful phloem ingestion. *PloS one*, 13, e0202492.
- Mayer RT, McCollum TG, McDonald RE, Polston JE & Doostdar, H. 1996. Bemisia feeding induces pathogenesis-related proteins in tomato. Bemisia: 1995 taxonomy, biology, damage, control and management. Andover: Intercept Limited.
- Mikkelsen, M. D. & Halkier, B. A. 2003. Metabolic engineering of valine- and isoleucinederived glucosinolates in Arabidopsis expressing CYP79D2 from Cassava. *Plant Physiol*, 131, 773-9.
- Miles, P. W. 1999. Aphid saliva. *Biological Reviews*, 74, 41-85.
- Milligan, S. B., Bodeau, J., Yaghoobi, J., Kaloshian, I., Zabel, P. & Williamson, V. M. 1998. The root knot nematode resistance gene *Mi* from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucine-rich repeat family of plant genes. *The Plant Cell*, 10, 1307-1319.
- Min, J. H., Chung, J. S., Lee, K. H. & Kim, C. S. 2015. The CONSTANS-like 4 transcription factor, AtCOL4, positively regulates abiotic stress tolerance through an abscisic acid-dependent manner in Arabidopsis. J Integr Plant Biol, 57, 313-24.
- Monaghan, J. & Zipfel, C. 2012. Plant pattern recognition receptor complexes at the plasma membrane. *Curr Opin Plant Biol,* 15, 349-57.
- Mondal, H. A., Louis, J., Archer, L., Patel, M., Nalam, V. J., Sarowar, S., Sivapalan, V., Root, D. D. & Shah, J. 2018. Arabidopsis ACTIN-DEPOLYMERIZING FACTOR3 Is Required for Controlling Aphid Feeding from the Phloem. *Plant Physiol*, 176, 879-890.

- Moran, P. J., Cheng, Y., Cassell, J. L. & Thompson, G. A. 2002. Gene expression profiling of *Arabidopsis thaliana* in compatible plant-aphid interactions. *Arch Insect Biochem Physiol*, 51, 182-203.
- Moreno-Delafuente, A., Garzo, E., Moreno, A. & Fereres, A. 2013. A plant virus manipulates the behavior of its whitefly vector to enhance its transmission efficiency and spread. *PLoS One*, 8, e61543.
- Motohashi, K. & Hisabori, T. 2010. CcdA is a thylakoid membrane protein required for the transfer of reducing equivalents from stroma to thylakoid lumen in the higher plant chloroplast. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*, 13, 1169-1176.
- Mound, L. A. & Halsey, S. H. 1978. Whitefly of the world. A systematic catalogue of the Aleyrodidae (Homoptera) with host plant and natural enemy data. *British Natural History Museum (Natural History)*, 348.
- Mugerwa, H., Seal, S., Wang, H. L., Patel, M. V., Kabaalu, R., Omongo, C. A., Alicai, T., Tairo, F., Ndunguru, J., Sseruwagi, P. & Colvin, J. 2018. African ancestry of New World, *Bemisia tabaci*-whitefly species. *Sci Rep*, 8, 2734.
- Muigai, S. G., Schuster, D. J., Snyder, J. C., Scott, J. W., Bassett, M. J. & McAuslane, A. J. 2002. Mechanisms of Resistance in Lycopersicon Germplasm to the Whitefly *Bemisia argentifolii. Phytoparasitica*, 30, 347-360.
- Muñoz-Bodnar, A., Perez-Quintero, A., Gomez-Cano, F., Gil, J., Michelmore, R., Bernal, A., Szurek, B. & Lopez, C. 2014. RNAseq analysis of cassava reveals similar plant responses upon infection with pathogenic and non-pathogenic strains of *Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis. Plant Cell Rep*, 33, 1901-1912.
- Mur, L. A., Kenton, P., Atzorn, R., Miersch, O. & Wasternack, C. 2006. The outcomes of concentration-specific interactions between salicylate and jasmonate signaling include synergy, antagonism, and oxidative stress leading to cell death. *Plant Physiol*, 140, 249-62.
- Murashige, T. & Skoog, F. 1962. A Revised Medium for Rapid Growth and Bio Assays with Tobacco Tissue Cultures. *Plant Physiol*, 473-497, 473-497.
- Mutti, N. S., Park, Y., Reese, J. C. & Reeck, G. R. 2006. RNAi knockdown of a salivary transcript leading to lethality in the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. *J Insect Sci*, 6, 1-7.
- Mwila, N., Odong, T. L., Nuwamanya, E., Badji, A., Agbahoungba, S., Ibanda, P. A., Kumi, F., Mwala, M., Sohati, P., Kyamanywa, S. & Rubaihayo, P. R. 2018. Gene Action of Cassava Resistance Metabolites to Whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*). *Biotechnology Journal International*, 22, 1-16.
- Mwila, N., Rubaihayo, P. R., Kyamanywa, S., ODong, T. L., Nuwamanya, E., Mwala, M., Agbahoungba, S. & Badji, A. 2017. BIOCHEMICAL FACTORS ASSOCIATED

WITH CASSAVA RESISTANCE TO WHITEFLY INFESTATION. *African Crop Science Journal*, 25, 365-385.

- Naur, P., Petersen, B. L., Mikkelsen, M. D., Bak, S., Rasmussen, H., Olsen, C. E. & Halkier, B. A. 2003. CYP83A1 and CYP83B1, two nonredundant cytochrome P450 enzymes metabolizing oximes in the biosynthesis of glucosinolates in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 133, 63-72.
- Nebreda, M., Nombela, G. & Muñiz, M. 2005. Comparative Host Suitability of Some Brassica Cultivars for the Whitefly, *Aleyrodes proletella* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae). *Environmental Entomology*, 34, 205-209.
- Neuwirth, E. 2014. RColorBrewer: ColorBrewer Palettes.
- Ng, J. C. K. & Falk, B. W. 2006. Virus-vector interactions mediating nonpersistent and semipersistent transmission of plant viruses. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, 44, 183-212.
- Nguyen, D., Rieu, I., Mariani, C. & van Dam, N. M. 2016. How plants handle multiple stresses: hormonal interactions underlying responses to abiotic stress and insect herbivory. *Plant Mol Biol*, 91, 727-40.
- Niki, T., Mitsuhara, I., Seo, S., Ohtsubo, N. & Ohashi, Y. 1998. Antagonistic effect of salicylic acid and jasmonic acid on the expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) protein genes in wounded mature tobacco leaves. *Plant and cell physiology*, 39, 500-507.
- Njoroge, M. K., Kilalo, D., Miano, D. & Mutisya, D. 2016. Whiteflies species distribution and abundance on cassava crop in different agro-ecological zones of Kenya. *J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. JEZS*, 258, 258-262.
- Noctor, G., Reichheld, J. P. & Foyer, C. H. 2018. ROS-related redox regulation and signaling in plants. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, 80, 3-12.
- Nombela, G., Beitia, F. & Muniz, M. 2000. Variation in tomato host response to *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) in relation to acyl sugar content and presence of the nematode and potato aphid resistance gene *Mi. Bull Entomol Res*, 90, 161-7.
- Nombela, G., Beitia, F. & Muñiz, M. 2001. A differential interaction study of *Bemisia tabaci* Q-biotype on commercial tomato varieties with or without the *Mi* resistance gene, and comparative host responses with the B-biotype. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 98, 339-344.
- Nombela, G., Williamson, V. M. & Muniz, M. 2003. The root-knot nematode resistance gene *Mi-1.2* of tomato is responsible for resistance against the whitefly *Bemisia tabaci. Mol Plant Microbe Interact,* 16, 645-9.

- O'Brien, J. A., Daudi, A., Butt, V. S. & Bolwell, G. P. 2012. Reactive oxygen species and their role in plant defence and cell wall metabolism. *Planta*, 236, 765-79.
- Oates, C. N., Denby, K. J., Myburg, A. A., Slippers, B. & Naidoo, S. 2021. Insect egginduced physiological changes and transcriptional reprogramming leading to gall formation. *Plant, Cell & Environment,* 44, 535-547.
- Oliveros, J. C. 2007. VENNY. An interactive tool for comparing lists with venn diagrams.
- Omongo, C. A., Kawuki, R., Bellotti, A. C., Alicai, T., Baguma, Y., Maruthi, M. N., Bua, A. & Colvin, J. 2012. African Cassava Whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci*, Resistance in African and South American Cassava Genotypes. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 11, 327-336.
- Onkokesung, N., Reichelt, M., van Doorn, A., Schuurink, R. C. & Dicke, M. 2016. Differential Costs of Two Distinct Resistance Mechanisms Induced by Different Herbivore Species in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 170, 891-906.
- Oriani, M. A. & Vendramim, J. D. 2010. Influence of trichomes on attractiveness and ovipositional preference of *Bemisia tabaci* (Genn.) B biotype (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae) on tomato genotypes. *Neotrop Entomol*, 39, 1002-7.
- Pan, L. L., Miao, H., Wang, Q., Walling, L. L. & Liu, S. S. 2021. Virus-induced phytohormone dynamics and their effects on plant-insect interactions. *New Phytol*, 230, 1305-1320.
- Pan, W., Lin, B., Yang, X., Liu, L., Xia, R., Li, J., Wu, Y. & Xie, Q. 2020. The UBC27-AIRP3 ubiquitination complex modulates ABA signaling by promoting the degradation of ABI1 in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117, 27694-27702.
- Panghal, A., Munezero, C., Sharma, P. & Chhikara, N. 2019. Cassava toxicity, detoxification and its food applications: a review. *Toxin Reviews*.
- Park, Y. S. & Ryu, C. M. 2014. Understanding cross-communication between aboveground and belowground tissues via transcriptome analysis of a sucking insect whitefly-infested pepper plants. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 443, 272-7.
- Parsa, S., Medina, C. & Rodríguez, V. 2015. Sources of pest resistance in cassava. *Crop Protection*, 68, 79-84.
- Passaia, G. & Margis-Pinheiro, M. 2015. Glutathione peroxidases as redox sensor proteins in plant cells. *Plant Sci*, 234, 22-6.
- Pauwels, L., Morreel, K., De Witte, E., Lammertyn, F., Van Montagu, M., Boerjan, W., Inze, D. & Goossens, A. 2008. Mapping methyl jasmonate-mediated

transcriptional reprogramming of metabolism and cell cycle progression in cultured Arabidopsis cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 1380-5.

- Perez-Fons, L., Bohorquez-Chaux, A., Irigoyen, M. L., Garceau, D. C., Morreel, K., Boerjan, W., Walling, L. L., Becerra Lopez-Lavalle, L. A. & Fraser, P. D. 2019. A metabolomics characterisation of natural variation in the resistance of cassava to whitefly. *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 518.
- Pieterse, C. M., Van der Does, D., Zamioudis, C., Leon-Reyes, A. & Van Wees, S. C. 2012. Hormonal modulation of plant immunity. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*, 28, 489-521.
- Pieterse, C. M. J., Leon-reyes, A., Van Der Ent, S. & Van Wees, S. C. M. 2009. Networking by small-molecule hormones in plant immunity. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 5, 308-316.
- Poplin, R., Ruano-Rubio, V., DePristo, M. A., Fennell, T. J., Carneiro, M. O., Van der Auwera, G. A., Kling, D. E., Gauthier, L. D., Levy-Moonshine, A., Roazen, D., Shakir, K., Thibault, J., Chandran, S., Whelan, C., Lek, M., Gabriel, S., Daly, M. J., Neale, B., MacArthur, D. G. & Banks, E. 2018. Scaling accurate genetic variant discovery to tens of thousands of samples. *bioRxiv*, 201178.
- Porter, K., Shimono, M., Tian, M. & Day, B. 2012. Arabidopsis Actin-Depolymerizing Factor-4 links pathogen perception, defense activation and transcription to cytoskeletal dynamics. *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1003006.
- Prochnik, S., Marri, P. R., Desany, B., Rabinowicz, P. D., Kodira, C., Mohiuddin, M., Rodriguez, F., Fauquet, C., Tohme, J., Harkins, T., Rokhsar, D. S. & Rounsley, S. 2012. The Cassava Genome: Current Progress, Future Directions. *Trop Plant Biol*, 5, 88-94.
- Proietti, S., Caarls, L., Coolen, S., Van Pelt, J. A., Van Wees, S. C. M. & Pieterse, C. M. J. 2018. Genome-wide association study reveals novel players in defense hormone crosstalk in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell Environ*, 41, 2342-2356.
- Puthoff, D. P., Holzer, F. M., Perring, T. M. & Walling, L. L. 2010. Tomato pathogenesisrelated protein genes are expressed in response to *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* and *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B feeding. *J Chem Ecol*, 36, 1271-85.
- Qin, W., Yin, Q., Chen, J., Zhao, X., Yue, F., He, J., Yang, L., Liu, L., Zeng, Q., Lu, F., Mitsuda, N., Ohme-Takagi, M. & Wu, A. M. 2020. The class II KNOX transcription factors KNAT3 and KNAT7 synergistically regulate monolignol biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. J Exp Bot, 71, 5469-5483.
- Quintana-Camargo, M., Mendez-Moran, L., Ramirez-Romero, R., Gurrola-Diaz, C. M., Carapia-Ruiz, V., Ibarra-Laclette, E., Delano-Frier, J. P. & Sanchez-Hernandez, C. 2015. Identification of genes differentially expressed in husk tomato (*Physalis*)

philadelphica) in response to whitefly (*Trialeurodes vaporariorum*) infestation. *Acta Physiol Plant*, 37:29.

- Rauwane, M. E., Odeny, D. A., Millar, I., Rey, C. & Rees, J. 2018. The early transcriptome response of cassava (*Manihot esculenta Crantz*) to mealybug (*Phenacoccus manihoti*) feeding. *PLoS One*, 13, e0202541.
- Ravi, V. & Saravan, R. 2001. Photosynthesis and productivity of cassava under water deficit stress and stress-free conditions. *J Root Crops* 27, 214-218.
- Raza, A., Malik, H. J., Shafiq, M., Amin, I., Scheffler, J. A., Scheffler, B. E. & Mansoor, S. 2016. RNA interference based approach to down regulate osmoregulators of whitefly (Bemisia tabaci): potential technology for the control of whitefly. *PLoS One*, 11, e0153883.
- Reilly, K., Gómez-Vásquez, R., Buschmann, H., Tohme, J. & Beeching, J. R. 2003. Oxidative stress responses during cassava post-harvest physiological deterioration. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 53, 669-685.
- Richmond, T. A. & Somerville, C. R. 2000. The cellulose synthase superfamily. *Plant Physiol*, 124, 495-8.
- Riondet, C., Desouris, J. P., Montoya, J. G., Chartier, Y., Meyer, Y. & Reichheld, J. P. 2012. A dicotyledon-specific glutaredoxin GRXC1 family with dimer-dependent redox regulation is functionally redundant with GRXC2. *Plant Cell Environ*, 35, 360-73.
- Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Grant, M. & Jones, J. D. 2011. Hormone crosstalk in plant disease and defense: More than just jasmonate-salicylate antagonism. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 49, 317-43.
- Roberts, P. A. & Thomason, I. J. 1986. Variability in reproduction of isolates of *Meloidogyne incognita* and *M. javanica* on resistant tomato genotypes. *Plant Dis*, 70, 547–551.
- Rodriguez-Alvarez, C. I., Lopez-Climent, M. F., Gomez-Cadenas, A., Kaloshian, I. & Nombela, G. 2015. Salicylic acid is required for *Mi-1*-mediated resistance of tomato to whitefly *Bemisia tabaci*, but not for basal defense to this insect pest. *Bull Entomol Res*, 105, 574-82.
- Rodriguez-Alvarez, C. I., Muniz, M. & Nombela, G. 2017. Effect of plant development (age and size) on the *Mi-1*-mediated resistance of tomato to whitefly *Bemisia tabaci. Bull Entomol Res,* 107, 768-776.
- Román, V., Bossa-Castro, A. M., Vásquez, A., Bernal, V., Schuster, M., Bernal, N. & López, C. 2014. Construction of a cassava PR protein-interacting network during *Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. manihotis* infection. *Plant Pathology*, 63, 792-802.

- Roush, R. & Tabashnik, B. E. 2012. *Pesticide resistance in arthropods*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- Sani Haliru, B., Rafii, M. Y., Mazlan, N., Ramlee, S. I., Muhammad, I. i., Silas Akos, I., Halidu, J., Swaray, S. & Rini Bashir, Y. 2020. Recent strategies for detection and improvement of brown planthopper resistance genes in rice: a review. *Plants*, 9, 1202.
- Sani, I., Ismail, S. I., Abdullah, S., Jalinas, J., Jamian, S. & Saad, N. 2020. A review of the biology and control of whitefly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Hemiptera: Aleyrodidae), with special reference to biological control using entomopathogenic fungi. *Insects*, 11, 619.
- Savadogo, E. H., Shiomi, Y., Yasuda, J., Akino, T., Yamaguchi, M., Yoshida, H., Umegawachi, T., Tanaka, R., Suong, D. N. A., Miura, K., Yazaki, K. & Kitajima, S. 2021. Gene expression of PLAT and ATS3 proteins increases plant resistance to insects. *Planta*, 253, 37.
- Sawant, S. V., Tuli, R., Srivastava, R., Srivastava, M. & Nigam, D. 2009. Expression data from Arabidopsis Seedlings treated with Salicylic Acid (data available at GEO accession GSE14961).
- Sawinski, K., Mersmann, S., Robatzek, S. & Bohmer, M. 2013. Guarding the green: pathways to stomatal immunity. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 26, 626-32.
- Schenk, P. M., Kazan, K., Wilson, I., Anderson, J. P., Richmond, T., Somerville, S. C. & Manners, J. M. 2000. Coordinated plant defense responses in Arabidopsis revealed by microarray analysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 11655-60.
- Schmelz, E. A., LeClere, S., Carroll, M. J., Alborn, H. T. & Teal, P. E. 2007. Cowpea chloroplastic ATP synthase is the source of multiple plant defense elicitors during insect herbivory. *Plant Physiology*, 144, 793-805.
- Schwacke, R., Ponce-Soto, G. Y., Krause, K., Bolger, A. M., Arsova, B., Hallab, A., Gruden, K., Stitt, M., Bolger, M. E. & Usadel, B. 2019. MapMan4: A Refined Protein Classification and Annotation Framework Applicable to Multi-Omics Data Analysis. *Mol Plant*, 12, 879-892.
- Schwessinger, B. & Zipfel, C. 2008. News from the frontline: recent insights into PAMPtriggered immunity in plants. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 11, 389-95.
- Seal, S. E., vandenBosch, F., and & Jeger, M.J. 2006. Factors Influencing Begomovirus Evolution and Their Increasing Global Significance: Implications for Sustainable Control. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 25, 23–46.
- Seyfferth, C. & Tsuda, K. 2014. Salicylic acid signal transduction: the initiation of biosynthesis, perception and transcriptional reprogramming. *Front Plant Sci*, 5, 697.

- Shabalin, A. A. 2012. Matrix eQTL: ultra fast eQTL analysis via large matrix operations. *Bioinformatics*, 28, 1353-8.
- Shannag, H. K. 2007. Effect of black bean aphid, *Aphis fabae*, on transpiration, stomatal conductance and crude protein content of faba bean. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 151, 183-188.
- Shin, K. H., Yang, S. H., Lee, J. Y., Lim, C. W., Lee, S. C., Brown, J. W. & Kim, S. H. 2015. Alternative splicing of mini-exons in the Arabidopsis leaf rust receptor-like kinase *LRK10* genes affects subcellular localisation. *Plant Cell Rep*, 34, 495-505.
- Shukla, A. K., Upadhyay, S. K., Mishra, M., Saurabh, S., Singh, R., Singh, H., Thakur, N., Rai, P., Pandey, P. & Hans, A. L. 2016. Expression of an insecticidal fern protein in cotton protects against whitefly. *Nature biotechnology*, 34, 1046-1051.
- Silverstein, K. A., Graham, M. A., Paape, T. D. & VandenBosch, K. A. 2005. Genome organization of more than 300 *defensin-like* genes in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 138, 600-10.
- Singh, M., Bag, S. K., Bhardwaj, A., Ranjan, A., Mantri, S., Nigam, D., Sharma, Y. K. & Sawant, S. V. 2015. Global nucleosome positioning regulates salicylic acid mediated transcription in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *BMC Plant Biol*, 15, 13.
- Slusarenko, A. J., Fraser, R. S. S. & Loon, L. C. v. 2000. *Mechanisms of resistance to plant diseases*, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Smith, C. M. & Chuang, W. P. 2014. Plant resistance to aphid feeding: behavioral, physiological, genetic and molecular cues regulate aphid host selection and feeding. *Pest Manag Sci*, 70, 528-40.
- Sridevi, G., Parameswari, C., Sabapathi, N., Raghupathy, V. & Veluthambi, K. 2008. Combined expression of chitinase and β-1,3-glucanase genes in indica rice (*Oryza sativa L.*) enhances resistance against *Rhizoctonia solani*. *Plant Science*, 175, 283-290.
- Stansly, P. A., Calvo, J. & Urbaneja, A. 2005. Release rates for control of *Bemisia tabaci* (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) biotype "Q" with *Eretmocerus mundus* (Hymenoptera: Aphelinidae) in greenhouse tomato and pepper. *Biological control*, 35, 124-133.
- Stec, B. 2006. Plant thionins-the structural perspective. Cell Mol Life Sci, 63, 1370-85.
- Stepanova, A. N. & Alonso, J. M. 2009. Ethylene signaling and response: where different regulatory modules meet. *Curr Opin Plant Biol,* 12, 548-55.
- Su, Q., Oliver, K. M., Xie, W., Wu, Q., Wang, S. & Zhang, Y. 2015. The whiteflyassociated facultative symbiont *Hamiltonella defensa* suppresses induced plant defences in tomato. *Functional Ecology*, 29, 1007-1018.

- Su, Q., Peng, Z., Tong, H., Xie, W., Wang, S., Wu, Q., Zhang, J., Li, C. & Zhang, Y. 2019. A salivary ferritin in the whitefly suppresses plant defenses and facilitates host exploitation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 70, 3343-3355.
- Sun, Y. C., Pan, L. L., Ying, F. Z., Li, P., Wang, X. W. & Liu, S. S. 2017. Jasmonic acidrelated resistance in tomato mediates interactions between whitefly and whiteflytransmitted virus. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 7.
- Tamaoki, D., Seo, S., Yamada, S., Kano, A., Miyamoto, A., Shishido, H., Miyoshi, S., Taniguchi, S., Akimitsu, K. & Gomi, K. 2013. Jasmonic acid and salicylic acid activate a common defense system in rice. *Plant Signal Behav*, 8, e24260.
- Tamura, Y., Hattori, M., Yoshioka, H., Yoshioka, M., Takahashi, A., Wu, J., Sentoku, N. & Yasui, H. 2014. Map-based cloning and characterization of a brown planthopper resistance gene *BPH26* from *Oryza sativa* L. ssp. indica cultivar ADR52. *Scientific reports*, 4, 1-8.
- Tanaka, K. & Heil, M. 2021. Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) in Plant Innate Immunity: Applying the Danger Model and Evolutionary Perspectives. *Annu Rev Phytopathol.*
- Teixeira, P. J., Thomazella, D. P., Reis, O., do Prado, P. F., do Rio, M. C., Fiorin, G. L., Jose, J., Costa, G. G., Negri, V. A., Mondego, J. M., Mieczkowski, P. & Pereira, G. A. 2014. High-resolution transcript profiling of the atypical biotrophic interaction between *Theobroma cacao* and the fungal pathogen *Moniliophthora perniciosa*. *Plant Cell*, 26, 4245-69.
- Teuber, L. R., Rupert, M. E., Gibbs, L. K. & Taggard, K. L. 1996. Breeding resistant alfalfa holds promise for silverleaf whitefly management. *California Agriculture, May-June*, 25-29.
- Thakur, N., Upadhyay, S. K., Verma, P. C., Chandrashekar, K., Tuli, R. & Singh, P. K. 2014. Enhanced whitefly resistance in transgenic tobacco plants expressing double stranded RNA of v-ATPase A gene. *PLoS One*, 9, e87235.
- Thaler, J. S., Humphrey, P. T. & Whiteman, N. K. 2012. Evolution of jasmonate and salicylate signal crosstalk. *Trends Plant Sci*, 17, 260-70.
- Thibaud-Nissen, F., Wu, H., Richmond, T., Redman, J. C., Johnson, C., Green, R., Arias, J. & Town, C. D. 2006. Development of Arabidopsis whole-genome microarrays and their application to the discovery of binding sites for the TGA2 transcription factor in salicylic acid-treated plants. *Plant J*, 47, 152-62.
- Thompson, A. M. G., Iancu, C. V., Neet, K. E., Dean, J. V. & Choe, J. Y. 2017. Differences in salicylic acid glucose conjugations by UGT74F1 and UGT74F2 from Arabidopsis thaliana. *Sci Rep*, 7, 46629.

- Tian, M., Chaudhry, F., Ruzicka, D. R., Meagher, R. B., Staiger, C. J. & Day, B. 2009. Arabidopsis actin-depolymerizing factor AtADF4 mediates defense signal transduction triggered by the *Pseudomonas syringae* effector AvrPphB. *Plant Physiol*, 150, 815-24.
- Tobias, P. A., Christie, N., Naidoo, S., Guest, D. I. & Kulheim, C. 2017. Identification of the Eucalyptus grandis chitinase gene family and expression characterization under different biotic stress challenges. *Tree Physiol*, 37, 565-582.
- Trezzini, G. F., Horrichs, A. & Somssich, I. E. 1993. Isolation of putative defense-related genes from *Arabidopsis thaliana* and expression in fungal elicitor-treated cells. *Plant Mol Biol,* 21, 385-9.
- Turnbull, C., Lillemo, M. & Hvoslef-Eide, T. A. 2021. Global regulation of genetically modified crops amid the gene edited crop boom–a review. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12, 258.
- Tzin, V., Fernandez-Pozo, N., Richter, A., Schmelz, E. A., Schoettner, M., Schafer, M., Ahern, K. R., Meihls, L. N., Kaur, H., Huffaker, A., Mori, N., Degenhardt, J., Mueller, L. A. & Jander, G. 2015. Dynamic Maize Responses to Aphid Feeding Are Revealed by a Time Series of Transcriptomic and Metabolomic Assays. *Plant Physiol*, 169, 1727-43.
- Uemura, T., Hachisu, M., Desaki, Y., Ito, A., Hoshino, R., Sano, Y., Nozawa, A., Mujiono, K., Galis, I., Yoshida, A., Nemoto, K., Miura, S., Nishiyama, M., Nishiyama, C., Horito, S., Sawasaki, T. & Arimura, G. I. 2020. Soy and Arabidopsis receptor-like kinases respond to polysaccharide signals from Spodoptera species and mediate herbivore resistance. *Commun Biol*, 3, 224.
- Utsumi, Y., Tanaka, M., Kurotani, A., Yoshida, T., Mochida, K., Matsui, A., Ishitani, M., Sraphet, S., Whankaew, S., Asvarak, T., Narangajavana, J., Triwitayakorn, K., Sakurai, T. & Seki, M. 2016. Cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) transcriptome analysis in response to infection by the fungus *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* using an oligonucleotide-DNA microarray. *J Plant Res*, 129, 711-726.
- van Bel, A. J. E. & Will, T. 2016. Functional Evaluation of Proteins in Watery and Gel Saliva of Aphids. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7.
- van de Ven, W. T., LeVesque, C. S., Perring, T. M. & Walling, L. L. 2000. Local and systemic changes in squash gene expression in response to silverleaf whitefly feeding. *Plant Cell*, 12, 1409-23.
- Van Houtte, H., Vandesteene, L., Lopez-Galvis, L., Lemmens, L., Kissel, E., Carpentier, S., Feil, R., Avonce, N., Beeckman, T., Lunn, J. E. & Van Dijck, P. 2013.
 Overexpression of the trehalase gene *AtTRE1* leads to increased drought stress tolerance in Arabidopsis and is involved in abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure. *Plant Physiol*, 161, 1158-71.

- van Kleeff, P. J., Galland, M., Schuurink, R. C. & Bleeker, P. M. 2016. Small RNAs from *Bemisia tabaci* Are Transferred to *Solanum lycopersicum* Phloem during Feeding. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1759.
- van Leeuwen, H., Kliebenstein, D. J., West, M. A., Kim, K., van Poecke, R., Katagiri, F., Michelmore, R. W., Doerge, R. W. & St Clair, D. A. 2007. Natural variation among *Arabidopsis thaliana* accessions for transcriptome response to exogenous salicylic acid. *Plant Cell*, 19, 2099-110.
- van Loon, L. C., Rep, M. & Pieterse, C. M. 2006. Significance of inducible defenserelated proteins in infected plants. *Annu Rev Phytopathol,* 44, 135-162.
- van Loon, L. C. & van Kammen, A. 1970. Polyacrylamide disc electrophoresis of the soluble leaf proteins from *Nicotiana tabacum* var. "Samsun" and "Samsun NN".
 II. Changes in protein constitution after infection with Tobacco Mosaic Virus. *Virology*, 40, 190-211.
- Van Loon, L. C. & Van Strien, E. A. 1999. The families of pathogenesis-related proteins, their activities, and comparative analysis of PR-1 type proteins. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 55.
- VanDoorn, A., de Vries, M., Kant, M. R. & Schuurink, R. C. 2015. Whiteflies glycosylate salicylic acid and secrete the conjugate via their honeydew. J Chem Ecol, 41, 52-8.
- Verma, V., Srivastava, A. K., Gough, C., Campanaro, A., Srivastava, M., Morrell, R., Joyce, J., Bailey, M., Zhang, C., Krysan, P. J. & Sadanandom, A. 2021. SUMO enables substrate selectivity by mitogen-activated protein kinases to regulate immunity in plants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 118.
- Visser, E. A., Wegrzyn, J. L., Myburg, A. A. & Naidoo, S. 2018. Defence transcriptome assembly and pathogenesis related gene family analysis in *Pinus tecunumanii* (low elevation). *BMC Genomics*, 19, 632.
- Voigt, D., Schrameyer, K., Kiefer, J., Zebitz, C. P. W. & Gorb, S. 2019. Anchoring of greenhouse whitefly eggs on different rose cultivars. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 13, 335–348.
- Walker, G. 2000. A beginner's guide to electronic monitoring of homopteran probing behavior. Principles and applications of electronic monitoring and other techniques in the study of homopteran feeding behavior. Thomas Say Publications in Entomology, Entomological Society of America, Lanham, MD, 14-40.
- Walker, G. P. & Natwick, E. T. 2006. Resistance to silverleaf whitefly, *Bemisia argentifolii* (Hem., Aleyrodidae), in *Gossypium thurberi*, a wild cotton species. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 130, 429–436.

- Walling, L. L. 2000. The Myriad Plant Responses to Herbivores. *J Plant Growth Regul*, 19, 195-216.
- Walling, L. L. 2008. Avoiding effective defenses: strategies employed by phloem-feeding insects. *Plant Physiol*, 146, 859-66.
- Walling, L. L. & Thompson, G. A. 2012. Phloem. Phloem. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Wanderley-Nogueira, A. C., Belarmino, L. C., Soares-Cavalcanti, N. d. M., Bezerra-Neto, J. o. P., Kido, E. A., Valesca Pandolfi, Abdelnoor, R. V., Binneck, E., Carazzole, M. F. & Benko-Iseppon, A. M. 2012. An overall evaluation of the Resistance (*R*) and Pathogenesis-Related (*PR*) superfamilies in soybean, as compared with *Medicago* and *Arabidopsis*. *Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 35, 260-271.
- Wang, H. Q., Sun, L. P., Wang, L. X., Fang, X. W., Li, Z. Q., Zhang, F. F., Hu, X., Qi, C. & He, J. M. 2020. Ethylene mediates salicylic-acid-induced stomatal closure by controlling reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide production in Arabidopsis. *Plant Sci*, 294, 110464.
- Wang, L., Si, Y., Dedow, L., Shao, Y., Liu, P. & Brutnell, T. 2011. A low-cost library construction protocol and data analysis pipeline for Illumina-based strand-specific multiplex RNA-seq. *PLoS One*, 6, e26426.
- Wang, N., Zhao, P., Ma, Y., Yao, X., Sun, Y., Huang, X., Jin, J., Zhang, Y., Zhu, C., Fang, R. & Ye, J. 2019. A whitefly effector Bsp9 targets host immunity regulator WRKY33 to promote performance. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 374, 20180313.
- Wang, W., Dai, H., Zhang, Y., Chandrasekar, R., Luo, L., Hiromasa, Y., Sheng, C., Peng, G., Chen, S., Tomich, J. M., Reese, J., Edwards, O., Kang, L., Reeck, G. & Cui, F. 2015a. Armet is an effector protein mediating aphid-plant interactions. *FASEB J*, 29, 2032-45.
- Wang, W., Luo, L., Lu, H., Chen, S., Kang, L. & Cui, F. 2015b. Angiotensin-converting enzymes modulate aphid-plant interactions. *Sci Rep,* 5, 8885.
- Wang, X., Gao, J., Zhu, Z., Dong, X., Wang, X., Ren, G., Zhou, X. & Kuai, B. 2015c. TCP transcription factors are critical for the coordinated regulation of isochorismate synthase 1 expression in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant J*, 82, 151-62.
- Wang, X.-W., Li, P. & Shu-Sheng, L. 2017. Whitefly interactions with plants. *Current opinion in insect science*, 19, 70-75.
- Wang, Y., Cao, L., Zhang, Y., Cao, C., Liu, F., Huang, F., Qiu, Y., Li, R. & Luo, X. 2015d. Map-based cloning and characterization of *BPH29*, a B3 domain-containing recessive gene conferring brown planthopper resistance in rice. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 66, 6035-6045.

- Wasternack, C. 2014. Action of jasmonates in plant stress responses and development-applied aspects. *Biotechnol Adv*, 32, 31-9.
- Wasternack, C. & Strnad, M. 2016. Jasmonate signaling in plant stress responses and development active and inactive compounds. *N Biotechnol*, 33, 604-613.
- Wei, T. & Simko, V. 2017. R package "corrplot": Visualization of a Correlation Matrix.
- Wickman, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis, Springer-Verlag New York.
- Will, T., Furch, A. & Zimmermann, M. 2013. How phloem-feeding insects face the challenge of phloem-located defenses. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4.
- Williams, W. G., Kennedy, G. G., Yamamoto, R. T., Thacker, J. D. & Bordner, J. 1980. 2-Tridecanone: A Naturally Occurring Insecticide from the Wild Tomato Lycopersicon hirsutum f.glabratum. Science, 207, 888-9.
- Wilson, M. C., Mutka, A. M., Hummel, A. W., Berry, J., Chauhan, R. D., Vijayaraghavan, A., Taylor, N. J., Voytas, D. F., Chitwood, D. H. & Bart, R. S. 2017. Gene expression atlas for the food security crop cassava. *New Phytol*, 213, 1632-1641.
- Wolfe, D., Dudek, S., Ritchie, M. D. & Pendergrass, S. A. 2013. Visualizing genomic information across chromosomes with PhenoGram. *BioData Min*, 6, 18.
- Wu, X., Shi, Y., Li, J., Xu, L., Fang, Y., Li, X. & Qi, Y. 2013. A role for the RNA-binding protein MOS2 in microRNA maturation in Arabidopsis. *Cell Res*, 23, 645-57.
- Wu, X., Yan, J., Wu, Y., Zhang, H., Mo, S., Xu, X., Zhou, F. & Ding, H. 2019. Proteomic analysis by iTRAQ-PRM provides integrated insight into mechanisms of resistance in pepper to *Bemisia tabaci* (Gennadius). *BMC Plant Biol*, 19, 270.
- Xia, J., Guo, Z., Yang, Z., Han, H., Wang, S., Xu, H., Yang, X., Yang, F., Wu, Q. & Xie, W. 2021. Whitefly hijacks a plant detoxification gene that neutralizes plant toxins. *Cell*, 184, 1693-1705. e17.
- Xu, H.-X., Qian, L.-X., Wang, X.-W., Shao, R.-X., Hong, Y., Liu, S.-S. & Wang, X.-W. 2019. A salivary effector enables whitefly to feed on host plants by eliciting salicylic acid-signaling pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116, 490-495.
- Yang, K. Y., Moon, Y. H., Choi, K. H., Kim, Y. H., Eun, M. Y., Guh, J. O., Kim, K. C. & Cho, B. H. 1997. Structure and expression of the AWI 31 gene specifically induced by wounding in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol Cells, 7, 131-5.
- Yang, L., Teixeira, P. J., Biswas, S., Finkel, O. M., He, Y., Salas-Gonzalez, I., English,
 M. E., Epple, P., Mieczkowski, P. & Dangl, J. L. 2017. *Pseudomonas syringae* Type III Effector HopBB1 Promotes Host Transcriptional Repressor Degradation

to Regulate Phytohormone Responses and Virulence. *Cell Host Microbe*, 21, 156-168.

- Yao, Q., Peng, Z., Tong, H., Yang, F., Xing, G., Wang, L., Zheng, J., Zhang, Y. & Su, Q.
 2019. Tomato Plant Flavonoids Increase Whitefly Resistance and Reduce
 Spread of Tomato yellow leaf curl virus. *J Econ Entomol*, 112, 2790-2796.
- Yates-Stewart, A. D., Pekarcik, A., Michel, A. & Blakeslee, J. J. 2020. Jasmonic Acid-Isoleucine (JA-IIe) Is Involved in the Host-Plant Resistance Mechanism Against the Soybean Aphid (Hemiptera: Aphididae). *J Econ Entomol*, 113, 2972-2978.
- Ye, W., Yu, H., Jian, Y., Zeng, J., Ji, R., Chen, H. & Lou, Y. 2017. A salivary EF-hand calcium-binding protein of the brown planthopper *Nilaparvata lugens* functions as an effector for defense responses in rice. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1-12.
- Yin, G., Xu, H., Xiao, S., Qin, Y., Li, Y., Yan, Y. & Hu, Y. 2013. The large soybean (*Glycine max*) WRKY transcription factor family expanded by segmental duplication events and subsequent divergent selection among subgroups. *BMC Plant Biology*, 13, 148.
- Yoshida, R., Umezawa, T., Mizoguchi, T., Takahashi, S., Takahashi, F. & Shinozaki, K. 2006. The regulatory domain of SRK2E/OST1/SnRK2.6 interacts with ABI1 and integrates abscisic acid (ABA) and osmotic stress signals controlling stomatal closure in Arabidopsis. J Biol Chem, 281, 5310-8.
- Yoshiyama, K. O., Aoshima, N., Takahashi, N., Sakamoto, T., Hiruma, K., Saijo, Y., Hidema, J., Umeda, M. & Kimura, S. 2020. SUPPRESSOR OF GAMMA RESPONSE 1 acts as a regulator coordinating crosstalk between DNA damage response and immune response in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Mol Biol*, 103, 321-340.
- You, M. K., Shin, H. Y., Kim, Y. J., Ok, S. H., Cho, S. K., Jeung, J. U., Yoo, S. D., Kim, J. K. & Shin, J. S. 2010. Novel bifunctional nucleases, OmBBD and AtBBD1, are involved in abscisic acid-mediated callose deposition in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol*, 152, 1015-29.
- Young, N. 1996. QTL mapping and quantitative disease resistance in plants. *Annual review of phytopathology,* 34, 479-501.
- Yu, G., Wang, L. G., Han, Y. & He, Q. Y. 2012. clusterProfiler: an R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. *OMICS*, 16, 284-7.
- Yu, Y., Yao, W., Wang, Y. & Huang, F. 2019. shinyChromosome: An R/Shiny Application for Interactive Creation of Non-circular Plots of Whole Genomes. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics*, 17, 535-539.
- Yuan, M., Ngou, B. P. M., Ding, P. & Xin, X.-F. 2021. PTI-ETI crosstalk: an integrative view of plant immunity. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 62, 102030.

- Yuexiong, Z., Gang, Q., Qianqian, M., Minyi, W., Xinghai, Y., Zengfeng, M., Haifu, L., Chi, L., Zhenjing, L. & Fang, L. 2020. Identification of major locus Bph35 resistance to brown planthopper in rice. *Rice Science*, 27, 237-245.
- Zagrobelny, M., Bak, S., Rasmussen, A. V., Jorgensen, B., Naumann, C. M. & Lindberg Moller, B. 2004. Cyanogenic glucosides and plant-insect interactions. *Phytochemistry*, 65, 293-306.
- Zaidi, S. S., Briddon, R. W. & Mansoor, S. 2017. Engineering Dual Begomovirus-Bemisia tabaci Resistance in Plants. *Trends Plant Sci*, 22, 6-8.
- Zander, M., Willige, B. C., He, Y., Nguyen, T. A., Langford, A. E., Nehring, R., Howell, E., McGrath, R., Bartlett, A., Castanon, R., Nery, J. R., Chen, H., Zhang, Z., Jupe, F., Stepanova, A., Schmitz, R. J., Lewsey, M. G., Chory, J. & Ecker, J. R. 2019. Epigenetic silencing of a multifunctional plant stress regulator. *Elife*, 8.
- Zarate, S. I., Kempema, L. A. & Walling, L. L. 2007. Silverleaf whitefly induces salicylic acid defenses and suppresses effectual jasmonic acid defenses. *Plant Physiol*, 143, 866-75.
- Zhang, P., Xu, C., Zhang, J., Lu, Y., Wei, J., Liu, Y., David, A., Boland, W. & Turlings, T. C. J. 2013a. Phloem-feeding whiteflies can fool their host plants, but not their parasitoids. *Functional Ecology*, 27, 1304–1312.
- Zhang, P.-J., Wei, J.-N., Zhao, C., Zhang, Y.-F., Li, C.-Y., Liu, S.-S., Dicke, M., Yu, X.-P. & Turlings, T. C. 2019. Airborne host–plant manipulation by whiteflies via an inducible blend of plant volatiles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116, 7387-7396.
- Zhang, P. J., Zheng, S. J., van Loon, J. J., Boland, W., David, A., Mumm, R. & Dicke, M. 2009. Whiteflies interfere with indirect plant defense against spider mites in Lima bean. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 21202-7.
- Zhang, S., Huang, H., Shan, H., Zhang, F., Wan, F. & Liu, T. 2013b. Defense against *Pieris rapae* in cabbage plants induced by *Bemisia tabaci* biotype B. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 147, 293–300.
- Zhang, X., Sun, X., Zhao, H., Xue, M. & Wang, D. 2017. Phenolic compounds induced by *Bemisia tabaci* and *Trialeurodes vaporariorum* in *Nicotiana tabacum* L. and their relationship with the salicylic acid signaling pathway. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 1-9.
- Zhang, X., Xue, M. & Zhao, H. 2015a. Species-specific effects on salicylic acid content and subsequent *Myzus persicae* (Sulzer) performance by three phloem-sucking insects infesting *Nicotiana tabacum* L. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 9, 383–391.

- Zhang, Y., Cheng, Y. T., Bi, D., Palma, K. & Li, X. 2005. MOS2, a protein containing Gpatch and KOW motifs, is essential for innate immunity in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Curr Biol*, 15, 1936-42.
- Zhang, Y., Jin, X., Ouyang, Z., Li, X., Liu, B., Huang, L., Hong, Y., Zhang, H., Song, F. & Li, D. 2015b. Vitamin B6 contributes to disease resistance against *Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato* DC3000 and *Botrytis cinerea* in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *J Plant Physiol*, 175, 21-5.
- Zhao, D., You, Y., Fan, H., Zhu, X., Wang, Y., Duan, Y., Xuan, Y. & Chen, L. 2018. The Role of Sugar Transporter Genes during Early Infection by Root-Knot Nematodes. *Int J Mol Sci*, 19.
- Zhao, Y., Huang, J., Wang, Z., Jing, S., Wang, Y., Ouyang, Y., Cai, B., Xin, X. F., Liu, X., Zhang, C., Pan, Y., Ma, R., Li, Q., Jiang, W., Zeng, Y., Shangguan, X., Wang, H., Du, B., Zhu, L., Xu, X., Feng, Y. Q., He, S. Y., Chen, R., Zhang, Q. & He, G.
 2016. Allelic diversity in an NLR gene *BPH9* enables rice to combat planthopper variation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113, 12850-12855.
- Zhou, S., Lou, Y. R., Tzin, V. & Jander, G. 2015. Alteration of Plant Primary Metabolism in Response to Insect Herbivory. *Plant Physiol*, 169, 1488-98.
- Zhu-Salzman, K., Salzman, R. A., Ahn, J. E. & Koiwa, H. 2004. Transcriptional regulation of sorghum defense determinants against a phloem-feeding aphid. *Plant Physiol*, 134, 420-31.
- Ziliotto, F., Corso, M., Rizzini, F. M., Rasori, A., Botton, A. & Bonghi, C. 2012. Grape berry ripening delay induced by a pre-veraison NAA treatment is paralleled by a shift in the expression pattern of auxin- and ethylene-related genes. *BMC Plant Biol*, 12, 185.
- Zipfel, C., Kunze, G., Chinchilla, D., Caniard, A., Jones, J. D., Boller, T. & Felix, G. 2006. Perception of the bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the receptor EFR restricts Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. *Cell*, 125, 749-60.
- Zogli, P., Pingault, L., Grover, S. & Louis, J. 2020. Ento (o) mics: the intersection of 'omic'approaches to decipher plant defense against sap-sucking insect pests. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 56, 153-161.